

# Impacts d'un biopesticide, l'azadirachtine, sur la physiologie et le comportement de Drosophila melanogaster : Reproduction, nutrition et propriétés aversives

Maroua Ferdenache

#### ▶ To cite this version:

Maroua Ferdenache. Impacts d'un biopesticide, l'azadirachtine, sur la physiologie et le comportement de Drosophila melanogaster : Reproduction, nutrition et propriétés aversives. Toxicologie. Université Paris-Saclay; Université Badji Mokhtar-Annaba, 2021. Français. NNT : 2021UPASB025 . tel-03546240

# HAL Id: tel-03546240 https://pastel.hal.science/tel-03546240v1

Submitted on 27 Jan2022

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





Impacts d'un biopesticide, l'azadirachtine, sur la physiologie et le comportement de *Drosophila melanogaster :* Reproduction, nutrition et propriétés aversives

# Thèse de doctorat de l'université Paris-Saclay

École doctorale n° 581 Agriculture, Alimentation, Biologie, Environnement et Santé (ABIES) Spécialité de doctorat : Toxicologie Unité de recherche : Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS, IRD, UMR Évolution, Génomes, Comportement et Écologie, 91198, Gif-sur-Yvette, France. Référent : AgroParisTech

# Thèse présentée et soutenue à Université Badji-Mokhar Annaba, le 26 juin 2021, par

# Maroua FERDENACHE

# **Composition du Jury**

Wahida AYAD-LOUCIFPrésidenteProfesseur, Université d'Annaba (Algérie)PrésidenteDehbia ABED-VIEILLARDRapporteur & ExaminatriceMaitre de conférence, université de BourgogneRapporteur & ExaminatriceLeila ALLAL-BENFEKIHProfesseur, Université de Blida (Algérie)Rapporteur & ExaminatriceLaure KAISER-ARNAULDDirectrice de recherche, CNRS (Université Paris-Saclay)Examinatrice

# Direction de thèse

**Frédéric MARION-POLL** Professeur, AgroParisTech

**Samira KILANI-MORAKCHI** Professeur, Université d'Annaba (Algérie) Directeur de thèse

Co-Directrice de thèse

 Inese de doctorat

 NNT: 2021UPASB025

#### **REMERCIEMENT**

La réalisation de cette thèse fut une opportunitée merveilleuse de rencontrer et d'échanger avec de nombreuses personnes. J'ai eu le plaisir à faire ce travail dans deux différents pays.

Je remercie au premier lieu ma directrice de thèse Samira Kilani-Morakchi. Tel un maestro, elle a su conduire ces travaux de recherche avec méthode et habilité. Grâce à cette maitresse dans l'art de faire parler les résultats, on apprend à persévérer et à trouver solution à tout problème. Merci pour votre soutien, de m'avoir formée, remontée le moral, donnée l'envie d'en savoir toujours plus et surtout de m'avoir supportée pendant ces années. Un peu pour tout ce qui fait de cette aventure, une réussite ! Et félicitation pour ce travail qui est bien le vôtre.

Je remercie également mon co-encadrant de thèse Fréderic Marion-Poll. Je vous remercie de m'avoir accueillie au sein de votre équipe, travailler à vos côtés a été une expérience très enrichissante et même un grand plaisir pour moi.

Le remerciement suivant revient évidemment à Monsieur Noureddine Soltani pour l'enseignement qu'il m'a prodigué tout au long de mon cursus universitaire et pour avoir accepté de m'accueillir dans son laboratoire. Je remercie également Catherine Montchamp-Moreau de m'avoir accepté au sein du laboratoire EGCE.

Pour avoir accepté de faire partie du jury de ma thèse, merci à Wahida Ayad-Loucif, Laure Kaiser-Arnauld, Dehbia Abed-Vieillard et Leila Allal-Benfekih. Merci à toutes pour le temps précieux que vous me consacrez malgré votre emploi du temps chargé !

Un grand merci aux membres de l'école doctorale ABIES pour leur disponibilité et surtout leur réponse à toutes mes questions surtout mes questions naïves.

Un grand merci à l'équipe du laboratoire LBAA surtout mes copains de promo Said, yousra et yasmine. Isma pour sa présence pour le meilleur comme pour le pire. Je remercie chaleureusement toute l'équipe du laboratoire EGCE, Claudia, Julia et Vincent merci d'avoir rendu ces longues journées d'électrophy moins pénible. A tous les membres non-permanents, merci d'avoir rendu mes deux ans à l'étranger les meilleures. Pour me faciliter la vie et le travail avec gentillesse et enthousiasme au quotidien merci à Béatrice. Fred Mery merci pour ton soutien, nos échanges scientifiques ou pas et surtout pour toutes nos parties de Mario Kart.

Enfin j'aimerais dire un grand merci à mes parents, mes piliers fondateurs. Grâce à mes parents je suis arrivée à finir mes études et gravire les pentes qui me semblaient infranchissable et j'en suis tellement reconnaissante et fière d'être leur fille. Mon papa ce que j'ai de plus cher au monde je te remercierai jamais assez.

À mon père qui a sacrifié pour m'offrir les conditions propices à ma réussite et à mon frère qui m'a beaucoup encouragé et soutenue depuis toujours.

On a toujours appris à vivre avec un parent, mais on ne nous a jamais appris à comment vivre s'il n'est plus là... Je dédie ce travail à ma mère, partie très tôt, qui attendait ce jour avec impatience mais le destin a décidé autrement, à qui je dois la réussite, pour l'éducation qu'elle m'a prodiguée pour toutes ses prières qui m'ont été un grand secours dans la vie. J'espère que, du monde qui est sien maintenant, elle est fière de moi. Puisse dieu le tout puissant et miséricordieux l'accorder sa sainte miséricorde et l'accueillir en son vaste paradis. Tu m'accompagnes, à mes cotés toujours.

Maroua 😳

## **SOMMAIRE**

1	duction	. 1	
	1.1	Utilisations intensives de pesticides à large spectre	2
	1.2	Les biopesticides	4
	1.3	L'arbre de Neem	5
	1.3.1 1.3.2	Propriétés du Neem ( <i>Azadirachta indica</i> ) L'azadirachtine	5 6
	1.4	Toxicité et risque écotoxicologique de l'azadirachtine	8
	1.5	Potentiel insecticide de l'azadirachtine	9
	1.5.1 1.5.2 1.5.3 1.5.4 1.5.5	Effets régulateurs de croissance Effets sur le système nerveux Effets sur la reproduction Effets moléculaires Effets anti-appétant	9 9 .10 .10 .11
	1.6	Le système chimiosensoriel et locomoteur comme cible potentielle des pesticides	;11
	1.7	Le système olfactif chez <i>D. melanogaster</i>	.13
	1.8	Le système gustatif chez <i>D</i> . melanogaster	.14
1.8.1 1.8.2 1.8.3		L'architecture du système gustatif Les sensilles gustatives du proboscis La structure des récepteurs gustatifs (GR)	. 14 . 16 . 17
	1.9	Intérêt de l'étude	.18
	1.10	Objectifs de l'étude	.20
2	Maté	riel et méthodes2	21
	2.1	Matériel biologique	.21
	2.2	Présentation de l'insecticide et traitement	.23
	2.3	Étude de la fécondité et de la préférence d'oviposition	.23
	2.3.1 2.3.2	Condition de non-choix du milieu de ponte Condition de choix du milieu de ponte	. 23 . 24
	2.4	Étude du développement	.25
	2.5	Analyse de survie des adultes	.27
	2.6	Étude de l'activité locomotrice des adultes	.28
	2.7	Étude de la perception olfactive des adultes : Olfactomètre en Y	.29

	2.8	Test de sensibilité gustative (Proboscis Extension Response : PER)			
	2.9	Étude électrophysiologique			
	2.10	Tests de consommation alimentaire (MultiCAFE : Multi Capillary Feeding)33			
	2.11	Analyses statistiques			
3	Rés	ultats35			
	3.1	Effets sur la fécondité et la préférence d'oviposition			
	3.2	Effets sur le développement40			
	3.3	Analyse de la survie des adultes45			
	3.4	Effets sur l'activité locomotrice des adultes76			
	3.5	Effets sur l'orientation à distance vers un substrat traité à l'azadirachtine78			
	3.6	Effets sur la perception gustative			
	3.7	Effets sur les réponses électrophysiologiques des adultes109			
	3.8	Effets sur la consommation alimentaire113			
4	Dise	cussion142			
	4.1	Effets sur la fécondité et le choix d'oviposition142			
	4.2	Effets sur le développement et la survie des adultes146			
	4.3	Effets sur la perception olfactive et gustative et le comportement locomoteur 150			
5	Con	clusion et perspectives157			
6	Rés	umés159			
	6.1	Résumé159			
	6.2	Abstract161			
	6.36	162			
	3				
7	Réf	érences bibliographiques163			
8	Anr	nnexes			
	8.1	Annexe 1. Production scientifique			
	8.2	Annexe 2. Les molécules testées			

8.3	Annexe 3.	Composition	du milieu	axénique	utilisé	pour	l'élevage	de	Drosophila
melano	gaster								191

# LISTE DES FIGURES

Figure 1. L'arbre de Neem et ses composants (Fernandes et al., 2019)
Figure 2. Structure de l'azadirachtine A (PubChem, 2019)
Figure 3. Les différents types des sensilles olfactives chez D. melanogaster (de Bruyne & Warr 2006)
Figure 4. Organisation du système gustatif chez Drosophila melanogaster
<b>Figure 5.</b> Cartographie des sensilles gustatives sur le proboscis des drosophiles (Weiss et al., 2011)
<b>Figure 6.</b> L'expression des Grs dans les neurones répondant à l'amer (B) et dans les neurones répondant aux sucres (S), en fonction du type de sensilles (Weiss et al., 2011)
Figure 7. Mâle et femelle de D. melanogaster
Figure 8. Cycle de vie de D. melanogaster
<b>Figure 9.</b> Procédure expérimentale pour l'étude de la fécondité (condition de non-choix du milieu de ponte)
Figure 10. Procédure expérimentale pour l'étude de la préférence du site de ponte (En condition de choix)
Figure 11. Suivi du développement des différents stades de vie de D. melanogaster
Figure 12. Procédure expérimentale pour l'analyse de survie des adultes de D. melanogaster. 
Figure 13. Procédure expérimentale pour l'activité locomotrice des adultes de.         D. melanogaster.       28
Figure 14. Olfactomètre en Y utilisé pour l'étude de l'orientation des mouches vers des odeurs
Figure 15. Schéma des procédures utilisées pour mesurer l'extension du proboscis (PER). 31
<b>Figure 16</b> . Dispositif d'électrophysiologie et étapes d'enregistrements électrophysiologiques à partir de la stimulation d'une sensille gustative du proboscis chez D. melanogaster
Figure 17. Schéma représentant la préparation des mouches pour le test MultiCAFE33
Figure 18. Schéma du dispositif pour le test alimentaire à choix multiples (MultiCAFE)34
Figure 19. Effets de l'azadirachtine sur la fécondité des femelles
<b>Figure 20.</b> Effets de l'azadirachtine sur la ponte en situation de choix

Figure 21. Effets d'une exposition sur les choix de ponte sur 3 générations
<b>Figure 22.</b> Exemples des malformations les plus fréquentes chez D. melanogaster au stade L343
<b>Figure 23</b> . Effets de l'azadirachtine (DL25 et DL50), administré par application topique, chez les larves au début du stade L3 de D. melanogaster, sur le sex-ratio des adultes émergents
Figure 24. Effet d'une exposition à l'azadirachtine sur la survie des adultes (P et F1)46
<b>Figure 25.</b> Effets de l'azadirachtine sur la vitesse de récupération après un choc (réactivité locomotrice) chez la génération parentale
<b>Figure 26</b> . Effets de l'azadirachtine sur la vitesse de récupération après un choc (réactivité locomotrice) chez la génération F1. A : Mâles ; B : femelles
Figure 27. Réponses des adultes (génération P et F1) à l'odeur de Neem Azal en olfactomètre
<b>Figure 28.</b> Réponses d'extension du proboscis à une solution contenant de l'azadirachtine à différentes concentrations chez les adultes
<b>Figure 29.</b> Distribution des réponses électrophysiologiques au Neem Azal dans les sensilles du proboscis
<b>Figure 30.</b> Réponses des sensilles S5 au Neem Azal en fonction de la concentration et du traitement larvaire (m $\pm$ SEM ; n = 12 répétitions)111
<b>Figure 31.</b> Réponses des sensilles S5 à l'azadirachtine et à la caféine en fonction du traitement larvaire. (m $\pm$ SEM ; n = 12 répétitions). Les lettres différentes indiquent une différence significative entre les individus de la même substance (P < 0,05)
<b>Figure 32.</b> Exemples de réponses électrophysiologiques à l'azadirachtine, à la caféine et au TCC
<b>Figure 33.</b> Consommation de solutions contenant du Neem Azal chez des individus adultes traités au stade larvaire (A : mâles et B : femelles)
<b>Figure 34.</b> Consommation pendant 24 h d'azadirachtine, de caféine et de saccharose chez des individus traités ou non à l'azadirachtine au début de stadeL3 D. melanogaster (A : Témoins ; B : $DL_{25}$ ; C : $DL_{50}$ ), (Aza : 0,25 µg/ml et 0,1 µg/ml ; saccharose : 30 mM ; Caf : 10 mM) (m ± SEM ; n = 32 répétitions)
<b>Figure 35.</b> Évolution des quantités d'hormone juvénile, d'ecdysone et de PTTH au cours des stades de développement (Rewitz et al., 2013)

## LISTE DES TABLEAUX

<b>Tableau 1 :</b> Principaux constituants chimiques d'Azadirachta indica (Gherida & Goetz, Z	2014) 6
<b>Tableau 2 :</b> Effet de l'exposition larvaire à l'azadirachtine sur le développement de la génération parentale.	41
<b>Tableau 3 :</b> Effets de l'exposition larvaire à l'azadirachtine sur le développement de lapremière génération F1.	42
Tableau 4 : Liste des molécules utilisées	191

# LISTE DES ABRÉVIATIONS

DDT : Dichlorodiphényltrichloroéthane.

OP : Organophosphate.

HHP : Highly hazardous pesticide.

IGDs : (Insect Growth Disruptors) perturbateurs de croissance des insectes.

HJ : hormone juvénile.

20E : 20-hydroxyecdysone.

PTTH : Prothoracicotrope.

5-HT : Sérotonine.

OA : Octopamine.

DA : Dopamine.

MDA : Malondialdehyde.

SOD : Super-oxyde dismutase.

CAT : Catalase.

GST : Glutathion s-transférase.

LSO : Organe sensoriel labral.

VCSO : Organe sensoriel cibarial ventral.

DSCO : Organes sensoriels cibarial dorsal.

L : Longues.

I : Intermédiaires.

S : Courtes.

GR : Récepteur gustatif.

DL : Dose létale.

OPI : Indice de préférence d'oviposition.

FNO : Nombre final d'organismes.

IO : Indice d'olfaction.

PER : Proboscis Extension Response.

TCC : Tricholinecitrate.

MultiCAFE : Multi Capillary Feeding.

CP : Corps Pédonculés.

SNC : système nerveux central.

PPL1 : Paired Posterior Lateral.

PAM : Protocerebral Anterior Medial.



#### 1 Introduction

Le défi majeur de l'agriculture est d'augmenter la production alimentaire, pour répondre aux besoins de la population mondiale en pleine croissance. Cette population a atteint 7,8 milliards en 2020 et continuera à augmenter pour atteindre les 11,2 milliards en 2100 (Mesterházy *et al.*, 2020).

Pour assurer la sécurité alimentaire mondiale et nourrir 2 milliards de personnes supplémentaires en 2050, la production agricole devrait augmenter de 70% (Mesterházy *et al.,* 2020), alors que la surface de terres cultivables reste limitée (FAO, 2016).

L'une des composantes principales de la gestion de la production agricole, reste la protection des cultures contre les bio-agresseurs. En effets, depuis le début de la culture des plantes, il y a plus de 10000 ans, les agriculteurs sont confrontés au défi de la lutte contre les organismes nuisibles qui endommagent les cultures et réduisent la productivité et la qualité des aliments qu'ils récoltent (Pobanz, 2019).

Les pratiques agricoles actuelles restent dépendantes de l'utilisation des produits phytosanitaires, notamment les pesticides chimiques qui représentent un enjeu économique mais aussi sanitaire majeur, vu leur importance dans l'optimisation des productions agricoles et la lutte contre les maladies vectorielles (Godfray *et al.*, 2010). 40% des récoltes sont perdues du fait de l'action combinée des insectes, des maladies et des mauvaises herbes. Ces pertes pourraient atteindre les 70% en absence de protection efficace (Popp *et al.*, 2013).

Les arthropodes détruisent environ 18 à 26% de la production annuelle des cultures (Culliney, 2014 ; Savary *et al.*, 2019) et les insectes et les acariens représentent la majorité des dommages causés aux cultures (Pimentel, 1997 ; Culliney, 2014).

Selon la FAO, la consommation annuelle mondiale des pesticides est estimée à 4,6 millions de tonnes de matière active. L'utilisation de pesticides chimiques quasi généralisée exerce une pression sur l'environnement, en constituant une masse polluante colossale au plan écotoxicologique, et présente ses limites d'application avec l'apparition de résistance des bioagresseurs, et des effets nocifs sur la santé humaine (FAO, 2019).

Le secteur agricole doit donc répondre aux objectifs de production qualitative et quantitative mais aussi de s'engager dans une transition cruciale en intégrant de nouvelles pratiques répondant aux exigences de développement durable et ce en conciliant les objectifs socio-économiques et environnementaux.

#### 1.1 Utilisations intensives de pesticides à large spectre

Le terme pesticide dérive de « Pest », mot anglais désignant tout organisme vivant (virus, bactéries, champignons, herbes, vers, mollusques, insectes, rongeurs, mammifères, oiseaux) susceptible d'être nuisible à l'homme et/ou à son environnement (Periquet,1986). Selon la FAO un pesticide est une substance ou association de substances destinées à repousser, détruire ou combattre les maladies et les ravageurs, y compris les vecteurs de maladies humaines et animales, et les espèces indésirables de champignons, de plantes ou d'animaux (FAO, 2002). Les pesticides à usage agricole peuvent être désignés de différentes façons : produits phytopharmaceutiques, produits agro-pharmaceutiques ou encore produits phytosanitaires.

La deuxième moitié du XX<sup>ème</sup> siècle a été marquée par une intensification et une modernisation de l'agriculture qui ont abouti à une utilisation massive des pesticides afin d'obtenir un résultat rapide, avec un maximum d'efficacité.

En effet, une transformation majeure dans la lutte contre les insectes nuisibles a commencé dans les années 1930 – 1950, suite au développement de la chimie de synthèse, avec l'introduction d'insecticides organiques synthétiques tels que le dichlorodiphényltrichloroéthane (DDT), les organophosphates (OP), les cyclodiènes et les N-méthylcarbamates. La fin des années 1940 à 1960 ont été qualifiées d'âge d'or de la découverte des insecticides, car une lutte contre les insectes nuisibles très efficace, fiable et abordable est devenue courante (Casida & Quistad, 1998).

Bien que les pesticides de synthèse aient joué un rôle majeur dans la sécurisation des ressources alimentaire, leur usage répété et intensif a mis en évidence leur limite d'application, avec l'apparition de phénomènes de résistance (Georghiou, 1972 ; Boyer *et al.*, 2012) et une forte contamination des écosystèmes due à leur persistance dans l'environnement (Bilal *et al.*, 2019).

Dès 1962, la biologiste américaine Rachel Carson alerte l'opinion publique sur les effets nocifs des pesticides, en particulier ceux du DDT, sur l'environnement et les espèces non

cibles telles que les oiseaux, les abeilles et les invertébrés aquatiques (Carson, 1962 ; Rose, 2001). Le DDT, un pesticide organochloré, largement utilisé pour ses puissantes propriétés insecticides et acaricides, induit également des effets toxiques pour la santé et l'environnement, accentués par sa forte rémanence. En effet, les produits organochlorés, très lentement dégradés, sont caractérisés par une rémanence ou une persistance forte dans l'environnement. La parution de l'ouvrage de Rachel Carson marque le point de départ du mouvement écologiste et provoquera, en 1973, l'interdiction du DDT aux Etats-Unis, puis un peu partout dans le monde pour son usage dans les cultures (Mehdi *et al.*, 2018).

L'industrie chimique et l'essor de l'agriculture intensive ont permis le développement d'une deuxième génération d'insecticides, représentée par trois grandes familles : organophosphorés, carbamates et pyréthrinoïdes de synthèse. Ces insecticides à action neurotoxique agissent tous au niveau du système nerveux des insectes, soit en bloquant l'acétylcholinestérase (organophosphorés et carbamates) soit en perturbant le fonctionnement des canaux sodium (pyréthrinoïdes) (Haubruge & Amichot, 1998). D'autres molécules ont permis d'enrichir la famille des pesticides telles que les phénylpyrazoles comme le fipronil (Bonmatin *et al.*, 2014) ou encore les néonicotinoïdes comme l'imidaclopride ou le thiaméthoxame, qui sont également des molécules à actions neurotoxique (Christen *et al.*, 2018).

En dépit de leurs effets secondaires sur la santé publique et l'environnement et la multiplication des espèces résistantes (Nasirian, 2010 ; Nauen *et al.*, 2012 ; Harrop *et al.*, 2014), les pesticides considérés comme les plus à risques pour la santé et l'environnement, dits « extrêmement à risque » et classés dans la catégorie HHP (Highly Hazardous Pesticides), par l'organisation mondiale de la santé, dominent encore les ventes au niveau mondial. Les néonicotinoïdes continuent à être largement utilisés et leur impact potentiel sur les organismes non ciblés continue à faire l'objet de recherches très actives (Bass & Field, 2018).

Toutefois, les impératifs environnementaux et les effets nocifs sur les espèces non visées ont conduit à la mise en place de plan d'action visant une réduction de la consommation des pesticides chimiques et leur utilisation de manière compatible avec le développement durable. Dans ce sens, des efforts considérables ont été déployés pour mettre au point des substances alternatives moins persistantes et plus spécifiques comme les perturbateurs de croissance des insectes (IGDs : Insect Growth Disruptors) qui interfèrent avec des processus physiologiques et biochimiques spécifiques aux organismes cibles, soit en mimant l'action des

principales hormones contrôlant le développement et la reproduction des insectes, l'hormone juvénile (JH) et l'ecdysone, soit en inhibant la synthèse du composé majeur de la cuticule, la chitine (Dhadialla *et al.*, 2010 ; Pener & Dhadialla, 2012). De plus, un regain d'intérêt pour les substances naturelles susceptibles d'avoir une activité phytosanitaire (biopesticides) a été observé ces dernières années (Chaudhary *et al.*, 2017).

#### 1.2 Les biopesticides

Les pesticides bio-rationnels ou biopesticides, sont des organismes vivants ou produits issus de ces organismes ayant la particularité de limiter ou de supprimer les ennemis des cultures (Deravel *et al.*, 2014). Ils peuvent être classés en trois grandes catégories, selon leur nature : les biopesticides microbiens, les biopesticides végétaux et les biopesticides animaux (Chandler *et al.*, 2011 ; Leng *et al.*, 2011).

Aujourd'hui, les molécules naturelles prennent progressivement des parts plus importantes sur le marché des pesticides. Avec un taux de croissance annuel estimé à 14,7%, ce segment de l'industrie continue à croitre pour passer d'une valeur de 4,3 billions de dollars en 2020 et atteindre les 8,5 billion de dollars en 2025 (markets and markets, 2020). On estime que le marché mondial des biopesticides dépassera les 7% des ventes d'ici 2023 (Olson, 2015).

Les biopesticides sont généralement moins toxiques que les pesticides conventionnels, efficaces en faible quantités et possèdent une spécificité accrue vis-à-vis des espèces contre lesquelles ils sont dirigés (Deravel *et al.*, 2014). Ils sont composés généralement d'un mélange de principes actifs avec un large spectre d'activité et des cibles d'action multiples réduisant le développement de résistance. De plus, ils sont biodégradables et donc non persistants dans l'environnement (Deravel *et al.*, 2014).

Les plantes représentent la source la plus importante de biopesticides, en produisant de nombreux métabolites secondaires biologiquement actifs potentiellement applicables dans les programmes de lutte intégrée. Parmi les pesticides d'origines végétales qui ont eu beaucoup de succès sont ceux qui proviennent de l'arbre du Neem, *Azadirachta indica* A. Juss. (Meliaceae) (Isman & Grieneisen, 2014). En effet, la possibilité d'obtenir des composés actifs variés à partir des feuilles et des graines, évitant ainsi la destruction de la plante entière, représente un avantage majeur (Barrek & Paisse, 2004 ; Maity *et al.*, 2009).

#### 1.3 L'arbre de Neem

*Azadirachta indica* A. Juss (Synonymes : *Antelaea azadirachta* L. ou *Melia azadirachta* L.), plus communément de son nom vernaculaire margousier ou, en anglais, Neem (Aribi *et al.*, 2020) est un arbre à croissance rapide et à feuilles persistantes. Originaire de l'Inde et du sud-est de l'Asie, sa présence est aujourd'hui répandue dans le monde entier, en particulier dans les pays tropicaux et subtropicaux (Schmutterer, 2002 ; Morgan, 2009 ; Paes *et al.*, 2011 ; Koriem, 2013 ; Chattopadhyay *et al.*, 2014).

Cet arbre est caractérisé par un tronc solide dur, brun foncé avec une croûte brune fissurée de 75 à 150 cm, les feuilles, qui mesurent jusqu'à 25 cm de long, sont constituées de cinq à huit paires de folioles. L'inflorescence en forme de panicules axillaires est constituée de nombreuses fleurs (Fig. 1). La fleur est aromatique et blanche, et le fruit peut atteindre un centimètre de long. Il est vert et devient jaune lorsqu'il mûrit, et a un goût amer de graine (Ketkar, 1976, Radwanski & Wickens, 1981).



Figure 1. L'arbre de Neem et ses composants (Fernandes et al., 2019).

#### 1.3.1 Propriétés du Neem (Azadirachta indica)

En Asie, l'arbre de Neem est l'une des principales sources de médicaments naturels, utilisé dans la médecine ayurvédique comme l'un des plus anciens remèdes pour traiter diverses

maladies humaines telles que la malaria, le diabète et les infections de la peau (Biswas *et al.*, 2002 ; Pasquoto-Stigliani *et al.*, 2017). Les extraits de Neem auraient également des effets inhibiteurs sur plusieurs lignées cellulaires cancéreuses (Patel *et al.*, 2016). De plus, les extraits aqueux de la poudre de graines de Neem ont été utilisés comme insecticide en Inde depuis des millénaires pour contrôler les insectes nuisibles (Campos *et al.*, 2016).

Les connaissances empiriques sur les propriétés du Neem ont reçu une validation scientifique dès 1942 grâce aux travaux du chimiste pakistanais Salimuzzaman Siddiqui (1897–1994) qui ont permis d'isoler trois composés amers dans l'huile extraite des graines, respectivement nimbin, nimbinin et nimbidin (Ghedira & Goetz, 2014).

Plus de 300 composés phytochimiques différents structurellement complexes est appartenant à différentes familles chimiques (Tableau 1) ont été isolés (Biswas *et al.*, 2002 ; Gupta *et al.*, 2017) dont plus de 130 sont des limonoïdes dotés de propriétés médicinales et insecticides (Chen *et al.*, 2018).

Familles de constituants chimiques principaux	Constituants chimiques principaux			
Limonoïdes (C-seco- tétranortiterpènes)	Azadirachtine (azadirachtine A), 3-tigloylazadirachtol (azadirachtine B),1-tigloyl-3-acétyl-11-hydroxy- méliacarpine (azadirachtine D),11-déméthoxycarbonyl azadirachtine (azadirachtine H), 1-tigloyl-3-acétyl-11- hydroxy-11-déméthoxycarbonyl méliacarpine (azadirachtine I), azadiriadione, azadirachtanine, époxyazadiradione			
Protolimonoïdes du groupe gédunine	Nimbine, déacetylnimbine, salannine, azadirachtolide, isoazadirolide, margosinolide, nimbandiol, nimbinène, nimboline A, nimbocinone, nimbocinolide, nimbolide, nimocine, nimocinol			
Flavonoïdes	Hyperoside, nimbaflavone, quercitrine, quercétine, rutine			
Autres constituants	Tanins β-sitostérol, vilasanine Ca, Mg, P			

 Tableau 1 : Principaux constituants chimiques d'Azadirachta indica (Gherida & Goetz, 2014)
 Principaux

#### 1.3.2 L'azadirachtine

L'azadirachtine, est un tetranortriterpénoïde naturel hautement oxydé, apparenté à la limonine, et appartenant à la famille des limonoïdes ; il est considéré comme le plus puissant

extrait des graines de Neem (Bennuzzi & Ladurner, 2018). L'azadirachtine est un mélange de différents isomères (A, B, D, E, F, H, I, K, L) contenus dans l'huile de Neem (Bennuzzi & Ladurner, 2017). L'azadirachtine A, est la principale substance active responsable de 72 à 90 % de l'activité biologique du Neem, (Schmutterer, 1990 ; Mordue *et al.*, 2010 ; Wang *et al.*, 2016 ; Gehlot *et al.*, 2017).

L'azadirachtine A possède une structure complexe, et suite à la détermination de sa structure correcte en 1985 (Kraus *et al.*, 1985), la première synthèse totale de cette molécule a été publiée deux décennies après la découverte du composé (Ley *et al.*, 2007). En plus de son extraction à partir d'*Azadirachta indica*, l'azadirachtine peut également être isolée à partir de deux autres espèces d'*Azadirachta : A. excelsa* et *A. siamensis* (Morgan, 2009 ; Brandyopadhyay *et al.*, 2011).

L'analyse cristallographique aux rayons X a permis de connaître la structure chimique de l'azadirachtine (Fig. 2). L'azadirachtine est un composé hautement oxydé qui présente une structure extrêmement complexe avec une formation rigide due à la présence de liaisons hydrogène intramoléculaires et d'un grand nombre de groupes fonctionnels réactifs en positions extrêmement proches (Mordue & Nisbet, 2000 ; Prakash & Bhojwani, 2002 ; Veitch *et al.*, 2007). L'azadirachtine dérive de la voie de biosynthèse de l'acide mévalonique dans l'arbre de Neem (Aarthy *et al.*, 2018).



Figure 2. Structure de l'azadirachtine A (PubChem, 2019).

L'intérêt croissant pour l'azadirachtine est principalement dû aux propriétés uniques et particulières de ce composé, notamment son large spectre d'activité, même lorsqu'il est présent à l'état de traces. L'azadirachtine possède de nombreuses activités biologiques exploitables aussi bien en tant que bio-pesticide qu'en tant qu'agent thérapeutique (Prakash *et al.*, 2002 ; Morgan, 2009 ; Paul *et al.*, 2011 ; Hashmat *et al.*, 2012).

#### 1.4 Toxicité et risque écotoxicologique de l'azadirachtine

L'azadirachtine est un composé biodégradable qui potentialise son application comme pesticide et présente une très faible toxicité pour les mammifères (Johnson & Morgan, 1997; Morgan 2009 ; Prakash *et al.*, 2002 ; Mordue *et al.*, 2010) ainsi que pour les organismes non cibles (Boeke *et al.*, 2004), avec une DL<sub>50</sub> de 5000 mg/kg chez le rat, ce qui le classe dans la catégorie des produits "peu susceptibles de provoquer un danger aigu" selon la classification établie par l'OMS (OMS, 2009). La toxicité chronique de l'azadirachtine pour la consommation humaine est de 15 mg/kg (Raizada *et al.*, 2001 ; Boeke *et al.*, 2004).

L'utilisation de fortes doses d'azadirachtine pendant la gestation induit de légères variations du squelette fœtal chez les rats (Braga *et al.*, 2021). Néanmoins, à faibles doses, l'azadirachtine, n'induit aucune modification morphologique, viscérale ou squelettique chez les fœtus du rat (Srivastava, 2000). L'azadirachtine est toxique pour les organismes aquatiques, en particulier lorsque des doses élevées sont administrées (Winkaler *et al.*, 2007 ; Stalin & Kiruba, 2008).

Chez les prédateurs et les parasitoïdes, l'azadirachtine présente des effets toxiques faibles à modérés notamment chez les stades juvéniles (larves, nymphes) et semble être relativement sûr et sélectif pour les adultes (Raguraman & Kannan, 2014).

Néanmoins, des effets toxiques ont été rapportés chez les polinisateurs des cultures après exposition chronique, notamment sur le comportement du bourdon *Bombus terrestris* sous condition de laboratoire (Barbosa *et al.*, 2015). Une réduction de la survie, de la croissance ainsi que du temps de développement a été rapportée chez *Partamona helleri* toujours dans les mêmes conditions (Bernardes *et al.*, 2018). Cependant, l'instabilité de l'azadirachtine et sa faible persistance rendent ces conditions chroniques improbables dans des situations de terrain.

L'azadirachtine est une molécule faiblement persistante dans les sols en condition aérobie avec une demi-vie de 1,9 à 9,9 jours (EFSA, 2011). Elle est faiblement persistante dans l'eau en condition aérobie avec une demi-vie de 10,6 jours (BPDB, 2013). Selon l'ARLA,

l'hydrolyse est l'une des principales voies de transformation à pH neutre et basique (demi-vie de 19 jours, 13 jours et 2 heures à pH 4, 7 et 10 respectivement). La photolyse au sol est également une voie de transformation importante de l'azadirachtine (demi-vie de 3 à 4 jours) (ARLA, 2012).

#### 1.5 Potentiel insecticide de l'azadirachtine

L'azadirachtine possède une activité insecticide contre les insectes de différents ordres (Mordue *et al.*, 2005 ; Tomé *et al.*, 2013 ; Abedi *et al.*, 2014 ; Poland *et al.*, 2016) avec un mode d'action multiple interférant avec différents processus physiologiques et biochimiques de l'insecte.

#### 1.5.1 Effets régulateurs de croissance

La croissance et le développement des insectes sont régulés par diverses hormones dont les deux principales sont : la 20-hydroxyecdysone (20E), forme active de l'ecdysone, et l'hormone juvénile (JH). L'équilibre de ces deux hormones définit le résultat de chaque transition de développement (Dubrovsky, 2005) et toute interférence avec l'équilibre hormonal entraîne une interruption du développement et est considérée comme une cible spécifique potentielle pour la lutte contre les insectes nuisibles (Penner & Dhadialla, 2012). Chez le stade adulte, ces hormones sont également impliquées dans la régulation de la maturation reproductive (Goodman & Granger, 2005).

L'azadirachtine agit comme antagoniste de ces deux hormones ; son action principale est sa capacité à modifier ou supprimer les taux d'ecdystéroïdes hémolymphatiques et d'hormones juvéniles en inhibant la libération de neurohormones prothoracicotrope (PTTH) et allatotropine à partir des *corpora cardiaca*, induisant ainsi son effet perturbateur de croissance des insectes principalement représenté par une réduction de la nymphose, des malformations et un échec de l'émergence des adultes (Mordue & Blackwel 1993 ; Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*, 2017).

#### 1.5.2 Effets sur le système nerveux

L'azadirachtine interfère avec le système nerveux central (SNC) par inhibition de la transmission cholinergique excitatrice *via* les canaux calciques (Qiao *et al.*, 2014) mais aussi sur la voie de signalisation de l'insuline (Shao *et al.*, 2016). Cependant, les mécanismes d'action de l'azadirachtine restent encore inconnus.

Les amines biogènes comme la sérotonine (5-HT), l'octopamine (OA) et la dopamine (DA) sont d'importants neuromodulateurs du SNC de *D. melanogatser* (Monastirioti, 1999) qui peuvent influencer l'apprentissage, la mémorisation, l'activité locomotrices ainsi que le comportement sexuel (Majeed *et al.*, 2016). L'azadirachtine réduit significativement les taux hémolymphatique et cérébrale de OA, 5-HT et DA (Awad *et al.*, 1997 ; Banerjee & Rembold, 1992) impactant ainsi différents processus cognitifs et comportementaux.

#### 1.5.3 Effets sur la reproduction

Les effets de l'azadirachtine sur les différents paramètres reproducteurs ont été rapportés chez plusieurs espèces d'insectes (Pineda *et al.*, 2009 ; Tine *et al.*, 2011 ; Tomé *et al.*, 2013 ; Boulahbel *et al.*, 2015 ; Er *et al.*, 2017 ; Oulhaci *et al.*, 2018). Une réduction de la fécondité et de la fertilité a été enregistrée chez de nombreux insectes et pourrait être due à l'interférence de l'azadirachtine avec la synthèse des protéines du vitellus et/ou son incorporation dans les ovocytes (Boulahbel *et al.*, 2015).

L'azadirachtine inhibe également l'ovogenèse et la spermatogénèse et induit une stérilité des insectes (Chaudhary *et al.*, 2017). En effet, pour un déroulement normal de l'ovogenèse et de la spermatogenèse, un équilibre adéquat entre l'JH et 20E est nécessaire ; l'action antagoniste de l'azadirachtine sur ces deux principales hormones explique les effets délétères sur les paramètres de la reproduction. L'azadirachtine interfère également avec le comportement d'oviposition des insectes et le choix du site de ponte (Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*, 2016).

#### 1.5.4 Effets moléculaires

L'azadirachtine impact la transcription et/ou l'expression génique de plusieurs protéines. Aussi, l'azadirachtine est connu pour réprimer l'expression des gènes des protéines cuticulaires et de l'amylase chez *D. melanogaster* (Lai *et al.*, 2014). L'azadirachtine est responsable d'une altération structurale de l'intestin moyen chez les larves de *Spodoptera litura* due à une apoptose caspases-dépendante (Shu *et al.*, 2018). Chez *D. melanogaster*, une dépolarisation de l'actine conduisant à un arrêt du cycle cellulaire et une apoptose caspase-indépendante a également été rapportée après traitement à l'azadirachtine (Anuradha *et al.*, 2007; Anuradha & Annadurai 2008).

Le traitement à l'azadirachtine augmente l'activité de la SOD et la teneur en MDA chez *D. melanogaster* et induit l'expression génique des enzymes antioxydantes telles que la SOD,

la CAT et la GST (Zhang *et al.*, 2018). L'azadirachtine inhibe également l'expression des gènes de la ferritine et de la thiorédoxine peroxydase ayant des rôles protecteurs contre le stress oxydatif (Asaduzzaman *et al.*, 2016).

#### 1.5.5 Effets anti-appétant

Parmi les différentes propriétés attribuées à l'azadirachtine, l'activité anti-appétante est la plus documentée (Schmutterer & Singh, 1995 ; Senthil-Nathan *et al.*, 2007). L'azadirachtine stimule les cellules chimioréceptrices, responsables du comportement d'aversion, au niveau des pièces buccales de l'insecte et bloque les sites des récepteurs glucidiques responsables de la stimulation de l'alimentation conduisant ainsi à une inhibition de l'alimentation (Blaney *et al.*, 1990 ; Simmonds *et al.*, 1990 ; Mordue (Luntz) *et al.*, 1999). Cette activité représente, l'effet anti-appétant primaire de l'azadirachtine.

Un effet anti-appétant secondaire lié à l'action de l'azadirachtine sur la physiologie de la digestion, notamment en affectant l'activité des enzymes impliquées dans le processus de digestion a également été rapporté et inclut un effet à plus long terme sur la réduction de la consommation de la nourriture (Rharrabe *et al.*, 2008 ; Khosravi & Sendi, 2013 ; Kilani-Morakchi *et al.*, 2017).

# 1.6 Le système chimiosensoriel et locomoteur comme cible potentielle des pesticides

Les insectes évoluent dans un environnement où ils sont en contact permanent avec des molécules volatiles ou solubles pouvant se révéler nocives. Ils ont développé des systèmes de communication sophistiqués, sensibles, efficaces et adaptés à leur environnement, indispensables à leur survie et leur reproduction. Les systèmes chimiosensoriels gustatifs et olfactifs détectent et transmettent au niveau central les informations chimiques de l'environnement (Hallem *et al.*, 2006 ; Wicher & Marion-poll, 2018) afin que l'insecte distingue les sources alimentaires des substances toxiques, reconnaisse ses proies de ses congénères et de ses partenaires sexuels (Ebbs & Amrein, 2007).

La plupart des insectes utilisent l'olfaction pour localiser leur nourriture, leur hôte et trouver leur partenaire sexuel. Le système gustatif permet aux insectes d'identifier les sources de nourriture appropriées et d'éviter les substances toxiques et amères en contrôlant le

comportement de choix alimentaire conduisant à l'acceptation ou le rejet de l'aliment (Scott, 2018).

En plus des signaux olfactifs et gustatifs, la locomotion fait partie intégrante du comportement des insectes, vu son importance pour la recherche de nourriture, l'accouplement et la réaction de fuite (Zhu *et al.*, 2020). Chez *D. melanogaster*, l'activité locomotrice, est un trait de forme physique qui intervient dans une série de comportements associés à des fonctions de base telles que la réponse au stress, la capacité de recherche de nourriture, l'accouplement, la ponte et la reproduction (Baumler & Potter, 2007 ; Khosravi *et al.*, 2010 ; Khosravi & Sendi, 2013).

Chez la drosophile, l'activité locomotrice est classée en deux types (Connolly, 1967), l'activité locomotrice spontanée, qui est indicative d'un état de locomotion à long terme et correspond à l'activité observable présentée par l'insecte sans activation spécifique par des stimuli externes (Zhu *et al.*, 2020) et la réactivité locomotrice qui correspond à une réponse d'activité à court terme qui suit immédiatement un stimulus externe et est déclenchée pour faire face aux changements environnementaux (Zhu *et al.*, 2020 ; Sun *et al.*, 2018).

Si la locomotion et les signaux chimiosensoriels des insectes sont essentiels à leur forme physique et à leur survie, en leur permettant de trouver leur partenaire sexuel et de localiser les plantes hôtes et les sources de nourriture, les insecticides, même à faible dose, agissent comme des perturbateurs de l'information provoquant des réactions inadaptées qui peuvent être exploitées comme stratégies comportementales pour lutter contre les espèces nuisibles (Tricoire-Leignel *et al.*, 2012).

Les perturbateurs de croissance des insectes (IGDs), agissent sur le contrôle endocrinien et la physiologie des insectes en perturbant leur développement et leur reproduction (Mordue *et al.*, 2010). De plus, de nombreux insecticides perturbent la neurotransmission et altèrent de ce fait, l'activité locomotrice, les systèmes sensoriels et les capacités cognitives des insectes (Tricoire-Leignel *et al.*, 2012 ; Benzidane *et al.*, 2010).

L'impact des doses sublétales d'insecticides sur les systèmes sensoriel et nerveux représente aujourd'hui un intérêt certain après la mise en évidence, chez les abeilles mellifères, des effets sublétaux sur le comportement guidé par l'olfaction, l'apprentissage et la mémoire (Desneux *et al.*, 2007 ; Goñalons & Farina, 2018 ; Chmiel *et al.*, 2020).

#### 1.7 Le système olfactif chez D. melanogaster

*D. melanogaster* est sensible à une très grande variété d'odeurs. Les molécules en suspension dans l'air peuvent induire des réactions comportementales, notamment d'attraction ou d'évitement.

Les sensilles sont les structures sensorielles olfactives chez les insectes. Ces sensilles sont en forme de poils et sont situées à l'extrémité distale des antennes et sur les palpes maxillaires ou labiaux. Ces sensilles olfactives sont perforées par un grand nombre de petits pores qui sont censés donner accès aux odeurs et peuvent donc être facilement distinguées des autres types de sensilles, comme les sensilles thermo ou hygrosensibles (Stocker, 1994). Elles se présentent sous diverses formes et chaque sensille répond de façon spécifique à une molécule chimique ou à une famille de molécules chimiques.

Sur l'antenne, on distingue trois types morphologiques de sensilles olfactives : les sensilles basiconica, les sensilles trichodea et les sensilles cœloconiques (Fig. 3). Les sensilles basiconiques sont en nombre moindre chez le mâle et les sensilles trichoides plus nombreuses chez la femelle. Par contre, le palpe maxillaire a une structure plus simple que celle de l'antenne et contient un seul type de sensille (basiconique) (Vosshall & Stocker, 2007).



# *Figure 3*. Les différents types des sensilles olfactives chez D. melanogaster (de Bruyne & Warr 2006).

Le système chimiosensoriel de la drosophile est impliqué dans un grand nombre de comportements liés à l'adaptation des insectes à leur environnement, notamment la recherche d'une plante hôte, la recherche et la sélection d'un partenaire sexuel, ou encore dans les relations sociales. Il est aussi indispensable pour la sélection du site de ponte par les femelles.

En effet, les drosophiles sont connues pour être sélectives quant aux choix du site de ponte. Plusieurs études récentes ont montré que ce type de comportement peut être modifié par l'expérience (Dukas, 2008 ; Sarin & Dukas, 2009 ; Abed-Vieillard *et al.*,2013 ; Anderson *et al.*,2013 ; Abed-Vieillard & Cartot, 2016 ; Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*,2016).

#### 1.8 Le système gustatif chez D. melanogaster

Le sens du goût est essentiel pour évaluer la qualité des aliments, pour cela les cellules sensorielles envoient des informations sensorielles aux centres supérieurs pour stimuler des réponses neurologiques qui sont traitées et décodées pour produire le comportement attractif ou répulsif approprié (Liman *et al.*, 2014). La capacité à identifier les substances attractives et à éviter les substances toxiques est essentielle pour la survie d'un animal. Bien que l'olfaction et la vision contribuent à la détection des aliments, le système gustatif agit comme un point de contrôle final pour cette prise de décision (Scott, 2018).

#### 1.8.1 L'architecture du système gustatif

Le système gustatif chez les insectes est complexe et n'est pas restreint à un seul organe. Il joue un rôle essentiel dans la sélection des aliments et les comportements alimentaires ainsi que dans d'autres activités de la vie des insectes (Miyamoto *et al.*, 2012 ; Jiang *et al.*, 2015). Le comportement alimentaire dépend à la fois de l'apport neural des sens chimiques des insectes (récepteurs gustatifs) et de l'intégration nerveuse centrale de ce code sensoriel (Mordue Luntz, 2005). La détection gustative chez les insectes se fait grâce à des sensilles gustatives, situées au niveau du proboscis, des pattes et des ailes (Fig. 4) (Stocker, 1994 ; Amrein & Thorne, 2005).

La partie externe du proboscis est constituée de deux labelles, également appelés palpes labiaux, qui fusionnent au niveau de la partie proximale du proboscis.



Figure 4. Organisation du système gustatif chez Drosophila melanogaster.

(A) Les points verts indiquent la localisation des organes gustatifs externes de la drosophile : le proboscis, le premier tarse des pattes, la bordure antérieure des ailes et l'organe ovipositeur chez la femelle. (B) Le proboscis est le principal organe gustatif chez la drosophile. Il est composé de deux labelles recouverts de sensilles gustatives. (C) Le proboscis de la drosophile contient 3 organes gustatifs internes le long de la paroi du pharynx : le LSO, VCSO et le DCSO impliqués dans l'évaluation de la nourriture et le rejet de substances toxiques. Modifié à partir de (Liman et al., 2014).

*Proboscis (trompe) :* organe principal du goût chez la drosophile, l'équivalent de la langue chez l'humain. Cet organe contient deux types de structures gustatives distinctes: la première est constituée de sensilles localisées sur la partie externe (labellum), permettant à la drosophile l'évaluation de la qualité de la nourriture avant l'ingestion ; la seconde est située dans la cavité buccale et comprend des sensilles gustatives internes organisées en trois organes (Fig.4). Ceux-ci sont l'organe sensoriel labral (LSO), et les organes sensoriels cibariaux ventraux et dorsaux (VCSO et DSCO) (Fig. 4).

*Pattes :* toutes les pattes des drosophiles portent des sensilles mécanoréceptrices et gustatives. Il existe un dimorphisme sexuel important à ce niveau, les pattes antérieures des mâles étant équipées d'environ 50 sensilles gustatives alors que celles des femelles n'en possèdent qu'environ 37 (Mitchell, 1999). Ce dimorphisme sexuel est causé par la présence des sensilles spécialisées chez le mâle, dont la fonction est de détecter les phéromones émises par les femelles (Bray & Amrein, 2003). Les sensilles gustatives sont au nombre de 30 pour les pattes du second rang et 32 pour celles du troisième rang, indistinctement pour les deux sexes. Chaque sensille y abrite de 2 à 4 neurones récepteurs gustatifs.

*Ovipositeur :* les femelles possèdent sur leur partie génitale, 10 sensilles gustatives, qui jouent probablement un rôle important dans le choix des endroits de dépôt des œufs (oviposition) et le réflexe de ponte (Montell, 2009).

*Ailes :* la bordure de l'aile est équipée de 30 sensilles gustatives essentiellement sur la partie dorsale de la veine costale antérieure. La face ventrale contient 12 autres sensilles gustatives intercalées par des sensilles mécano-sensorielles (Mitchell *et al.*, 1999).

#### 1.8.2 Les sensilles gustatives du proboscis

Les sensilles gustatives, au nombre de 31 sensilles sur chaque côté du proboscis, ont été classifiées en 3 types : longues (L), intermédiaires (I) et courtes (s) en fonction de leur taille (Fig. 5) (Shanbhag *et al.*, 2001). Généralement, les sensilles gustatives renferment, un neurone mécanosensoriel et quatre neurones gustatifs. Parmi les neurones gustatifs, un neurone détecte les sucres ; un deuxième détecte le sel ; un troisième détecte l'eau et un dernier détecte les composés amers. Les sensilles du type (I) ne contiennent que deux neurones, l'un réagissant aux sucres et l'autre aux composés amers (Amrein & Thorne, 2005 ; Montell, 2009).

La plus récente classification des sensilles gustatives du proboscis chez *D. melanogaster* a été proposée par Weiss *et al.* (2011) sur la base de critères fonctionnels, en fonction de la distribution des différents récepteurs gustatifs dans ces sensilles et de leur capacité à répondre à des substances amères. Selon ces critères, les sensilles se distribuent en 5 classes (Fig. 5).



*Figure 5.* Cartographie des sensilles gustatives sur le proboscis des drosophiles (Weiss et al., 2011).

#### 1.8.3 La structure des récepteurs gustatifs (GR)

Les stimuli gustatifs sont reconnus par des récepteurs gustatifs appartenant à une famille de protéines à sept domaines trans-membranaires, et insérés dans la membrane des dendrites des neurones gustatifs (Xu *et al.*,2012 ; Jung *et al.*,2015). En raison de la diversité et de la complexité des récepteurs gustatifs, la plupart de leurs fonctions et mécanismes moléculaires et cellulaires ne sont toujours pas identifiés (Liu *et al.*, 2020). Diverses études ont permis d'identifier 62 gènes codant 68 récepteurs gustatifs par épissage alternatif chez la drosophile. Ces récepteurs gustatifs comprennent 550 à 650 acides aminés et ne présentent que 15 et 25 % d'homologie entre eux (Clyne *et al.*, 2000 ; Dunipace *et al.*, 2001 ; Robertson *et al.*, 2003 ; Scott *et al.*, 2001).

Des études fonctionnelles ont permis de classer les récepteurs gustatifs en 8 familles : les récepteurs aux sucres, aux molécules amères, aux sels, à l'eau (faible osmolarité), au gaz carbonique (CO2), à l'acide, à l'umami et aux phéromones. Les récepteurs gustatifs sensibles aux molécules aversives sont portés par les neurones L2, abrités par les sensilles de types S et I localisées au niveau du proboscis, des pattes et dans le pharynx.

Weiss *et al.* (2011) ont permis d'effectuer une classification plus précise de la localisation des GR répondant aux molécules aversives. En effet, les récepteurs gustatifs portés par le labelle présentent différentes sensibilités vis-à-vis de 16 molécules aversives et 6 groupes de récepteurs gustatifs sensibles aux molécules aversives ont été identifiés : Les GR portés par les sensilles L (groupe 1) répondent très faiblement aux molécules aversives. Les sous-groupes de sensilles I-a (groupe 2) et I-b (groupe 3) répondent à un panel restreint de molécules aversives. Il est probablement possible de mettre en évidence d'autres sous-groupes si ces mêmes expériences sont réalisées avec d'autres composés aversifs (Fig. 6).



**Figure 6.** L'expression des Grs dans les neurones répondant à l'amer (B) et dans les neurones répondant aux sucres (S), en fonction du type de sensilles (Weiss et al., 2011).

#### 1.9 Intérêt de l'étude

Les nouvelles connaissances en écotoxicologie modifient la manière dont les pesticides et autres substances toxiques sont évalués. Les effets des pesticides et autres substances toxiques sur les organismes ont été traditionnellement évalués en utilisant des mesures de la mortalité aiguë, en tant que paramètre unique, s'appuyant sur la détermination de la dose/concentration létale, ou encore par l'évaluation de la mortalité induite par les doses recommandées sur le terrain (Croft,1990 ; Desneux *et al.*, 2007).

Cependant, en plus de l'effet direct sur la létalité, ces composés peuvent également altérer diverses caractéristiques biologiques essentielles des individus qui survivent à l'exposition, par des effets physiologiques et comportementaux (Desneux, 2007 ; Müller, 2018). Cette toxicité indirecte est associée à des effets sublétaux sur la physiologie de l'insecte (ex : développement, reproduction, longévité...) ou encore sur son comportement (ex : mobilité, recherche de nourriture, communication sexuelle, capacité d'apprentissage, mémorisation..) (Xavier *et al.*, 2015 ; Kilani-Morakchi *et al.*, 2017 ; Oulhaci *et al.*, 2018). Cependant, tout effet direct ou indirect dépend du stade de développement des insectes, car les

larves ou les nymphes ont tendance à être plus sensibles aux pesticides que les adultes (Desneux, 2007 ; Cloyd & Herrick, 2018).

L'analyse toxicologique qui permet d'estimer l'effet total des insecticides sur les populations, est de plus en plus importante lors du choix de nouveaux pesticides à utiliser pour la lutte intégrée (Banks *et al.*, 2005). La plupart des études concernant les effets sublétaux des insecticides sont liées à une exposition continue ou répétée. Cette exposition provoque un stress généralisé et active une réponse de détoxication telle que la surexpression des gènes du cytochrome P450, qui conduit à long terme à la résistance à l'insecticide (Akhtar *et al.*, 2003).

De plus, ces phénomènes de surexpression constituent également une possibilité d'adaptation environnementale (Terrier, 1984). Pour les insecticides d'origine végétale, un phénomène de désensibilisation à des composés anti-appétant a été rapporté (Akhtar *et al.,* 2003 ; Kool & Wallia, 2009). En effet, suite à une exposition répétée, les insectes deviennent de plus en plus tolérants (Kool & Wallia, 2009). Bomford et Isman (1996) ont également rapporté une habituation à l'azadirachtine pure chez *S. litura,* qui devient moins sensible aux effets anti-appétant de ce composé. Néanmoins, aucun phénomène d'habituation n'est constaté après traitement à l'huile de Neem contenant la même quantité d'azadirachtine (Bomford & Isman, 1996), ce qui suggère une faible probabilité de désensibilisation aux formulations commerciales d'azadirachtine qui renferment d'autres molécules en faibles proportions.

Des études récentes ont révélé que les insectes peuvent moduler leur comportement sur la base d'expériences antérieures en début de vie et que divers changements induits par les insecticides chez la génération directement exposée peuvent persister chez les générations suivantes, non exposées (Da Costa *et al.*,2014 ; Müller *et al.*,2017). Chez *D. melanogaster*, l'exposition des larves à des doses sublétales d'azadirachtine affecte divers aspects de leur physiologie. Cette exposition préimaginale augmente l'aversion à ce composé chez les adultes survivant à l'exposition larvaire (Kilani-Morakchi *et al.*, 2017 ; Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*, 2016) traduisant un effet à long terme de sensibilisation (Minoli *et al.*, 2012 ; Crook *et al.*, 2014), induisant un évitement des composés nocifs (Walters *et al.*, 2001).

Dans ce contexte, une évaluation précise des effets physiologiques et comportementaux, induits par les insecticides, est essentielle pour acquérir des connaissances sur leur efficacité globale pour la gestion à long terme des populations d'insectes nuisibles, ainsi que sur leur sélectivité vis-à-vis des espèces non visées (Kilani-Morakchi *et al.,* 2017). En effet, lors des études de la sensibilité des organismes aux insecticides, et en plus des impacts

à court terme sur les individus directement exposés, il est important de prendre en compte l'ensemble du cycle de vie en tant que méthode complète pour évaluer l'effet total sur la population d'insectes, y compris les impacts sur les prochaines générations qui ont des implications importantes pour le succès d'un programme de lutte intégrée (IPM) (Ali *et al.*, 2017; Müller, 2018).

#### 1.10 Objectifs de l'étude

Cette thèse s'inscrit dans la continuité des travaux de thèse du Dr. R. Bezzar-Bendjazia (2016) qui a mis en évidence qu'une exposition pré-imaginale chez *Drosophila melanogaster* (Stade L 3) à une formulation commerciale d'azadirachtine, le Neem Azal, affectait différents aspects physiologiques et comportementaux dont la ponte, la préférence du site d'oviposition, et la survie de la génération parentale.

Nous avons donc envisagé un travail complémentaire qui répond à ses perspectives et qui se découpe en deux parties distinctes :

Une première partie concerne l'évaluation des effets sur la reproduction et le développement des adultes de *D. melanogaster* après une exposition unique à l'azadirachtine  $(DL_{50}: 0,67 \ \mu g \ et \ DL_{25}: 0,28 \ \mu g \ des \ stades \ immatures)$ , des larves L3 et ce sur les différentes générations successives.

La seconde partie, traite de l'impact de cette exposition unique sur la prise de nourriture et les propriétés aversives de la molécule sur les adultes ayant survécu au traitement, en évaluant les effets sur différents paramètres comportementaux (olfaction, gustation, locomotion) ainsi que sur les réponses des sensilles gustatives grâce à une étude électrophysiologique des récepteurs gustatifs.

# Matériel & méthodes

#### Matériel et méthodes

### 2 Matériel et méthodes

#### 2.1 Matériel biologique

*Drosophila melanogaster* (Meigen, 1830) (Fig. 7) communément appelée mouche du vinaigre, appartient à la famille des drosophilidae. Son génome entièrement séquencé (Adams, 2000), sa facilité et son faible coût d'élevage, son cycle de reproduction court (10 à 12 jours à 25° C), sa petite taille (2-3 mm) ainsi que la disponibilité de nombreux outils génétiques et moléculaires font de cette mouche un modèle d'étude privilégié en recherche scientifique et médicale.



Figure 7. Mâle et femelle de D. melanogaster.

#### *A* : *Mâle*, *Gr* : *x* 11,66 ; *B* : *Femelle*, *Gr* : *x* 11,42.

Dès le début du 20<sup>ème</sup> siècle, Thomas Hunt Morgan a été le premier à comprendre l'importance de la drosophile en tant que modèle animal ; ce qui lui a valu en 1933, le prix Nobel de physiologie/médecine pour ses recherches sur la relation entre le chromosome et l'hérédité.

L'importance de la drosophile pour la santé humaine a été reconnue plus récemment par l'attribution du prix Nobel de médecine en 1995 pour les travaux sur la génétique du développement embryonnaire. Le dernier prix Nobel a été obtenu en 2017 par Jeffrey C. Hall et ses collaborateurs pour leurs études sur les mécanismes moléculaires qui contrôlent le rythme circadien.

### Matériel et méthodes

Dans le domaine des neurosciences, la drosophile a été largement étudiée, puisque malgré sa petite taille, son système nerveux central (100.000 neurones) semble fonctionner selon des mécanismes moléculaires identiques à ceux des mammifères y compris l'homme.

Le cycle de vie de *D. melanogaster* comprend 4 stades : embryonnaire, larvaire, pupal et adulte. À 25°C, il ne faut que 10 jours à la drosophile pour passer de stade œuf à adulte. La femelle peut pondre jusqu'à 400 œufs de 0,5 mm de taille dans un lieu de ponte favorable. Au bout de 24 heures après la ponte, les œufs donnent naissance aux larves du premier stade.

Le stade larvaire se compose de trois stades (L1, L2 et L3 d'une durée respective de 24 h, 24 h et 48 h). Après 4 jours d'alimentation vorace, la larve du 3ème stade s'encapsule dans un puparium où se déroule la métamorphose.

La période pupale dure 3 jours et demi environ, au terme desquels, les structures adultes sont mises en place (Fig. 8). L'adulte de *D. melanogaster* émerge par l'opercule du puparium et devient mature sexuellement.



Figure 8. Cycle de vie de D. melanogaster.
Les mouches utilisées pour nos expériences appartiennent à la souche Canton S et sont élevées au laboratoire sur un milieu nutritif standard (voir annexe 3), sous un cycle jour-nuit de 12 h, une température de 25°C et une humidité relative de 70%. Afin d'éviter le problème de compétition larvaire, les mouches sont transférées dans des tubes contenant un nouveau milieu tous les 3 jours.

#### 2.2 Présentation de l'insecticide et traitement

Le NeemAzal-T/S est une formulation commerciale d'un insecticide d'origine naturelle dont la matière active est l'azadirachtine (1% azadirachtine A ; Émulsion Concentrée (EC) ; firme : trifolio-M GmbH, Lahnau, Allemagne) issue d'une extraction huileuse des graines de l'arbre de Neem, *Azadirachta indica*. L'azadirachtine a été dissous dans l'acétone et administré par application topique sur des larves de *D. melanogaster* au début du troisième stade larvaire (L3) à deux doses, 0,28  $\mu$ g et 0,67  $\mu$ g correspondant respectivement aux DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub> des stades immatures (Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*, 2016).

Toutes les expériences ont été réalisées sur des adules ayant survécu au traitement larvaire. Les insectes témoins ont été exposés uniquement au solvant (1  $\mu$ l d'acétone) selon Bensebaa *et al* (2015) et toutes les mouches ont été conservées dans les mêmes conditions que celles mentionnées ci-dessus.

#### 2.3 Étude de la fécondité et de la préférence d'oviposition

Afin d'évaluer si une exposition unique à l'azadirachtine au début de stade L3 de *D*. *melanogaster* affecte l'oviposition des femelles, nous avons étudié les performances de ponte en utilisant un test de fécondité en conditions de choix ou de non-choix du milieu de ponte.

#### 2.3.1 Condition de non-choix du milieu de ponte

Trois femelles vierges âgées de 3 jours préalablement accouplées avec des mâles du même âge (Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*, 2016), sont utilisées pour les tests de fécondité. Les femelles des séries témoins et traitées (azadirachtine au début de stade L3 :  $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ ) ont été mises à pondre pendant 24 h dans une boîte de Petri ( $\emptyset = 65$  mm) remplie de 3 ml de milieu nutritif contenant de l'azadirachtine à deux concentrations : 0,1 µg/ml ou 0,25 µg/ml (Fig. 9). Un milieu nutritif contenant de l'acétone a été utilisé comme milieu contrôle. À la fin du test, les mouches ont été retirées et le nombre d'œufs pondus sur chaque milieu a été comptabilisé.



*Figure 9. Procédure expérimentale pour l'étude de la fécondité (condition de non-choix du milieu de ponte).* 

#### 2.3.2 Condition de choix du milieu de ponte

Des expériences similaires ont été réalisées afin d'étudier la préférence du site de ponte en condition de choix. Trois femelles fécondées âgées de 3 jours issues des séries témoins et traitées (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>) ont été mises à pondre pendant 24h dans un dispositif de ponte (pondoir) à choix binaire contenant deux boîtes de Petri l'une remplie de milieu contrôle (acétone) et l'autre d'un milieu traité (azadirachtine à 0,1  $\mu$ g/ml ou 0,25  $\mu$ g/ml) (Fig. 10). Après 24h, la préférence de ponte a été évaluée en comptant le nombre d'œufs pondus sur chaque milieu.

Les tests réalisés dans les deux conditions (choix ou non-choix) ont été effectués sur trois générations successives (génération parentale, F1 et F2), avec 12 répétitions pour chaque milieu, chaque condition et chaque génération. Aucune mortalité des femelles n'a été enregistrée au cours de nos expérimentations et ce durant la durée d'exposition (24h).



# *Figure 10.* Procédure expérimentale pour l'étude de la préférence du site de ponte (En condition de choix).

À l'issue du dénombrement des œufs déposés sur chaque pondoir, un indice de préférence d'oviposition (OPI) est calculé comme suit : (nombre d'œufs pondus sur le milieu d'azadirachtine - nombre d'œufs pondus sur le milieu témoin) / nombre total d'œufs. Cet indice peut varier de -1 (aversion pour l'azadirachtine) à +1 (attirance envers l'azadirachtine).

# 2.4 Étude du développement

Afin d'évaluer l'impact d'une exposition unique à l'azadirachine des stades L3 sur le développement de *D. melanogaster* au cours des générations successives ; dix femelles, des séries témoins ou traitées à l'azadirachtine (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>), appartenant à la génération parentale et âgées de 3 jours, ont été mises à pondre pendant 8h dans un dispositif de ponte contenant deux pondoirs (boite de Petri) remplis de milieu témoin (acétone) ou traité (azadirachtine : 0,1 ou  $0,25 \mu g/ml$ ).

À l'issu du test, les mouches ont été retirées et un pool de 100 œufs, pour chaque condition, a été transféré dans une nouvelle boîte de Petri contenant le même milieu. L'impact sur le développement de chaque stade (larve, pupe et adulte) a été évalué, en comptabilisant le nombre de larves de troisième stade, de pupes et d'imagos (Fig. 11). Le sex-ratio exprimé par le nombre de mâles divisé par le nombre total d'insectes émergés a également été évalué.

Les mouches de la génération parentale ont été croisées et les mêmes expérimentations ont été répétées pour la génération suivante (non exposée : F1), en comptabilisant les mêmes paramètres.



Comptage du nombre d'individus pour chaque stade de développement.

#### Figure 11. Suivi du développement des différents stades de vie de D. melanogaster.

La durée de développement pour chaque stade a été enregistrée pour les deux générations testées et exprimées par le  $T_{50}$  (temps en heures, lorsque 50% de la population a atteint le stade larvaire, pupal ou imaginal dans les flacons). Un stéréomicroscope à zoom (Leica Z16 APO) a été utilisé afin de détecter d'éventuelles distorsions morphologiques et des photographies ont été prises.

Les résultats ont été comparés en utilisant un facteur (FNO) décrivant le nombre final d'organismes en comparaison aux témoins (Ventrella *et al.*, 2016). Le FNO a été calculé comme suit : FNO=  $! \stackrel{\texttt{L#$}}{}_{\$} \times 100$ 

T = nombre final d'organismes sur le milieu traité.

C = nombre final d'organismes sur le milieu témoin.

Des valeurs positives de FNO révèlent un nombre d'organismes plus élevé sur le milieu traité, alors que des valeurs négatives signifient que le nombre d'individus est plus élevé sur le milieu témoin.

#### 2.5 Analyse de survie des adultes

Une analyse de survie a été réalisée afin d'évaluer les effets de l'unique exposition au stade larvaire sur la longévité des adultes et ce sur deux générations successives (P : exposés, F : non exposés) en utilisant le protocole de Linford *et al.* (2013).

Les adultes nouvellement émergés ayant survécu au traitement préalable au stade larvaire (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>) ont été séparés selon leurs sexes dans des flacons en plastique (15 mâles et 15 femelles par flacon) contenant 3ml de milieu standard. Les insectes sont maintenus à  $25^{\circ}$ C (photopériode : 12 : 12h) et transférés dans un nouveau flacon tous les 2 jours. Les mouches ont été gardées en observation pendant 15 jours au cours desquels la mortalité a été évaluée toutes les 24h (Fig. 12). Une série témoin a été réalisée en parallèle dans les mêmes conditions. Dix répétitions ont été effectuées pour chaque dose, sexe et génération.



Figure 12. Procédure expérimentale pour l'analyse de survie des adultes de D. melanogaster.

#### 2.6 Étude de l'activité locomotrice des adultes

Dans le but d'évaluer les effets de l'azadirachtine administré au début du stade L3 de *D. melanogaster* sur l'activité locomotrice des adultes survivants au traitement, les mouches ont été testées selon le protocole comportementale de géotaxie négative réalisé sous lumière inactinique rouge (Ali *et al.*, 2011).

Dix mouches (mâles ou femelles séparément) âgées de trois jours des séries témoins et traitées ( $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ ) ont été placées, sans anesthésie préalable, dans un tube en plastique vide (18 cm de long x 2 cm de diamètre). Après 15 minutes sous lumière inactinique, les tubes sont doucement tapés durant 3 secondes de manière à ce que toutes les mouches se retrouvent au fond du tube. Le nombre de drosophiles capables d'atteindre le haut du tube en 15 secondes est comptabilisé.

Cinq répétitions à 5 min d'intervalle ont été effectuées pour chaque dose, sexe et génération (P et F1) pour une durée totale de 25 min. Les résultats sont présentés en pourcentage de mouches ayant atteint le haut du tube (1cm avant le bouchon) (Fig. 13).



*Figure 13. Procédure expérimentale pour l'activité locomotrice des adultes de. D. melanogaster.* 

# 2.7 Étude de la perception olfactive des adultes : Olfactomètre en Y

Afin d'évaluer l'impact de l'expérience pré-imaginale à l'azadirachtine sur le choix olfactif (attirance/répulsion) des mouches adultes, nous avons utilisé un labyrinthe en forme de Y présentant un choix olfactif binaire.

Les adultes (10 mâles, 10 femelles), âgés de 3 jours, des séries témoins et traitées ( $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ ) séparés selon leur sexe, sont mis à jeûner 17 heures avant le test dans un tube contenant un papier humidifié, et maintenus à 25° C.

On dépose sur un papier filtre (Whatmann, N° 41), 50 $\mu$ l de solution d'azadirachtine à 0,25 $\mu$ g/ml, et sur un autre papier filtre 50 $\mu$ l d'acétone (utilisé comme témoin). On laisse évaporer et on humidifie les papiers filtre avec 1ml d'eau distillée.

On découpe alors les zones de façon à obtenir un carré mesurant 5 x 5 mm, on place ces papiers filtre dans deux tubes d'élevage en plastique (longueur : 9,3 cm,  $\emptyset$  2,2cm).

Les tubes sont reliés entre eux par un tube en Y (Fig. 14). Afin de piéger les mouches qui entrent dans chaque tube, le tube en Y est relié à un cône sectionné, traversant un bouchon de mousse. La troisième branche du tube en Y est reliée à un troisième tube, contenant les 10 adultes à tester.



Figure 14. Olfactomètre en Y utilisé pour l'étude de l'orientation des mouches vers des odeurs.

Les tests sont effectués sous lumière rouge afin d'éviter les stimuli visuels autant que possible (Simonnet *et al.*, 2014). Après 2 heures, on compte le nombre de drosophiles dans chaque tube et un indice d'olfaction (IO) est calculé comme suit :

IO = (nombre de drosophiles dans le tube contenant l'azadirachtine – nombre de drosophiles dans le tube contenant l'acétone) / nombre total de mouches utilisées.

#### 2.8 Test de sensibilité gustative (Proboscis Extension Response : PER)

Nous avons utilisé une approche comportementale appelée extension du proboscis (PER) afin de vérifier la détection de l'azadirachtine par les mouches. 30 mâles et femelles, âgés de 3 jours, préalablement traités (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>) au stade L3 ainsi qu'une série témoin (tubes ne contenant que du papier filtre imbibé d'eau distillée) sont mis à jeûner 20 h avant le test et maintenus à  $25^{\circ}$ C).

Deux heures avant le test, les mouches sont anesthésiées en les plaçant dans un tube de verre plongé dans de la glace (1-2 minutes) puis disposées sur du patafix (UHU stick), et immobilisées sur le dos grâce à une bandelette de scotch placée sur le thorax (Fig.15).

Le test consiste à toucher le proboscis avec une goutte de la substance à tester. En cas de réponse positive à la substance testée, la mouche étendra son proboscis pour se nourrir (Fougeron *et al.*, 2011). Afin d'éviter les faux positifs, avant chaque stimulation, l'insecte est stimulé avec de l'eau. En cas de réponse positive, la mouche ne sera pas testée. Si la mouche n'a aucune réaction, on teste alors une goutte de saccharose (100 mM) afin de vérifier que l'extension du proboscis peut se faire correctement. Si aucune extension n'est visible, la mouche ne sera pas testée.

Différentes concentrations d'azadirachtine ont été testées  $(0,1 \ \mu g/ml, 0,25 \ \mu g/ml, 1 \ \mu g/ml, 10 \ \mu g/ml)$ . Les réponses comportementales observées sont l'extension du proboscis (PER : proboscis étendu pendant 5 s) ou l'absence de réponse.



*Figure 15.* Schéma des procédures utilisées pour mesurer l'extension du proboscis (PER).
(A) : Fixation de la mouche et présentation du stimulus, (B) : Extension du proboscis, (C) : Proboscis au repos.

#### 2.9 Étude électrophysiologique

Afin d'évaluer la sensibilité des mouches préalablement traitées ( $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ ) à l'azadirachtine au début du stade L3 vis-à-vis de cette molécule ; des enregistrements électrophysiologiques ont été réalisés sur des femelles âgées de 3 à 5 jours ayant survécu au traitement larvaire. Les expériences consistent à coiffer l'extrémité d'une sensille gustative avec un capillaire en verre contenant une solution stimulante et un électrolyte pendant 2 s.

Après avoir été anesthésiée dans un tube de verre plongé dans de la glace pilée (1 à 2 min), une mouche est fixée sur un support malléable (Patafix UHU stick, ®) et immobilisée avec 2-3 bandelettes de papier adhésif (Scotch crystal) de 0,2-0,5 mm x 1 cm, et placée de manière à exposer les sensilles gustatives du proboscis (Fig. 16). Une électrode de référence, constituée d'un fil d'argent placée contre la mouche et mise en contact avec celle-ci à l'aide d'une goutte de gel d'électrocardiographie (Redux Gel, Parker Laboratories, Fairfields NJ, USA).

La mouche fixée est ensuite amenée sous un microscope (Leica MZ16), et correctement orientée de façon à ce que les sensilles sur le proboscis soit accessible à la stimulation (Fig. 16) Pour la stimulation, nous avons utilisé des capillaires en verre borosilicaté (taille de la pointe d'environ 10  $\mu$ m ; Harvard Apparatus LTD, EdenBridge, UK), remplis de la solution de stimulation. Cette électrode est connectée à un amplificateur de goût (TastePROBE DT-02)

(Marion-Poll & Van der Pers, 1996) qui déclenche au contact, un enregistrement de 2 secondes avec une carte d'acquisition de données 16 bits (DT9803, Data Translation, USA) échantillonnant les données à 10 kHz, sous le contrôle d'un programme personnalisé dbWave (Marion-Poll, 1996). Les données ont ensuite été amplifiées (×500) et filtrées (10-2800 Hz) avec un amplificateur CyberAmp 320 (Axon Instruments, USA).

Les solutions stimulantes utilisées sont dissoutes dans de l'eau distillée contenant du tricholinecitrate à 30 mM (TCC ; Sigma-Aldrich, France), qui est un électrolyte inhibant l'activité de la cellule à l'eau (Wieczorek & Wolff, 1989). Les solutions testées sont : L'azadirachtine (0,1µg/ml, 0,25µg/ml, 1µg/ml, 10µg/ml), la caféine (10mM) et le saccharose (30mM). Le TCC à 30mM a été utilisé comme contrôle.



*Figure 16.* Dispositif d'électrophysiologie et étapes d'enregistrements électrophysiologiques à partir de la stimulation d'une sensille gustative du proboscis chez D. melanogaster.

(A): Poste d'électrophysiologie de gustation comprenant une loupe, un éclairage par lumière froide, un système d'amplification et d'acquisition de données et la préparation placée sur un plot magnétique, posé sur un bras articulé permettant de changer son orientation. (B) : Vue d'ensemble de la mouche immobilisée par des bandelettes de papier adhésif transparent. (C) : Vue du proboscis bien ouvert afin d'accéder facilement aux sensilles gustatives. (D) : Vue d'ensemble des sensilles. (E) : Procédure de stimulation d'une sensille : Le proboscis est maintenu immobile et la position des sensilles est identifiée. Un capillaire de verre contenant la solution stimulante et relié à un amplificateur par un fil d'argent est approché sous contrôle visuel grâce à un micromanipulateur afin de coiffer la sensille choisie. (F) : Exemple de type d'enregistrement.. La trace du haut représente le signal enregistré pendant 2 s.

#### 2.10 Tests de consommation alimentaire (MultiCAFE : Multi Capillary Feeding)

Pour l'estimation de la quantité de liquide consommé, un test de capillaires multiples (MultiCAFE) a été réalisé. 32 adultes mâles et femelles, âgés de 3 jours, ayant survécu au traitement ( $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ ) larvaire, sont séparés selon leur sexe, et mis à jeûner, dans des tubes contenant un coton humidifié, pendant 20 à 22 h (Fig. 17).



Figure 17. Schéma représentant la préparation des mouches pour le test MultiCAFE.

Les mouches sont ensuite transférées dans des cages individuelles rectangulaires dans lesquelles elles ont accès à 2 capillaires de 5 µl (Hirschman Laborgewäre, VWR), remplis d'une solution test. Chaque cage fait partie d'une boîte comprenant 10 cages individuelles dont 2 ne contiennent pas de mouches, et qui servent à évaluer l'évaporation (Fig. 18). Un papier filtre humidifié est placé dans les boites afin de maintenir un niveau d'humidité élevé durant l'expérience. Ces boîtes sont alors mises dans une étuve à 25°C où une webcam Logitech HC920 est utilisée pour capturer une image par minute pendant une durée de 2 h.

A la fin de l'expérience, les images sont analysées grâce à un plugin (développé par Pr. F. Marion-Poll) développé en Java qui fonctionne sous le logiciel d'analyse d'image ICY (Chaumont *et al.*, 2012), afin de mesurer la quantité de liquide consommé ainsi que le taux d'évaporation. Deux concentrations d'azadirachtine (0,1 µg/ml et 0,25µg/ml) mélangées avec 30mM de saccharose ont été testées. Des séries témoins ont été réalisées en utilisant uniquement du saccharose à 30mM. Afin d'évaluer la spécificité de réponse à l'azadirachtine,

une seconde molécule amère, la caféine (CAF à 10 mM) a été utilisée. Toutes les solutions ont été colorées avec du bleu brillant R pour faciliter la quantification de la consommation.





#### 2.11 Analyses statistiques

Toutes les analyses statistiques ont été effectuées par R studio version 3.5.0 pour Mac OS. Les résultats ont été exprimés sous la forme de moyennes  $\pm$  SEM pour chaque série d'expériences. L'homogénéité des variances a été vérifiée à l'aide du test de Bartlett. Le test statistique de Shapiro-Wilk a été utilisé pour tester la normalité des données.

Les données relatives à la préférence de ponte, à l'indice d'oviposition, sex-ratio, la réactivité locomotrice et la réponse olfactive ont été analysées par le test de Kruskal-Wallis suivi par des comparaisons multiples par la méthode de Dunn's. Les résultats du développement ont été analysés par l'ANOVA, suivie par le test post-hoc HSD de Tukey. Les résultats de l'analyse de survie ont été soumis au test de survie de Kaplan-Meier.

Les données de la réponse d'extension du proboscis (PER) ont été soumises au test du chi square ( $\chi^2$ ). Les résultats de test de préférence alimentaire et les réponses éléctrophysiologiques ont été analysés par le test de Mann-Whitney.

# 3 Résultats

#### 3.1 Effets sur la fécondité et la préférence d'oviposition

Une étude de fécondité en condition de choix et non-choix du milieu de ponte a été réalisé *via* un comptage du nombre d'œufs pondus pour chaque groupe de 3 femelles, sur chaque milieu (Témoin, 0,1 et  $0,25 \mu g/ml$ ), sur trois générations successives.

L'azadirachtine, testé par application topique (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub> des stades immatures) sur les larves au début du stade L3 affecte la fécondité des femelles par une réduction significative du nombre d'œufs pondus comparativement aux témoins (KW = 24,73 ; P < 0,001). En effet, on enregistre une réduction de 27% pour les individus traités à la DL<sub>25</sub>, cette réduction atteint 41% pour les individus traités à la DL<sub>50</sub>.

Cette réduction observée chez les femelles de deux générations successives (parentale : exposée et F1 : non exposée) reste plus marquée chez la génération parentale (P) (KW = 50,89; P < 0,001) (Fig. 19). Une restauration complète de la fécondité a été enregistrée chez la génération F2.

Chez la génération P, le test de Kruskal-Wallis révèle des effets significatifs pour les milieux 0,1  $\mu$ g/ml (KW = 29,42 ; P < 0,001) et 0,25  $\mu$ g/ml (KW = 24,73 ; P < 0,001). En effet, la comparaison multiple par le test de Dunn's révèle des différences significatives entre les différents insectes testés (Témoins, DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>) pour les milieux témoin (P < 0,001) et traités à 0,1  $\mu$ g/ml d'azadirachtine (P < 0,001). En ce qui concerne le milieu traité à 0,25  $\mu$ g/ml, aucune différence n'est trouvée entre les deux doses testées (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>) (P = 0,7802).

Pour la génération F1, un effet significatif du milieu a également été noté (milieu 0,1  $\mu$ g/ml : KW = 22,95 ; P < 0,001 et milieu 0,25  $\mu$ g/ml : KW = 27, 93 ; P < 0,001). En effet, la comparaison multiple par le test de Dunn's révèle des différences significatives entre les différents insectes témoins et traités pour les milieux témoins (P < 0,001), traités à 0,1  $\mu$ g/ml d'azadirachtine (P < 0,001) et traités à 0,25  $\mu$ g/ml d'azadirachtine. Néanmoins, aucun effet dose n'est enregistré et ce pour les trois milieux testés (P > 0,05).

Pour la génération F2, aucune différence n'est enregistrée entre les traitements (Témoins,  $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ ) et ce pour les trois milieux (0 µg/ml, 0,1 µg/ml et 0,25 µg/ml).



Figure 19. Effets de l'azadirachtine sur la fécondité des femelles.

 $m \pm SEM$ , n = 12 répétitions de trois femelles chacune. Les moyennes suivies d'une même lettre ne sont pas significativement différentes (p > 0,05). Les lettres minuscules différentes indiquent une différence significative entre les individus témoins et les individus traités pour un même milieu (P < 0,05). Les lettres majuscules différentes indiquent une différence significative entre les générations pour un même milieu (P < 0,05).

Les résultats concernant la préférence d'oviposition en condition de choix (Fig. 20) révèlent une nette préférence de ponte sur le milieu témoin et ce pour toutes les générations testées (P, F1 et F2). De plus, les mouches précédemment exposées à l'azadirachtine (L3 de début de stade) présentent une aversion plus marquée envers cette substance en comparaison aux mouches "naïves", avec un nombre d'œufs pondus très réduit pour les deux premières générations (P et F1) et des effets plus marqués chez la génération parentale (P < 0,001).



#### Figure 20. Effets de l'azadirachtine sur la ponte en situation de choix.

A : Milieu témoin vs milieu 0,1 µg/ml d'azadirachtine ; B : Milieu témoin vs milieu 0,25 µg/ml d'azadirachtine. ( $m \pm SEM$  ; n = 12 répétitions de trois femelles chacune). Les moyennes suivies d'une même lettre ne sont pas significativement différentes (p > 0,05). Les lettres minuscules différentes indiquent une différence significative entre les générations pour un même milieu (P < 0,05). Les lettres majuscules différentes indiquent une différence significative entre les individus témoins et les individus traités pour un même milieu (P < 0,05).

Les indices de préférence d'oviposition (IPO) des femelles, exposées ou non à l'azadirachtine au stade larvaire (L3) de la génération parentale, présentent des valeurs négatives et ce pour toutes les générations testées (Fig. 22). Les moyennes des valeurs de l'IPO

obtenues respectivement pour les adultes témoins,  $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$  sont pour le milieu 0,1 µg/ml chez la génération parentale, de -0,27, -0,39 et -0,37, chez la génération F1 elles sont de -0,25, -0,31 et -0,32 ; chez la génération F2 elles sont de -0,28, -0,26 et -0,25.

Pour le milieu 0,25  $\mu$ g/ml, les moyennes des valeurs de l'IPO obtenues respectivement pour les adultes témoins, DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub> sont de -0,27, -0,38, -0,37 chez la génération parentale, de -0,25, -0,30, -0,32 chez la génération F1, de -0,26, -0,26 et -0,25 chez la génération F2.

En ce qui concerne le milieu  $0,1 \ \mu g/ml$  et pour la génération P, l'analyse statistique révèle des différences significatives entre l'IPO des mouches ayant survécu au traitement préalable au stade larvaire et des mouches témoins et ce sans effet dose-dépendant (Fig. 21).



Figure 21. Effets d'une exposition sur les choix de ponte sur 3 générations.

Indice de préférence d'oviposition ( $m \pm SEM$ ; n=12 répétitions) des femelles de D. melanogaster en condition de choix du milieu de ponte ( $A : 0,1 \ \mu g/ml$ ;  $B : 0,25 \ \mu g/ml$ ). Les moyennes suivies d'une même lettre ne sont pas significativement différentes (P > 0,05). Les lettres en minuscules indiquent une différence significative entre la

même dose des différentes générations. Les lettres en majuscules indiquent une différence significative entre les différentes doses testées pour une même génération (P < 0,05).

Le test de Mann-Whitney révèle des effets significatifs entre la DL<sub>25</sub> de la génération parentale et la première génération F1 (U = 8 ; P < 0,001), la DL<sub>25</sub> de la génération parentale et la deuxième génération (U = 20 ; P = 0,0018) mais aucune différence n'est enregistrée entre la première et la deuxième génération F2 (U = 42 ; P = 0,0887).

Des résultats similaires sont observés pour la  $DL_{50}$ , avec des effets significatifs entre la génération parentale et la F1 (U = 19 ; P = 0,0014), entre les générations P et F2 (U = 34 ; P = 0,0284) mais aucune différence entre la F1 et la F2 (U = 58 ; P = 0,4428).

En ce qui concerne les séries témoins, aucune différence n'est relevée entre les générations testées (P > 0,05).

Des résultats similaires sont obtenus pour le milieu 0,25 µg/ml. Le test de Mann-Whitney révèle des effets significatifs entre les individus traités à la DL<sub>25</sub> de la génération parentale et de la F1 (U = 25 ; P = 0,0045), de la génération parentale et la deuxième génération F2 (U = 24 ; P = 0,0045) mais aucune différence entre la première et la deuxième génération (U = 66 ; P = 0,5512).

Pour la DL<sub>50</sub>, des différences significatives sont observées entre la génération parentale et la F2 (U = 25,50 ; P = 0,0025), entre la F1 et la F2 (U = 34 ; P = 0,0028) mais aucune différence n'est observée entre la F1 et la génération P (U = 49 ; P = 0,1974). Aucune différence n'est enregistrée entre les témoins des différentes générations (P > 0,05).

L'application topique de l'azadirachtine au stade L3 de *D. melanogaster* affecte donc la fécondité des femelles par une réduction significative de nombres d'œufs pondus des adultes (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>) avec un effet dose-dépendant comparativement aux témoins. Cette baisse a été retrouvée chez la génération parentale P (exposée) et la génération suivante F1 (non-exposée) avec un effet plus marqué chez la génération P. La fécondité des mouches est totalement restorée chez la génération F2. Cependant, en condition de choix, les mouches évitent de pondre dans le milieu traité à l'azadirachtine (0,1 et 0,25 µg/ml) pour toutes les générations testées.

#### 3.2 Effets sur le développement

Un suivi du développement de *D. melanogaster* a été réalisé afin d'évaluer la sensibilité des différents stades à l'exposition unique à l'azadirachine au stade L3 et ce sur deux générations successives.

Les résultats sont présentés sur les tableaux 1 et 2, respectivement pour la génération parentale (exposée) et la génération F1 (non exposée). Le traitement des larves au début du troisième stade (L3) à deux doses (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>) a conduit à une réduction dose-dépendante du nombre de larves, de pupes et d'adultes chez la génération parentale avec un facteur FNO toujours négatif, traduisant un nombre d'individus plus élevé sur le milieu témoin.

Le développement de la génération suivante (F1) ne semble pas être affecté par le traitement larvaire (L3) de la génération parentale. Cependant, le nombre final d'organismes (FNO) reste significativement plus faible sur les milieux traités et ce pour toutes les mouches testées (Témoins, DL<sub>25</sub>, DL<sub>50</sub>). Aucune différence dans le nombre d'organismes ayant atteint le stade pupal ou imaginal n'est enregistrée entre les deux générations (P et F1).

Le traitement des larves du stade L3 affecte également le développement de *D. melanogaster* en prolongeant de manière significative (P < 0,001), et avec une relation doseréponse, la durée du développement larvaire et pupal exprimée par le T<sub>50</sub> (Tableau 2), et ce uniquement pour la génération parentale (exposée). Aucun effet du milieu testé n'a été enregistré sur la durée de développement des différents stades (P > 0,05).

**Tableau 2 :** Effet de l'exposition larvaire à l'azadirachtine sur le développement de la génération parentale.

Les lettres en minuscules indiquent une différence significative entre les différentes doses testées pour un même milieu et pour chaque stade de développement (P < 0,05). Les lettres en majuscules indiquent une différence significative entre les mêmes doses testées pour différents milieux (P < 0,05). ( $m \pm SEM$ ; n = 15 répétitions).

Milieu	Doses		Larves			Pupes		Imagos		
		N individus	T <sub>50</sub> (h)	Malformations (%)	N individus	T <sub>50</sub> (h)	Malformations (%)	N individus	Malformations (%)	FNO
	Témoins	93,73±1,3 A a	41,93± 0,25 A a	0,00± 0,00 A a	92,66± 1,41 A a	150,86± 1,43 A a	0,00± 0,00 A a	90,8± 1,48 A a	0,00± 0,00 A a	0
Fémoin	DL <sub>25</sub>	85,86± 1,22 A b	49,8± 0,63 A b	2,53± 0,96 A b	79,4± 1,37 A b	159,4± 0,35 A b	1,53± 0,70 A b	78,4± 1,52 A b	17,86± 2,65 A b	-13,41
	DL50	80,20± 2,24 A b	60,93±0,61 A c	3,60± 1,03 A b	75,06± 2,50 A b	166,2±0,53 A c	4,4±2,53 A c	73,2±2,53 A c	20,33± 2,65 A b	-19,25
Azadirachtine 0,1 μg/ml	Témoins	89,93± 0,64 A a.	42,06± 0,6 A a	0,00± 0,00 A a	86,26± 01,00 A a	151,46± 0,89 A a	0,00± 0,00 A a	81,60± 1,1 B a	0,00± 0,00 A a	0
	DL <sub>25</sub>	79,93± 1,27 A b	49,6± 1,64 A b	4,06± 0,93 B b	69,4± 0,98 B b	160,13± 0,50 A b	4,20± 0,92 B b	67,4± 1,10 B b	15,86± 2,06 A b	-17,08
	DL50	77,46± 1,52 A b	62,53± 1,68 A c	7,6± 1,21 B c	66,93± 0,81 B b	167,06± 0,91 A c	3,73± 0,72 A b	65,66± 1,37 A c	16,13± 1,85 A b	-19,34
Azadirachtine 0,25 µg/ml	Témoins	80,13± 1,74 B a	43,86± 0,90 A a	0,00± 0,00 A a	74,8± 1,67 B a	150,8±0,75 A a	0,00± 0,00 A a	73,53± 1,93 C a	0,00± 0,00 A a	0
	DL <sub>25</sub>	72,53±1,56 B b	54,13± 1,10 B b	7,06± 1,10 C b	63,00± 1,48 B b	159,06± 0,89 A b	09,06± 0,97 C b	60,64± 1,77 B b	19,4± 2,15 A b	-17,31
	DL <sub>50</sub>	66,2± 2,18 B b	61,6± 0,98 A c	10,86± 0,91 B c	54,13± 1,85 C c	171,06± 0,69 A c	11,86± 1,07 B c	53,13±1,82 B b	24,13± 1,76 B b	-26,94

 Tableau 3 : Effets de l'exposition larvaire à l'azadirachtine sur le développement de la première génération F1.

Les lettres en minuscules indiquent une différence significative entre les différentes doses testées pour un même milieu et pour chaque stade de développement (P < 0,05). Les lettres en majuscules indiquent une différence significative entre les mêmes doses testées pour différents milieux (P < 0,05). ( $m \pm SEM$ ; n = 15 répétitions).

Milieu	Doses	Larves				Pupes		Imagos		
		N individus	T50 (h)	Malformations (%)	N individus	T50 (h)	Malformations (%)	N individus	Malformations (%)	FNO
	Témoins	97,53± 0,80 A a	42,93± 0,46 A a	0,00± 0,00 A a	97,2± 0,80 A a	150,4± 1,22 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	96,8± 0,76 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	0
Témoin	DL <sub>25</sub>	97,2± 0,82 A a	43,73± 0,85 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	96,26± 0,94 Aa	152,6± 1,05 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	94,00± 0,95 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	-2,85
	<b>DL</b> 50	97,73± 0.85 A a	42,93± 0,69 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	96,13±0,97 A a	152,00± 0,80 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	93,93±1,17 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	-2,90
dirachtine ,1 μg/ml	Témoins	89,62± 1,80 A a	43,06± 0,50 A a	0,00± 0,00 A a	87,86± 1,84 B a	150,86± 0,57 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	85,60± 1,59 B a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	0
	<b>DL</b> <sub>25</sub>	84,20± 1,30 B a	42,6± 0,77 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	82,4± 1,37 B a	152,73± 1,12 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	82,51± 1,36 B a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	-4.44
Aza 0	<b>DL</b> 50	84,60± 1,32 B a	42,86± 0,79 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	81,26± 1,48 B a	151,86± 1,19 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	80,86± 1,57 B a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	-5.30
tine al	Témoins	86,53± 1,97 A a	42,64± 0,83 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	78,73±2,17 B a	149,46± 0,94 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	78,73± 2,17 B a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	0
Azadiracht 0,25 μg/π	DL <sub>25</sub>	83,66± 1,73 B a	41,8± 0,82 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	76,40± 1,23 B a	150,33± 0,71 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	73,2±1,48 C a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	-6.41
	DL50 <sup>°</sup>	78,8± 1,52 B b	42,00± 0,81 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	76,86± 1,38 B a	151,4± 0,60 A a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	73,73± 1,55 B a	0,00± 0,00 Aa	-5.37

Différentes malformations conduisant à la mort de l'insecte (Fig. 22) ont été enregistrées, après traitement des larves du début du stade L3 à l'azadirachtine (DL<sub>25</sub>, DL<sub>50</sub>), chez la génération parentale, et ce pour les différents stades de développement. Les aberrations morphologiques les plus couramment observées sont des mues incomplètes, des adultes malformés (abdomen et ailes déformés) avec une forme de corps courbée et plus petite, des larves brûlées (hyperpigmentées) ainsi que des adultes morts à l'intérieur des pupes.



Figure 22. Exemples des malformations les plus fréquentes chez D. melanogaster au stade L3.

*A* : abdomen et ailes malformés, forme du corps courbée et plus petite ; *B* : adulte mort à l'intérieur d'une pupe ; *C* : adulte malformé ; *D* : larve brûlée.

L'exposition pré-imaginale à l'azadirachtine affecte le sex-ratio avec une domination du nombre de mâles et ce uniquement pour la génération parentale (Fig. 23). Le test de Kruskal-Wallis révèle des effets significatifs entre les différents insectes testés (Témoins, DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>) dans un milieu non traité (KW = 9,30 ; P = 0,0095), un milieu à 0,1 µg/ml d'azadirachtine (KW = 8,02 ; P < 0,0181) et un milieu à 0,25 µg/ml d'azadirachtine (KW = 18,85 ; P < 0,001). Aucun effet n'a été enregistré sur le sex-ratio de la première génération (F1).





Les différentes lettres en minuscules indiquent une différence significative entre les générations pour un même milieu (P < 0,05). Les différentes lettres en majuscules indiquent une différence significative entre les individus témoins et traités pour un même milieu (P < 0,05). ( $m \pm SEM$ ; n = 15 répétitions).

L'application topique de l'azadirachtine affecte le développement de *D. melanogaster* avec une réduction significative du nombre d'individu pour chaque stade (larvaire, pupal et adulte). Plusieurs malformations ont été retrouvées ainsi qu'un sex-ratio biaisé en faveur des mâles. Ces résultats ont été noté uniquement chez la génération parentale (exposée).

#### 3.3 Analyse de la survie des adultes

L'évaluation des effets d'une unique exposition larvaire au stade L3 sur la longévité des adultes a été réalisé et ce sur deux générations successives, jusqu'à la restauration de cet effet.

Un suivi de la survie des adultes durant les 15 premiers jours de la vie imaginale révèle une réduction significative du nombre d'adultes, survivants au traitement larvaire, chez la génération P (Mâles : test de Kaplan-Meier,  $\chi^2 = 184$ , df = 2, P < 0,001; Femelles : test de Kaplan-Meier,  $\chi^2 = 214$ , df = 2, P < 0,001). Une mortalité plus faible a été enregistrée pour la génération F1 (non exposée) (Mâles : test de Kaplan-Meier,  $\chi^2 = 39,1$ , df = 2, P < 0,001 ; Femelles : test de Kaplan-Meier,  $\chi^2 = 63,1$ , df = 2, P < 0,001). La mortalité enregistrée est dépendante de la dose administrée et les femelles semblent plus sensibles au traitement.

Aucune mortalité n'a été enregistrée chez les témoins et ce pour les deux générations testées. L'azadirachtine à la dose la plus faible (DL<sub>25</sub>) réduit la survie des adultes à 49% pour les mâles et 36% pour les femelles de la génération P contre 94% pour les mâles et 84% pour les femelles de la génération F1. La dose la plus élevée (DL<sub>50</sub>) induit des effets plus marqués sur la survie des adultes avec des taux de 27% pour les mâles et 16% pour les femelles de la génération P et 81% pour les mâles et 64% pour les femelles de la génération F2 (Fig. 24).



#### Analyse de survie des femelles



Analyse de survie des males



L'exposition pré-imaginale à l'azadirachtine, affecte la survie des adultes avec une mortalité plus marquée chez les femelles que les mâles chez la génération parentale (exposée). La mortalité est moins maquée chez la génération F1 (exposée). l'azadirachtine ne semble pas affecté la survie de la génération F2.

#### **Published in: Scientific Reports**

Transgenerational effects from single larval exposure to azadirachtin on life history and behavior traits of *Drosophila melanogaster* 

<sup>1, 2</sup> Ferdenache, M<sup>Q</sup>., <sup>1</sup>Bezzar-Bendjazia, R., <sup>2,3</sup>Marion-Poll, F., <sup>1</sup>Kilani-Morakchi, S\*<sup>Q</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology, Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Badji Mokhtar University of Annaba, 23000-Annaba, Algeria, <sup>2</sup>Evolution, Génomes, Comportement, Ecologie. CNRS, IRD, Univ Paris-Sud. Université Paris-Saclay. F-91198 Gifsur-Yvette, France, <sup>3</sup>AgroParisTech, Paris, France

\*Corresponding author:

•

Samira Kilani-Morakchi (<u>samira.morakchi@univ-annaba.dz; samira.morakchi@gmail.com</u>) Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology

Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Badji Mokhtar University of Annaba, 23000-Annaba, Algeria.

Both authors contributed equally to this work and considered first authors.

#### Abstract

Azadirachtin is one of the successful botanical pesticides in agricultural use with a broad-spectrum insecticide activity, but its possible transgenerational effects have not been the object of much attention. The effects of sublethal doses of azadirachtin on life-table traits and oviposition behaviour of a model organism in toxicological studies, D. melanogaster, were evaluated. The fecundity and oviposition preference of flies surviving to single azadirachtintreated larvae of parental generation was adversely affected resulting in a reduction of number of eggs laid and increasing aversion to this compound over two successive generations. In parental generation, early exposure to azadirachtin affects adult's development by reducing the number of organisms, delayed larval and pupal development; male biased sex ratio and induced morphological alterations. Moreover, adult's survival of the two generations was significantly decreased as compared to the control. Therefore, Single preimaginal azadirachtin treatment can affect flies population dynamics via transgenerational reductions in survival and reproduction capacity as well as reinforcement of oviposition avoidance which can contribute as repellent strategies in integrated pest management programs. The transgenerational effects observed suggest a possible reduce both in application frequency and total amount of pesticide used, which would aid in reducing both control costs and possible ecotoxicological risks.

#### 1. Introduction

The effect of insecticides and other toxicants on insects have been traditionally assessed using measures of the acute mortality as a single endpoint and have relied on the determination of the acute lethal dose/concentration<sup>1</sup>. However, in addition to the direct effect on lethality these compounds may also impair various key biological traits of the individuals that survive exposure through physiological and behavioral effects<sup>1,2</sup>. Among physiological effects, developmental success, morphological deformities, adult longevity, sex ratio, fertility and

fecundity are commonly estimated<sup>3,4</sup>. Behavioral effects may be manifested as impairment in insect mobility, learning ability, host finding, sexual communication as well as feeding and oviposition behavior<sup>5–10</sup>. An accurate assessment of these effects is crucial to acquire knowledge on the overall insecticide efficacy for long-term management of pest insect populations, as well as on their selectivity toward non-target species<sup>11</sup>. Indeed, when studying susceptibility of organisms towards insecticides, and beside the short term influences on the directly exposed individuals, it is important to take into account the entire life-history as a comprehensive method for evaluating the total effect on insect population, including the impacts on the next generation which have important implications for the success of an Integrated Pest Management (IPM) program<sup>2,4</sup>.

Today and among the insecticides used in sublethal effect studies, the botanical insecticides have been the subject of an increasing number of academic research as a potential option for an environment friendly pest management tools<sup>12,13</sup> due to their rapid degradation in environment, low mammalian toxicity, low risk of resistance development in target pest populations and good selectivity to non-target arthropods<sup>14–18</sup>. Azadirachtin (AZA), a natural tetranortriterpenoid compound extracted from the neem tree, *Azadirachta indica*<sup>19</sup>, is considered as one of the most promising plant compounds for pest control in organic agriculture<sup>14,20</sup>. AZA shows variable effects on insects including the model insect *Drosophila melanogaster*<sup>21,22</sup>. This triterpenoid acts as sterilant, insect growth regulators by disruption of the endocrine system, repellent, oviposition and feeding deterrent by activating bitter sensitive gustatory cells<sup>23,24</sup>. Larval exposure of *D. melanogaster* to sublethal doses of azadirachtin was found to affects various aspects of their physiology including digestive enzymes<sup>25</sup> and this effect is also further observed in the adults<sup>10</sup>. This pre-imaginal exposure affects not only the physiology and the fitness of flies but also adults oviposition and feeding preference<sup>7,10</sup>.

Most studies concerning the sublethal effects of insecticides are related to continuously or repeated exposure. This exposure provokes a generalized stress and activating a detoxification response such as up-regulated of cytochrome P450 genes which my lead to the detoxification of insecticide and even the development of resistance<sup>26</sup>. Moreover, the up-regulation is thought to provide versatility in environmental adaptation<sup>27</sup>. In botanical insecticide the potential fast desensitization to a feeding deterrent was reported<sup>28,29</sup>. Individual insects initially deterred by feeding inhibitor become increasingly tolerant due to repeated or continuous exposure<sup>29</sup>. Bomford and Isman<sup>15</sup> reported an habitation to pure azadirachtin in the tobacco cutworms which become less sensitive to the antifeedant properties of azadirachtin, but not to a neem containing a same absolute amount of azadirachtin. This might have an important implication to avoid desensitization to commercial neem-based insecticides which contains additional non AZA-compounds<sup>15</sup>. Larval exposure to Neem Azal, a commercial Azadirachtin-rich based formulation, was found to enhance avoidances of this compound in adults of D. melanogaster surviving from previously treated larvae<sup>10,25</sup>. This long-lasting avoidance is related to conditioned aversion and may be related to another mechanism such as sensitization<sup>30,31</sup> which also generally occurs after long term or repeated exposure and may increase avoidance to noxious stimulus<sup>32</sup>. Moreover, increasing evidence has highlighted the critical role of early life experience in adult physiology and behavior in insect<sup>33</sup>. Recent studies have revealed that insect can modulate their behavior on the basis of previous experiences early life and that various insecticide-mediated changes in the directly exposed generation can persist into the subsequent non-exposed generations<sup>34,35</sup>. Previously, we focused on the impact of larval exposure to azadirachtin on adult's fitness (fecundity, survival) and oviposition site preference of the parental generation of D. melanogaster as model organism for testing insecticide activity<sup>7</sup>. Current study aimed to evaluated, the possible adverse effects of this prior single exposure to azadirachtin experienced by the preceding generations on life table and oviposition

site preference of the filial generations. We monitored the oviposition site preference, fecundity, development, sex ratio, survival and morphological abnormalities of exposed and non-exposed generations. All these parameters were investigated over generations until their restoration to predict the outcome of azadirachtin use on pest management practices.

#### Results

#### Fecundity and oviposition site preference

Azadirachtin, topically applied on the 3<sup>rd</sup> instar larvae (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub> of immature stages) affected fecundity of females by a significant reduction of the number of eggs laid as compared to controls (KW= 24.73; p < 0.001). This reduction was observed over two successive generations (parental and F1), however, the total eggs laid was higher in the unexposed generation (F1) than in parental (P) ones (KW= 50.89; p < 0.001) (Fig.1). Full restoration of affected fecundity was noted in the second generations (F2).

Results of oviposition preference in the no choice experiments (Fig.1) revealed a clear preference for oviposition on untreated medium than in azadirachtin-treated ones.

For parental generation, Kruskal-Wallis test revealed significant effects in medium 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml (KW= 29.42; p < 0.001) and medium 0.25  $\mu$ g/ml (KW= 24.73; p < 0.001). In the first generation, a significant effect was also noted for medium 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml (KW= 22.95; p < 0.001) and medium 0.25  $\mu$ g/ml (KW= 27, 93; p < 0.001).



**Figure 1.** Effect of azadirachtin (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>), topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on fecundity of females (number of eggs laid) subjected to non-choice experiments (m  $\pm$  SE; n =12 replicates of 3 flies). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated individuals of the same medium (P<0.05). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between generations of the same medium (P<0.05).

Results concerning the dual choice experiments (Fig. 2) revealed an oviposition preference for control medium than treated medium in all tested generations (P, F1 and F2). Furthermore, flies previously exposed to azadirachtin (early  $3^{rd}$  instar larvae) showed a highest aversion to this substance compared to naïve flies and led fewer eggs for the two first generations (P and F1) with a more marked effects for parental generation (P <0.001).



**Figure 2.** Egg-laying preference (m  $\pm$  SE; n=12 replicates) of female adults of *D. melanogaster* subjected to a free-choice test on food treated with azadirachtin at two doses (0.1µg/ml and 0, 25µg/ml). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated individuals of medium untreated and treated (P<0.05). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between individuals of the same dose in the different medium (P<0.05).

The oviposition preference index (OPI) of adult females of *D. melanogaster* exposed, or not, to azadirachtin at larval stage of parental generation were always negative in all generations (Fig. 3).



**Figure 3.** Oviposition preference index (m  $\pm$  SE; n=12 replicates) of female adults of *D. melanogaster* subjected to a free-choice test on food treated with azadirachtin at two doses (A: 0, 1 µg/ml; B: 0, 25µg/ml). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between the same dose of different generations (P<0.05). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between difference tested doses of the same generation (P<0.05).

In the generation P, statistical analysis showed significant differences between OPI of previously treated flies and controls flies with a dose-dependent response (fig. 3). In addition, for medium 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml, Mann-Whitney revealed significant effects between LD<sub>25</sub> of the parental generation and the first generation (Mann-Whitney test U = 8; P < 0.001), LD<sub>25</sub> of parental and

second generation (Mann-Whitney test U=20; P=0.0018) but there was no difference between the first and the second generations (Mann-Whitney test U=42; P=0.0887). Similar results were observed for the LD<sub>50</sub>, with significant effects observed between the parental generation and the F1 (Mann-Whitney test U=19; P=0.0014), also between P and F2 (Mann-Whitney test U=34; P=0.0284) but no difference between F1 and F2 (Mann-Whitney test U=58; P=0.4428). For control, there was no difference between all tested generations.

Similar results were obtained for medium 0.25  $\mu$ g/ml, Mann-Whitney test revealed significant effects between LD<sub>25</sub> of the parental generation and the first generation (Mann-Whitney test U = 25; P =0.0045), LD<sub>25</sub> of parental and second generation (Mann-Whitney test U=24; P=0.0045) but there was no difference between the first and the second generations (Mann-Whitney test U=66; P=0.5512). For the LD<sub>50</sub>, significant effects were observed between the parental generation and the F2 (Mann-Whitney test U=25.50; P=0.0025), also between F1 and F2 (Mann-Whitney test U=34; P=0.0028) but no difference was observed between F1 and P (Mann-Whitney test U=49; P=0.1974). There was no difference between controls for all generations.

#### Analyses of development

Results from development analysis of *D. melanogaster* are given in tables 1 and 2, respectively for parental (exposed) and F1 (non-exposed) generation.

**Table1**. Effect of larval exposure to azadirachtin on development of parental generation (exposed) of *D. melanogaster*. Letters indicate a significant difference between the different tested doses of the same medium for each stage of development (P<0.05). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference same doses tested of different medium (P<0.05). (m  $\pm$  SE; n=15 replicates).

Concentration		Larvae			Pupae		Imagoes				
	N° of individuals	T50 (h)	Malformations (%)	N° of individuals	T50 (h)	Malformations (%)	N° of individuals	Malformations (%)	FNO		
Control Medium											
Control	93.73±1.31 A a	41.93±0.25 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	92.66±1.41 A a	150.86±1.43 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	90.8±1.48 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	0		
DL <sub>25</sub>	85.86±1.22 A b	49.8±0.63 A b	2.53±0.96 A b	79.4±1.37 A b	159.4±0.35 A b	1.53±0.70 A b	78.4±1.52 A b	17.86±2.65 A b	-13.41		
DL50	80.20±2.24 A b	60.93±0.61 A c	3.6±1.03 A b	75.06±2.50 A b	166.2±0.53 A c	4.4±2.53 A c	73.2±2.53 A c	20.33± 2.65 A b	-19,25		
Medium treated with azadirachtin 0.1µg/ml											
Control	89.93±0.64 A a	42.06±0.61 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	86.26±1 A a	151.46±0.89 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	81.60±1.15 B a	0.0±0.0 A a	0		
DL <sub>25</sub>	79.93±1.27 A b	49.6±1.64 A b	4.06±0.93 B b	69.4±0.98 B b	160.13±0.50 A b	4.20±0.92 B b	67.4±1.1 B b	15.86± 2.06 A b	-17.08		
DL <sub>50</sub>	77.46±1.52 A b	62.53±1.68 A A c	7.6±1.21 B c	66.93±0.81 B b	167.06±0.91 A c	3.73±0.72 A b	65.66±1.37 A c	16.13± 1.85 A b	-19.34		
Medium treated with azadirachtin 0.25 μg/ml											
Control	80.13±1.74 B a	43.86±0.90 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	74.8±1.67 B a	150.8±0.75 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	73.53±1.93 C a	0.0±0.0 A a	0		
DL25	72.53±1.56 B b	54.13±1.10 B b	7.06±1.10 C b	63±1.48 B b	159.06±0.89 A b	9.06±0.97 C b	60.64±1.77 B b	19.4±2.15 A b	-17.31		
DL <sub>50</sub>	66.2±2.18 B b	61.6±0.98 A c	10.86±0.91 B c	54.13±1.85 C c	171.06±0.69 A c	11.86±1.07 B c	53.13±1.82 B b	24.13±1.76 B b	-26.94		

**Table2**. Effect of larval exposure to azadirachtin on development of first generation (nonexposed) of *D. melanogaster*. Letters indicate a significant difference between the different tested doses of the same medium for each stage of development (P<0.05). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference same doses tested of different medium (P<0.05). (m  $\pm$ SE; n=15 replicates).

Concentration		Larvae			Рирае		Imagoes				
	N° of individuals	T50 (h)	Malformations (%)	N° of individuals	T50 (h)	Malformations (%)	Nº final organisms	Malformations (%)	FNO		
Control Medium											
Control	97.53±0.80 A a	42.93± 0.46 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	97.2±0.80 A a	150.4±1.22 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	96.8±0.76 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	0		
DL25	97.2±0.82 A a	43.73±0.85 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	96.26±0.94 A a	152.6±1.05 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	94.00±0.95 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	-2.85		
DL50	97.73±0.85 A a	42.93±0.69 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	96.13±0.97 A a	152±0.80 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	93.93±1.17 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	-2.90		
Medium treated with azadirachtin 0.1µg/ml											
Control	89.62±1.80 A a	43.06±0.50 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	87.86±1.84 B a	150.86±0.57 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	85.60±1.59 B a	0.0±0.0 A a	0		
DL25	84.2±1.3 B a	42.6±0.77 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	82.4±1.37 B a	152.73±1.12 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	82.51±1.36 B a	0.0±0.0 A a	-4.44		
DL50	84.60±1.32 B a	42.86±0.79 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	81.26±1.48 B a	151.86±1.19 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	80.86±1.57 B a	0.0±0.0 A a	-5.30		
Medium treated with azadirachtin 0.25 µg/ml											
Control	86.53±1.97 A a	42.64±0.83 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	78.73±2.17 B a	149.46±0.94 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	78.73±2.17 B a	0.0±0.0 A a	0		
DL25	83.66±1.73 B a	41.8±0.82 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	76.40±1.23 B a	150.33±0.71 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	73.2±1.48 C a	0.0±0.0 A a	-6.41		
DL50°	78.8±1.52 B b	42±0.81 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	76.86±1.38 B a	151.4±0.60 A a	0.0±0.0 A a	73.73±1.55 B a	0.0±0.0 A a	-5.37		
Treatment of early third instar larvae at two tested doses (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) decreased the number of larvae, pupae and the final number of organisms of parental generation with a dosedependent relationship as expressed by the FNO which is always negative for the treated series. The development of  $F_1 D$ . melanogaster doesn't seem to be affecting by the early treatment of the parental generation. However, the FNO of tested flies (LD<sub>25</sub>, LD<sub>50</sub> and control) in treated medium was significantly lower than in the control medium for both generations. There is no difference between the number of organisms reached the pupae stage and the final number of organism in both generations. In addition, treatment of early third instar larvae increased significantly (p<0.001) the duration of larval and pupal development as expressed by T<sub>50</sub>, with dose-dependent manner only for the Parental generation (exposed) as compared to controls. There is no difference between the T<sub>50</sub> of the tested flies in both treated and untreated medium. Larvae, pupae and imagoes of the parental generation showed several types of malformations and anomalies followed by death at each stage of development of *D. melanogaster*. The most prominent malformations detected are incomplete and malformed imagoes (malformed abdomen and wings), curved and smaller body shape, burned larvae, dead adults inside pupae

(Fig.4).



**Figure 4.** Examples of the most frequent malformations of *D. melanogaster* (n=50). A) Malformed abdomen and wings curved and smaller body shape; B) dead adults inside pupae; C) malformed adult; D) burned larvae.

Pre-imaginal exposure of azadirachtin induced a male-biased sex ratio only for the parental generation with a dose-dependent relationship (Fig.5).



**Figure 5.** Effect of azadirachtin (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>), topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on sex ratio of adults emerged. Different small letters indicate a significant difference between generations of the same medium (P<0.05). Capital letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated individuals of the same medium (P<0.05). (m  $\pm$  SE; n =15 replicates).

Kruskal-Wallis test revealed significant effects between the different tested insect (Control,  $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) in untreated medium (KW = 9.30; p =0.0095), medium 0.1 µg/ml (KW = 8.02; p < 0.0181) and medium 0.25 µg/ml (KW = 18.85; p < 0.0001) for the parental generation.

#### Survival analysis of adults

A survival analyses during the 15 first days of adults previously treated with azadirachtin as 3<sup>rd</sup> instars larvae (Fig.6) revealed a rapid reduction of adult surviving of the generation P (Male: Kaplan-Meier test,  $\chi 2 = 184$ , df = 2, P < 0.001; Female: Kaplan-Meier test,  $\chi 2 = 214$ , df = 2, P < 0.001). Lower mortality was noted for the generation F1 compared to parental. (Male: Kaplan-Meier test,  $\chi 2 = 39.1$ , df = 2, P < 0.001; Female: Kaplan-Meier test,  $\chi 2 = 63.1$ , df = 2,

P < 0,001). Flies mortality was dose-dependent and the females were more affected by the treatment.



**Figure 6.** Effect of azadirachtin (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>), topically applied on early third-instar larvae of *D*. *melanogaster* on the adult's survival (male and female) of two generations tested (p<0.05).

For the control series no mortality was recorded for both tested generations. For the treated series, the lowest dose  $(LD_{25})$  decline the adult's survival to 49% for males and 36% for females of the P generation versus 94% for males and 84% for females of the F1 generation. The highest dose  $(LD_{50})$  induced more marked effects on adult's survival with 27% for males and 16% for females of the P generation and 81% for males and 64% in females for the F1 generation. Survival of 100% was noted for males and females of the F2 generation.

## Discussion

Azadirachtin impact on reproduction have been reported on different insect species<sup>21,41–45</sup>. Our study has demonstrated that a single azadirachtin treatment ( $LD_{25}/LD_{50}$ ) of *D. melanogaster* larvae reduced eggs number affecting negatively the fecundity of surviving females, not only through direct sublethal effects in exposed individuals, but also through transgenerational effects on F1individuals that were never directly exposed to the insecticide.

Oviposition is a complex and critical activity in the life cycle of an insect with a variety of factors that influence both physiology and subsequent behavior, that lead to egg deposition by an insect which tries to ensure safety to their progeny. Reduced fecundity and fertility after azadirachtin treatment has been reported in many insects including *Spodoptera littoralis*, *D. melanogaster*, *Galleria mellonella*, *Dysdercus cingulatus*, *Tuta absoluta* and *Helicoverpa armigera*<sup>17,41,43–46</sup> and may be correlated to the negative action of azadirachtin on yolk protein synthesis and/or its uptake into oocytes<sup>21</sup>.

Ecdysteroids, JH and insulin/insulin-like growth factor signalling (IIS) regulation are crucial for reproduction of *D. melanogaster*<sup>47</sup>. Vitellogenesis in females is stimulated under JH action and led to oocytes development, JH synergic action with 20E and IIS controls the nutrient-sensitive checkpoint necessary for oocytes formation<sup>47</sup>. Consequently, reduced fecundity may be related to the antagonist action of azadirachtin on major hormones controlling the reproductive process (JH/ecdysteroids)<sup>7</sup>.

In *Anopheles stephensi*, azadirachtin treatment led to abnormal ovaries structure with a complete arrest of oogenesis, vitellogenesis and vitelline envelope formation impairment and follicle cells degeneration <sup>48</sup>. Ovaries of azadirachtin-treated females of *Heteracris littoralis* also showed complete shrinkage with suppression of oocyte growth<sup>49</sup>, disintegration and destruction in follicular cells and mitochondria<sup>49</sup>. In addition, Azadirachtin reduce mating success in *D. melanogaster* flies and negatively affect cyst and oocyte numbers and size <sup>45</sup>.

Azadirachtin treatment also affect the amount of food intake in this species and digestive enzyme activity in the midgut<sup>10</sup>, which may affect oogenesis and vitellogenesis since ecdysone and JH rates are affected by nutrient availability which acts as positive regulator on insulin pathway to confer to ovaries the signalling necessary for a normal oogenesis<sup>50,51</sup>.

In addition, flies of all tested generations preferred control medium for oviposition avoiding the azadirachtin ones for the two tested doses and conditions (no-choice and free choice). A low oviposition rate of non-exposed (naïve) flies in azadirachtin-treated areas may be due to the known repellent effect, deterrent effect and locomotor stimulation effect of azadirachtin and other neem based insecticides which were reported by Silva *et al.*<sup>52</sup> in medflies *Ceratitis capitata*. Valencia-Botín et al.<sup>53</sup> also suggest that the repellent property of neem extracts is the major factor responsible for the reduction of eggs numbers of *Anastrepha ludens* (Loew)<sup>53</sup>. The ovipository behavior inhibition may have a valuable impact in pest control.

In addition, flies who have already been treated (third instar larvae of P generation) showed an increased aversion to azadirachtin in comparison to the naïf flies and this for two successive generations (P and F1). When oviposition sites were treated with azadirachtin or other neembased compounds, oviposition repellency, deterrency, or inhibition occurred in several insects' species which can detect the bioinsecticide on the treated surface<sup>7,14,43,54,55</sup>. The capacity of insects to retain memory from early life exposure affecting the adult response was reported <sup>38,56–58</sup>. In *D. melanogaster* females avoid oviposition on sites containing azadirachtin after larval exposure to the bio-insecticide<sup>7</sup>.

Here, we have reported for the first time that the negative effects of a single larval exposure to azadirachtin can also be passed on to the F1 generation (transgenerational effects). Environmental toxicants such as insecticide are able to provoke epigenetic alterations which

can be inherited to next generations<sup>59</sup>. This may explain the reduced fecundity and oviposition avoidance in our non-exposed generation (F1).

Our study has also demonstrated that azadirachtin applied during the third larval instar of Parental generation (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) can negatively affect various life traits of *D. melanogaster*, with a dose-dependent manner, by significantly reducing, larval, pupation and emergence rate of the exposed generation. The biopesticide also significantly prolong the larval and pupation period of development inducing an important delays in immature stages development and affect sex ratio (with fewer females in the offspring) of the same generation. Additionally, the treatment induced morphological alterations of larvae, pupae and adults only on the exposed generation (P generation). The most prominent abnormalities are burned larvae, larva-pupa intermediate, pupa-adult intermediate, deformed wings, smaller body size and deformed abdomen. The recorded malformations finally result to insect dead. Similar results were noted in *D. melanogaster*<sup>37</sup>, *Hyalomma anatolicum excavatum*<sup>60</sup> and *Spodoptera litura*<sup>22</sup>. Finally, a reducing of adult's survival was noted for the two successive generations with more marked effects among the P generation.

Azadirachtin is known to reduce pupation and eclosion rates of many insects like *Aphis* glycines<sup>61</sup>, *Plodia interpunctella*<sup>62</sup>, *Aedes aegypti*<sup>63</sup> and *D. melanogaster*<sup>21</sup>. A negative impact of azadirachtin on the immature stages was expected in view of its insect's growth disruptor (IGD) action by suppressing haemolymph ecdysteroid and JH peaks<sup>25,64</sup>. Furthermore, azadirachtin is known to cause nucleus degeneration in the different endocrine glands (prothoracic gland, *corpus allatum* and *corpus cardiacum*) controlling insects moulting and ecdysis which may act as generalised disruption of neuroendocrine system<sup>24</sup>. Azadirachtin by altering the growth and molting process of several insects compromise their survival<sup>7,20,43,65,66</sup>. Lai *et al.*<sup>67</sup> reported that azadirachtin down regulated expression of different genes linked to

hormonal regulation which may explain the developmental aberrations observed in our results. Azadirachtin also affect *Drosophila* nutrient intake and metabolism compromising the nutritional signals which result in a decrease in insect weights and growth rates resulting in smaller body size and impacting survival<sup>10,25,37,66</sup>. The male biased sex ratio under azadirachtin treatment was also reported in literature<sup>67,68</sup>.

In summary, the present study indicated that pre-imaginal exposure to sublethal doses of azadirachtin would affect the fecundity, oviposition preference and survival of *D. melanogaster* of parent generation as well as the F1 non exposed generation. The treatment would also trigger life history traits variation at the P generation.

Results demonstrate that a single azadirachtin application can significantly reduce the survival of flies over two successive generations (P: exposed and F1: unexposed) while insects showed clear recovery in the survival rates in the second generation (F2). These findings reflect a long term and delayed effects through developmental stage and generations. This consistent effect over the two first generations may be considered as advantage on pest control by compensate the well known fast degradation by sunlight and low persistence of azadirachtin in environment (half-life  $DT_{50}$ : 1.7- 25d)<sup>23, 69</sup> and suggest a possible reduce both in application frequency and total amount of pesticide used.

Moreover, the decreased fecundity and survival in P and F1 generations indicated an absence of induction of the resurgence in offspring, even after full restoration in F2, when parental flies were treated translating an absence of hermetic effect, which is considered as serious problem of exposure to sublethal doses in agriculture.

In addition, the treatment increases the aversive effect induced by azadirachtin over two successive generations which may contribute as push-pull strategies increasing its insecticidal effects in integrated pest management programs.

## Material and methods

#### Flies

Wild-type Canton-S strain of *D. melanogaster* flies were reared on artificial fly food (cornmeal/agar/yeast) at 25°C, 70% humidity and 12D-12 L cycle<sup>10</sup>.

## Treatment

Neem Azal-TS (1 % azadirachtin A, Trifolio-M GmbH, Lahnau, Germany ) was solubilised in acetone for topical application (1  $\mu$ l/ larvae according to Bensebaa et al.<sup>36</sup>). The bioinsecticide was applied on *D. melanogaster* early third-instar larvae using two lethal doses of immature stages, 0.28  $\mu$ g (LD<sub>25</sub>) and 0.67  $\mu$ g (LD<sub>50</sub>)<sup>37</sup>. Controls received 1 $\mu$ l acetone (solvent) and all flies were kept under the same conditions as cited above. All experiments were performed over two consecutive generations, the exposed (parental generation: P) and non-exposed (first generation: F1) generation.

#### Fecundity and oviposition site preference

We assessed the egg-laying performances of the females of *D. melanogaster* using a no-choice test. Three mated females (3 days old) that were pre-exposed to azadirachtin at the larval stage  $(LD_{25} \text{ and } LD_{50})$  were tested for 24 h in a petri dish ( $\emptyset$ =65mm) filled with 3 ml medium containing azadirachtin at two concentrations 0.1 and 0.25 µg/ml according to Bezzar-Bendjazia et al.<sup>37</sup>in addition to acetone as control medium. These concentrations were not lethal with the short exposure time (24 h) used. At the end of the test, flies were removed, and the number of eggs laid on each medium was counted. The control medium was used to test the possible effect of azadirachtin on female fecundity. The experiment was repeated 12 times for each medium and each generation. Oviposition site preference was measured by means of dual choice experiments. Three fertilized females (3 days old) from controls and treated series (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) were allowed to oviposit for 24h in a free choice egg-laying device. This device

consisted of a two petri dishes either filled with control medium (acetone) or treated medium (azadirachtin: 0.1, 0.25  $\mu$ g/ml). After 24h, the egg-laying preference was assessed by counting the number of eggs laid in each medium. The test was performed for two successive generations with 12 replicates for each medium and generation.

Oviposition preference index (OPI) defined as (number of eggs on azadirachtin medium – number of eggs on control medium)/total number of eggs was calculated<sup>38</sup>.

## **Development assays**

Ten controls or pre-exposed (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) mated females (3 days old), named parental generation, were released into an oviposition box containing petri dishes filled with control (acetone) or treated medium (azadirachtin: 0.1 or 0.25  $\mu$ g/ml) and left to lay eggs for 8 hours. At the end of the test, the flies were removed and a pool of 100 eggs for each experiment was transferred to a new petri dish containing the same medium. For all groups, we monitored the time course of larval development from egg to adult emergence by counting the number of third instar larvae, pupae, imagoes and their sex ratio, expressed as the number of males divided by the total number of emerged insects.

Next, ten parental flies from each condition (controls or treated) were crossed and the experiments were repeated for the non-exposed first generation (F1) as cited above with the same parameters recorded.

Furthermore, the developmental duration of each stage was recorded for the two tested generations expressed by  $T_{50}$  (time in hours, when 50% of population reached larval, pupal and imaginal developmental stage in vials). All insects were observed under stereo zoom microscope to find any morphological distortions and photographs were taken with Leica Z16 APO.

A factor describing the final number of organisms in comparison to control (FNO) according to Ventrella et al.<sup>39</sup> was determined to compare the results:

$$FnO = \frac{T - C}{C} \times 100$$

T = final number of organisms counted in treated medium.

C = final number of organisms counted in control medium.

Positive values of FNO show that number of organisms was higher in tested groups than within control, negative values mean that the number of individuals was higher in control than in exposed groups.

## Survival analysis of adults

Survival analysis was performed according to Linford et al.<sup>40</sup>. For each generation (P: exposed (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>), F1: non-exposed) newly emerged adults were sexed and housed separately into a plastic vials (15 flies per vial) containing fresh food. Insects were transferred to new vial every 2 days. The flies were kept under observation for 15 days during which mortality was assessed every 24h. Ten replicates were done for each dose and generation.

#### Statistical analyses

Data analysis was performed by R studio version 3.5.0 for Mac OS. The results were expressed as the means  $\pm$  SE of each series of experiments. The homogeneity of variances was checked using Bartlett's test. The Shapiro-Wilk statistic test was used for testing the normality.

Data from egg-laying preference and oviposition index preference was subjected to Kruskal– Wallis test and pairwise multiple comparisons using Dunn's method. Development test were analysed with ANOVA followed by a post-hoc HSD Tukey test. Sex ratio was analysed using Kruskal–Wallis test and the FNO was calculated and shown. The results of the survival analysis were subjected to Kaplan–Meier survival test.

## References

- Desneux, N., Decourtye, A. & Delpuech, J.-M. The Sublethal Effects of Pesticides on Beneficial Arthropods. *Annu Rev Entomol.* 52, 81–106 (2007).
- Müller, C. Impacts of sublethal insecticide exposure on insects Facts and knowledge gaps. *Basic Appl Ecol.* 30, 1439-1791 (2018).
- Rodríguez Enríquez, C.-L., Pineda, S., Figueroa, J. I., Schneider, M.-I. & Martínez, A.-M. Toxicity and Sublethal Effects of Methoxyfenozide on *Spodoptera exigua* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *Annu Rev Entomol.* 103, 662–667 (2010).
- Ali, E. *et al.* Sublethal effects of buprofezin on development and reproduction in the white-backed planthopper, *Sogatella furcifera* (Hemiptera: Delphacidae). *Sci Rep.* 7, 16913; 10.1038/s41598-017-17190-8 (2017).
- El Hassani, A. K. *et al.* Effects of sublethal doses of acetamiprid and thiamethoxam on the behavior of the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*). *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol.* 54, 653– 661 (2008).
- Xavier, V. M. *et al.* Acute toxicity and sublethal effects of botanical insecticides to honey bees. *J Insect Sci.* 15, 137 (2015).
- Bezzar-Bendjazia, R., Kilani-Morakchi, S. & Aribi, N. Larval exposure to azadirachtin affects fitness and oviposition site preference of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Pestic Biochem Physiol.* 133, 85–90 (2016).
- Navarro-Roldán, M. A. & Gemeno, C. Sublethal Effects of Neonicotinoid Insecticide on Calling Behavior and Pheromone Production of Tortricid Moths. *J Chem Ecol.* 43, 881– 890 (2017).
- Tappert, L., Pokorny, T., Hofferberth, J. & Ruther, J. Sublethal doses of imidacloprid disrupt sexual communication and host finding in a parasitoid wasp. *Sci Rep.* 7, 42756; 10.1038/srep42756 (2017).

- Kilani-Morakchi, S., Bezzar-Bendjazia, R., Ferdenache, M. & Aribi, N. Preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects food selection and digestive enzymes in adults of *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae). *Pestic Biochem Physiol.* 140, 58–64 (2017).
- De França, S. M., Breda, M. O., Barbosa, D. R. S., Araujo, A. M. N. & Guede, C. A. The Sublethal Effects of Insecticides in Insects. *Biological Control of Pest and Vector* (ed Shields, V.D.C.) 23-40 (InTech, 2017).
- 12. Isman, M. B. Botanical Insecticides, Deterrents, and Repellents in Modern Agriculture and an Increasingly Regulated World. *Annu Rev Entomol.* **51**, 45–66 (2006).
- Hikal, W. M., Baeshen, R. S. & Said-Al Ahl, H. A. H. Botanical insecticide as simple extractives for pest control. *Cogent Biol.* 3, 1–16 (2017).
- Schmetterer, G. R. Sequence conservation among the glucose transporter from the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 and mammalian glucose transporters. J *Plant Mol Biol Biotechnol.* 14, 697–706 (1990).
- 15. Bomford, M. K. & Isman, M. B. Desensitization of fifth instar *Spodoptera litura* to azadirachtin and neem. *Entomol Exp Appl.* **81**, 307–313 (1996).
- Greenberg, S. M., Showler, A. T. & Liu, T. X. Effects of neem-based insecticides on beet armyworm (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *Insect Sci.* 12, 17–23 (2005).
- 17. Ahmad, S., Ansari, M. S. & Moraiet, M. A. Demographic changes in *Helicoverpa armigera* after exposure to neemazal (1% EC azadirachtin). *Crop Prot.* **50**, 30–36 (2013).
- Khan, N. *et al.* Determination of minor and trace elements in aromatic spices by microwave assisted digestion and inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry. *Food Chem.* 158, 200–206 (2014).
- 19. Mordue(Luntz), A. J. & Nisbet, A. J. Azadirachtin from the neem tree *Azadirachta indica*: its action against insects. *Anais da Sociedade Entomológica do Brasil.* **29**, 615–

632 (2000).

- Hasan, F. & Shafiq Ansari, M. Toxic effects of neem-based insecticides on *Pieris* brassicae (Linn.). Crop Prot. 30, 502–507 (2011).
- Boulahbel, B., Aribi, N., Kilani-Morakchi, S. & Soltani, N. Insecticidal activity of azadirachtin on *Drosophila melanogaster* and recovery of normal status by exogenous 20-Hydroxyecdysone. *Afr Entomol.* 23, 224–233 (2015).
- 22. Shu, B. *et al.* Azadirachtin affects the growth of *Spodoptera litura* Fabricius by inducing apoptosis in larval midgut. *Front Physiol.* **9**, 137; 10.3389/fphys.2018.00137 (2018).
- Mordue (Luntz), A. J., Morgan, E. D. & Nisbet, A. J. Azadirachtin, a Natural Product in Insect Control. *Comprehensive Molecular Insect Science* 117–135 (2005).
- 24. Weiss, L. A., Dahanukar, A., Kwon, J. Y., Banerjee, D. & Carlson, J. R. The molecular and cellular basis of bitter taste in *Drosophila*. *Neuron* **69**, 258–272 (2011).
- Bezzar-Bendjazia, R., Kilani-Morakchi, S., Maroua, F. & Aribi, N. Azadirachtin induced larval avoidance and antifeeding by disruption of food intake and digestive enzymes in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae). *Pestic Biochem Physiol.* 143, 135– 140 (2017).
- 26. Liang, X. *et al.* Insecticide-mediated up-regulation of cytochrome P450 genes in the red flour beetle (*Tribolium castaneum*). *Int J Mol Sci.* **16**, 2078–2098 (2015).
- Terriere, L. Induction of Detoxication Enzymes in Insects. *Annu Rev Entomol.* 29, 71– 88 (1984).
- Akhtar, Y., Rankin, C. H. & Isman, M. B. Decreased response to feeding deterrents following prolonged exposure in the larvae of a generalist herbivore, *Trichoplusia ni* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *J Insect Behav.* 16, 811–831 (2003).
- 29. Koul, O. & Walia, S. Comparing impacts of plant extracts and pure allelochemicals and implications for pest control. *CAB Rev Perspect Agric Vet Sci Nutr Nat Resour.* **4**, 049

(2009).

- 30. Minoli, S. *et al.* Brief exposure to sensory cues elicits stimulus-nonspecific general sensitization in an insect. *PLoS ONE*. **7 (3)**, e34141 (2012).
- Crook, R. J., Dickson, K., Hanlon, R. T. & Walters, E. T. Nociceptive sensitization reduces predation risk. *Curr Biol.* 24, 1121–1125 (2014).
- Walters, E. T., Illich, P. A., Weeks, J. C. & Lewin, M. R. Defensive responses of larval Manduca sexta and their sensitization by noxious stimuli in the laboratory and field. J Exp Biol. 204, 457–69 (2001).
- Caubet, Y., Jaisson, P. & Lenoir, A. Preimaginal Induction of Adult Behaviour in Insects.
  *Q J Exp Psychol Sect.* 44, 165–178 (1992).
- da Costa, J. T. *et al.* Effects of different formulations of neem oil-based products on control *Zabrotes subfasciatus* (Boheman, 1833) (Coleoptera: Bruchidae) on beans. J Stored Prod Res. 56, 49–53 (2014).
- 35. Müller, T., Prosche, A. & Müller, C. Sublethal insecticide exposure affects reproduction, chemical phenotype as well as offspring development and antennae symmetry of a leaf beetle. *Environ Pollut.* **230**, 709–717 (2017).
- Bensebaa, F., Kilani-Morakchi, S., Aribi, N. & Soltani, N. Evaluation of pyriproxyfen, a juvenile hormone analog, on *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae): Insecticidal activity, ecdysteroid contents and cuticle formation. *Eur J Entomol.* 112, 625–631 (2015).
- Bezzar-bendjazia, R., Kilani-morakchi, S. & Aribi, N. Growth and molting disruption effects of azadirachtin against *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera : Drosophilidae ). *Pestic Biochem Physiol.* 4, 363–368 (2016).
- Flaven-Pouchon, J. *et al.* Transient and permanent experience with fatty acids changes Drosophila melanogaster preference and fitness. *PLoS ONE.* 9, e92352 (2014).

- Ventrella, E. *et al. Solanum tuberosum* and *Lycopersicon esculentum* Leaf Extracts and Single Metabolites Affect Development and Reproduction of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *PLoS ONE.* 11, e0155958 (2016).
- 40. Linford, N. J., Bilgir, C., Ro, J. & Pletcher, S. D. Measurement of lifespan in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *J Vis Exp.* **7**, 50068 (2013).
- Pineda, S. *et al.* Influence of Azadirachtin and Methoxyfenozide on Life Parameters of Spodoptera littoralis (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). J Econ Entomol. 102, 1490–1496 (2009).
- 42. Tine, S., Aribi, N. & Soltani, N. Laboratory evaluation of azadirachtin against the oriental cockroach, *Blatta orientalis* L. (Dictyoptera, Blattellidae): Insecticidal activity and reproductive effects. *African J Biotechnol.* **10**, 19816–19824 (2012).
- Tomé, H. V. V. *et al.* Azadirachtin avoidance by larvae and adult females of the tomato leafminer *Tuta absoluta*. *Crop Prot.* 46, 63–69 (2013).
- Er, A., Taşkıran, D. & Sak, O. Azadirachtin-induced effects on various life history traits and cellular immune reactions of *Galleria mellonella* (Lepidoptera : Pyralidae). *Arch Biol Sci.* 69, 335–344 (2017).
- 45. Oulhaci, C. M., Denis, B. & Kilani-morakchi, S. Azadirachtin effects on mating success, gametic abnormalities and progeny survival in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera). *Pest Manag Sci.* **74**, 174-180 (2018).
- Pandey.R.K. & Tiwari. J.P. Neem based insecticides interaction with development and fecundity of red cotton bug, *Dysdercus cingulatus* fab. *Int J Agric Biol Res.* 6, 335–346 (2011).
- Toivonen, J. M. & Partridge, L. Endocrine regulation of aging and reproduction in Drosophila. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 299, 39–50 (2009).
- 48. Lucantoni, L. et al. Effects of a neem extract on blood feeding, oviposition and oocyte

ultrastructure in *Anopheles stephensi* Liston (Diptera: Culicidae). *Tissue and Cell.* 38, 361–371 (2006).

- Ghazawi, N. A., El-Shranoubi, E. D., El-Shazly, M. M. & Abdel Rahman, K. M. Effects of azadirachtin on mortality rate and reproductive system of the grasshopper *Heteracris littoralis* Ramb. (Orthoptera: Acrididae). *J Orthoptera Res.* 16, 57–65 (2007).
- Badisco, L., Van Wielendaele, P. V. & Broeck, J. Vanden. Eat to reproduce: A key role for the insulin signaling pathway in adult insects. *Front Physiol.* 4, 202; 10.3389/fphys.2013.00202 (2013).
- 51. Jeong, E. B., Jeong, S. S., Cho, E. & Kim, E. Y. Makorin 1 is required for *Drosophila* oogenesis by regulating insulin/Tor signaling. *PLoS ONE*. **14**, e0215688 (2019).
- 52. Silva, M.A, Bezerra-Silva, G.C.D., Vendramim J.D. & Mastrangelo T. Inhibition of oviposition by neem extract: A behavioral perspective for the control of the mediterranean fruit fly (Diptera: Terphritidae). *Fla Entomol.* 95(2), 333–337 (2012).
- 53. Valencia-Botin, A.J., Bautista-Martinez, N. & Lopez-Buenfil, J.A. Uso de extractos de Nim, Azadirachta indica A. Juss, en la oviposicion de la mosca Mexicana de la fruta Anastrepha ludens Loew (Diptera: Tephritidae) en naranja Valencia. Fitosanidad. 8, 57 –59 (2004).
- 54. Dhar R, Dawar H, Garg S, Basir SF & Talwar GP. Effect of volatiles from neem and other natural products on gonotrophic cycle and oviposition of *Anopheles stephensi* and *Anopheles culicifacies* (Diptera: Culicidae). *J Med Entomol.* 33, 195–201 (1996).
- 55. Cordeiro, E. M. G., Corrêa, A. S., Venzon, M. & Guedes, R. N. C. Insecticide survival and behavioral avoidance in the lacewings *Chrysoperla externa* and *Ceraeochrysa cubana*. *Chemosphere*. **81**, 1352–1357 (2010).
- Dukas, R. Evolutionary biology of insect learning. Annu Rev Entomol. 53, 145–60 (2008).

- Blackiston, D. J., Casey, E. S. & Weiss, M. R. Retention of memory through metamorphosis: Can a moth remember what it learned as a caterpillar?. *PLoS ONE.* 3, e1736 (2008).
- Gerber, B., Stocker, R. F., Tanimura, T. & Thum, A. S. Smelling, Tasting, Learning: Drosophila as a Study Case. *Results Probl Cell Differ*. 47,139-85 (2009).
- Vandegehuchte, M. B. & Janssen, C. R. Epigenetics and its implications for ecotoxicology. *Ecotoxicology*. 20, 607–624 (2011).
- 60. Abdel-Shafy, S. & Zayed, A. A. In vitro acaricidal effect of plant extract of neem seed oil (*Azadirachta indica*) on egg, immature, and adult stages of *Hyalomma anatolicum* excavatum (Ixodoidea: Ixodidae). *Vet Parasitol.* **106**, 89–96 (2002).
- Kraiss, H. & Cullen, E. M. Insect growth regulator effects of azadirachtin and neem oil on survivorship, development and fecundity of *Aphis glycines* (Homoptera: Aphididae) and its predator, *Harmonia axyridis* (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae). *CRC Crit Rev Plant Sci.* 64, 660–668 (2008).
- Lynn, O. M., Kim, J. E. & Lee, K. Y. Effects of azadirachtin on the development and gene expression of fifth instar larvae of Indianmeal moth, *Plodia interpunctella*. J Asia Pac Entomol. 15, 101–105 (2012).
- 63. Koodalingam, A., Deepalakshmi, R., Ammu, M. & Rajalakshmi, A. Effects of NeemAzal on marker enzymes and hemocyte phagocytic activity of larvae and pupae of the vector mosquito *Aedes aegypti. J Asia Pac Entomol.* 17, 175–181 (2014).
- Mordue (Luntz), A. J. & Blackwell, A. Azadirachtin: an update. *J Insect Physiol.* 39, 903–924 (1993).
- 65. Alouani, A., Rehimi, N. & Soltani, N. Larvicidal Activity of a Neem Tree Extract (Azadirachtin) Against Mosquito Larvae in the Republic of Algeria. *Jordan J Biol Sci.*2, 15–22 (2009).

- Lai, D., Jin, X., Wang, H., Yuan, M. & Xu, H. Gene expression profile change and growth inhibition in *Drosophila* larvae treated with azadirachtin. *J Biotechnol.* 185, 51–56 (2014).
- 67. Arnason, J. T. *et al.* Antifeedant and insecticidal properties of azadirachtin to the European corn borer, *Ostrinia nubilalis. Entomol Exp Appl.* **38**, 29–34 (1985).
- Schneider, M., Smagghe, C. & Viñuela, E. Comparative effects of several insect growth regulators and spinosad on the different developmental stages of the endoparasitoid *Hyposoter didymator* (Thunberg). *Pesticides and Beneficial Organisms*. 27, 13–19 (2004).
- 69. European Food Safety Authority. Conclusion on the peer review of the pesticide risk assessment of the active substance azadirachtin. *EFSA Journal*. **9(3)**,1858 (2011).

## Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the National Fund for Scientific Research of Algeria (Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology to Prof. N. Soltani) and by the Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research of Algeria (CNEPRU project D01N01UN23012014106 to Prof. S. Kilani-Morakchi). MF was supported by a grant from the French government in association with Campus France (Algerian-French Bilateral cooperation PROFAS B+ scholarship) and the doctoral school ABIES.

## 3.4 Effets sur l'activité locomotrice des adultes

Le comportement locomoteur des adultes mâles et femelles de *D. melanogaster* a été évalué en utilisant un test de géotaxie négative. Les résultats, montrent que l'azadirachtine (DL<sub>25</sub>, DL<sub>50</sub>), administré par application topique chez les larves L3 du début de stade, affecte l'activité locomotrice des adultes et ce comparativement aux témoins avec un effet dose et sexe dépendant, uniquement pour la génération parentale (Fig.25).

L'activité locomotrice enregistrée chez les mouches témoins de la génération parentale à 5 minutes est de 98% et 96% respectivement pour les mâles et les femelles. L'activité locomotrice diminue ensuite avec le temps pour atteindre des valeurs moyennes de 54% pour les mâles et 62% pour les femelles à 25 min.

En ce qui concerne les mouches exposées préalablement à l'azadirachtine ( $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ ), les résultats montrent pour les individus traités à la  $DL_{25}$  que l'activité locomotrice enregistrée à 5 min est de 72 % pour les mâles et 54 % pour les femelles. Une diminution en fonction du temps est notée pour atteindre à 25 min, des valeurs moyennes de 44% pour les mâles et 38% pour les femelles.

En ce qui concerne les individus traités à la  $DL_{50}$ , l'activité locomotrice des mouches à 5 minutes est de 38% pour les mâles et 28% pour les femelles. Une diminution est enregistrée avec le temps pour atteindre, 8% et 6%, respectivement pour les mâles et les femelles à 25 min.

Chez les mâles, l'azadirachtine réduit de manière significative le pourcentage de mouches capables d'atteindre le sommet du tube (KW = 9,96 ; P = 0,001) et ce sans effet dose (Fig. 25 A), (test de Dunn P > 0,05). Des résultats similaires sont observés pour les femelles avec une réduction significative du pourcentage de mouches capables d'atteindre le sommet du tube chez les mouches traitées (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>), toujours sans effet dose (P > 0,05) (Fig. 26 B). (KW = 12,57 ; P < 0,001).



*Figure 25. Effets de l'azadirachtine sur la vitesse de récupération après un choc (réactivité locomotrice) chez la génération parentale.* 

*A* : Mâles ; *B* : femelles. Les différentes lettres indiquent une différence significative entre les témoins et les traités (P < 0,05) pour chaque temps.

L'activité locomotrice enregistrée chez les mouches témoins de la génération F1. (Fig. 26) à 5 min est de 90% aussi bien pour les mâles que pour les femelles. L'activité locomotrice diminue ensuite avec le temps pour atteindre des valeurs moyennes de 56% pour les mâles et 68% pour les femelles à 25 min.

Pour les individus traités à la  $DL_{25}$ , l'activité locomotrice enregistrée à 5 min est de 94% pour les mâles et 88% pour les femelles. Une diminution en fonction du temps est notée pour atteindre à 25 min des valeurs moyennes de 64% pour les mâles et 68% pour les femelles.

En ce qui concerne les individus traités à la  $DL_{50}$ , l'activité locomotrice des mouches à 5 min est de 86% pour les mâles et 80% pour les femelles. Une diminution est enregistrée avec le temps pour atteindre, 66% et 46%, respectivement pour les mâles et les femelles à 25 min.

Chez les mâles, l'azadirachtine réduit de manière significative le pourcentage de mouches capables d'atteindre le sommet du tube (KW = 0,18 ; P = 0,9236) et ce sans effet dose (Fig. 26 A), (test de Dunn P > 0,05). Des résultats similaires sont observés pour les femelles avec une réduction significative du pourcentage de mouches capables d'atteindre le sommet du tube chez les mouches traitées (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>), toujours sans effet dose (P > 0,05) (Fig. 26 B) (KW = 0,98 ; P = 0,6396).



*Figure 26. Effets de l'azadirachtine sur la vitesse de récupération après un choc (réactivité locomotrice) chez la génération F1.* A : Mâles ; B : femelles.

La comparaison de l'activité locomotrice entre les deux générations testées révèle chez les femelles, des différences hautement significatives entre les DL<sub>25</sub> de la génération P et la F1 (U = 2 ; P < 0,001), ainsi qu'entre les DL<sub>50</sub> des deux générations (U = 0 ; P < 0,001). Aucune différence n'est enregistrée entre les témoins des deux générations (U = 11,50 ; P = 0,8968). Chez les mâles, des différences hautement significatives entre la génération P et la F1 sont enregistrées seulement entre les individus traités à la DL<sub>50</sub> (U = 0 ; P < 0,001).

L'exposition pré-imaginale à l'azadirachtine du stade L3 de *D. melanogaster* réduit significativement la réactivité locomotrice chez les adultes mâles et femelles de la génération parentale (exposée). Aucun effet n'est enregistré chez les générations non-exposées

## 3.5 Effets sur l'orientation à distance vers un substrat traité à l'azadirachtine

Le choix olfactif des adultes mâles et femelles de *D. melanogaster* a été évalué en utilisant un olfactomètre en Y. L'azadirachtine ( $DL_{25}$ ,  $DL_{50}$ ), administré par application topique chez les larves L3 au début de stade, affecte la perception olfactive des adultes et ce comparativement aux témoins. Chez la génération parentale, les résultats révèlent, chez les mouches préalablement traitées au stade L3, une aversion plus marqué à l'azadirachtine, Aucun effet n'est enregistré chez les mouches de la génération F1.

Les valeurs de l'indice d'olfaction (IO), permettant de comparer les réponses obtenues pour chaque condition (adultes exposés ou non à l'azadirachtine au début du stade larvaire L3) sont toujours négatives pour les insectes traités de la génération parentale, et positives pour les insectes témoins de cette même génération (Fig. 27). Chez les mâles, les moyennes des valeurs de l'IO obtenues sont de 0,08, -0,16 et -0,21 ; chez les femelles elles sont de 0,15, -0,22 et -0,23 et ce respectivement pour les adultes témoins, DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>.

À l'opposé, les IO obtenus pour la génération F1 sont toujours positifs aussi bien pour les insectes témoins que traités. Les moyennes des valeurs de l'IO obtenues pour les mâles sont de 0,09, 0,10 et 0,20 et pour les femelles de 0,09, 0,13, 0,25, respectivement pour les témoins,  $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ .

L'analyse statistique révèle des différences significatives entre l'IO des mouches qui ont survécu au traitement préalable au stade larvaire et des mouches témoins (Fig. 27). Chez les mâles, le test de Kruskal-Wallis révèle des différences significatives entre les différents insectes testés (Témoins,  $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ ) pour la génération P (KW = 24,02 ; P < 0,001) ainsi que pour la génération F1 (KW = 7,92 ; P < 0,0190). Des résultats similaires sont obtenus pour les femelles des générations P (KW = 23,66 ; P < 0,001) et F1 (KW = 16,03 ; P < 0,001).

La comparaison entre les deux générations testées a permis de mettre en évidence des différences significatives, chez les mâles, entre la DL<sub>25</sub> de la génération P et la F1 (U = 0,50 ; P < 0,001), la DL<sub>50</sub> de la génération P et la F1 (U = 0 ; P < 0,001); aucune différence n'est enregistrée entre les témoins des deux générations (U = 67 ; P= 0,77). Des résultats similaires sont enregistrés chez les femelles traitées à la DL<sub>25</sub> (U = 0 ; P< 0,001) et à la DL<sub>50</sub> (U = 0 ; P < 0,001) avec des effets hautement significatifs entre les deux générations (P et F1). Chez les témoins, aucune différence n'est enregistrée entre les deux générations (U = 4,50 ; P > 0,05).



Figure 27. Réponses des adultes (génération P et F1) à l'odeur de Neem Azal en olfactomètre.

Mâles : A et femelles : B ( $m \pm SEM$  ; n=12 répétitions). Les différentes lettres en minuscules indiquent une différence significative entre une même dose chez différentes générations (P < 0,05). Les différentes lettres en majuscules indiquent une différence significative entre les différentes doses testées chez une même génération (P < 0,05).

Le traitement pré-imaginale à l'azadirachtine induit une aversion marqué envers cette molécule des adultes de la génération P. Aucun effet n'a été noté pour la génération F1.

Published in: Pesticide Biochemistry and physiology

# Preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects food selection and digestive enzymes in adults of *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera : Drosophilidae)

Samira Kilani-Morakchi\*<sup>1</sup>, Radia Bezzar-Bendjazia<sup>1</sup>, Maroua Ferdenache, Nadia Aribi,

Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Badji Mokhtar University of Annaba 23000-Annaba, Algeria.

<sup>1</sup>Both authors contributed equally to this work and considered first authors

\*Corresponding author:

Samira Kilani-Morakchi (kilanimorakchi@yahoo.com, samira.morakchi@univ-annaba.dz)

Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology

Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Badji Mokhtar University of Annaba, 23000-Annaba, Algeria.

## Abstract

Among the plant derived product, azadirachtin, a neem-based insecticide, is exceptional in having a broad range of bioactivity including toxicity, growth, development and reproduction effects, repellency and antifeedancy. If considerable progress on the physiological and biological activities and agricultural application of azadirachtin has been achieved, its exact mechanism of action remains uncertain. In this study, we aimed at assessing the lethal and sublethal behavioral and physiological effects of azadirachtin on Drosophila melanogaster Meigen, 1830 (Diptera: Drosophilidae) as biological model. Azadirachtin was applied topically at two dose  $LD_{25}$  (0.28 µg) and  $LD_{50}$  (0.67 µg) on early third instar larvae. Results showed that flies preferentially ingested control medium rather than azadirachtin-treated medium. Preimaginal exposure (L3) to azadirachtin increased aversion to this substance suggesting a memorability of the learned avoidance. In addition, all tested flies revealed a clear preference for solvent odour rather than azadirachtin odour. Moreover, azadirachtin treatment decreased significantly the amount of food intake in the adults of both sexes. Finally, azadirachtin was found to affect digestive enzyme activities in the midgut of flies. Indeed, an inhibition of  $\alpha$ amylase, chitinase, and protease activities and an increase of lipasic activity were noted. These results may reflect interference of azadirachtin with regulation of feeding and metabolism, and provide some evidence of a long term antifeedancy and delayed effects through developmental stage which may reinforce the insecticidal activity of this bioinsecticide.

**Keywords:** Azadirachtin, *Drosophila melanogaster*, Feeding behavior, olfactory response, Food intake, Digestion.

# 1. Introduction

Plants with pesticidal properties have been investigated for decades as alternatives to synthetics for developing sustainable agricultural practices and promote human and environmental safety [1, 2]. The prominent botanical pesticides that have received the best of attention are those issued from the neem tree, *Azadirachta indica* A. Juss. (Meliaceae) [3]. Azadirachtin, a tetranortriterpenoid, is the most effective compound produced as a secondary metabolite of the neem tree [1]. This compound acts as repellent, oviposition and feeding deterrence, sterilant and as insect growth regulator (IGR) by interfering with both juvenile hormone and ecdysone titers, the two major hormones responsible for insect growth, development and reproduction [1, 4, 5].

Due to its short persistence and low mammalian toxicity, azadirachtin has been tested for various pests and is currently exploited in agriculture for crop protection against different phytophagous insects [6, 4, 7]. The compound has also been reported as safer for non-target organisms; however, this earlier perception has been recently challenged specially in relation with natural enemies and pollinators [8, 9, 10, 11]. Despite these problems neem derived insecticides still valuable components in integrated pest management and its use is recommended for insecticide resistance control and organic production pest control [12, 13]. The impairment of insect development, defined as reduced pupation, malformation and failure of adult emergence remain the most frequently reported effects of azadirachtin [14, 15, 16, 17]. However, its behavioral effects still more controversial being somewhat dependent upon the insect species, time and/or method of application, and concentration used [14, 18, 7, 17]. Insect use olfaction system to search and locate potential food [19] and thereafter contacting chemoreception, called primary antifeedancy, could confirm its quality and provide a basis for food selection and discrimination [20, 21].

The antifeedant effect of azadirachtin was reported on large number of pest insects, including hemipterans [22], lepidopterans [23, 24], ortheopterans [25] and coleopterans [26]. A secondary antifeedant of azadirachtin consisting on a disruption in the physiology of the insect and its ability to digest food was also reported [27, 28, 24].

In insects such as the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster*, the ability to discriminate chemicals by taste and avoid toxins in food is critical to the survival and reproduction, and accordingly gustatory information were used to assess the suitability of potential food sources and calorie sensing to make critical decisions of feeding choices that maximizes fitness [29, 30]. Previously, azadirachtin, applied topically to third instars larvae, was reported to affect fitness and eggs laying preference in adults of *D. melanogaster* suggesting an avoidance learning memory which may reinforce its insecticidal activity [17]. Here, we investigated the influence of previous experience on adults food preference and assessed whether larval exposure can affect food consumption and digestive enzymes of adults of *D. melanogaster*.

## 2. Material and methods

## 2.1. Flies

The wild-type *D. melanogaster* Meigen flies (Diptera: Drosophilidae) were raised on standard fly medium made of cornmeal, yeast and agar at 25 °C and 70% relative humidity under a 12-h light:12-h dark cycle.

## 2.2. Insecticide and treatment

A commercial azadirachtin-bases insecticide formulation was used for the experiments (Neem Azal-TS, 1 % EC; Trifolio-M GmbH, Lahnau, Germany) and dissolved in acetone for topical application (1  $\mu$ l per insect) [17]. Azadirachtin was applied on early third-instar larvae of *D*. *melanogaster* at two doses, 0.28  $\mu$ g and 0.67  $\mu$ g corresponding respectively to LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>

(doses that caused respectively a mortality of 25% and 50% of immature stages) [17]. Controls were exposed only to the solvent (1 $\mu$ l acetone) and all flies were kept under the same conditions as cites above.

#### 2.2 Two-choice food preference test

The food preference of adultes males and females three-day-old were tested in binary choice using a 2-dye marker method blue-red [31] in 96-well microplates (Fig.1A). The blue food-dye was FD&C Blue Dye no.1, used at a concentration of 0.5 mg/ml. The red food-dye was acid red, used at a concentration of 2 mg/ml. These food-dyes, at the above concentrations, were ascertained to be neither toxic nor were they metabolized [31]. The wells in the micro test plate were alternately filled with 10  $\mu$ l azadirachtin treated food (0.25  $\mu$ g/ml) marked with blue or red food-dye or control food containing the alternate food dye.

In each experiment, flies of both sexes (10 males and 10 females, tested in single sex groups) emerged from previously treated early 3<sup>rd</sup> instar larvae (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) were starved for 24 h and placed in plate. After being left to feed for 1 h at 25 C° in the dark, the flies were conserved in -10 C° during 24 h. A control series was done in parallel. Flies were classified into four groups according to abdominal colouring, i.e. blue (B), red (R), mixed (M) and uncoloured (Fig.1). The fraction of the uncoloured flies was usually below 5%. Five replicates were used for each test. A preference index (PI) was calculated, according to the formula:

$$PI = [(N^{b} + N^{m}/2) / (N^{b} + N^{m} + N^{r})] * 100$$

Paired control plates were prepared similarly, using standard food containing the alternate food dye, and used to test the possible effect of dyes on flies preference.

## 2.3. Olfactory response

Groups of adults three day-old of both sexes surviving from previously treated larvae (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) were tested in Y-maze assay according to Simonnet et al. [32] with slight modifications. The flies were starved for 17 h at 25 °C in glass tubes containing wet paper towel before testing. Before connecting the "trap" vials, a filter paper (~ 5mm) was placed in each vial. 50  $\mu$ l of azadirachtin (0.25  $\mu$ g/ml) were deposited on one filter paper, and 50  $\mu$ l of acetone on the second filter paper. Flies were tested individually, to avoid group effects, and placed into the third vial. Forty replicates were used for each sex and each dose. Percentage of attraction was calculated of each group.

## 2.4. Quantification of food intake

Quantification of food intake was performed as previously described by Wong et al. [33]. For each experiment five 3-day-old adults males or females surviving from previously treated larvae  $(LD_{25} \text{ and } LD_{50})$  were provided fresh food medium containing 2.5% (w/v) blue food dye (FD &C Blue no 1). After 30 minutes of feeding, flies were decapitated, to prevent eye pigment from interfering with the absorbance spectrum of the dye. Only the flies with blue abdomen were selected.

Flies were homogenised in 200  $\mu$ l of distilled water. A further 800  $\mu$ l of distilled water was added and the suspension cleared by centrifugation at 13,000 g for 15 min. The absorbance of the supernatant was measured at 629 nm. Age-matched flies exposed to non-dyed food were used as the baseline during spectrophotometry. The absolute amount of food intake was calculated from a standard curve made by serial dilution in water of a sample of blue food.

## 2.5. Enzymatic determination

## 2.5.1. Preparation of enzyme extract

3-days old adult males or females surviving from previously treated larvae (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) were used to quantify the activity of digestive enzyme. Individual's midgut were dissected out under a stereomicroscope and rinsed in ice cold saline buffer (0.15 M NaCl). A pool of ten midguts were homogenized in 1 ml of universal buffer (pH 7) and centrifuged at 13,000 g for 15 min. The supernatant was used as the enzyme source. Six replicates were used for each dose. The protein concentrations in each sample were determined, according to Bradford [34], and used to calculate the specific activity.

## 2.5.2. Assay of $\alpha$ - amylase activity

 $\alpha$ -amylase activity was assayed by the dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) procedure [35], using 1% soluble starch as substrate. 20 µl of the enzyme were incubated for 30 min at 35°C with 100 µl universal buffer (pH 7) and 40 µl soluble starch. The reaction was stopped by adding 100 µl DNS and heating in boiling water for 10 min. After cooling at room temperature, 100 µl of distilled water were added prior to reading the absorbance at 540 nm. One unit of  $\alpha$ -amylase activity was defined as the amount of enzyme required to produce 1 mg maltose in 30 min at 35°C.

## 2.5.3. Assay of lipase activity

The activity of lipase was determined by the method of Tsujita et al. [36]. Ten  $\mu$ l of the enzyme was mixed with 18  $\mu$ l p-nitrophenyl butyrate (50 mM) as a substrate, and 172  $\mu$ l of universal buffer solution (pH 7). After incubation at 37°C for 30 min, the absorbance was read at 405 nm. One unit of lipase activity was defined as the amount of enzyme necessary to liberate 1  $\mu$ mol of *p*-nitrophenyl per minute under assay conditions.

## 2.5.4. Assay of protease activity

Protease activity was measured determined using casein as the substrate [37]. The reaction mixture consisting of 200  $\mu$ l of casein (casein dissolved in PBS to obtain a solution at 1%), 100  $\mu$ l enzymes and 100  $\mu$ l universal buffer (pH 7) was incubated at 37°C for 60 min. Proteolysis was stopped by the addition of 800  $\mu$ l of 5% trichloroacetic acid (TCA). The mixture was centrifuged at 8000 g for 15 min and the absorbance was recorded at 280 nm. The activity was calculated from a standard curve using tyrosine with a known concentration.

## 2.5.5. Assay of chitinase

## - Preparation of colloidal chitin

Colloidal chitin was prepared according to Shen et al. [38]. Fore grams of chitin powder (Crab shells, Sigma) was added slowly to 40 ml of concentrated HCl and kept at 4° C for 1 h under vigorous stirring. The mixture was added to 1 L of ice-cold distilled water with rapid stirring and kept overnight at 35° C. After filtration, the substrate was washed several times with sterile distilled water until the colloidal chitin became neutral (pH 7). One gram of the colloidal chitin (1% w/v) was dissolved in citrate phosphate buffer (0.05 M, pH 6.6).

#### - Enzyme assay

Chitinase activity was determined with colloidal chitin as the substrate according to Miller [39]. 250  $\mu$ l of enzyme solution was added to 250  $\mu$ l of 1% colloidal chitin, after incubation for 30 min at 50°C with continuous shaking (120 rpm), the mixture was heated in a boiling-water bath for 5 min, cooled at room temperature and then centrifuged at 5000 g for 5 min. The reducing sugar released was measured by the DNS method at 540 nm using N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (GlcNAc) as standard. One unit of chitinase activity was defined as the amount of enzymes that produces 1  $\mu$ mol of reducing sugar per hour under reaction conditions.

## 2.6. Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using Prism v 6.01 for Windows (GraphPad Software Inc., <u>www.graphpad.com</u>). Results are given as means  $\pm$  standard errors (SE). The homogeneity of variances was checked using Bartlett's and Brown-Forsythe tests. Data on food preference index was assessed using Mann-Whitney test. Olfactory response was analyzed using the Chi-square ( $\chi^2$ ) test. Data of Quantification of food intake and activity of digestive enzymes were subjected to one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a post-hoc HSD Tukey test.

# 3. Results

## **3.1.** Two-choice food preference test

The sensitivity of adults of *D. melanogaster*, surviving from previously treated larvae (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>), to azadirachtin was tested using 2-dye marker to discriminate the preferential ingestion of flies. Results show that flies preferentially ingested control medium rather than azadirachtin treated medium (P<0.01). The marked food dyes also affected the choice of flies. Indeed, flies preferentially ingested the medium marked with the blue food-dye (53.76%) than the medium marked with the red food-dye (39%).



**Figure.1.** Feeding preference test: (A) 96-well test plate filled with food marked with blue or red food-dye. (*B*) Abdomen colored in blue. (C) Abdomen colored in red.

The preference index (PI) of adult males and females of *D. melanogaster* (Controls,  $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) are shown in Fig. 2.



**Figure.2.** Preference index (PI) of adults of *D.melanogaster* subjected to two-choice test on azadirachtinetreated food (0.25  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l) marked with the blue food-dye and control medium marked with red food-dye. A: Male, **B**: Female. Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated individuals.

For males, the means values of PI recorded in azadirachtin-treated medium  $(0.25\mu g/\mu l)$  marked with the blue food-dye were 33.21%, 15.00% and 13.00% respectively for controls, LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>. For females, the PI was 34.83%, 22.91% and 22.31% respectively for controls, LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>. Furthermore, the values of PI recorded in azadirachtin-treated medium  $(0.25\mu g/\mu l)$  marked with the red food-dye were always null for both sexes from controls and treated ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) series. Mann-Whitney test showed significant differences (P<0.01) between PI of previously treated flies and controls flies and no significant effects between the two tested doses (P>0.05) (Fig.2).

#### 3.2. Effect on olfactory responses

Effects of azadirachtin on fly olfactory response were evaluated using Y-maze. The behavioural test showed a clear preference of fly to enter trap vial containing the solvent rather than azadirachtin. There was no difference between sexes and so data were pooled. Proportion of flies choosing the solvent was 90% for controls, 83.75% for LD<sub>25</sub> and 77.75% for LD<sub>50</sub>. Statistic analysis revealed no significant difference between the tested groups (P = 0.1).



**Figure.3.** Effect of Azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on feeding rates ( $\mu$ g/fly) of adults male and female, (m ± SE; n = 5 replicates of 5 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P<0.05).

#### 3.2. Effect of azadirachtin on food intake

Amounts of ingested food in controls and treated series (DL<sub>25</sub> and DL<sub>50</sub>) were quantified using spectrophotometry and shown in Fig. 3. In control series the amount of ingested food was 1.91  $\pm$  0.10 µg/fly for males and 3.10  $\pm$  0.095 µg/fly for females. Azadirachtin treatments of early third instars larvae caused a significant reduction of food intake with a dose dependent relationship (Fig.3). Indeed, the mean values recorded in treated series were 1.32  $\pm$  0.029 µg/fly

for males and  $2.36 \pm 1.15 \ \mu\text{g/fly}$  for females at the lowest dose (LD<sub>25</sub>) and  $1.08 \pm 0.083 \ \mu\text{g/fly}$  for males and  $2.36 \pm 0.017 \ \mu\text{g/fly}$  for females at the highest dose (LD<sub>50</sub>). ANOVA indicated significant effects of doses (P<0.001), sex (P<0.001) but no significant (P>0.05) in doses-sex interaction.

## 3.3. Effect of azadirachtin on digestive enzyme

#### 3.3.1. Effect on $\alpha$ - amylase activity

Results showed that azadirachtin treatment of early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* affected  $\alpha$ - amylase activity of adult of both sex as compared to controls (Fig.4).



**Figure.4.** Effect of Azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on activity of  $\alpha$ -amylase of adults male and female, (m ± SE; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P<0.05).

In males the mean values recorded were  $5.47 \pm 0.16 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  proteins for the controls,  $3.43 \pm 0.08 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  proteins for the LD<sub>25</sub> and  $2.26 \pm 0.02 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  proteins for the LD<sub>50</sub>. Similar results was observed for female with mean values of  $4.47 \pm 0.08 \ \mu mol/min/mg$ proteins for the controls,  $3.51 \pm 0.09 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  proteins for the LD<sub>25</sub> and  $2.44 \pm 0.08 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  proteins for the LD<sub>50</sub>. ANOVA indicated significant effects of doses (P<0.001), and doses-sex interaction (P<0.001) but no significant of sex (P>0.05).

## **3.3.2. Effect on lipase activity**

The activity of lipase increased in adult's flies surviving from previously treated early third instars larvae. The highest activities were observed in females treated with LD<sub>50</sub> (Fig.5).



**Figure.5.** Effect of Azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on activity of lipase of adults male and female, ( $m \pm SE$ ; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P<0.05).

The mean values recorded in the males were  $0.054 \pm 0.001 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  proteins for the control,  $0.060 \pm 0.003 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  proteins for the LD<sub>25</sub> and  $0.071 \pm 0.003 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  proteins for the LD<sub>50</sub>. In the female the mean values were  $0.063 \pm 0.002 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  proteins for the control,  $0.077 \pm 0.004 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  proteins for the LD<sub>25</sub> and up to  $0.101 \pm 0.005 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  proteins for the LD<sub>50</sub> (Fig.6). ANOVA indicated significant effects of doses (P<0.001), sex (P<0.001) and doses-sex interaction (P = 0.016).

#### 3.3.3. Effect on protease activity

Results showed that azadirachtin treatment of early  $3^{rd}$  instar larva (DL<sub>25</sub> and DL<sub>50</sub>) affected protease activity of adults of both sexes by a significant reduction compared to controls (P<0.001) (Fig.6).


**Figure.6.** Effect of Azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on activity of protease of adults male and female, ( $m \pm SE$ ; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P<0.05).

In control series the mean values recorded were  $0.78 \pm 0.014$  mmol/min/mg proteins for males and  $0.75 \pm 0.012$  mmol/min/mg proteins for females. The activity of protease for the lowest dose (LD<sub>25</sub>) was  $0.56 \pm 0.022$  mmol/min/mg proteins for males and  $0.56 \pm 0.011$  mmol/min/mg proteins for females. At the highest dose (LD<sub>50</sub>) the value recorded dropped to  $0.41 \pm 0.021$ mmol/min/mg proteins for males and  $0.45 \pm 0.017$  mmol/min/mg proteins for females (Fig.7). ANOVA indicated significant effects of doses (P<0.001), but no significant effects of sex (P>0.05) and doses-sex interaction (P>0.05).

#### **3.3.4. Effect on chitinase activity**

As a consequence of larval treatment, the chitinolytic activity of adult of both sex of *D*. *melanogaster* decreased significantly as compared to controls (P<0.001) (Fig.7).



**Figure.7.** Effect of Azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on activity of chitinase of adults male and female, ( $m \pm SE$ ; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P<0.05).

ANOVA revealed significant effects of dose (P<0.001), sex (P<0.001) and dose-sex interaction (P<0.001). The mean values for controls series were  $0.44 \pm 0.01$  mmol/min/mg proteins and  $0.54 \pm 0.012$  mmol/min/mg proteins respectively for males and females. In treated series the mean values recorded were  $0.42 \pm 0.009$  mmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>25</sub> and  $0.37 \pm 0.005$  mmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>50</sub> for males and  $0.43 \pm 0.012$  mmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>25</sub> and  $0.42 \pm 0.010$  mmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>50</sub> for females (Fig.7).

## 4. Discussion

In this study, we evaluated the effects of azadirachtin treatment of early third instar larvae on feeding behavior and digestive enzymes of adults of *D. melanogaster*. In our results, flies preferentially ingested dyed control food rather than azadirachtin-treated food. Dyes appear to affect the choice of flies, with a clear preference for blue food-dye than the red food-dye. This preference for blue food-dye was reported by Fougeron [40]. Recently, Bantel & Tessier, [41] reported the impact of these dyes concentration on food preference in *D. melanogaster*. In addition, our results revealed that the antifeeding effect of azadirachtin was more marked in previously treated flies (third instar larvae) as compared with naïf flies suggesting that previous experience plays a major role in the feeding preference of adults of *D. melanogaster*.

The effects of azadirachtin on olfactory response were also evaluated on adults of *D*. *melanogaster*. All flies tested in dual choice revealed a clear preference for solvent odour rather than azadirachtin odour. Pre-imaginale exposure of flies to the bioinsecticide had no significant effects on insect olfactory orientation.

In insect, feeding preingestive inhibitors affect insect orientation, searching, and food selection by interfering with olfactory or gustatory chemosensillas [42]. A signal to the Central Nervous System (CNS) causes avoidance from further approach or feeding [42]. In *Drosophila* species attractive odorants have been studied extensively, but little is known about avoidance pathways [43]. However, the conservation of olfactory avoidance was reported in *Drosophila* species [43] which may be exploited as new behavioral strategies for controlling pest's species.

Previous studies have demonstrated that azadirachtin caused a strong antifeeding effects in several insects species [44, 24, 45]. This primary antifeeding effect of azadirachtin seems to be mediated by contact chemoreceptors and linked to an inhibitory effect on the rate of firing of sugar sensitive cells of the gustatory chemoreceptors [46]. Indeed, several species have been reported to be extremely sensitive to primary antifeedancy of azadirachtin, which prefer to starving to death rather than ingesting the biopesticide [47]. In addition, *D. melanogaster* seems to be able to discriminate food texture and integrate the chemical and physical qualities of food [48] which may contribute to avoiding azadirachtin-treated food.

Different recent studies support the hypothesis that a pre-imaginal experience can change the adult response and generate learning memory through developmental stages [49, 50, 51, 17]. This learning avoidance of azadirachtin was reported in *D. melanogaster* oviposition sites selection after larval exposure (third instar larvae) to the bioinsecticide [17].

The primary antifeedancy is mediated by gustation and involved in discriminating between edible and toxic substance. However, a secondary antifeedant effect including a long-term

reduction in food intake, and direct detrimental effects on different insect tissues such as muscles, fat body and gut epithelial cells [47].

In the current experiments, azadirachtin reduced significantly food intake of flies surviving to azadirachtin-treated third insatr larvae (LD<sub>25</sub>, LD<sub>50</sub>) as compared to the controls. This long-term feeding reduction was reported in several insects' species and the level of food consumption differs upon species and was correlated to the concentration used [28, 24]. In addition, azadirachtin was reported to affect negatively weight gain in *Spodoptera eridania* [24], *Plodia interpunctella* [52] and adults surviving from larval exposure of *D. melanogaster* [53]. Indeed, growth and nutrient intake are function-ally linked processes in development and growth and body mass are directly affected by nutrient uptake, which are governed by the insulin/insulin-like growth factor signalling (IIS) pathway during insect growth [54]. Lai *et al.* [55] reported that the inhibition of growth and development caused by azadirachtin in *D. melanogaster*, was consistent with those caused by disruption of the IIS pathway.

Azadirachtin was reported to cause disruption in insect physiology and its ability to digest food [24]. Our results showed a clear disruption of digestive enzymes activities responsible of the broken down of dietary components before its absorption by the intestinal epithelium. Similar results were reported in several insects species [56, 57, 58]. In the current study, azadirachtin reduced significantly the activity of  $\alpha$ -amylase and chitinase of adults of *D. melanogaster* surviving to azadirachtin-treated third instar larvae (LD<sub>25</sub>, LD<sub>50</sub>).

Midgut  $\alpha$ -amylases are involved in starch and other carbohydrate metabolism and its activities depends on feeding diet [59]. Insects Chitinases hydrolyze the  $\beta$ -(1-4) bonds of the residues of N-acetyl- $\beta$ -D-glucosamine and are essential for moulting process as well as digestive enzymes compartimentalization because they are involved in the turn-over of the peritrophic matrices lining the gut epithelium [60]. The reduction of  $\alpha$ -amylase activity under azadirachtin treatment was reported in *Periplaneta Americana* [44], *Glyphodes pyloalis* [28]. Moreover, Lai *et al.* [55],

reported that azadirachtin reduced the activity of  $\alpha$ -amylase in midgut of *D. melanogaster* by repressing expression of  $\alpha$ -amylase gene. Azadirachtin was also reported to affect the periotophic memebrane, leading to damage of cellular surfaces of the midgut [28]. In addition, in insects the expression of chitinase gene was regulated by 20E [61], which may explain the effect observed in our results, since azadirachtin act as an antagonist of the 20E.

Lipases are responsible for hydrolysis the outer links of fat molecules. These enzymes play an important role in different physiological process such as storage and lipid mobilization, reproduction, growth and defence against pathogens [62]. In this study, lipase activity was significantly increased in azadirachtin-treated insects as compared to controls and the females showed the highest activity. This result is different from other reports where reduction in lipase is mostly reported after azadirachtin treatment; however, the observed effect was dependent on the chemical formulation and concentration of azadirachtin [28]. In our results the increase in lipase activity could be attributed to its esterase activity needed for detoxification [62]. However, the highest activities observed in female may be a result of a increasing of energy demand for reproduction [63].

Proteases have crucial role in food digestion by broken down proteins into amino acids [62]. Our results showed that azadirachtin caused a significant reduction of the protease activity in *D. melanogaster*. Low protease activity in the midgut of insects treated with azadirachtin was reported in *Periplaneta americana* [44] and *Glyphodes pyloalis* [28]. Moreover, Timmins & Reynolds [64] reported that azadirachtin reduces trypsine activity in the midgut of *Spodoptera litura*.

Our result supports the secondary antifeedancy action of azadirachtin which included a longterm reduction in food consumption and digestive efficiency. The precise effects of azadirachtin on food metabolism are not well known. However, different recent studies reported that azadirachtin interfere with activities of different enzymes such as  $\alpha$ - amylase, lipase,  $\alpha$  - and  $\beta$ 

-glucosidases, proteases, lactate dehydrogenase and glutathione S-transferase [59, 57, 58, 16]. Jbilou *et al.* [65] and Almeida *et al.* [66] found that azadirachtin affect the midgut epithelial cells, resulting in inhibition of digestive enzymes, efficiency of digestion and nutrient absorption which reduce access of nutrients for biological requirements. Furthermore, this reduction in efficiency of conversion of ingested and digested food may be a result of an energy conversion from biomass production into induction enzymes involved in detoxification of azadirachtin [24].

In conclusion, preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects the behavioral and physiological processes that underlie food selection and digestion in *D. melanogaster*. Theses finding suggest a long term antifeedancy action which may reinforce behavioral avoidance of azadirachtin and contribute as push-pull strategies in integrated pest management programs using antifeedants as a safer alternative crop protectants.

# References

- [1] L.A.J. Mordue, E.D. Morgan, A.J. Nisbet, Azadirachtin, a natural product in insect control.
  In: Gilbert, L.I. Iatrou, K. & Gill, S.S. (Eds). Comprehensive Molecular Insect Science.
  Elsevier, Oxford, UK. 6 (2005) 117–135.
- [2] C.L. Cantrell, F.E. Dayan, S.O. Duke, Natural products as sources for new pesticides, J Natural Prod. 75(2012) 1231-1242.
- [3] M.B. Isman, M.L. Grieneisen, Botanical insecticide research: Many publications, limited useful data, Trends Plant Sci. 19 (2014) 140-145.
- [4] J.F. Garcia, E. Grisoto, J.D. Vendramim, P.S.M. Botelho, Bioactivity of neem, *Azadirachta indica*, against *spittlebug Mahanarva fimbriolata* (Hemiptera: Cercopidae) on sugarcane, J. Econ. Entomol. 99 (2006) 2010-2014.

- [5] E.D. Morgan, Azadirachtin, a scientific goldmine, Bioorgan Med Chem, 17 (2009) 4096-4105.
- [6] K. Naumann, M.B. Isman, Evaluation of neem *Azadirachta indica* seed extracts and oils as oviposition deterrents to noctuid moths, Entomol. Exp.Appl. 76 (1995) 115-120.
- [7] H.V.V. Tomé, J.C. Martins, S. Correea, T.V.S. Galdino, M.C. Picançon, R.N.C. Guedes, Azadirachtin avoidance by larvae and adult females of the tomato leafminer *Tuta absoluta*, Crop Prot. 46 (2013) 63-69.
- [8] W.F. Barbosa, L. De Meyer, R.N. Guedes, G. Smagghe, Lethal and sublethal effects of azadirachtin on the bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* (Hymenoptera: Apidae), Ecotoxicology. 24 (2014) 130-142.
- [9] D.B. Lima, J.W.S. Melo, N.M.P. Guedes, L.M. Gontijo, R.N.C. Guedes, M.G.C. Gondim Jr, Bioinsecticide-predator interactions: Azadirachtin behavioral and reproductive impairment of the coconut mite predator *Neoseiulus baraki*, PLoS ONE. 10 (2015) e0118343. doi:10.1371.
- [10] V.M. Xavier, D. Message, M.C. Picanço, M. Chediak, P.A. Santana Júnior, R.S. Ramos, J.C. Martins, Acute toxicity and sublethal effects of botanical insecticides to Honey Bees. J Insect Sci. 15 (2015) 137.
- [11] R.C. Bernardes, H.V.V. Tomé, W.F. Barbosa, R.N.C. Guedes, M.A.P. Lima, Azadirachtin-induced antifeeding in Neotropical stingless bees. Apidologie (2016) DOI: 10.1007/s13592-016-0473-3.
- [12] M.B. Isman, Botanical insecticides, deterrents, and repellents in modern agriculture and an increasingly regulated world, Annu. Rev. Entomol. 51 (2006) 45-66.
- [13]S.O. Duke, C.L. Cantrell, K.M. Meepagala, D.E. Wedge, N. Tabanca, K.K. Schrader, Natural toxins for use in pest management, Toxins. 2 (2010) 1943-1962.

- [14]Y.A. Bruce, S. Gounou, A. Chabi-Olaye, H. Smith, F. Schulthess, The effect of neem (Azadirachta indica A. Juss) oil on oviposition, development and reproductive potentials of *Sesamia calamistis* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) and *Eldana saccharina* Walker (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), Agric. For. Entomol. 6 (2004) 223-232.
- [15] S. Pineda, A.M. Martínez, J.I. Figueroa, M.I. Schneider, P.D. Estal, E. Viñuela, B. Gómez,
  G. Smagghe, F. Budia, Influence of azadirachtin and methoxyfenozide on life parameters of *Spodoptera littoralis* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), J. Econ. Entom. 102 (2009) 1490-1496.
- [16] B. Boulahbel, N. Aribi, S. Kilani-Morakchi, N. Soltani, Insecticidal activity of azadirachtin on *Drosophila melanogaster* and recovery of normal status by exogenous 20hydroxyecdysone, Afr Entomol. 23 (2015) 224-233.
- [17] R. Bezzar-Bendjazia, S. Kilani-Morakchi, N. Aribi, Larval exposure to azadirachtin affects fitness and oviposition site preference of *Drosophila melanogaster*, Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 133 (2016) 85-90.
- [18] F. Hasan, M.S. Ansari, Toxic effects of neem-based insecticides on Pieris brassicae (Linn.), Crop Prot. 30(2011) 502-507.
- [19] J. Cande, B. Prud'homme, N. Gompel, Smells like evolution: the role of chemoreceptor evolution in behavioral change. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 23 (2013) 152–158.
- [20]E.A. Bernays, R.F. Chapman, Host-Plant Selection by Phytophagous Insects. Chapman and Hall, New York, 1994.
- [21]O. Koul, Phytochemicals and insect control: An antifeedant Approach, Plant Sciences, 27 (2008) 1-24.
- [22] P. Kumar, H.M. Poehling, Effects of azadirachtin, abamectin, and spinosad on sweetpotato whitefly (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae) on tomato plants under laboratory and greenhouse conditions in the humid tropics, J. Econ. Entomol. 100 (2007) 411-420.

- [23] D.S. Charleston, R. Kafir, M. Dicke, L.E.M. Vet, Impact of botanical extracts derived from Melia azedarach and Azadirachta indica on populations of *Plutella xylostella* and its natural enemies: a field test of laboratory findings, Biol. Control. 39 (2006) 105-114.
- [24]H.K. Shannag, J.L. Capinera, N.M. Freihat, Effects of neem-based insecticides on consumption and utilization of food in larvae of *Spodoptera eridania* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). J. Insect Sci. 15 (2015) 152.
- [25] J.L. Capinera, J.G. Froeba, Behavioral responses of *Schistocerca americana* (Orthoptera: Acrididae) to azadirex (neem)-treated host plants. J. Econ. Entomol. 100 (2007) 117-122.
- [26] R.E. Baumler, D.A. Potter. Knockdown, residual, and antifeedant activity of pyrethroids and home landscape bioinsecticides against Japanese beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) on linden foliage. J. Econ. Entomol. 100 (2007) 451-458.
- [27] R. Khosravi, J.J. Sendi, M. Ghadamyari, Effect of Artemisia annua L. On deterrence and nutritional efficiency of lesser mulberry pyralid *Glyphodes pyloalis* (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), J. Plant Prot. Res. 50 (2010) 423-428.
- [28] R. Khosravi, J.J. Sendi, Effect of neem pesticide (Achook) on midgut enzymatic activities and selected biological compounds in the hemolymph of lesser mulberry pyralid, *Glyphodes pyloalis* Walker (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), J. Plant Prot. Res. 5 (2013) 238-247.
- [29] J.W. Stafford, K.M. Lynd, A.Y. Jung, M.D. Gordon, Integration of taste and calorie sensing in *Drosophila*, J Neurosci 32 (2012) 14767-14774.
- [30] S.J. Simpson, D. Raubenheimer, The nature of nutrition: a unifying framework from animal adaptation to human obesity. Princeton University Press, Princeton, (2012).
- [31] T. Tanimura, K. Isono, T. Takamura, I. Shimada, Genetic dimorphism in the taste sensitivity to trehalose in *Drosophila melanogaster*. J Comp Physiol. 147 (1982) 433-437.
- [32] M.M. Simonnet, M. Berthelot-Grosjean, Y. Grosjean, Testing *Drosophila* Olfaction with a Y-maze Assay. J. Vis. Exp. 88 (2014) e51241, doi:10.3791/51241.

- [33] R. Wong, M.D.W. Piper, B. Wertheim, L. Partridge, Quantification of food intake in Drosophila. PLoS ONE. 4 (2009) e6063.doi:10.1371/
- [34] M.M. Bradford, A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities on protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding, Anal. Biochem. 72 (1976) 248-254.
- [35] P. Bernfeld, α-amylases. Method. Enzymol. 1 (1955) 149-151.
- [36] T. Tsujita, H. Ninomiya, H. Okuda, p- nitrophenyl 865. butyrate hydrolyzing activity of hormone-sensitive lipase 866 from bovine adipose tissue. Lipid Research. 30 (1989) 9971004.
- [37]F.L. García-Carreño, N. Haard, Characterization of protease classes in Langostilla (*Pleuroncodes planipes*) and crayfish (*Pacifastacus astacus*) extracts. Food. Biochem. 17 (1993) 97-113.
- [38] C.R. Shen, Y.S. Chen, C.J. Yang, J.K. Chen, C.L. Liu, Colloid chitin azure is a dispersible, low-cost substrate for chitinase measurements in a sensitive, fast, reproducible assay. Biomol. Screen. 15 (2010) 213-217.
- [39] G.L. Miller, Use of dinitrosalicylic acid reagent for determination of reducing sugar. Anal.Chem. 31 (1959) 426-428.
- [40] A.S. Fougeron, J.P. Farine, J. Flaven-Pouchon, C. Everaerts, J.F. Ferveur, Fatty-acid preference changes during development in *Drosophila melanogaster*, PLoS ONE. 6 (2011) e26899.
- [41] A.P. Bantel, C.R. Tessier, Taste preference assay for adult *Drosophila*. J. Vis. Exp. 115 (2016) e54403, doi:10.3791/54403.

- [42] Y. Lee, S. Kim, C. Montell, Avoiding DEET through insect gustatory receptors, Neuron.67 (2010) 555-561.
- [43] C. Krause Pham, A. Ray, Conservation of olfactory avoidance in *Drosophila* species and identification of repellents for *Drosophila suzukii*, Scientific Reports, 5 (2015) 11527-11527.
- [44] P.A. Paranagama, K.A.B. CH. Kodikara, H.M.I. Nishantha, A.M. Mubarak, Effect of azadirachtin on growth and the activity of midgut enzymes of the cockroach *Periplaneta Americana*, J Natl Sci Found. 29 (2001) 69-79.
- [45] S.R. Vattikonda, S.R. Sangam, Assessment of antifeedant potential of azadirachtin, a plant product of *Azadirachta indica* against *Papilio demoleus* L. (Lepidoptera: Papilionidae) larvae, J. Entomol. Zool. Stud. 4 (2016) 956-959.
- [46] M. Simmonds, W. Blaney, Azadirachtin: advances in understanding its activity as an antifeedant. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 80 (1996) 23-26.
- [47] A.J. Mordue, E.D. Morgan, A.J. Nisbet, Azadirachtin, a natural product in insect control.In: Gilbert LI, Gill SS, editors. Insect Control: Biological and synthetic agents, Elsevier/Academic. 2010. pp. 185–203.
- [48] J.A. Sánchez-Alcañiz, G. Zappia, F. Marion-Poll, R. Benton, A mechanosensory receptor required for food texture detection in *Drosophila*, <u>Nat Commun</u>. 8 (2017) 14192.
- [49]B. Gerber, R.F. Stocker, T. Tanimura, A.S. Thum, Smelling, tasting, learning: *Drosophila* as a study case. In Chemosensory systems in mammals, fishes and insects (results and problems in cell differentiation) (ed. S. Korsching and W. Meyerhof), 2009 pp. 1-47. Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.

- [50] J. Flaven-Pouchon, T. Garcia, D. Abed-Vieillard, J.P. Farine, J.F. Ferveur, Transient and permanent experience with fatty acids changes *Drosophila melanogaster* preference and fitness, PLoS ONE 9 (2014) e92352doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0092352.
- [51]D. Abed-Vieillard, J. Cortot, When choice makes sense: menthol influence on mating, oviposition and fecundity in *Drosophila melanogaster*, Front. Integr. Neurosci. 10 (2016) doi: 10.3389/fnint.2016.00005
- [52] <u>G. Nouri-Ganbalani</u>, <u>E. Borzouei</u>, <u>A. Abdolmaleki</u>, <u>S.G. Kamita</u>, Individual and combined effects of *bacillus thuringiensis* and azadirachtin on *Plodia Interpunctella* Hübner (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), J. Insect Sci. 16 (2016) 1-8
- [53] R. Bezzar-Bendjezia, S. Kilani-Morakchi, N. Aribi, Growth and molting disruption effects of azadirachtin against *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae). J. Entomol. Zool. Stud. 4 (2016) 363-368.
- [54] J.M. Tennessen, C.S. Thummel, Coordinating growth and maturation insights from *Drosophila*. Current. Biology. 21 (2011) R750-R757.
- [55]D. Lai, X. Jin, H. Wang, M. Yuan, H. Xu. Gene expression profile change and growth inhibition in *Drosophila* larvae treated with azadirachtin, <u>Biotechnol</u>. 185 (2014) 51-56.
- [56] A. Anuradha, R.S. Annadurai, Biochemical and molecular evidence of azadirachtin binding to insect actins. Curr. Sci. 95 (2008) 1588-1593.
- [57] K. Roya, J.J. Sendi, Effect of neem pesticide (Achook) on midgut enzymatic activities and selected biochemical compounds in the hemolymph of lesser mulberry pyralid, *Glyphodes pyloalis* Walker (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), J. Plant Prot. Res. 53 (2013) 238-247.

- [58] S. Senthil-Nathan, Physiological and biochemical effect of neem and other plant secondary metabolites against Lepidoptera insects. Front. Physiol. 4 (2013) 1-17.
- [59] M. Shekari, J. Jalali Sendi, K. Etebari, A. Zibaee, A. Shadparvar, Effects of Artemisia annua L. (Asteracea) on nutritional physiology and enzyme activities of elm leaf beetle, *Xanthogaleruca luteola* Mull. (Coleoptera: Chrysomellidae). Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 91 (2008) 66-74.
- [60]H. Merzendorfer, L. Zimoch, Chitin metabolism in insects: Structure, function and regulation of chitin synthases and chitinases. J. Exp. Biol. 206 (2003) 4393-4412.
- [61]W.J. Yang, K.K. Xu, R.Y. Zhang, W. Dou, J.J. Wang, 2013. Transcriptional regulation of a chitinase gene by 20-hydroxyecdysone and starvation in the oriental fruit fly, *Bactrocera dorsalis*, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 14 (2013) 20048-20063.
- [62] M. Nasr, J.J. Sendi, S. Moharramipour, A. Zibaee, Evaluation of Origanum vulgare L. essential oil as a source of toxicant and an inhibitor of physiological parameters in diamondback moth, *Plutella xylustella* L. (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences (2015), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jssas.2015.06.002.
- [63] N.N. Moghadam, M. Holmstrup, T. Manenti, M.B. Mouridsen, C. Pertoldi, V. Loeschcke, The role of storage lipids in the relation between fecundity, locomotor activity, and lifespan of *Drosophila melanogaster* longevity-selected and control lines, <u>PLoS One</u>. 10 (2015) e0130334.
- [64] W.A. Timmins, S.E. Reynolds, Azadirachtin inhibit secretion of trypsine in midgut of *Manduca sexta* caterpillars: reduced growth due to impaired protein digestion, Entomol. Exp. Appl. 63 (1992) 47-54.

- [65] R. Jbilou, H. Amri, A. Bouayad, A. Ghailani, A. Ennabili, F. Sayah, Insecticidal effects of extracts of seven plant species on larval development, a-amylase activity and off spring production of *Tribolium castaneum* (Herbst) (Insecta: Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae), Bioresour. Technol. 99 (2008) 959-964.
- [66]G.D. Almeida, J.C. Zanuncio, S. Senthil-Nathan, D. Pratissoli, R.A. Polanczyk, D.O. Azevedo, J.E. Serrão, Cytotoxicity in the midgut and fat body of *Anticarsia gemmatalis* (Lepidoptera: Geometridae) larvae exerted by neem seeds extract, Invertebr. Surv. 11 (2014) 79-86.

## 3.6 Effets sur la perception gustative

Afin de déterminer si l'impact de l'exposition pré-imaginale à l'azadirachtine pouvait influencer la reconnaissance gustative des adultes de *D. melanogaster*, nous avons réalisé un test d'extension du proboscis (PER).

L'azadirachtine (DL<sub>25</sub>, DL<sub>50</sub>), administré par application topique chez les larves L3 du début de stade, affecte la gustation des mouches en augmentant de manière significative. (p < 0,001) l'aversion pour cette molécule avec une relation dose-dépendante (Fig. 28).



*Figure 28. Réponses d'extension du proboscis à une solution contenant de l'azadirachtine à différentes concentrations chez les adultes.* 

(A : femelles ; B : mâles) témoins et traités ( $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ ) de D. melanogaster. ( $m \pm SEM$  ; n = 30 répétitions).

Chez les mâles et femelles, les pourcentages d'extension du proboscis obtenus pour le saccharose à 100 mM sont de 100% pour toutes les séries de mouches testées (Témoins, DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>).

Les pourcentages obtenus pour les réponses à l'azadirachtine à  $0,1\mu$ g/ml, sont de 20%, 13,33% et 10% respectivement pour les adultes femelles témoins, traitées à la DL<sub>25</sub> et traitées à la DL<sub>50</sub>. Les valeurs obtenues pour les mâles sont de 23,33%, 16,66% et 16,66% respectivement pour les adultes témoins, traitées à la DL<sub>25</sub> et traitées à la DL<sub>50</sub>.

Les pourcentages de l'extension du proboscis pour l'azadirachtine à 0,25  $\mu$ g/ml sont de 26%, 20% et 10% pour les femelles contre 28%, 10% et 10% respectivement pour les mâles témoins, traitées à la DL<sub>25</sub> et traitées à la DL<sub>50</sub>.

En ce qui concerne l'azadirachtine à 1  $\mu$ g/ml, les valeurs enregistrées sont de 33,33%, 6,66% et 6,66% respectivement pour les adultes femelles témoins et traitées à la DL<sub>25</sub> et traitées à la DL<sub>50</sub>. Les valeurs obtenues pour les mâles sont de 30%, 16,66% et 6,66% respectivement pour les adultes témoins, traitées à la DL<sub>25</sub> et traitées à la DL<sub>50</sub>.

Chez les femelles, l'azadirachtine à la plus forte dose (10  $\mu$ g/ml) induit une extension du proboscis de 40% uniquement chez les individus témoins. Chez les mâles les valeurs enregistrées sont de 43,33%, 10% et 6,66% respectivement pour les adultes témoins, traitées à la DL<sub>25</sub> et traitées à la DL<sub>50</sub>

D'une façon générale, les analyses statistiques révèlent que le traitement larvaire à l'azadirachtine affecte l'extension du proboscis aussi bien chez les femelles ( $\chi^2 = 83,03$ ; P <0.001) que chez les mâles ( $\chi^2 = 41,10$ ; P < 0.001) de *D. melanogaster*.

Les résultats obtenus montrent que le traitement larvaire augmente l'aversion envers l'azadirachtine avec une relation dose-dépendante de la concentration.

# 3.7 Effets sur les réponses électrophysiologiques des adultes

Dans un premier temps, nous avons procédé à l'identification des sensilles gustatives répondant à la formulation commerciale d'azadirachtine, le Neem-Azal, utilisée pour nos expérimentations. Pour cela, nous avons examiné systématiquement les réponses électrophysiologiques de 31 sensilles gustatives présentes sur le proboscis de *D. melanogaster* (Fig. 29) après stimulation avec une solution à 1  $\mu$ g/ml (concentration donnant les meilleures réponses en PER).



*Figure 29.* Distribution des réponses électrophysiologiques au Neem Azal dans les sensilles du proboscis.

*La carte de chaleur montre les réponses électrophysiologiques, à l'azadirachtine (1 \mug/ml) des sensilles gustatives du proboscis de D. melanogaster afin d'identifier les sensilles qui répondent à la molécule (n = 10).* 

Les sensilles longues (L) et intermédiaires (I) ne présentent aucune réponse physiologique à notre molécule. Cependant, toutes les sensilles de type (S) répondent à l'azadirachtine mais avec des différences d'intensités à l'exception des sensilles S4 et S8.

Dans un second temps, nous avons testé plusieurs concentration d'azadirachtine sur les femelles de *D. melanogaster* (Témoins,  $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ ) afin d'évaluer l'intensité de réponse de chaque mouche. Les enregistrements sont réalisés pour la sensille S5, qui répond le mieux à l'azadirachtine. Les résultats sont représentés sur la figure ci-dessous (Fig. 30).



*Figure 30. Réponses des sensilles S5 au Neem Azal en fonction de la concentration et du traitement larvaire (m*  $\pm$  *SEM ; n* = 12 *répétitions).* 

Les courbes obtenus montrent que l'intensité de réponse des mouches est dépendante de la concentration d'azadirachtine. Une diminution drastique de l'intensité de réponse est enregistrée pour la concentration de 10 µg/ml.

Pour la concentration de 0,1 µg/ml, le test de Mann Whitney révèle des effets significatifs entre témoin et la DL<sub>25</sub> (U = 1 ; p < 0,0003) et entre témoin et la DL<sub>50</sub> (U = 4,5 ; P = 0,0020), aucun effet trouvé entre les adultes traités à la DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub> (U = 32 ; P > 0,05). En ce qui concerne la concentration de 0,25 µg/ml, un effet significatif est enregistré uniquement pour la DL<sub>50</sub> (U = 6,5 ; P = 0,0045).

Pour la concentration de 1  $\mu$ g/ml, une différence significative trouvée entre témoin et DL<sub>25</sub> (U = 14 ; P = 0,00601) et entre témoin et DL<sub>50</sub> (U = 6 ; P = 0,0042). Un effet significatif a également été noté entre les deux doses testés (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>) (U = 22,6 ; P = 0,00424).

Aucune différence trouvée entre les mouches témoins et traités (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>) pour la concentration 10  $\mu$ g/ml (P > 0,05)

Enfin, et dans le but de de vérifier si les réponses, plus marquées, obtenues chez les séries traitées étaient spécifique à l'azadirachtine, nous avons testé une autre molécule connue pour ses propriétés aversive, la caféine (CAF). Les tests sont réalisés sur la sensille (S5) qui est la sensille qui répond le mieux aussi bien à l'azadirachtine qu'à la caféine. La caféine est testée à une concentration de 10 mM, concentration à partir de laquelle on obtient une réponse chez les mouches (Weiss *et al.*, 2011) (Fig. 31).

Les résultats obtenus, pour la caféine, ne révèlent aucune différence significative entre les réponses des mouches témoins et traités à l'azadirachtine (KW = 0,28 ; P = 0,8653). Les valeurs moyennes enregistrées sont de  $36,00 \pm 4,14$  ;  $31,08 \pm 2,16$  et  $32,67 \pm 3,62$  respectivement pour les témoins, DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>.

Les résultats pour la concentration de 1µg/ml d'azadirachtine montrent une forte réponse des mouches traitées par rapport aux témoins (KW = 11.63 ; P = 0.0030) mais sans effet dose (test de Dunn's P > 0,05). Les moyennes obtenues pour les témoins, DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub> sont respectivement de 41,08 ± 3,94, 55,83 ± 3,02 et 61,00 ±3,31.



*Figure 31. Réponses des sensilles S5 à l'azadirachtine et à la caféine en fonction du traitement larvaire.*  $(m \pm SEM; n = 12 répétitions)$ . Les lettres différentes indiquent une différence significative entre les individus de la même substance (P < 0,05).

La figure 32 représente un exemple des réponses d'enregistrements à l'azadirachtine pour la sensille S8 (pas de réponse) et la réponse de la sensille S5 à l'azadirachtine (1  $\mu$ g/ml), TCC (30 mM) et CAF (10 mM).



*Figure 32.* Exemples de réponses électrophysiologiques à l'azadirachtine, à la caféine et au TCC. Exemples d'enregistrements obtenus. *A* : Réponse de la sensille (S5) à l'azadirachtine, *B* : une sensille (S8) qui ne répond pas à l'azadirachine, *C* : Réponse de la sensille S5 au TCC utilisé comme contrôle, *D* : Réponse de la sensille (S5) à la caféine.

## 3.8 Effets sur la consommation alimentaire

Le comportement alimentaire des adultes mâles et femelles de *D. melanogaster* a été évalué en utilisant la technique de MultiCAFE (Capillary Feeder), décrite précédemment. Nous avons évalué dans un premier temps, l'effet de la concentration en azadirachtine (0,1  $\mu$ g/ml ou 0,25  $\mu$ g/ml) sur la consommation alimentaire des mouches des séries témoins et traités (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>) (Fig. 33). Les résultats révèlent un effet significatif avec une consommation plus élevée pour la plus faible (0,1  $\mu$ g/ml).



*Figure 33.* Consommation de solutions contenant du Neem Azal chez des individus adultes traités au stade larvaire (A : mâles et B : femelles).

 $m \pm SEM$ ; n = 32 répétitions. Les différentes lettres en minuscules indiquent une différence significative entre les doses testées (P < 0,05). Les différentes lettres en majuscules indiquent une différence significative entre les différents milieux testés (P < 0,05).

Chez les mâles, le test de Mann-Whitney révèle des effets significatifs entre les deux milieux testées (0,1 µg/ml et 0,25 µg/ml) chez les témoins (U = 1 ; P= 0,0003), DL<sub>25</sub> (U = 12,89 ; P = 0,0016) et DL<sub>50</sub> (U = 4,5 ; P = 0,0020). Chez les femelles, des différences significatives sont enregistrées seulement chez les insectes témoins (U = 6,5 ; P = 0,0048) et traités à la DL<sub>25</sub> (U = 6 ; P = 0,0042).

L'évolution en fonction du temps de la consommation des mouches (Témoins,  $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ ) à l'azadirachtine (0,1 µg/ml), révèle une consommation plus importante chez les femelles, probablement corrélée à leurs taille légèrement plus importante que celle des mâles.

Afin de vérifier si la baisse de consommation des mouches traitées est spécifique ou non à l'azadirachtine, nous avons évalué en utilisant la même technique en évaluant l'effet du traitement larvaire (début de stade L3) sur la consommation de l'azadirachtine (0,1  $\mu$ g/ml ou 0,25  $\mu$ g/ml) et la caféine (10 mM) des mouches des séries témoins et traités (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>) (Fig. 34). Le saccharose (100 mM) a été utilisé comme témoin (Fig. 34).

Chez les femelles témoins, aucune différence significative entre les différentes concentrations de molécules amères testées (Aza et Caf) (P > 0,05). Une différence a été noté uniquement chez les mâles entre les deux doses testés d'azadirachtine (0,1  $\mu$ g/ml et 0,25  $\mu$ g/ml) et entre Aza (0,25  $\mu$ g/ml) et la caféine (P < 0,001).

Chez les femelles traitées à la  $DL_{25}$ , une différence significative trouvée entre l'azadirachtine à 0,1 µg/ml et 0,25 µg/ml (P < 0,001) et entre la cafeine 10 mM. Aucune différence enregistrée entre la concentration la plus élevée d'azadirachtine (0,25 µg/ml) et la cafeine (P > 0,05). Chez les mâles, une différence significative est enregistrée uniquement entre l'azadirachine (0,25 µg/ml) et les différentes doses testées (P < 0,001). Des résultats similaires ont été obtenus chez les insectes mâles et femelles traités à la  $DL_{50}$ 



**Figure 34.** Consommation pendant 24 h d'azadirachtine, de caféine et de saccharose chez des individus traités ou non à l'azadirachtine au début de stadeL3 D. melanogaster (A : Témoins ; B :  $DL_{25}$ ; C :  $DL_{50}$ ), ( $Aza : 0,25 \ \mu g/ml$  et  $0,1 \ \mu g/ml$  ; saccharose : 30 mM ; Caf : 10 mM) ( $m \pm SEM$  ; n = 32 répétitions).

Published in: Pesticide Biochemistry and physiology

# Azadirachtin induced larval avoidance and antifeeding by disruption of food intake and digestive enzymes in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae)

Radia Bezzar-Bendjazia<sup>1</sup>, Samira Kilani-Morakchi\*<sup>1</sup>, Ferdenache Maroua, Nadia

Aribi,

Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology

Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Badji Mokhtar University of Annaba 23000-Annaba, Algeria.

<sup>1</sup>Both authors contributed equally to this work and considered first authors

\*Corresponding author:

Samira Kilani-Morakchi (samira.morakchi@univ-annaba.dz)

Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology

Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Badji Mokhtar University of Annaba, 23000-Annaba, Algeria.

## Abstract

Botanical insecticides are a promising alternative to reduce the harmful effects of synthetic chemicals. Among the botanical biopesticides, azadirachtin obtained from the Indian neem tree *Azadirachta indica A.Juss. (Meliaceae)* is probably the biorational insecticide with greatest agriculture use nowadays due to its broad insecticide activity. The current study, evaluated the lethal and sublethal effects of azadirachtin on larval avoidance, food intake and digestive enzymes of *Drosophila melanogaster* larvae as biological model. Azadirachtin was applied topically at two doses LD<sub>25</sub> (0.28  $\mu$ g) and LD<sub>50</sub> (0.67  $\mu$ g) on early third instars larvae.

Results evaluated 24h after treatment showed that larvae exhibited significant repellence to azadirachtin and prefer keeping in untreated arenas rather than moving to treated one. In addition, azadirachtin avoidance was more marked in larvae previously treated with this compound as compared with naïf larvae (controls). Moreover, azadirachtin treatment decreased significantly the amount of larval food intake. Finally, azadirachtin reduced significantly the activity of larval  $\alpha$ -amylase, chitinase and protease and increased the activity of lipase. This finding showed that azadirachtin induced behavioral and physiological disruption affecting the ability of the insect to digest food. This rapid installation of avoidance and long term antifeedancy might reinforce the action of azadirachtin and provide a new behavioral strategy for integrated pest management programs.

**Keywords:** Azadirachtin, *Drosophila melanogaster*, Larval avoidance, Food intake, Digestive enzymes.

## Introduction

Pesticides have played a crucial role in increasing agricultural productivity [1]. However, increasing awareness regarding environmental and human health impacts of conventional pesticides reduced their availability and promoted the search for alternative control strategies and reduced risk pesticides [2]. Consequently, a drastic re-emergence of interest in the use of natural pesticides, or biopesticides, especially plant-derived compounds was noted [3, 4, 5, 6]. The prominent botanical pesticides that have received the best of attention are those issued from the neem tree, Azadirachta indica A. Juss. (Meliaceae) [3, 7, 8]. Azadirachtin, produced as secondary metabolite, is the principal active constituent in neem extracts [3]. Due to its chemical complexity, azadirachtin has many anti-insect properties but no resistance problem [3]. In addition, this compound has also been reported as safer for non-target organisms; however, this earlier perception has been recently challenged specially in relation with natural enemies and pollinators [9, 10, 11, 12]. Despite these problems, azadirachtin still a recognizable alternative to conventional insecticides in integrates pest management programs. Azadirachtin has multiple modes of action including antifeedancy, fecundity suppression and sterilization, oviposition repellence, growth inhibition, detrimental effects on morphology and changes in biological fitness [13, 14, 3, 15, 16, 17]. However, at the moment, if the broad areas of its mode of action were established, the details were still not fully understood.

The major action of azadirachtin was its ability to modify or suppress hemolymph ecdysteroid and juvenile hormone titers by inhibiting the release of morphogenetic peptide hormone (PTTH) and allatotropins from the brain-*corpus cardiacum* complex leading to its well documented IGR effects [18, 19, 20]. The behavioral effects of azadirachtin are more controversial and seem to vary between insect orders and even species [21, 22, 23, 24].

The ability to discriminate between edible and toxic food is crucial to survive and reproduce, and all animals must locate and selects the diet that maximises fitness [25]. Feeding behavior is both mediated by the detection through contact chemoreceptor on the insect's chemosensillas and sensory code integration by the central nervous system [26]. This primary antifeedancy effects of azadirachtin were reported in various orders of insect's including Lepidoptera, Coleoptera, Hemiptera, Isoptera, Diptera and Orthoptera [3]. An internal feedback mechanisms called secondary antifeedancy are initiated following the onset of physiological toxic effects arising from azadirachtin uptake or ingestion, but the reports are not consistent [27, 28]. Moreover, decrease in food intake after azadirachtin treatment has been reported to dependent upon the insect species and concentration used [3, 28]. Recently, we have reported that the preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects food selection and digestive enzymes in adults of Drosophila melanogaster suggesting a memorability of a learned avoidance and a long term antifeedancy of this compound [29]. In order to estimate the precocity of installation of these effects and their evolution through the insect development; the present study, investigated the acute lethal and sublethal effects of azadirachtin on larval avoidance, food intake and digestive enzymes 24h after azadiarchtin application on third instar larvae of Drosophila melanogaster, one of the most promising animal models used for research on mechanisms of nutrient selection and regulation.

## 2. Material and methods

#### 2.1. Flies

Experimental stocks of *D. melanogaster* (wild-type Canton-S) were reared in glass vials containing a yeast/cornmeal/agar laboratory medium containing an anti-fungal agent and kept at  $25 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C, 70% relative humidity under a 12 h light/dark photoperiod. Flies were transferred

every three days to avoid larval competition and regularly provide abundant progeny for testing.

## 2.2. Insecticide and treatment

A Commercial formulation of azadirachtin, the Neem Azal-TS (1 % EC; Trifolio-M GmbH, Lahnau, Germany) was dissolved in acetone and topically applied (1  $\mu$ l per insect) on early third-instar larvae of *D. melanogaster* at two doses, 0.67 $\mu$ g and 0.28 $\mu$ g corresponding respectively to LD<sub>50</sub> and LD<sub>25</sub> (doses that caused respectively a mortality of 25% and 50% of immature stages) [16]. Controls were exposed only to the solvent (1 $\mu$ l acetone) and all flies were kept under the same conditions as cited above. All experiments were done 24 h after treatment.

#### 2.3. Larval preference assay

Groups of 20 larvae from controls and treated series (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) were collected and transferred to a petri dishes (Nunc ; diameter = 66 mm, height = 15 mm) containing filter paper (Whatmann, Cat 42; diameter = 55 mm) divided into two concentric circles (28 mm for the inner circle). The outer circle was soaked with 10 ml of azadirachtin (0.25  $\mu$ g/ml) whereas the inner circle with 10 ml of acetone. After five minutes for solvents evaporation, the filter paper was humidified with 1 ml of distilled water in order to facilitate the displacement of the larvae. The larvae were placed in the inner circle, after five minutes the number of larvae present on each zone was determined and the larval preference index (LPI) was calculated as follows: (number of larvae on azadirachtin zone – number of larvae on control zone) / (number of larvae on azadirachtin zone + number of larvae on control zone). In theory, azadirachtin preference index can vary between -1 (strong aversion against azadirachtin) and +1 (strong attraction to azadirachtin).

## 2.4. Food intake estimation

The quantification of food intake was performed as previously described by Wong et al. [30]. For each experiment five larvae (Controls,  $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) were provided fresh food medium containing 2.5% (w/v) blue food dye (FD &C Blue no 1). After 30 minutes of feeding, only the blue larvae were selected.

Larvae were homogenised in 200  $\mu$ l of distilled water. A further 800  $\mu$ l of distilled water was added and the suspension cleared by centrifugation at 13,000 g for 15 min. The absorbance of the supernatant was read at 629 nm. Age-matched larvae exposed to non-dyed food were used as the baseline during spectrophotometry. The absolute amount of food intake was calculated from a standard curve made by serial dilution in water of a sample of blue food.

## 2.5. Digestive enzymes assay

#### - Sample preparation

For enzyme extracts individual's midgut of larvae from controls and treated series (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) were dissected out under a strereomicroscope and rinsed in ice cold saline buffer (0.15 M NaCl). A pool of ten midguts were homogenized in 1 ml of universal buffer (pH 7) and centrifuged at 13,000 g for 15 min. The supernatant was used as the enzyme source. Six replicates were used for each dose. The protein concentrations in each sample were determined in parallel according to Bradford [31] and used to calculate the specific activity.

- Enzyme assay

 $\alpha$ -amylase activity was assayed using the dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) as the reagent and 1% soluble starch as substrate [32]. Twenty microliters of the enzyme were incubated for 30 min at 35°C with 100 µl universal buffer (pH 7) and 40 µl soluble starch. The reaction was stopped by adding 100 µl DNS and heating in boiling water for 10 min prior to reading the absorbance

at 540 nm. One unit of  $\alpha$ -amylase activity was defined as the amount of enzyme required to produce 1 mg maltose in 30 min at 35°C.

Chitinase activity was determined using colloidal chitin [33] as the substrate according to Miller [34]. Chitinase activity was assayed, based on dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) method [34]. 250  $\mu$ l of enzyme solution was added to 250  $\mu$ l of 1% colloidal chitin in citrate phosphate buffer (0.05 M, pH 6.6), after incubation for 30 min at 50°C with continuous shaking (120 rpm), the mixture was heated in a boiling-water bath for 5 min, cooled at room temperature and then centrifuged at 5000 g for 5 min. 150  $\mu$ l of the supernatant were mixed with 300  $\mu$ l of universal buffer and 200  $\mu$ l of DNS; the mixture was incubated for 10 min in boiling water bath and then cooled at 4°C. The absorbance was measured at 540 nm. The activity was calculated from a standard curve of known concentration of N-acetylglucosamine. One enzyme unit was defined as the amount of enzyme that produces 1  $\mu$ mol of reducing sugar per hour under reaction conditions.

The lipase assays were carried out as described by Tsujita et al. [35]. Ten microliters of the enzyme and 18  $\mu$ l of p-nitrophenyl butyrate (50 mM) as a substrate were added to 172  $\mu$ l of universal buffer (pH 7) and incubated at 37°C for 30 min. The absorbance was read at 405 nm and one unit of lipase activity was defined as the amount of enzyme necessary to liberate 1  $\mu$ mol of *p*-nitrophenyl per minute under assay conditions.

General protease activity was assayed using casein (1%) as substrate [36]. 200  $\mu$ l of 1% casein solution was added to 100  $\mu$ l enzyme and 100  $\mu$ l universal buffer (pH 7), the mixture was incubated at 37°C for 60 min. Proteolysis was stopped by the addition of 800  $\mu$ l of 5% trichloroacetic acid (TCA). The mixture was centrifuged at 8000 g for 15 min and the absorbance was recorded at 280 nm. The activity was calculated from a standard curve using tyrosine with a known concentration.

## 2.6. Statistical analysis

Results are given as means ± standard errors (SE). The homogeneity of variances was checked using Bartlett's and Brown-Forsythe tests. Data of larval preference was subjected to Kruskal-Wallis test and pairwaise multiple comparison using Dunn's method. Index preference was assessed using Mann-Whitney test. Data of quantification of food intake and activity of digestive enzymes were subjected to one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a post-hoc HSD Tukey test. All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad prism version 6.01 for Windows (GraphPad software, La Jolla California, U.S.A., www.Graphpad.com).

## **3. RESULTS**

## 3.1. Effect of azadirachtin on larval preference

Azadirachtin treatment (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) significantly affect larval preference for untreated and azadirachtin-treated filter paper arenas (P<0.001) (Fig. 1). Larvae previously exposed to azadirachtin showed a highest aversion to this substance compared to naïve larvae (P<0.01). Larvae exhibited significant repellence to azadirachtin and prefers keeping in untreated arenas and avoid moving to the treated one (P<0.01) (Fig. 1).



#### Number of larvae

**Figure.1.** Effect of Azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on larval preference subjected to two-choice test on azadirachtin-treated surface (0.25  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated individuals in the same surface. The asterisks indicate a significant difference between individuals of the same dose in the different surface (untreated and treated).

The larval preference index (LPI) of *D. melanogaster* (Controls, LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) is shown in Fig. 2. The means values of LPI recorded in azadirachtin-treated zone  $(0.25\mu g/\mu l)$  were -0.18, -0.42 and -0.44 respectively for controls, LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>. Indeed, Mann-Whitney test showed significant differences between the control and LD<sub>25</sub> (Mann-Whitney test U = 1.00; P = 0.023), control and LD<sub>50</sub> (Mann-Whitney test U = 1.00; P = 0.023) and no significant effects between the two tested doses (Mann-Whitney test U = 11.50; P>0.05) (Fig. 2).



**Figure.2.** Larval preference index (LPI) of third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* for azadirachtin-treated surface (0.25  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated individuals.

#### 3.2. Effect of azadirachtin on food intake

Measurements of food intake and potential antifeedant effects caused by azadirachtin treatment were evaluated using spectrophotometry and shown in Fig. 3. Azadirachtin treatment of early third instars larvae caused a significant reduction of food intake, 24h after treatment, with a dose dependent relationship ( $F_{2, 14} = 25.80$ ; P<0.001). The means values recorded were 2.40 ± 0.03 µg/larva for the controls, 1.96 ± 0.13 µg/larva for the LD<sub>25</sub> and 1.36 ± 0.11 for the LD<sub>50</sub> (Fig. 4). The food ingested rate in azadirachtin-treated larvae decreased by about 30% at 45% respectively for LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub> compared with controls larvae (Fig. 3).



**Figure.3.** Effect of Azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on food intake ( $\mu$ g/larva), (m ± SE; n = 5 replicates of 5 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P<0.05).

## 3.3. Effect of azadirachtin on digestive enzyme activities

Midguts from azadirachtin-treated (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) larvae showed significantly (F<sub>2, 15</sub> = 45.01; P<0.001) lower  $\alpha$ -amylase activity in comparison to midguts from controls larvae (Fig. 4). The mean values recorded were 4.86 ± 0.15 µmol/min/mg protein for controls, 3.43 ± 0.13 µmol/min/mg protein for the LD<sub>25</sub> and 3.14 ± 0.11 µmol/min/mg protein for the LD<sub>50</sub>. Statistical analysis revealed no significant difference between the two tested doses (P>0.05) (Fig. 4).



**Figure.4.** Effect of Azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on activity of  $\alpha$ -amylase, (m ± SE; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P<0.05).

As a consequence of treatment, chitinase activity decreased in treated larvae when compared with control larvae ( $F_{2, 15} = 202.4$ ; P<0.001) (Fig. 5). The means values recorded were 0.64 ± 0.009 mmol/min/mg proteins for controls,  $0.51 \pm 0.005$  mmol/min/mg protein for the LD<sub>25</sub> and  $0.44 \pm 0.006$  mmol/min/mg protein for the LD<sub>50</sub>. Statistical analysis revealed significant difference between the two tested doses (P<0.05) (Fig. 5).



**Figure.5.** Effect of Azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on activity of chitinase, ( $m \pm SE$ ; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P<0.05).

Lipase activity increased in treated larvae as compared with control larvae (F<sub>2, 15</sub> = 80.90; P<0.001) and the highest activity was observed in larvae treated by LD<sub>50</sub> (Fig. 6). The means values recorded were  $0.18 \pm 0.002 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  protein for controls,  $0.25 \pm 0.007 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  protein for the LD<sub>25</sub> and  $0.27 \pm 0.004 \ \mu mol/min/mg$  protein for the LD<sub>50</sub>. Statistical analysis revealed no significant difference between the two tested doses (P>0.05) (Fig. 6).



**Figure.6.** Effect of Azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on activity of lipase, (m  $\pm$  SE; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P<0.05).

General protease activity was lower in azadirachtin-treated-larvae (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) as compared with the controls larvae ( $F_{2, 15} = 10.08$ ; P = 0.0017) (Fig. 7). In control series the mean values recorded were  $0.80 \pm 0.034$  mmol/min/mg protein. In treated series the mean values recorded were  $0.59 \pm 0.044$  µmol/min/mg protein for the lowest dose LD<sub>25</sub> and  $0.57 \pm$ 0.038 µmol/min/mg protein for the highest dose LD<sub>50</sub>. Statistical analysis revealed no significant difference between the two tested doses (P>0.05) (Fig. 7).



**Figure.7.** Effect of Azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on activity of protease, (m  $\pm$  SE; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P<0.05).

## 4. Discussion

In this study, we investigated the effects of azadirachtin on larval avoidance, food intake and digestive enzymes in larvae of *D. melanogaster*. Results show that larvae preferentially staying in untreated filter paper arenas rather than moving in azadirachtin-treated one. In addition, azadirachtin avoidance was more marked in larvae previously treated (24 h before experiments) with this compound as compared with naïf larvae (Controls).

Azadirachtin avoidance has also been reported in other insect species, which are apparently able to detect the insecticide on the treated surface [37, 38, 23, 24]. In addition, the impact of previous exposure on insect behaviour was reported in different insect's species [39, 40, 41]. Recently, Kilani-Morakchi et al. [29] demonstrated that larval experience with azadirachtin can alter the physiological and behavioral responses of adults flies and that the aversion (primary and secondary antifeedancy) to this compound can be conserved through the metamorphosis suggesting a memorability and avoidance learning memory. In the current experiments, the behavioral effects sparked by azadirachtin seem to appear very early after treatment (24 h) and the first experience (topical application) reinforce the avoidance effect of this compound. Results demonstrate the precocity of this learning memory which may contribute to reinforce the insecticidal activity of this biopesticide

and provide a new behavioural strategy for controlling agricultural pests.

In *Drosophila*, a complex olfactory system allows animals to avoid noxious substances [42]. Moreover, the response of larvae to toxic or bitter compounds is mediated by gustatory receptors and can lead to aversive behavior resulting in food intake cessation [43, 44]. This primary antifeedancy is mediated by the projection of neurons to the protocerebrum which acts as gustatory interneuron's relaying avoidance information to higher brain centres in *Drosophila* larvae [26, 44].

A secondary antifeedant effect including a long-term reduction in food intake, and direct detrimental effects on different insect tissues such as muscles, fat body and gut epithelial cells is also reported [3].

In the current experiments, azadirachtin-treatment of early third instar larvae reduced significantly larval food-intake at the two tested doses ( $LD_{25}$ ,  $LD_{50}$ ) as compared to the controls. Previously, azadirachtin is reported to reduce food consumption in different insect's species [20, 45, 28]. The antifeedant activity of azadirachtin varied significantly based on the concentration used and the insect species [3, 28].

Inhibition of feeding behaviour results from stimulation of deterrent receptors by azadirachtin often coupled with an inhibition of sugar receptors [46], these effects results to bad nutrition, starvation, or restriction of food intake [3]. Moreover, neuronal circuits that control feeding must integrate information on both the palatability of food source ant its nutritional content [47]; indeed, *D. melanogaster* seems to be able to discriminate food texture and integrate the chemical and physical qualities of food [48] which may contribute to avoiding azadirachtin-treated food.

In addition, a reduction of insect weight under azadirachtin treatment was reported in *Periplaneta Americana* [49], *Helicoverpa armigera* [50] *Spodoptera eridania* [28] and *D. melanogaster* [51, 17]. Growth and nutrient intake are function-ally linked processes in development and growth and body mass are directly affected by nutrient uptake. Indeed, nutrient sensing systems play an important role in the physiological adjustment process which is governed by an evolutionary conserved systemic
nutrient sensor, the insulin/insulin-like growth factor signalling (IIS) pathway during insect growth [52]. In fact, Lai et al. [51] reported that the inhibition of growth and development caused by azadirachtin in *D. melangaster*, was consistent with those caused by disruption of the insulin/insulin-like growth factor signalling IIS pathway. Moreover, Qiao et al. [53] reported the neurotoxic effect of azadirachtin which might interfere with different endocrinological and physiological actions in insects.

Recent studies indicate that regulation of feeding is not only governed by gustatory information but also by internal sensors [54, 55]. Indeed, cells located in internal organs, including the gut, fat body and the brain, express receptors that detect nutrients or their metabolically processed derivates to regulate energy homeostasis and feeding behaviors [56].

Azadirachtin was reported to cause disruption in insect physiology and its ability to digest food [28]. The results obtained in the present study showed a clear disruption of digestive enzymes activities in *D. melanogaster* larvae after azadirachtin treatment as compared to controls. In intestine, the complex mix of dietary components ingested by flies is broken down by digestive enzymes before it is absorbed by the intestinal epithelium [57]. Azadirachtin was reported to affect digestive enzymes in several insect species [58, 27, 59]. In the current study, azadirachtin treatment of early third instar larvae of *D. melanogaster* reduced significantly gut  $\alpha$ -amylase, chitinase and protease activities and increased lipasic activity.

 $\alpha$ -amylase is an enzyme that degrades starch by hydrolyzing  $\alpha$ -1,4-glucan bonds [60]. The reduction of  $\alpha$ -amylase activity under azadirachtin treatment was reported in *Periplaneta Americana* [49], *Plodia interpunctella* [61] and *Glyphodes pyloalis* [27]. Lai et al. [51] demonstrate that azadirachtin reduced the activity of  $\alpha$ -amylase in midgut of *D. melanogaster* by repressing expression of  $\alpha$ amylase gene.

Insect chitinases which belong to family of 18 glycosylhydrolases, detected in moulting fluid and gut tissues, are predicted to mediate the digestion of chitin present in exoskeleton and peritrophic membrane (PM) in the gut to chitooligosaccharides [62].

Azadirachtin reduced significantly the chitinase activity in *D. melanogaster* larvae which is in accordance with the results obtained in adults of the same species [29]. The peritrophic membrane protects the midgut from mechanical damage and toxic compounds; azadirachtin was reported to affect this PM leading to damage of cellular surfaces of the midgut [59]. In addition, in insects the expression of chitinase gene was regulated by 20E (20-hydroxyecdysone) [63], which may explain the effect observed in our results, since azadirachtin act as an antagonist of the 20E.

Lipases play a major role in storage and lipid mobilization. These enzymes are also the basic components in many of physiological process like, reproduction, growth, and defence against pathogens [64]. Our results showed that azadirachtin increased significantly the activity of lipase in the larvae midgut of *D. melanogaster*. Reduction in lipasic activity is mostly reported in literature after azadirachtin treatment [27, 64], but this effect differ with azadirachtin formulation and concentration. However, the increase in lipase activity observed in our study may be a result of an increasing of esterase activity needed for detoxification [64, 29]. In addition, according to the physiological and developmental needs of the insect, the acquired nutrients can be differentially allocated to different organs, processes and/or metabolic pathways which may explain the increase in lipase activity noted in third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* to meet the demand for energy needed for metamorphosis.

Proteases are groups of enzymes that hydrolyze proteins to amino acids based on their catalytic mechanism [65]. In the present study, compared with the controls, protease activity was significantly reduced in larvae of *D. melanogaster* after azadirachtin treatment. The reduction of protease activity under azadirachtin treatment was reported in several insects' species [49, 27]. Azadirachtin prevents the secretion of Proteolytic enzymes and thus significantly impair ability of insects to digest and absorb nitrogenous food. Timmins and Reynolds [66] showed that azadirachtin significantly influenced the trypsine activity in the midgut of *Spodoptera litura*. Recently, several studies reported that azadirachtin interfere with activities of different enzymes such as  $\alpha$ - amylase, lipase,  $\alpha$  - and  $\beta$  - glucosidases, proteases, lactate dehydrogenase and glutathione S-transferase [27, 59, 15]. These

results may reflect interference of azadirachtin with regulation of feeding and metabolism which clearly supports the secondary antifeedancy action of azadirachtin included reduction in food consumption and digestive efficiency reducing access of nutrients for biological requirements [67, 68]. Furthermore, this reduction in efficiency of conversion of ingested and digested food may be a result of an energy conversion from biomass production into induction enzymes involved in detoxification of azadirachtin [28].

In conclusion, it is evident that this study has shown that azadirachtin affects larval avoidance, food consumption and digestion in *D. melanogaster*. This rapid installation of avoidance and antifeedancy reinforce the action of azadirachtin and is useful element for integrated pest management programs that involve behavioral manipulation of insect pests, including the harmful *D. suzukii*, like push-pull strategies for protected plant resource as safer alternative to conventional synthetic insecticides.

#### Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the National Fund for Scientific Research of Algeria (Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology to Prof. N. Soltani) and by the Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research of Algeria (CNEPRU project D01N01UN23012014106 to Prof. S. Kilani-Morakchi).

### References

- J. Popp, K. Petö, J. Nagy, Pesticide productivity and food security, A review. Agron. Sustainable Dev. 33 (2013) 243-255.
- [2] H.F. Khater, Prospects of botanical biopesticides in insect pest management. Pharmacologia, 3 (2012) 641-656.
- [3] L.A.J. Mordue, E.D. Morgan, A.J. Nisbet, Azadirachtin, a natural product in insect control.
  In: Gilbert, L.I. Iatrou, K. & Gill, S.S. (Eds). Comprehensive Molecular Insect Science.
  Elsevier, Oxford, UK. 6 (2005) 117-135.
- [4] S.O. Duke, C.L. Cantrell, K.M. Meepagala, D.E. Wedge, N. Tabanca, K.K. Schrader, Natural toxins for use in pest management, Toxins. 2 (2010) 1943-1962.
- [5] D. Chandler, A.S.Bailey, G.M.Tatchell, G. Davidson, J. Greaves, W. P. Grant, The development, regulation and use of biopesticides for integrated pest management. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London Ser. B. 366 (2011) 1987-1998.
- [6] C.L. Cantrell, F.E. Dayan, S.O. Duke, Natural products as sources for new pesticides, J Natural Prod. 75 (2012) 1231-1242.
- [7] M.B. Isman, M.L. Grieneisen, Botanical insecticide research: Many publications, limited useful data, Trends Plant Sci. 19 (2014) 140-145.

- [8] S. Chaudhary, R.K. Kanwar, A. Sehgal, D.M. Cahill, C.J. Barrow, R. Sehgal, J.R. Kanwar, Progress on azadirachta indica based biopesticides in replacing synthetic toxic pesticides, Front. Plant Sci. 8 (2017) 610. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2017.00610
- [9] W.F. Barbosa, L. De Meyer, R.N. Guedes, G. Smagghe, Lethal and sublethal effects of azadirachtin on the bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* (Hymenoptera: Apidae), Ecotoxicology. 24 (2014) 130-142.
- [10] D.B. Lima, J.W.S. Melo, N.M.P. Guedes, L.M. Gontijo, R.N.C. Guedes, M.G.C. Gondim Jr, Bioinsecticide-predator interactions: Azadirachtin behavioral and reproductive impairment of the coconut mite predator *Neoseiulus baraki*, PLoS ONE. 10 (2015) e0118343. doi:10.1371.
- [11] V.M. Xavier, D. Message, M.C. Picanço, M. Chediak, P.A. Santana Júnior, R.S. Ramos, J.C. Martins, Acute toxicity and sublethal effects of botanical insecticides to Honey Bees, J Insect Sci. 15 (2015) 137.
- [12]R.C. Bernardes, H.V.V. Tomé, W.F. Barbosa, R.N.C. Guedes, M.A.P. Lima, Azadirachtin-induced antifeeding in Neotropical stingless bees, Apidologie. 48 (2017) 275-285.
- [13]L. Lucantoni, F. Giusti, M. Cristofaro, L. Pasqualini, F. Esposito, P. Lupetti, A. Habluetzel, Effects of neem extract on blood feeding, oviposition and oocyte ultrastructure in *Anopheles stephensi* Liston (Diptera:Culicidae), Tissue Cell. 38 (2006) 361-371.
- [14]E.D. Morgan, Azadirachtin, a scientific goldmine, Bioorgan Med Chem. 17 (2009) 4096-4105.
- [15]B. Boulahbel, N. Aribi, S. Kilani-Morakchi, N. Soltani, Insecticidal activity of azadirachtin on *Drosophila melanogaster* and recovery of normal status by exogenous 20hydroxyecdysone, Afr Entomol. 23 (2015) 224-233.

- [16] R. Bezzar-Bendjazia, S. Kilani-Morakchi, N. Aribi, Larval exposure to azadirachtin affects fitness and oviposition site preference of *Drosophila melanogaster*, Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 133 (2016) 85-90.
- [17] R. Bezzar-Bendjazia, S. Kilani-Morakchi, N. Aribi, Growth and molting disruption effects of azadirachtin against *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae), J. Entomol. Zool. Stud. 4 (2016) 363-368.
- [18]Z. Min-Li, C. Shin-Foon, The effects of azadirachtin on the ecydusteroid titre in the larvae of *Ostrinia furnicalis* Guenee, Applied Entomology. 103 (1987) 355-359.
- [19] D. Feder, D. Valle, H. Rembold, S.E. García, Azadirachtin-induced sterilization in mature females of *Rhodnius prolixus*, Z Naturforschung. 43 (1988) 908- 903.
- [20] L.A.J. Mordue, A. Blackwell, Azadirachtin: an update, J Insect Physiol. 39 (1993) 903-924.
- [21]Y.A. Bruce, S. Gounou, A. Chabi-Olaye, H. Smith, F. Schulthess, The effect of neem (Azadirachta indica A. Juss) oil on oviposition, development and reproductive potentials of *Sesamia calamistis* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) and *Eldana saccharina* Walker (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), Agric. For. Entomol. 6 (2004) 223-232.
- [22]D.S. Charleston, R. Kafir, M. Dicke, L.E.M. Vet, Impact of botanical extracts derived from Melia azedarach and Azadirachta indica on populations of *Plutella xylostella* and its natural enemies: a field test of laboratory findings, Biol. Control. 39 (2006) 105-114.
- [23]F. Hasan, M.S. Ansari, Toxic effects of neem-based insecticides on Pieris brassicae (Linn.), Crop Prot. 30 (2011) 502-507.
- [24] H.V.V. Tomé, J.C. Martins, S. Correea, T.V.S. Galdino, M.C. Picançon, R.N.C. Guedes, Azadirachtin avoidance by larvae and adult females of the tomato leafminer *Tuta absoluta*, Crop Prot. 46 (2013) 63-69.

- [25] S.J. Simpson, D. Raubenheimer, The nature of nutrition: a unifying framework from animal adaptation to human obesity. Princeton University Press, Princeton, (2012).
- [26] Y. Lee, S. Kim, C. Montell, Avoiding DEET through insect gustatory receptors, Neuron.
  67 (2010) 555-561.
- [27] R. Khosravi, J.J. Sendi, Effect of neem pesticide (Achook) on midgut enzymatic activities and selected biological compounds in the hemolymph of lesser mulberry pyralid, *Glyphodes pyloalis* Walker (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), J. Plant Prot. Res. 5 (2013) 238-247.
- [28]H.K. Shannag, J.L. Capinera, N.M. Freihat, Effects of neem-based insecticides on consumption and utilization of food in larvae of *Spodoptera eridania* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). J. Insect Sci. 15 (2015) 152.
- [29] S. Kilani-Morakchi, R. Bezzar-Bendjazia, M.Ferdenache, N. Aribi, Preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects food selection and digestive enzymes in adults of *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera : Drosophilidae). Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. (2017) http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2017.06.004.
- [30] R. Wong, M.D.W. Piper, B. Wertheim, L. Partridge, Quantification of food intake in Drosophila. PLoS ONE. 4 (2009) e6063.doi:10.1371/
- [31] M.M. Bradford, A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities on protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding, Anal. Biochem. 72 (1976) 248-254.
- [32] P. Bernfeld, amylase  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . Method. Enzymol. 1 (1955) 149-151.
- [33] C.R. Shen, Y.S. Chen, C.J. Yang, J.K. Chen, C.L. Liu, Colloid chitin azure is a dispersible, low-cost substrate for chitinase measurements in a sensitive, fast, reproducible assay. Biomol. Screen. 15 (2010) 213-217.
- [34] G.L. Miller, Use of dinitrosalicylic acid reagent for determination of reducing sugar. Anal.Chem. 31 (1959) 426-428.

- [35]T. Tsujita, H. Ninomiya, H. Okuda, p- nitrophenyl 865. butyrate hydrolyzing activity of hormone-sensitive lipase 866 from bovine adipose tissue. Lipid Research. 30 (1989) 9971004.
- [36] F.L. García-Carreño, N. Haard, Characterization of protease classes in Langostilla (*Pleuroncodes planipes*) and crayfish (*Pacifastacus astacus*) extracts. Food. Biochem. 17 (1993) 97-113.
- [37]D.L. Ma, G. Gordh, M.P. Zalucki, Biological effects of azadirachtin on *Helicoverpa armigera* (Hübner) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) fed on cotton and artificial diet, Aust. J. Entomol. 39 (2000) 301-304.
- [38]E.M.G. Cordeiro, A.S. Corrêa, M. Venzon, R.N.C. Guedes, Insecticide survival and behavioral avoidance in the laccewings *Chrysoperla externa* and *Ceraeochrysa cubana*, Chemosphere. 81 (2010)1352-1357.
- [39] R. Dukas, Evolutionary biology of insect learning, Annu. Rev. Entomol. 53 (2008) 145-160.
- [40] D. J. Blackiston, E. Silva Casey., M.R. Weiss, Retention of memory through metamorphosis: can a moth remember what it learned as a caterpillar, PLoS One. 3(2008), e1736. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001736
- [41] J. Flaven-Pouchon, T. Garcia, D. Abed-Vieillard, J.P. Farine, J.F. Ferveur, Transient and permanent experience with fatty acids changes *Drosophila melanogaster* preference and fitness, PLoS ONE 9 (2014) e92352doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0092352.
- [42] M.C. Stensmyr, H.K.M. Dweck, A. Farhan, I. Ibba, A. Strutz, L. Mukunda, J. Linz, V. Grabe, K. Steck, S. Lavista-Lianos, D. Wicher, S. Sachse, M. Knaden, P.G.Becher, Y.Seki, B. Hansson, A conserved dedicated olfactory circuit for detecting harmful microbes in *Drosophila*, Cell. 151(2012) 1345–1357.

- [43] S. Marella, W. Fischler, P. Kong, S. Asgarian, E. Rueckert, K. Scott, Imaging taste responses in the fly brain reveals a functional map of taste category and behavior, Neuron. 49 (2006) 285-95.
- [44]S. Hückesfeld, M. Peters, M.J. Pankratz, Central relay of bitter taste to the protocerebrum by peptidergic interneurons in the *Drosophila* brain, Nat Commun. 7 (2016) 12796. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12796.
- [45] V. H. Guerrini, Effect of azadirachtin on *Damalina ovis* in sheep, J. Vet. Res. 4 (2000) 133-138.
- [46] M. Simmonds, W. Blaney, Azadirachtin: advances in understanding its activity as an antifeedant. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 80 (1996) 23-26.
- [47] J.W. Stafford, K.M. Lynd, A.Y. Jung, M.D. Gordon, Integration of Taste and Calorie Sensing in Drosophila, J. Neurosci. 32 (2012) 14767-14774.
- [48] J.A. Sánchez-Alcañiz, G. Zappia, F. Marion-Poll, R. Benton, A mechanosensory receptor required for food texture detection in *Drosophila*, <u>Nat Commun</u>. 8 (2017) 14192.
- [49] P.A. Paranagama, K.A.B. CH. Kodikara, H.M.I. Nishantha, A.M. Mubarak, Effect of azadirachtin on growth and the activity of midgut enzymes of the cockroach *Periplaneta Americana*, J Natl Sci Found. 29 (2001) 69-79.
- [50] S. Ahmad, M.S, Ansari, M. Muslim, Toxic effects of neem based insecticides on the fitness of *Helicoverpa armigera* (Hübner), Crop Prot. 68 (2015) 72-78.
- [51]D. Lai, X. Jin, H. Wang, M. Yuan, H. Xu. Gene expression profile change and growth inhibition in *Drosophila* larvae treated with azadirachtin, <u>Biotechnol</u>. 185 (2014) 51-56.
- [52] J.M. Tennessen, C.S. Thummel, Coordinating growth and maturation insights from *Drosophila*. Current. Biology. 21 (2011) R750-R757.

- [53] J. Qiao, X. Zou, D. Lai, Y. Yan, Q. Wang, W. Li, S., Deng, H. Xu, H. Gu, Azadirachtin blocks the calcium channel and modulates the cholinergic miniature synaptic current in the central nervous system of *Drosophila*, Pest. Manag. Sci. 70(2014) 1041-1047.
- [54] M. Fujita, T. Tanimura, Drosophila evaluates and learns the nutritional value of sugars, Curr Biol. 21(2011) 751–755.
- [55] N. Toshima, T. Tanimura, Taste preference for amino acids is dependent on internal nutritional state in *Drosophila melanogaster*, J. Exp. Biol. 215(2012) 2827-2832.
- [56] T. Miyamoto, J. Slone, X. Song, H. Amrein, A fructose receptor functions as a nutrient sensor in the Drosophila brain, Cell. 151 (2012) 1113–1125.
- [57]B. Lemaitre, I. Miguel-Aliaga, The digestive tract of *Drosophila melanogaster*, Annu Rev Genet. 47 (2013) 377-404.
- [58] A. Anuradha, R.S. Annadurai, Biochemical and molecular evidence of azadirachtin binding to insect actins, Curr. Sci. 95 (2008) 1588-1593.
- [59]S. Senthil-Nathan, Physiological and biochemical effect of neem and other plant secondary metabolites against Lepidoptera insects, Front. Physiol. 4 (2013) 1-17.
- [60] W. R. Terra, C. Ferreira, Biochemistry of digestion. In: Gilbert, LI, Iatrou K, Gill SS (eds), Comprehensive Molecular Insect Science. Biochem. Mol. Biol., Vol. 4 (2005) Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 171-224.
- [61]K. Rharrabe, H. Amri, N. Bouayad, F. Sayah, Effects of azadirachtin on post embryonic development, energy reserves and α-amylase activity of *Plodia interpunctella* Hubner (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae). Stored. Prod. Res, 44 (2008) 290-294.
- [62]H. Merzendorfer, L. Zimoch, Chitin metabolism in insects: Structure, function and regulation of chitin synthases and chitinases. J. Exp. Biol. 206 (2003) 4393-4412.

- [63] W.J. Yang, K.K. Xu, R.Y. Zhang, W. Dou, J.J. Wang, Transcriptional regulation of a chitinase gene by 20-hydroxyecdysone and starvation in the oriental fruit fly, *Bactrocera dorsalis*, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 14 (2013) 20048-20063.
- [64] M. Nasr, J.J. Sendi, S. Moharramipour, A. Zibaee, Evaluation of Origanum vulgare L. essential oil as a source of toxicant and an inhibitor of physiological parameters in diamondback moth, *Plutella xylustella* L. (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences (2015), <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jssas.2015.06.002</u>.
- [65] S. Pascual-ruiz, L. Carrillo, F. Alvarez-alfagemeyy, M. Ruiz, P. Castanera, F. Ortego, The effects of different prey regimes on the proteolytic digestion of nymphs of the spined soldier bug, *Podisus maculiventris* (Hemiptera: Pentatomidae), Bull. Entomol. Res. 99 (2009) 487-491.
- [66] W.A. Timmins, S.E. Reynolds, Azadirachtin inhibit secretion of trypsine in midgut of Manduca sexta caterpillars: reduced growth due to impaired protein digestion, Entomol. Exp. Appl. 63 (1992) 47-54.
- [67] R. Jbilou, H. Amri, A. Bouayad, A. Ghailani, A. Ennabili, F. Sayah, Insecticidal effects of extracts of seven plant species on larval development, a-amylase activity and off spring production of *Tribolium castaneum* (Herbst) (Insecta: Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae), Bioresour. Technol. 99 (2008) 959-964.
- [68]G.D. Almeida, J.C. Zanuncio, S. Senthil-Nathan, D. Pratissoli, R.A. Polanczyk, D.O. Azevedo, J.E. Serrão, Cytotoxicity in the midgut and fat body of *Anticarsia gemmatalis* (Lepidoptera: Geometridae) larvae exerted by neem seeds extract, Invertebr. Surv. 11 (2014) 79-86.



#### 4.1 Effets sur la fécondité et le choix d'oviposition

La ponte est une activité complexe et critique dans le cycle de vie d'un insecte, avec une variété de facteurs qui influencent à la fois sa physiologie et son comportement. Le choix du site de ponte est un facteur important pour la survie et la sécurité de la progéniture, dès lors que celle-ci exploite, au moins transitoirement, les ressources disponibles sur ce site ou son voisinage immédiat (Yang *et al.*, 2008).

Plusieurs facteurs peuvent influencer la préférence d'oviposition des femelles : la qualité et l'abondance de la nourriture, la densité des œufs, l'âge (Minkenberg *et al.*, 1992), la présence de prédateurs, la végétation environnante, les indices chimiques des congénères (Bentley & Day, 1989 ; Mokany & Shine, 2003), l'apprentissage social (Sarin & Dukas, 2009), ou encore l'expérience antérieure (Papaj & Prokopy, 1989).

Si la ponte représente un indicateur des conditions favorables au développement de la descendance, elle est également utilisée pour détecter l'aversion envers les composés toxiques pour les larves et les adultes (Possidente *et al.*, 1999). De plus, de nombreuses études ont utilisé des modèles de ponte pour distinguer des différences subtiles dans les préférences des plantes hôtes, ce qui a permis de mieux comprendre les comportements écologiques et physiologiques de différentes espèces de drosophiles (Ryan *et al.*, 2009 ; Olazcuaga *et al.*, 2019).

Chez *Drosophila melanogaster*, la préférence des femelles pour la ponte peut être influencée par l'interaction sociale, la température, la texture ou la couleur du milieu de ponte (Battesti *et al.*, 2015). De même, une exposition préalable à des aliments ou composés particuliers peut également influencer le choix des femelles (Abed-Vieillard *et al.*, 2014 ; Flaven-Pouchon *et al.*, 2014).

Cette capacité des femelles de *D. melanogaster* à évaluer le meilleur site de ponte dépend à la fois de circuits neuronaux régulant ce choix comportemental, mais aussi des expériences sensorielles de l'insecte (Sarin & Dukas, 2009 ; Anagnostou *et al.*, 2010 ; Miller *et al.*, 2011).

Notre étude a démontré qu'une seule application topique d'azadirachtine ( $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ ) sur des larves L3 de *D. melanogaster* réduit le nombre d'œufs pondus chez les adultes ayant

survécu au traitement. Cet effet négatif sur la fécondité des femelles a été noté, non seulement chez les individus exposés de la génération parentale, mais aussi par des effets transgénérationnels sur les individus de la première génération F1 n'ayant jamais été directement exposés à l'insecticide.

L'impact de l'azadirachtine sur la reproduction a été observé chez différentes espèces d'insectes. Une réduction de la fécondité et de la fertilité après un traitement à l'azadirachtine a été signalée chez de nombreux insectes, notamment *Spodoptera littoralis* (Pineda *et al.*, 2009), *Dysdercus cingulatus* (Pandey & Tiwari, 2011), *Blatta orientalis* (Tine *et al.*, 2012), *Helicoverpa armigera* (Ahmad *et al.*, 2013), *Tuta absoluta* (Tomé *et al.*, 2013), *Galleria mellonella* (Er *et al.*, 2017) et *D. melanogaster* (Boulehbal *et al.*, 2015; Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*, 2016; Oulhaci *et al.*, 2018). Cette réduction a été corrélée à l'action négative de l'azadirachtine sur la synthèse des vitellogénines et/ou leur incorporation par les ovocytes (Boulehbal *et al.*, 2015).

Chez les insectes, les étapes du développement (mues, métamorphoses) et la reproduction sont contrôlées et coordonnées par le système neuroendocrinien qui sécrète les hormones nécessaires dont les ecdystéroïdes et l'hormone juvénile (Gilbert *et al.*, 2002 ; Lafont *et al.*, 2005 ; Gruntenko *et al.*, 2009 ; Hiruma & Kaneko, 2013).

Chez les larves, l'hormone juvénile (JH) joue un rôle de « *status quo* » qui implique la suppression de la métamorphose prématurée et la détermination de la mue induite par les ecdystéroïdes en tant que larve (Truman & Riddiford, 2007 ; Jindra *et al.*, 2013 ; Dubrovsky & Bernardo, 2014 ; Rauschenbach *et al.*, 2017).

Chez les adultes, l'hormone juvénile joue un rôle gonadotropique et contrôle la reproduction en association avec l'hormone de mue, dont la forme active est la 20hydroxyecdysone (20E). L'JH produite dans les *corpus allatum* stimule la biosynthèse des ecdystéroïdes dans l'ovaire. Les ecdystéroïdes produits dans le follicule ovarien stimulent la biosynthèse de la vitellogénine dans le corps adipeux ; la vitellogénine est ensuite captée par les ovaires à partir de l'hémolymphe (Raikhel *et al.,* 2004 ; Toivonen & Partridge, 2009). L'équilibre entre JH et 20E est d'une importance capitale pour un bon déroulement des événements de la reproduction.

Chez les insectes, y compris la drosophile, l'JH est la 20E sont partie intégrante des mécanismes neuroendocrinien liés à la réponse au stress (Rauschenbach *et al.*,1995 ;

Cymborowski, 1991) et jouent un rôle clé dans l'adaptation des insectes aux facteurs de stress en influençant le processus de reproduction (Gruntenko & Rauschenbach, 2008). En effet, et en plus des neuropeptides spécifiques à action prothoracicotrope, allatotrope et allatostatique, le métabolisme de l'JH et de la 20E peut être régulé par des amines biogènes tels que l'octopamine (OA) et la dopamine (DA) (Gruntenko & Rauschenbach, 2008).

Chez *D. melanogaster*, en plus des ecdystéroïdes et de l'hormone juvénile, les facteurs de signalisation de type insuline/insuline-like growth factor sont essentiels à la reproduction (Toivonen & Partridge, 2009). La vitellogénèse chez les femelles est stimulée sous l'action de l'JH et conduit au développement des ovocytes. L'action synergique de l'JH, de la 20-hydroxyecdysone (20E) et des voies de signalisation insuline/insuline-like growth factor contrôle l'homéostasie énergétique nécessaire à la formation des ovocytes (Toivonen & Partridge, 2009). Par conséquent, la réduction de la fécondité enregistrée au cours de nos expérimentations, peut être liée à l'action antagoniste de l'azadirachtine sur les principales hormones contrôlant le processus de reproduction (JH/ecdystéroïdes) (Navarro-Roldán & Gemeno, 2017).

Chez *Anopheles stephensi*, le traitement à l'azadirachtine a entraîné une anomalie de la structure des ovaires avec un arrêt complet de l'ovogenèse, une altération de la vitellogénèse et de la formation de l'enveloppe vitelline ainsi qu'une dégénérescence des cellules folliculaires (Lucantoni *et al.*, 2006). De plus, le traitement à l'azadirachtine a induit chez *Heteracris littoralis* un rétrécissement complet des ovaires avec suppression de la croissance des ovocytes, ainsi qu'une désintégration et une destruction des cellules folliculaires et des mitochondries (Ghazawi *et al.*, 2007).

L'azadirachtine réduit le succès de l'accouplement chez *D. melanogaster* et a un effet négatif sur le nombre et la taille des cystes et des ovocytes (Oulhaci *et al.*, 2018). Le traitement à l'azadirachtine affecte également la quantité de nourriture ingérée par cette espèce et l'activité des enzymes digestives dans l'intestin moyen, ce qui peut affecter l'ovogenèse et la vitellogénèse, puisque les taux d'ecdysone et d'JH sont affectés par la disponibilité des nutriments qui agissent comme régulateur positif sur la voie de l'insuline pour conférer aux ovaires la signalisation nécessaire à une ovogenèse normale (Badisco *et al.*, 2013 ; Jeong *et al.*, 2019).

L'azadirachtine altère également le cytosquelette en prévenant la formation de nouveaux filaments d'actine conduisant à une perturbation de la division cellulaire et à un blocage des processus de transport. Ce phénomène pourrait interférer avec le passage des nutriments des cellules nourricières vers l'ovocyte (Mordue *et al.*, 2010).

Nos résultats révèlent que le traitement des larves (L3 du début de stade) de *D. melanogaster* à l'azadirachtine (DL<sub>25</sub>, DL<sub>50</sub>) influence le choix du site de ponte des femelles survivantes au traitement et ce sur deux générations successives. Le traitement larvaire a augmenté l'effet répulsif de l'azadirachtine. En effet, les femelles testées de *D. melanogaster* ont préféré le milieu témoin pour leur ponte en évitant celui traité à l'azadirachtine et ce pour les deux doses testées. Le faible taux de ponte des mouches non exposées "naïves" sur le milieu traité à l'azadirachtine peut être expliqué par l'effet répulsif, bien connu, de l'azadirachtine ainsi que d'autres insecticides à base de Neem, tel qu'il a été rapporté par Silva *et al.*, (2012) chez la mouche commune *Ceratitis capitata*. Valencia-Botín *et al.*, (2004) suggèrent également que la propriété répulsive des extraits de Neem est le principal facteur responsable de la réduction du nombre d'œufs chez la mouche mexicaine *Anastrepha ludens*.

Les mouches ayant déjà été traitées à l'azadirachtine ont une aversion accrue à ce biopesticide par rapport aux mouches "naïves". De nombreuse études ont révélé qu'un traitement des sites de ponte à l'azadirachtine, entrainé un effet répulsif, dissuasif ou inhibiteur de la ponte chez plusieurs espèces d'insectes qui peuvent détecter le bioinsecticide sur une surface traitée (Cordeiro *et al.*, 2010 ; Tomé *et al.*, 2013 ; Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*, 2016). Cette inhibition du comportement d'oviposition peut avoir un impact précieux dans la lutte contre les insectes nuisibles.

De nombreuses études récentes ont démontré que le choix du site de ponte peut être influencé par l'expérience sensorielle individuelle et modifiée en fonction d'une expérience larvaire ou adulte (Dukas, 2008 ; Sarin & Dukas, 2009 ; Abed-Vieillard *et al.*,2014 ; Anderson *et al.*, 2013 ; Abed-Vieillard & Cortot, 2016). La capacité des insectes à conserver la mémoire d'une exposition précoce affectant la réponse des adultes a été signalée (Dukas, 2008 ; Gerber *et al.*, 2009 ; Flaven-Pouchon*et al.*, 2014 ; Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*, 2016).

Nos résultats ont également démontré que les effets négatifs d'une seule exposition larvaire à l'azadirachtine peuvent être transmis à la génération F1 *via* un effet transgénérationnel. Les substances toxiques pour l'environnement telles que les insecticides

sont capables de provoquer des altérations épigénétiques qui peuvent être transmises aux générations suivantes (Vandegehuchte *et al.*, 2011). Cela peut expliquer la fécondité réduite et l'évitement de la ponte chez notre génération non exposée (F1).

### 4.2 Effets sur le développement et la survie des adultes

Notre étude a démontré que l'azadirachtine ( $DL_{25}$  et  $DL_{50}$ ) appliqué au début du troisième stade larvaire de la génération parentale peut affecter négativement divers traits de vie de *D. melanogaster*, de manière dose-dépendante, en réduisant significativement le nombre de larves, de pupes et d'adultes chez la génération parentale (exposée).

Nos résultats montrent également que l'exposition préimaginale à l'azadirachtine induit un sex-ratio biaisé en faveur des mâles de *D. melanogaster* et ceci uniquement pour la génération parentale, avec une relation dose-dépendante.

En effet, l'azadirachtine est connue pour réduire les taux de pupaison et d'émergence des adultes de nombreux insectes comme *Aphis glycines* (Kraiss *et al.*, 2008), *Plodia interpunctella* (Lynn *et al.*, 2012), *Aedes aegypti* (Koodalingam *et al.*, 2014), *H. arnigera* (Ahmad *et al.*, 2015) et *D. melanogaster* (Anjum *et al.*, 2010) affectant ainsi leur cycle de vie.

L'impact négatif de l'azadirachtine sur les stades immatures était attendu compte tenu de son action comme perturbateur de croissance des insectes en supprimant les pics de JH et 20E hémolymphatique (Gäde & Hoffmann, 2005). De plus, l'azadirachtine est connu pour provoquer une dégénérescence des noyaux des différentes glandes endocrines (glande prothoracique, *corpus allatum* et *corpus cardiacum*) qui contrôlent la mue et la métamorphose des insectes ce qui peut conduire à une perturbation généralisée du système neuroendocrinien (Quinn *et al.*, 2012).

Nos résultats montrent que le biopesticide prolonge également de manière significative la durée du développement des larves et des pupes, ce qui entraîne un retard important dans le développement des stades immatures. Ce retard considérable dans les transitions larve-pupe et pupe-adulte a été également rapporté chez *Culex pipiens* traité à l'azadirachtine (Alouani *et al.*, 2009). Un retard dans la formation des pupes a été rapporté par Lai *et al.* (2014) après traitement des larves du troisième stade de *D. melanogaster* à l'azadirachtine. Ce retard serait corrélé à une modification de l'expression des gènes contrôlant la régulation hormonale (Lai

*et al.*, 2014) ce qui pourrait expliquer les perturbations du développement observées au cours de nos expérimentations.

De plus, le traitement induit des aberrations morphologiques chez les différents stades de développement (larves, pupes et adultes) et ce uniquement chez la génération exposée (génération P). Plusieurs anomalies ont été enregistrées pour les différents stades de développement dont : larves brûlées, larves et pupes non complètes, ailes déformées, taille corporelle plus petite et abdomen déformé. Les malformations enregistrées conduisent à la mort de l'insecte.

Chez les insectes, la succession des événements (mues, métamorphoses) au cours du développement est contrôlée et coordonnée par le système neuroendocrinien qui sécrète les hormones nécessaires dont les ecdystéroïdes et l'hormone juvénile (Gilbert *et al.*, 2002 ; Lafont *et al.*, 2005 ; Gruntenko *et al.*, 2009 ; Hiruma *et al.*, 2013).

La biosynthèse et la sécrétion des ecdystéroïdes sont assurées par les glandes prothoraciques, au cours des stades post-embryonnaires, sous l'effet d'une neurohormone prothoracicotrope (PPTH) (Gäde & Hoffmann, 2005). L'ecdysone, libéré dans l'hémolymphe, est rapidement converti en 20-hydroxyecdysone (20E) dans les différents organes périphériques (Marchal *et al.*, 2010). La 20E contrôle l'embryogénèse mais aussi le développement post-embryonnaire en initiant les différentes mues, et ce en agissant sur l'expression de gènes spécifiques *via* sa liaison aux récepteurs nucléaires des ecdystéroïdes (Kozlova & Thummel, 2003).

Chez la Drosophile, des pics de sécrétion de la 20 E sont observés 12h après le début de l'embryogénèse, avant chaque mue larvaire, avant le passage au stade pupal et durant la phase terminale de la différentiation des structures adultes. La PPTH est exprimée au cours du troisième stade larvaire de manière cyclique toutes les 8 heures ; avec un pic important environ 12 h avant la fin du 3ème stade larvaire qui déclenche la formation du puparium et le début de la phase pré-pupal. 12 heures plus tard, un pic d'hormone plus modeste met fin au stade pré-pupal et déclenche la pupaison (Fig. 35). Le stade pupal se caractérise par le pic d'hormone le plus important, corrélé au développement des structures adultes (Quinn *et al.*, 2012).



*Figure 35.* Évolution des quantités d'hormone juvénile, d'ecdysone et de PTTH au cours des stades de développement de D.melanogaster (Rewitz et al., 2013).

Les corps allates (*corpora allatum*) sont à l'origine de la biosynthèse de l'hormone juvénile dont la sécrétion est régulée par des neuropeptides activateurs, allatotropines ou inhibiteurs, allatostatines (Bellés & Maestro, 2005). L'JH libérée dans l'hémolymphe est transportée vers les tissus cibles grâce à des protéines vectrices (JH-binding proteins) qui la protègent contre les actions des hydrolases (Dubrovsky, 2005).

L'hormone juvénile joue un rôle important dans le développement où elle maintient les caractères larvaires et inhibe la métamorphose (Dubrovsky, 2005). Chez la drosophile, les taux d'JH sont élevés au cours des premiers stades de développement, décroissent au dernier stade larvaire pour atteindre des quantités infimes lors du stade pupal ; les taux d'JH enregistrent un pic à l'émergence adulte nécessaire au démarrage de la vitellogenèse (Kozlova & Thummel, 2003 ; Dubrovsky, 2005).

L'équilibre entre ces deux hormones est donc essentiel au bon déroulement du développement des insectes, car toute interférence de ces hormones avec des sources exogènes d'agonistes ou antagonistes, peut conduire à une perturbation du développement de l'insecte (Dhadialla *et al.*, 2010 ; Smagghe *et al.*, 2012).

L'azadirachtine, en altérant la croissance et le processus de mue de plusieurs insectes, compromet leur survie. Selon Lai *et al.* (2014), l'azadirachtine réprime l'expression de différents gènes liés à la régulation hormonale, ce qui pourrait expliquer les aberrations du développement observées au cours de nos expérimentations. Il affecte également l'apport en nutriments et le métabolisme de la drosophile, compromettant les signaux nutritionnels qui entraînent une diminution du poids des insectes et de leur taux de croissance, ce qui se traduit par une réduction de la taille du corps et a un impact sur la survie. Le sex-ratio biaisé en faveur des mâles sous l'effet de l'azadirachtine a également été rapporté dans la littérature (Arnason *et al.*, 1985 ; Schneider *et al.*, 2004)

De plus, ce biopesticide est connu pour provoquer des changements structurels dégénératifs des noyaux dans toutes les glandes endocrines responsables du contrôle de la mue chez les insectes, ce qui contribuerait à une perturbation généralisée de la fonction neuroendocrine (Mordue *et al.*, 2010).

Plusieurs études ont rapporté l'inhibition de la synthèse des ecdystéroïdes après traitement par l'azadirachtine (Min-Li & Shin-Foon 1987 ; Feder *et al.*, 1988). Selon Anuradha *et al.* (2007), l'azadirachtine induit chez *D. melanogaster*, une dépolymérisation de l'actine conduisant à l'arrêt de l'activité cellulaire et à l'apoptose.

Les résultats obtenus pour la génération parentale (exposée) après traitement par application topique à l'azadirachtine, des larves L3 du début de stade de *D. melanogaster*, montrent une augmentation de la mortalité des stades immatures avec une relation dose dépendante. La transition larve-pupe est affectée par le traitement et le stade pupal semble être le stade le plus sensible conduisant à une inhibition de la mue adulte.

La génération F1 (non exposée) présente des effets moins marqués comparativement à la génération P. Toutefois, le nombre d'individus des séries témoins reste très élevé comparativement aux traitées. Ces résultats peuvent être expliqués par la possibilité d'une sélection directionnelle prenant place durant l'exposition à l'azadirachtine. Les individus les plus faibles ne pouvant survivre ou sont moins robustes et seul les individus les plus forts peuvent se reproduire.

Les résultats obtenus au cours de notre étude démontrent aussi qu'une seule application d'azadirachtine peut réduire de manière significative la survie des mouches sur deux générations successives (P : exposée et F1 : non exposée) alors que les insectes ont montré un

net rétablissement des taux de survie chez la deuxième génération (F2). Ces résultats reflètent des effets à long terme et différés à travers les stades de développement et les générations. Cet effet constant sur les deux premières générations peut être considéré comme un avantage pour la lutte, en compensant la photo-dégradation rapide bien connue et la faible persistance de l'azadirachtine dans l'environnement. L'action négative de l'azadirachtine sur le développement et la survie a été rapportée chez différentes espèces d'insectes (Hossain & poehling, 2006 ; Das *et al.*, 2006 ; Hasan & Ansari, 2011 ; Ahmad *et al.*, 2013 ; Tomé *et al.*, 2013 ; Ahmad *et al.*, 2015 ; Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*, 2016).

#### 4.3 Effets sur la perception olfactive et gustative et le comportement locomoteur

La chimio-sensation est considérée comme l'un des sens les plus primaires. Comme tous les organismes vivants, les insectes utilisent les systèmes sensoriels pour percevoir les stimuli environnementaux et transmettre les réponses comportementales (Chen *et al.*, 2019 ; Xu *et al.*, 2019). Cette perception des substances chimiques présente dans l'environnement contribue à des comportements de survie cruciaux dont l'accouplant, la ponte des œufs, l'évitement des substances toxiques et entraîne une préférence de consommation alimentaires appropriées (Vosshall & Stocker, 2007 ; Bantel & Tessier, 2016).

Le système chimio-sensoriel comprend le système olfactif, qui est utilisé pour la détection des substances chimiques volatiles (odeurs), et le système gustatif (goût), qui permet la détection des composés solubles (Ebbs & Amrein, 2007 ; Bantel &Tessier, 2016 ; Chin *et al.*, 2018). Les deux modalités sensorielles stimulent les réponses neurologiques qui sont traitées et décodées par le cerveau pour produire le comportement attractif ou répulsif approprié (Vosshall & Stocker, 2007).

La capacité des insectes à modifier leur comportement en fonction d'une expérience antérieure est essentielle à leur survie (Chia & Scott, 2020). Des preuves de plus en plus nombreuses ont souligné un rôle essentiel de l'expérience préimaginale dans le comportement des insectes à l'âge adulte (Caubet *et al*, 1992 ; Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*, 2016)

De plus, l'exposition à des facteurs de stress tels que les pesticides peut entraîner toute une série d'effets comportementaux qui peuvent être transmis à la génération suivante (Lu *et al.*, 2020). Notre équipe a récemment démontré que *D. melanogaster* peut moduler son comportement sur la base d'expériences antérieures avec l'azadirachtine (larves du troisième stade) induisant une modification de la ponte, de la préférence du site d'oviposition, et de la

sélection des aliments en augmentant l'aversion des adultes envers ce biopesticide (Bezzarbendjazia *et al.*, 2016 ; Kilani-Morakchi *et al.*, 2017).

En effet, ces décisions sont souvent influencées par l'expérience sensorielle individuelle qui peut laisser une empreinte dans la vie adulte (Dukas, 2008 ; Abed-Vieillard *et al.*, 2014) modifiant ainsi la réponse comportementale en fonction d'un apprentissage induit par l'expérience par des modifications neurophysiologiques chez les insectes (Dukas, 2008 ; Little *et al.*, 2019).

Nos résultats montrent qu'une exposition larvaire unique à l'azadirachtine a un impact négatif sur l'olfaction, la gustation et la locomotion des adultes de *D. melanogaster*. Dans nos expériences d'olfactométrie, les mouches de la génération parentale des deux sexes, traitées précédemment au stade larvaire, ont montré une aversion au biopesticide en évitant l'odeur de l'azadirachtine. Néanmoins, aucun effet n'est noté sur les mouches témoins et sur la génération F1.

Ces résultats corroborent largement les conclusions d'études antérieures, qui montrent que l'exposition à l'azadirachtine affecte la réponse olfactive des mouches et a donc des effets potentiels sur la préférence alimentaire (Kilani-Morakchi *et al.*, 2017). Nos résultats suggèrent que les mouches adultes pourraient générer une mémoire d'aversion olfactive pour éviter l'azadirachtine.

En effet, l'apprentissage et la mémoire olfactif sont principalement contrôlés par les corps pédonculés (CP) (Tanaka *et al.*, 2008 ; Zhu *et al.*, 2020 ; Silva *et al.*, 2020). L'information olfactive est reçue par les CP *via* les neurones de projections provenant des lobes antennaires (De Belle & Heisenberg, 1994 ; Wolf *et al.*, 1998). Chez *D. melanogaster*, un circuit neuronal centré au niveau des CP est crucial pour la formation et le stockage de la mémoire des odeurs (Aso *et al.*, 2012). Les principaux neurones des CP sont représentés par des cellules de Kenyon qui reçoivent un signal dopaminergique médiateur d'un renforcement aversif pour la formation de la mémoire olfactive (Qin *et al.*, 2012).

Chez la drosophile, malgré un remaniement drastique du système chimio-sensoriel périphérique et central lors de la métamorphose, certaines structures centrales, comme le lobe gamma des CP sont relativement conservées du stade larvaire au stade adulte (Armstrong *et al.*, 1998 ; Blackiston *et al.*, 2008 ; Aso *et al.*, 2014). Il est donc possible que le lien entre l'expérience larvaire et le comportement adulte puisse être lié au maintien de structures

neuronales des CP après la métamorphose, permettant la persistance dans le cerveau adulte d'une mémoire formée au stade larvaire (Tully *et al.*, 1994 ; Lee *et al.*, 1999). En effet, différentes études récentes soutiennent l'hypothèse selon laquelle l'expérience larvaire peut affecter le comportement des adultes et générer une mémoire d'apprentissage à travers les étapes du développement (Gerber *et al.*, 2009 ; Flaven-Pouchon*et al.*, 2014 ; Abed-Vieillard *et al.*, 2014 ; Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*, 2016 ; Ramírez *et al.*, 2016).

De plus, selon Pham & Ray 2015, l'aversion olfactive semble être conservée chez les différentes espèces de drosophiles, ce qui permet de généraliser l'action de l'azadirachtine à d'autres espèces nuisibles de drosophiles telles que *Drosophila suzukii*.

Nos données révèlent également que l'azadirachtine peut réduire de manière significative la réponse gustative, en inhibant le réflexe d'extension du proboscis des mouches et que l'expérience préimaginale peut renforcer cette inhibition.

Nos résultats d'électrophysiologie montrent que l'azadirachtine est détecté uniquement par les sensilles de type (S) et ces résultats sont en accord avec Weiss *et al.*, 2011. Nos résultats révélent étagement que l'intensité de réponse dépend de la concentration de la molécule. Les sensilles gustatives répondent à des doses plus faibles d'azadirachtine et l'intensité des réponses est très faible à la dose la plus élevée. La spécificité de réponse des mouches traités a été confirmé en comparant l'intensité des réponses des mouches témoins et traités. Les mouches traitées répondent plus à l'azadirachtine contrairement à la caféine qui ne révèle aucune différence par rapport aux témoins

Une étude récente a démontré que l'azadirachtine A pourrait inhiber de manière significative le réflexe d'extension du proboscis chez *D. melanogaster* (yan *et al.*, 2017). L'azadirachtine est perçue par les mouches comme une substance amère et son action anti-appétante primaire est médiée par des chimiorécepteurs de contact responsables du comportement d'aversion au niveau des pièces buccales et des pattes de l'insecte, bloquant les sites des récepteurs glucidiques responsables de la stimulation de l'alimentation, ce qui conduit à une inhibition de l'extension du proboscis.

Chez les Drosophiles, les circuits de signalisation des CP influencent les comportements innés, et certaines composantes des CP sont nécessaires à la formation de la mémoire gustative tandis que les PER fournissent une lecture comportementale claire à la perception gustative (Chia & Scott, 2020). Par conséquent, les CP semblent représenter le

centre de la mémoire dans le cerveau de la mouche et sont considérés comme un site central pour la mémoire chimiosensorielle (Masek & Keene, 2016). Cependant, la manière avec laquelle les circuits neuronaux influencent le comportement inné d'extension du proboscis reste peu connue (Chia & Scott, 2020).

Les amines biogènes, l'octopamine (OA), la sérotonine (5-HT) et la dopamine (DA) sont nécessaires à la transmission des signaux de renforcement de nombreux types de mémoire associative chez la drosophile (Masek & Keene, 2016). Les apports d'octopamine aux CP contribuent au conditionnement olfactif, aversif ou appétitif (Waddell, 2013) ; la sérotonine est nécessaire à la régulation de la locomotion et du comportement alimentaire ainsi que pour l'apprentissage et la mémoire (Bacqué-Cazenave *et al.*, 2020) ; alors que la dopamine est impliquée dans plusieurs rôles dans les fonctions neuronales, de la modulation des comportements locomoteurs, à l'apprentissage et à la mémoire appétitive ou aversive (Barron *et al.*, 2010 ; Waddell, 2013 ; Masek *et al.*, 2015 ; Kaun & Rothenfluh, 2017 ; Pavlowsky *et al.*, 2018).

Une réduction des taux d'OA, de 5-HT et de DA au niveau cérébral et hémolymphatique après traitement à l'azadirachtine a été rapportée chez *Acherontia styx* (Awad *et al.*, 1997). De plus, l'azadirachtine interfère avec la quantité de 5-HT dans les organes endocriniens et principalement dans le cerveau des criquets (Banerjee & Rembold, 1992).

Moulin *et al.*, (2020) ont rapporté qu'un dysfonctionnement transitoire de la signalisation dopaminergique, peut entrainer des perturbations du comportement des adultes de *D. melanogaster* et générer une mémoire aversive gustative qui peut être transmise à la descendance. En effet, l'azadirachtine pourrait exciter différents groupes de neurones dopaminergiques tels que les PPL1 et augmenter ainsi la libération de dopamine responsable d'une mémorisation de l'aversion (Yan *et al.*, 2017).

L'inhibition du réflexe d'extension du proboscis, chez les mouches adultes, observées dans nos résultats peut être liée à l'action agoniste de l'azadirachtine sur les neurones dopaminergiques tels que les PPL1 et PAM qui régulent la mémoire gustative aversive chez la drosophile.

En effet, Aso *et al.*, (2012) ont rapporté que les substances toxiques induisaient chez *D. melanogaster* la formation d'une mémoire dépendante de la sécrétion de dopamine au niveau cérébral. Récemment, il a été démontré que l'activation de neurones spécifiques des CP

et des neurones dopaminergiques inhibait l'extension du proboscis provoquée par le saccharose, démontrant que de nombreux compartiments des CP inhibent ce comportement inné (Chia & Scott, 2020).

De plus, l'azadirachtine est connu pour son action neurotoxique par blocage partiel des canaux calciques voltage-dépendants au niveau du système nerveux centrale de la drosophile (Qiao *et al.*, 2014). Cela peut également contribuer à l'évitement de l'azadirachtine puisque la formation de la mémoire associative s'accompagne de changements dans l'activité de Ca<sup>2+</sup> au sein des lobes des CP (Davis, 2011).

Chez les insectes tels que la drosophile, comme chez d'autres organismes, l'activité locomotrice est directement ou indirectement impliquée dans presque toutes les activités comportementales (Martin, 2003).

Notre étude a démontré que l'azadirachtine appliqué topiquement chez les larves du troisième stade affecte négativement la réactivité locomotrice des adultes de *D. melanogatser*. Les performances des adultes traités au stade larvaire étaient moins bonnes que celles des témoins. L'altération de la réactivité locomotrice des mouches sous l'effet de l'azadirachtine pourrait affecter plusieurs aspects de la biologie de *D. melanogaster*, tels que la recherche de nourriture, l'alimentation, la reproduction et l'oviposition. Le déclin de la géotaxie négative est lié, chez de nombreuses espèces de drosophiles, à des troubles neurologiques connus chez l'homme ; en effet, le comportement de géotaxie négative requiert un réseau de neurones sensoriels intacts (Zhu *et al.*, 2020).

L'impact négatif de l'azadirachtine rapporté sur les amines biogènes peut expliquer le déficit locomoteur observé au cours de nos expérimentations. En effet, la dopamine est un neurotransmetteur clé dans le système nerveux de la drosophile pour un contrôle adéquat des activités locomotrices (Zhu *et al.*, 2020). En agissant comme un agoniste sur les récepteurs de la dopamine (Yan *el al.*, 2017), l'azadirachtine pourrait conduire au dysfonctionnement de la géotaxie observé dans nos résultats. De plus, l'effet neurotoxique de l'azadirachtine sur le système nerveux central (SNC) des mouches *via* l'inhibition de la transmission cholinergique excitatrice et le blocage partiel des canaux calciques (Qiao *et al.*, 2014) peut également avoir un impact négatif sur le comportement locomoteur.

L'azadirachtine est généralement associé à une activité anti-appétante très marquée et même à un comportement d'évitement chez un grand nombre d'espèces d'insectes, notamment

les hémiptères (Kumar & Poehling, 2007), les lépidoptères (Charleston *et al.*, 2006 ; Shannag *et al.*, 2015), les orthoptères (Capinera & Froeba, 2007), les coléoptères (Baumler & Potter, 2007) et les diptères (Kilani-Morakchi *et al.*, 2017).

Cet effet anti-appétant primaire, est médié par les chimiorécepteurs de contact et est impliqué dans la sélection et la discrimination des aliments (Lee *et al.*, 2010). Un signal envoyé au système nerveux central (SNC) permet à l'insecte d'éviter de s'approcher ou de se nourrir d'une substance potentiellement dangereuse.

L'effet anti-appétant primaire de l'azadirachtine semble être médié par les sensilles gustatives et est lié à un effet inhibiteur sur la vitesse de déclenchement des cellules sensibles au sucre en activant les cellules gustatives sensibles à l'amertume. Plusieurs espèces d'insectes sont extrêmement sensibles à l'anti-appétance primaire de l'azadirachtine, et préfèrent mourir de faim plutôt que d'ingérer ce biopesticide (Mordue & Nisbet, 2010).

Un effet anti-appétant secondaire, comprenant une réduction à long terme de la consommation alimentaire et des effets néfastes directs sur différents tissus d'insectes tels que les muscles, le corps gras et les cellules épithéliales de l'intestin a également été rapporté après traitement à l'azadirachtine (Koul & Isman, 1991 ; Timmins & Reynolds, 1992 ; Trumm & Dorn, 2000). Ces effets dépendent de l'espèce et de la concentration utilisée (Mordue *et al.,* 2010 ; Khosravi & Sendi 2013 ; Shannag *et al.,* 2015).

L'azadirachtine administré par application topique chez les larves de troisième stade réduit la consommation alimentaire et perturbe le comportement alimentaire chez *S. littoralis* (Martinez & van Emden, 1999). Chez les larves de deuxième stade de *Spodoptera eridania*, la consommation à court terme (2 jours) d'aliments traités à l'azatrol, une formulation commerciale d'azadirachtine, réduit le taux de consommation relatif, la quantité d'aliments ingérés, le taux de croissance, la digestibilité et le taux d'assimilation des aliments pendant toute la période de développement larvaire (Shannag *et al.*, 2015).

Chez *D. melanogaster*, une seule application topique d'azadirachtine sur les larves du début du troisième stade réduit de manière significative la quantité de nourriture ingérée par les larves et perturbe la capacité de l'insecte à digérer la nourriture en interférant avec les activités des enzymes digestives (Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*, 2017). Cet effet est également observé chez les adultes qui survivent à l'exposition pré-imaginale, procurant un effet

anti-appétant à long terme à travers les stades de développement pouvant renforcer l'activité insecticide de l'azadirachtine (Kilani-Morakchi *et al.*, 2017).

La réduction de la prise de nourriture et la capacité à convertir les nutriments en biomasse peuvent expliquer en partie les effets observés au cours de notre étude sur la reproduction et le développement de *D. melanogaster*. En effet, les mécanismes hormonaux contrôlant le développement, le métabolisme et la reproduction sont partiellement régulés par la prise de nourriture (Bernard & Lagadic, 1993 ; Klepsatel *et al.*, 2020).



# 5 Conclusion et perspectives

Les insectes peuvent moduler leur comportement sur la base d'expériences antérieures en début de vie et les divers changements induits par les insecticides chez la génération directement exposée peuvent persister chez les générations suivantes. Nos expérimentations ont été menées dans le but d'évaluer les effets d'une exposition unique d'une formulation commerciale d'azadirachtine, sur la reproduction, la nutrition et les propriétés aversives d'un insecte modèle, *Drosophila melanogaster*.

Le bio-insecticide a été administré par application topique (1µl/larve), sur des larves du début du troisième stade larvaire (L3) de *D. melanogaster* à deux doses 0,28 et 0,67 µg correspondants respectivement à la dose létale 25% et 50% (DL<sub>25</sub> et DL<sub>50</sub>) des stades immatures. Les travaux antérieurs de notre équipe ont révélé que l'exposition pré-imaginale à cette molécule affecte la reproduction et la survie des adultes survivants de la même génération. Ce travail de thèse en continuité avec les précédent travaux tend à évaluer les effets physiologiques et comportementaux de l'azadirachtine sur les générations successives jusqu'à restauration complète des paramètres étudiés.

L'azadirachtine affecte la fécondité des femelles en réduisant significativement le nombre d'œufs pondus chez les deux générations testées (P : exposées et F1 : non-exposées) avec un effet dose-réponse et une réduction plus marquée chez la génération P. Une restauration complète de la fécondité des insectes est observée chez la génération F2. De plus une aversion plus marquée à l'azadirachtine a été enregistrée chez les mouches ayant préalablement été exposées à l'insecticide au stade pré-imaginale.

L'exposition préimaginale à l'azadirachtine affecte le développement de *D. melanogaster* en réduisant significativement le nombre d'individu pour chaque stade de développement ainsi que la survie des adultes de la génération parentale (exposée). Un effet moins marqué sur la survie des adultes est observé chez la génération F1 (non exposée). Aucun effet n'est noté chez la génération F2. L'azadirachtine prolonge la durée du développement des stades larvaire et pupal, et affecte également la morphologie des mouches en induisant plusieurs malformations.

# Conclusion et perspective

L'azadirachtine appliquée topiquement chez les larves du troisième stade, affecte négativement la réactivité locomotrice des adultes de *D. melanogaster* de la génération P avec une baisse des performances des adultes traités comparativement aux témoins.

Le biopesticide affecte également le choix olfactif et gustatif des adultes de *D. melanogaster*. En effet, les résultats obtenus indiquent une aversion marquée pour l'azadirachtine. Une augmentation de la sensibilisation des sensilles gustatives chez les insectes ayant préalablement été exposés au traitement est notée au cours d'expériences d'électrophysiologie traduisant un comportement d'évitement à cette molécule.

L'azadirachtine affecte également la quantité de nourriture ingérée chez les adultes avec un effet plus maquée chez les insectes ayant survécu au traitement larvaire.

L'unique exposition pré-imaginale (L3) à l'azadirachtine interfère donc avec la fécondité, le développement, la survie, la locomotion, le choix du site de ponte ainsi que le système chimiosensoriel et la consommation alimentaire de *D. melanogaster*. Le traitement augmente l'effet aversif induit par l'azadirachtine sur deux générations successives, Cet effet à long terme d'une seule exposition larvaire à l'azadirachtine, à travers les stades de développement et des générations (effet transgénérationnel) représente un avantage certain à exploiter dans les programmes de lutte intégrée suggérant une possibilité de réduction des fréquences d'application.

A l'avenir il serait intéressant de compléter le présent travail par :

 Une étude de l'impact de l'azadirachtine sur la neurotransmission et les amines biogènes.

> Une analyse épigénétique pour comprendre la transmission transgénérationnelle.

L'analyse des résidus de l'azadirachtine par le biais de l'HPLC.

# Résumés

# 6 Résumés

#### 6.1 Résumé

Si les effets de toxicité aigüe des pesticides sont assez bien connus, les effets à court et long terme d'une exposition non létale à un stade juvénile sont beaucoup moins étudiés. Dans ce travail, nous avons examiné les effets à long terme du Neem-Azal, qui contient 1% d'azadirachtine A, sur un insecte modèle, *Drosophila melanogaster*. Deux doses ( $DL_{25}$ : 0,28 µg, D 50 : 0,67 µg correspondant respectivement à 25% et 50% de mortalité cumulée des stades immatures) ont été utilisées par application topique sur des larves du début du stade larvaire (L3). Les effets de cette unique exposition à l'azadirachtine ont été testés sur plusieurs générations successives jusqu'à restauration des paramètres étudiés.

L'exposition unique, en période pré-imaginale, à l'azadirachtine affecte la fécondité des femelles en réduisant significativement le nombre d'œufs pondus chez deux générations successives (P : exposée, F1 : non exposée). Une restauration complète de la fécondité est notée chez la génération F2. Le traitement larvaire affecte également le choix de ponte des femelles qui ont survécu au traitement avec une claire préférence de ponte sur un milieu témoins par rapport au milieu traité à l'azadirachtine et ce pour toutes les générations testées. Les mouches traitées à l'azadirachtine (début de stade L3) montrent une aversion plus marquée au biopesticide comparativement aux mouches "naïves".

Chez la génération parentale, l'exposition précoce à l'azadirachtine affecte le développement des adultes en réduisant le nombre de descendants, en induisant un retard du développement larvaire et pupal ; en biaisant le sex-ratio en faveur des mâles et en provoquant plusieurs anomalies morphologiques. L'azadirachtine réduit de manière significative la survie des adultes chez deux générations successives et ce comparativement aux témoins. De plus, l'azadirachtine affecte la réactivité locomotrice des adultes en réduisant significativement les scores géotaxiques obtenus chez les adultes des deux sexes en comparaison aux témoins.

L'azadirachtine affecte également la quantité de nourriture consommée par les mouches et perturbe le système chimiosensoriel des adultes en affectant leurs choix olfactifs et gustatifs. Les mouches préalablement traitées (début de stade L3) à l'azadirachtine ont une aversion plus marqué à cette molécule et évitent son odeur. Le biopesticide induit également une inhibition de l'extension du proboscis des adultes des deux sexes avec un effet plus marqué chez les

# Résumés

adultes préalablement traités au stade larvaire. Les réponses électrophysiologiques des sensilles gustatives montrent une augmentation de la sensibilité des sensilles gustatives à l'azadirachtine chez les mouches traitées au stade larvaire confirmant l'aversion plus marquée à cette molécule.

Mots clés : Azadirachtine, *D. melanogaster*, fécondité, développement, gustation, olfaction, locomotion.

#### 6.2 Abstract

While the acute toxicity of xenobiotics on organisms is well known, long term effects of intermittent exposures are less studied. Here we examined the effects of a single larval exposure to a commercial antifeedant and insecticide Neem-Azal (containing 1% azadirachtin A), on *Drosophila melanogaster*. Two doses ( $LD_{25}$ : 0.28 µg,  $LD_{50}$ : 0.67 µg corresponding respectively to 25% and 50% cumulative mortality of immature stages) were used by topical application on early third instar larvae (L3). The possible adverse effects of this prior single exposure to azadirachtin experienced by the preceding generations were evaluated over three successive generations until full restoration of the studied parameters.

The single pre-imaginal exposure of azadirachtin affects female fecundity by significantly reducing the number of eggs laid over two successive generations (P and F1). Full restoration of affected fecundity was noted in the second generation (F2). Larval treatment also affects oviposition choices, the surviving flies avoiding treated substrates more than control flies for all tested generations.

Early exposure to azadirachtin also affects adult's development by reducing the number of organisms, delay larval and pupal development ; male biased sex ratio and induced morphological alterations. This exposure significantly reduces adult's survival during two successive generations. Moreover, azadirachtin was found to affect *Drosophila* adult's locomotor reactivity by significantly decreased the geotactic positioning scores of adults of both sexes as compared to controls.

Azadirachtin affects the amount of food intake by the flies and disrupts the chemosensory system of the adults by affecting their olfactory and gustatory choices. Results showed that previously treated flies (3rd instar larvae) showed an aversion to the biopesticide avoiding azadirachtin odor. The biopesticide also inhibited the proboscis extension response in the adults of both sexes with more marked effects in treated flies. The electrophysiological studies of gustatory response showed an increase of sensibility of gustatory sensilla to azadirachtin previously exposed flies confirming the more marked avoidance to this molecule.

**Keywords :** Azadirachtin, *D. melanogaster*, fecundity, development, tasting, olfaction, locomotion.

# **Références bibliographiques**

# 7 Références bibliographiques

Aarthy, T., Mulani, F.A., Pandreka, A., Kumar, A., Nandikol, S.S., Haldar, S., Thulasiram, H.V. 2018. Tracing the biosynthetic origin of limonoids and their functional groups through stable isotope labeling and inhibition in neem tree (*Azadirachta indica*) cell suspension. *BMC Plant Biol.* 18(1):230.

Abed-Vieillard, D., Cortot, J. 2016. When choice makes sense: menthol influence on mating, oviposition and fecundity in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Front Integr Neurosci.* 10, 5.

Abed-Vieillard, D., Cortot, J., Everaerts, C., Ferveur, J.F. 2014. Choice alters Drosophila oviposition site preference on menthol. *Biol Open.* 3, 22-28.

Abedi Z, Saber, M., Vojoudi, S., Mahdavi, V., Parsaeyan, E. 2014. Acute, sublethal, and combination effects of azadirachtin and *Bacillus thuringiensis* on the cotton bollworm, *Helicoverpa armigera*. *J Insect Sci.* 14, 30.

Ahmad, S., Ansari, M. S. & Moraiet, M. A. 2013. Demographic changes in *Helicoverpa armigera* after exposure to neemazal (1% EC azadirachtin). *Crop Prot.* 50, 30–36.

Ahmad, S., Ansari, MS., Muslim, M. 2015. Toxic effects of neem based insecticides on the fitness of *Helicoverpa armigera* (Hübner). *Crop Prot* 68: 72-78

Akhtar, Y., Rankin, C. H., Isman, M. B. 2003. Decreased response to feeding deterrents following prolonged exposure in the larvae of a generalist herbivore, *Trichoplusia ni* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *J Insect Behav.* 16, 811–831.

Ali, E., Liao, X., Yang, P., Mao, K., Zhang, X., Shakeel, M., Salim, AMA., Wan, H., Li, J. 2017. Sublethal effects of buprofezin on development and reproduction in the whitebacked planthopper, *Sogatella furcifera* (Hemiptera: Delphacidae). *Sci Rep.* 7, 16913.

Alouani, N., Rehimi, N., Soltani, N. 2009. Larvicidal activity of a neem tree extract (azadirachtin) against mosquito larvae in the republic of Algeria. *Jordan J Biol Sci* 2: 15-22

Amrein, H., Thorne, N. 2005. Gustatory perception and behavior in *Drosophila* melanogaster. Curr Biol. 15: R673–R684,
Anagnostou, C., Dorsch, M., Rohlfs, M. 2010. Friendly food for fitter flies? – Influence of dietary microbial species on food choice and parasitoid resistance in *Drosophila*. *Entomol Exp Appl*.136: 1-11.

Anderson, P., Sadek, M.M., Larsson, M., Hansson, B.S., Thöming, G. 2013. Larval host plant experience modulates both mate finding and oviposition choice in a moth. *Anim Behav.* 85(6): 1169-1175.

Anjum, S. I., Yousf, M. J., Ayaz, S., & Siddiqui, B. S. 2010. Toxicological evaluation of chlorpyrifos and Neem extract (Biosal B) against 3RD instars larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Anim Plant Sci.* 20(1): 9-12.

Anuradha, A., Annadurai, RS. 2008. Biochemical and molecular evidence of azadirachtin binding to insect actins. *Curr Sci.* 95: 1588-1593

Anuradha, A., Annadurai, RS., Shashidhara, LS. 2007. Actin cytoskeleton as a putative target of the neem limonoid Azadirachtin A. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol.* 37: 627–634

Aribi, N, Denis, B., Kilani-Morakchi, S., Joly, D. 2020. Azadirachtin, a natural pesticide with multiple effects. *Med Sci.* 36, 44-49.

ARLA. Agence de réglementation de la lutte antiparasitaire. 2012. Projet de décision d'homologation (PRD2012-16), 58 pages.

Armstrong, J.D., Steven de Belle, J., Wang, Z., Kaiser, K. 1998. Metamorphosis of the mushroom bodies ; large-scale rearrangements of the neural substrates for associative learning and memory in Drosophila. *Learn Mem.* 5(1): 102-114.

Arnason, J. T., Philogene, B. J. R., Donskov, N., Hudon, M., McDougall, C., Fortier, G., ... & Nozzolillo, C. 1985. Antifeedant and insecticidal properties of azadirachtin to the European corn borer, *Ostrinia nubilalis*. *Entom Exp Appl.* **38**, 29–34.

Asaduzzaman, M., Shim, JK., Lee, S., Lee, KY. 2016. Azadirachtin ingestion is lethal and inhibits expression of ferritin and thioredoxin peroxidase genes of the swwetpotato whitefly *Bemissia tabaci. J Asia Pac Entomol.* 19: 1-4

Aso, Y., Herb, A., Ogueta, M., Siwanowicz, I., Templier, T., Friedrich, A.B., Ito, K., Scholz, H., Tanimoto, H. 2012. Three dopamine pathways induce aversive odor memories with different stability. *PLoS Genet.* 8, e1002768.

Aso, Y., Hattori, D., Yu, Y., Johnston, R.M., Iyer, N.A., Ngo, T.T. B., Dionne, H., Abbott, L. F., Axel, R., Tanimoto, H., Rubin, G.M. 2014. The neuronal architecture of the mushroom body provides a logic for associative learning. *eLife*. 3, e04577.

Awad, E.W., Saadé F.E. Amiri, M.H. 1997. Effect of azadirachtin on the nutrition, development and biogenic amine levels in the Eastern Death's Head hawk moth, *Acherontia styx* (lepidoptera: sphingidae). *Exp Biol Online*. 2:1-14.

Bacqué-Cazenave, J., Bharatiya, R., Barrière, G., Delbecque, J. P., Bouguiyoud, N., Di Giovanni, G., ... & De Deurwaerdère, P. 2020. Serotonin in animal cognition and behavior. *Inter J Mol Sci.* 21(5), 1649.

**Badisco, L., Van Wielendaele, P. V., Broeck, J. 2013.** Vanden. Eat to reproduce: A key role for the insulin signaling pathway in adult insects. *Front Physiol.* **4**, 202.

**Banerjee, S., Rembold, H. 1992.** Azadirachtin A interferes with control of serotonin pools in the neuroendocrine system of locusts. *Sci Nat.* 79(2):81-4.

Banks, K. E., Turner, P. K., Wood, S. H., & Matthews, C. 2005. Increased toxicity to Ceriodaphnia dubia in mixtures of atrazine and diazinon at environmentally realistic concentrations. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 60(1): 28-36.

Bantel, A.P., Tessier, C.R. 2016. Taste Preference assay for adult *Drosophila*. J Vis Exp.115. e54403.

**Barbosa, W.F., De Meyer, L., Guedes, R.N., Smagghe, G. 2015**. Lethal and sublethal effects of azadirachtin on the bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* (Hymenoptera : Apidae) . *Ecotoxicology*. 24(1): 130-142.

**Barrek, S., Paisse, O., Grenier-Loustalot, M.F. 2004.** Analysis of neem oils by LC-MS and degradation kinetics of azadirachtin-A in a controlled environment. Characterization of degradation products by HPLC-MS-MS. *Anal Bioanal Chem.* 378(3):753-63.

Barron, A.B., Søvik, E., Cornish, J.L. 2010. The Roles of dopamine and related compounds in reward-seeking behavior across animal phyla. *Front Behav Neurosci.* 4, 163.

Bass, C., Field, L.M.2 018. Neonicotinoids. Curr Biol. 28, R761-R783.

Battesti, M., Moreno, C., Joly, D., Mery, F. 2015. Biased social transmission in Drosophila Oviposition choice. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol.* 69, 83–87.

**Baumler, R.E., Potter, D.A. 2007.** Knockdown, residual, and antifeedant activity of pyrethroids and home landscape bioinsecticides against *Japanese beetles* (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) on *Linden foliage. J Econ Entomol.* 100(2):451-8.

Bellés, X., Maestro, J.L. 2005. Endocrine peptides and insect reproduction. *Invertebr Reprod Dev.* 47:1, 23-37.

Bensebaa, F., Kilani-Morakchi, S., Aribi, N., & Soltani, N. 2015. Evaluation of pyriproxyfen, a juvenile hormone analog on *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae): Insecticidal activity, ecdysteroid contents and cuticle formation. *Eur J Entomol.* 112(4), 625-631.

Bentley, M.D., Day, J.F. 1989. Chemical ecology and behavioral aspects of mosquito Oviposition. *Annu Rev Entomol.* 401-421

Benuzzi, M., Ladurner, E. 2018. Plant protection tools in organic farming. *Handbook* of pest management in organic farming. 24-59.

Benzidane, Y., Touinsi, S., Motte, E., Jadas-Ecart, A., Communal, P.-Y., Leduc, L., and Thany, S. H. 2010. Toxicity of thiamethoxam on cockroach locomotor activity associated to its metabolite clothianidin. *Pest Manag Sci.* 66,1351–1359.

**Bernard, L., Lagadic, L. 1993.** Sublethal Effects of Dietary Cyfluthrin on Nutritional Performance and Gut Hydrolase Activity in Larvae of the Egyptian Cotton Leafworm, *Spodoptera littoralis. Pestic Biochem Phys.* 46(3): 171-180.

Bernardes, R.C., Barbosa, W.F., Martins, G.F., Lima ,M.A.P. 2018. The reducedrisk insecticide azadirachtin poses a toxicological hazard to stingless bee *Partamona helleri* (Friese, 1990) queens. *Chemosphere*. 201: 550-556. Bezzar-Bendjazia, R., Kilani-Morakchi, S., & Aribi, N. 2016. Larval exposure to azadirachtin affects fitness and oviposition site preference of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Pestic biochem physiol*. 133, 85-90.

Bezzar-Bendjazia, R., Kilani-Morakchi, S., Maroua, F., & Aribi, N. 2017. Azadirachtin induced larval avoidance and antifeeding by disruption of food intake and digestive enzymes in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae). *Pestic biochem physiol.* 143, 135-140.

Bilal, M., Iqbal, H.M.N., Barcelo, D., 2019. Persistence of pesticides-based contaminants in the environment and their effective degradation using laccase-assisted biocatalytic systems. *Sci Total Environ*. 695, 133896.

Biswas, K., Chattopadhyay, I., Banerjee, R.K. 2002. Biological activities and medicinal properties of neem (*Azadirachta indica*). *Curr Sci.* 82:1336–1345.

Blackiston, D.J., Casey, E.S., Weiss, M.R. 2008. Retention of memory through metamorphosis: can a moth remember what it learned as a caterpillar? PLoS One. 3, e1736.

Blaney, W.M., Simmonds, M.S.J., Ley, S.V., Anderson, J.C., Toogood, P.L. 1990. Antifeedant effects of azadirachtin and structurally related compounds on lepidopterous larvae. *Entomol Exp Appl.* 55: 149-160.

Boeke, S.J., Boersma, M.G., Alink, G.M., van Loona, J.J.A., van Huis, A., Dicke, M., 2004. Rietjens IMCM Safety evaluation of neem (*Azadirachta indica*) derived pesticides. *J Ethnopharmacol.* 94, 25-41.

**Bomford, M. K. & Isman, M. B. 1996**. Desensitization of fifth instar *Spodoptera litura* to azadirachtin and neem. *Entomol Exp Appl.* 81, 307–313.

Bonmatin, J. M., Giorio, C., Girolami, V., Goulson, D., Kreutzweiser, D. P., Krupke, C., Tapparo, A. 2014. Worldwide Integrated assessment of the impact of systemic pesticides on biodiversity and ecosystems: Environmental fate and exposure ; neonicotinoids and fipronil. *Environ Sci Pollut Res. 22*, 1-4.

**Boulahbel, B., Aribi, N., Kilani-Morakchi, S. & Soltani, N. 2015**. Insecticidal activity of azadirachtin on *Drosophila melanogaster* and recovery of normal status by exogenous 20-Hydroxyecdysone. *Afr Entomol.* 23, 224–233.

Boyer, S., Zhang, H., & Lempérière, G. 2012. A review of control methods and resistance mechanisms in stored-product insects. *Bull. Entomol. Res.* 102(2), 213.

**BPDB.** The Bio-Pesticides Database. 2013. The Agriculture & Environment Research Unit (AERU), University of Hertfordshire.

Braga, T.M., Rocha, L., Chung, T.Y., Oliveira, R.F., Pinho, C., Oliveira, A.I., Morgado, J., Cruz, A. 2021. *Azadirachta indica* A. Juss. In Vivo Toxicity-An Updated Review. *Molecules*. 6;26(2):252.

**Bray, S., Amrein, H. 2003.** A putative Drosophila pheromone receptor expressed in male-specific taste neurons is required for efficient courtship. Neuron. 39(6):1019-29.

Campos, E.V., de Oliveira, J.L., Pascoli, M., de Lima, R., Fraceto, L.F. 2016. Neem Oil and Crop Protection: From Now to the Future. *Front Plant Sci.* 13;7:1494.

Capinera, J.L., Froeba, J.G. 2007. Behavioral Responses of *Schistocerca americana* (Orthoptera: Acrididae) to Azadirex (Neem)-Treated Host Plants. *J Econ Entoml*. 100(1): 117-122.

Carlson, J. 1991. Olfaction in *Drosophila:* genetic and molecularanalysis. *Trends* Neurosci. 14: 520-524.

Carson, R. 1962. Silent spring. Boston. Massachusetts. USA.

Casida, J.E., Quistad, G.B. 1998. Golden Age of Insecticide Research: Past, Present, or Future?. *Annu Rev Entomol.* 43:1-16.

Caubet, Y., Jaisson, P., Lenoir, A. 1992. Preimaginal Induction of Adult Behaviour in Insects. *Q J Exp Psychol Sect.* 44, 165–178.

Chandler, D., Bailey, A.S., Tatchell, G. M., Davidson, G., Greaves, J., Grant, W. P. 2011. The development, regulation and use of biopesticides for integrated pest management. *Philos Trans R Soc.* 336(1573) : 1987-1998.

Charleston, D.S., Kafir, R., Dicke, M., Vet, L.EM. 2006. Impact of botanical extracts derived from *Melia azedarach* and *Azadirachta indica* on populations of *Plutella xylostella* and its natural enemies: a field test of laboratory findings. *Biol Control*. 39: 105-114.

Chattopadhyay, S., Raychaudhuri, U., Chakraborty, R. 2014. Artificial sweeteners - a review. *J Food Sci Technol.* 51(4):611-21.

Chaudhary, S., Kanwar, R., Sehgal, A., Cahill, D.M., Barrow, C., J., Sehgal, R., Kanwar, J. R. 2017. Progress on *Azadirachta indica* Based Biopesticides in Replacing Synthetic Toxic Pesticides. *Front Plant Sci.* 8: 610.

Chen, Y.C.D., Park, S.J., Joseph, R.M., Ja, W.W., Dahanukar, A.A. 2019. Combinatorial pharyngeal taste coding for feeding avoidance in adult Drosophila. *Cell Rep.* 29, 961-973.e4.

Chia. J., Scott, K. 2020. Activation of specific mushroom body output neurons inhibits proboscis extension and sucrose consumption. *PLoS One*. 15, e0223034.

Chin, S.G., Maguire, S.E., Huoviala, P., Jefferis, G.S.X.E., Potter, C.J. 2018. Olfactory neurons and brain centers directing oviposition decisions in Drosophila. *Cell Rep.* 24,1667-1678.

Chmiel, J.A., Daisley, B.A., Pitek, A.P., Thompson, G.J., Reid, G. 2020. Understanding the Effects of Sublethal Pesticide Exposure on Honey Bees: A Role for Probiotics as Mediators of Environmental Stress. *Front Ecol Evol.* 8:22.

Cloyd, R. A., & Herrick, N. J. 2018. Effects of pesticides on the survival of rove beetle (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) and insidious flower bug (Hemiptera: Anthocoridae) adults. *J Econ Entomol*.111(1), 78-88.

Clyne, P.J., Warr, C.G., Carlson, J.R. 2000. Candidate Taste Receptors in Drosophila. *Science*. 287(5459), 1830-1834.

Cordeiro, E. M. G., Corrêa, A. S., Venzon, M., Guedes, R. N. C. 2010. Insecticide survival and behavioral avoidance in the lacewings *Chrysoperla externa* and *Ceraeochrysa cubana*. *Chemosphere*. 81, 1352–1357.

Croft, B.A. 1990. Arthropod Biological Control Agents and Pesticides. New York: Wiley. 723 pp.

Crook, R. J., Dickson, K., Hanlon, R. T. & Walters, E. T. 2014. Nociceptive sensitization reduces predation risk. *Curr Biol.* 24, 1121–1125.

Culliney, T. 2014. Crop Losses to Arthropods. In: Pimentel D., Peshin R. (eds) J. Integr. Pest Manag. Springer, Dordrecht.

Cymborowski, B. 1991. Effects of cold stress on endocrine system of *Galleria* mellonella larvae. In Hormones and Metabolism in Insect stress. CRC Press Boca Raton, FL. 99-114.

da Costa, J. T. *et al.* da Costa, J.T., Forim, M. R., Costa, E.S., De Souza, J.R., Mondego, J.M. 2014. Effects of different formulations of neem oil-based products on control *Zabrotes subfasciatus* (Boheman, 1833) (Coleoptera: Bruchidae) on beans. *J Stored Prod Res.* 56: 49–53.

Das, D., Parween, S., Faruki, S. 2006. Efficacy of commercial neem-based insecticide, Nimbicidine®against eggs of the red flour beetle *Tribolium castaneum* (Herbst). *Univ. j. zool. 25*: 51-55.

Davis, R.L. 2011. Traces of Drosophila Memory. Neuron. 70: 8-19.

**de Belle, J.S., Heisenberg, M. 1994.** Associative odor learning in *Drosophila* abolished by chemical ablation of mushroom bodies. *Science*. 263: 692-695.

de Bruyne, M., & Warr, C. G. 2006. Molecular and cellular organization of insect chemosensory neurons. *Bioessays*. 28(1), 23-34.

**Deravel, J., Krier, F., Jacques, Ph. 2014.** Les biopesticides, alternatives aux produits phytosanitaires chimiques (synthèse bibliographique). *Biotechnol Agron Soc Environ.* 18(2): 220-232

Desneux, N., Decourtye, A. & Delpuech, J. M. 2007. The Sublethal Effects of Pesticides on Beneficial Arthropods. *Annu Rev Entomol.* 52: 81–106.

Dhadialla, T.S., Retnakaran, A. & Smagghe, G. 2010. Insect growth- and developmental disturbing insecticides. *Insect Control. Elsevier, New York*, 121-184.

**Dubrovsky, E.B. 2005.** Hormonal cross talk in insect development. *Trends Endrocrinol. Metab.* 16(1): 6-11.

**Dubrovsky, E.B., Bernardo, T.J. 2014.** Chapter Four - The Juvenile Hormone Receptor and Molecular Mechanisms of Juvenile Hormone Action. *Adv insect physiol.* 46: 305-388.

**Dukas, R. 2008.** Evolutionary biology of insect learning. *Annu Rev Entomol.* 53: 145–60.

**Dunipace, L., Meister, S., McNealy, C., Amrein, H. 2001.** Spatially restricted expression of candidate taste receptors in the Drosophila gustatory system. *Curr Biol.* 11(11):822-35.

Ebbs, M.L., Amrein, H., 2007. Taste and pheromone perception in the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster. Pflügers Archiv. 454(5), 735-747.

**EFSA. European Food Safety Authority. 2011.** Conclusion on the peer review of the pesticide risk assessment of the active substance azadirachtin. *EFSA J.* 9(3):1858.

Er, A., Taşkıran, D. & Sak, O. 2017. Azadirachtin-induced effects on various life history traits and cellular immune reactions of *Galleria mellonella* (Lepidoptera : Pyralidae). *Arch Biol Sci.* 69: 335–344.

FAO 2016. Organisation des Nations unies pour l'alimentation et l'agriculture. [www.fao.org].

FAO 2019. Organisation des Nations unies pour l'alimentation et l'agriculture. [www.fao.org].

Feder, D., Valle, D., Rembold, H., Garcia, E.S. 1988. Azadirachtin-Induced Sterilization in Mature Females of *Rhodnius prolixus*. *Z Naturforsch C*. 43:908-913.

Fernandes, S. R., Barreiros, L., Oliveira, R. F., Cruz, A., Prudêncio, C., Oliveira, A. I., ... & Morgado, J. 2019. Chemistry, bioactivities, extraction and analysis of azadirachtin: State-of-the-art. *Fitoterapia*, 134, 141-150.

Flaven-Pouchon, J., Garcia, T., Abed-Vieillard, D., Farine, J.P., Ferveur, J.F. 2014. Transient and permanent experience with fatty acids changes *Drosophila melanogaster* 

preference and fitness. PLoS ONE. 9: e92352.

Fougeron, A. S., Farine, J. P., Flaven-Pouchon, J., Everaerts, C., & Ferveur, J. F. 2011. Fatty-acid preference changes during development in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *PloS one*. 6(10), e26899.

Gäde, G., Hoffmann, K.H. 2005. Neuropeptides regulating development and reproduction in insects. *Physiol Entomol.* 30: 103-121.

Gehlot, A., Arya, I.D., Arya, S. 2017. Regeneration of complete plantlets from callus culture of *Azadirachta indica* a. Juss using immature flower buds. *Adv For Sci.* 4, 71–76.

Georghiou, G.P. 1972. The Evolution of Resistance to Pesticides. *Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst.* 3:1, 133-168.

Gerber, B., Stocker R.F., Tanimura T., Thum A.S. 2009. Smelling, tasting, learning: Drosophila as a study case. *Results Probl Cell Differ*. 47: 139-85.

Ghazawi, N. A., El-Shranoubi, E. D., El-Shazly, M. M. & Abdel Rahman, K. M. 2007. Effects of azadirachtin on mortality rate and reproductive system of the grasshopper *Heteracris littoralis* Ramb. (Orthoptera: Acrididae). *J Orthoptera Res.* 16: 57–65.

Ghedira, K., Goetz, P. 2014. Azadirachta indica A. Juss- Neem, Meliaceae. *Phytothérapie*. 12:252-257.

Gilbert, L.I., Rybczynski, R., Warren, J.T. 2002. Control and Biochemical Nature of the Ecdysteroidogenic Pathway. *Ann Rev Entom.* 47: 883-916.

Godfray, H.C., Beddington, J.R., Crute, I.R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J.F., Pretty, J., Robinson, S., Thomas, S.M., Toulmin, C. 2010. Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. *Science*. 12;327(5967):812-8.

Goñalons, C. M., Farina, W. M. 2018. Impaired associative learning after chronic exposure to pesticides in young adult honey bees. *J Exp Biol.* 221:176644.

Goodman, W.G & Granger, N.A. 2005. The Juvenile Hormones. *Comp Mol Insect Scie.* In Gilbert, L. LI, 55-115.

**Gruntenko, N.E. I., Rauschenbach, N.E. 2008.** Interplay of JH, 20E and biogenic amines under normal and stress conditions and its effect on reproduction. *J insect physiol*, 54(6), 902-908.

Gruntenko, N.E., Karpova, E.K., Chentsova, N.A., Adonyeva, N.V. and Rauschenbach, I.Y. 2009. 20-hydroxyecdysone and juvenile hormone influence tyrosine hydroxylase activity in Drosophila females under normal and heat stress conditions. *Arch Insect Biochem Physiol.* 72: 263-272.

Gupta, S.C., Prasad, S., Tyagi, A.K., Kunnumakkara, A.B., Aggarwal, B.B. 2017. Neem (*Azadirachta indica*): an indian traditional panacea with modern molecular basis. *Phytomedicine*. 34: 14–20

Harrop, T. W., Sztal, T., Lumb, C., Good, R. T., Daborn, P. J., Batterham, P., & Chung, H. 2014. Evolutionary changes in gene expression, coding sequence and copy-number at the cyp6g1 locus contribute to resistance to multiple insecticides in Drosophila. *PLoS One*, *9*(1), e84879.

Hasan, F., & Ansari, M. 2011. Toxic effects of neem-based insecticides on *Pieris* brassicae (Linn.). Crop Prot. 30: 502–507.

Hashmat, I., Azad, H., Makbul, S.A.A. 2012. Neem (Azadirachta indica A. Juss)-A Nature's Drugstore: An overview. *I Res J Biological Sci.* 1(6), 76-79.

Haubruge, É., Marcel Amichot, M. 1998. Les mécanismes responsables de la résistance aux insecticides chez les insectes et les acariens. *Biotechmol Agron Soc.* 2(3) : 161-174.

Hiruma, K., Kaneko, Y. 2013. Hormonal regulation of insect metamorphosis with special reference to juvenile hormone biosynthesis. *Curr Top Dev Biol.* 103:73-100.

Hiruma, Y., Hass, M.A.S., Kikui, Y., Betül Ölmez, W., Skinner, S.P., Blok, A., Kloosterman, A., Koteishi, H., Löhr, F., Schwalbe, H., Nojiri, M., Ubbink, M. 2013. The Structure of the Cytochrome P450cam–Putidaredoxin Complex Determined by Paramagnetic NMR Spectroscopy and Crystallography. *J Mol Biol.* 425 (22):4353-4365.

Hossain, M.B., Poehling, H.M. 2006. Effects of a Neem-based Insecticide on Different Immature Life Stages of the Leafminer *Liriomyza sativae* on Tomato. *Phytoparasitica*. 34(4):360-369

Isman, M.B., Grieneisen, M.L. 2014. Botanical insecticide research: many publications, limited useful data. *Trends Plant Sci.* 19(3):140-5.

Jeong, E. B., Jeong, S. S., Cho, E. & Kim, E. Y. 2019. Makorin 1 is required for *Drosophila* oogenesis by regulating insulin/Tor signaling. *PLoS ONE*. 14, e0215688.

# Jiang, X. J., Ning, C., Guo, H., Jia, Y. Y., Huang, L. Q., Qu, M. J., & Wang, C. Z. 2015. A gustatory receptor tuned to D-fructose in antennal sensilla chaetica of *Helicoverpa* armigera. Insect Biochem Mol Biol. 60, 39-46.

Jindra, M., Palli, S.R., Riddiford, L.M. 2013. The juvenile hormone signaling pathway in insect development. *Annu Rev Entomol.* 58:181-204.

Johnson, S., Morgan, E.D. 1997. Comparison of chromatographic systems for triterpenoids from Neem (*Azadirachta indica*) seeds. J. Chromatogr. A. 761, 1–2,53-63.

Jung, J. W., Park, K. W., Ahn, Y. J., & Kwon, H. W. 2015. Functional characterization of sugar receptors in the western honeybee, *Apis mellifera*. J Asia Pac Entomol. 18(1), 19-26.

Kaun, K.R., Rothenfluh, A. 2017. Dopaminergic rules of engagement for memory in Drosophila. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* 43: 56–62.

Ketkar, C. M. 1976. Utilization of neem (*Azadirachta indica* Juss.) and its bye-products [sic].

Khater, H.F. 2012. Prospects of botanical biopesticides in insect pest management. *Pharmacologia*. 3:641-656.

Khosravi, R. & Sendi, J.J. 2013. Effect of neem pesticide (Achook) on midgut enzymatic activities and selected biological compounds in the hemolymph of lesser mulberry pyralid, *Glyphodes pyloalis* Walker (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae). *Plant Prot Res.* 5: 238–247.

**Khosravi, R., Sendi, J.J., Ghadamyari, M. 2010.** Effect of Artemisia Annua L. on deterrence and nutritional efficiency of lesser mulberry pyralid (Glyphodes Pylolais Walker) (lepidoptera: Pyralidae). *J Plant Prot Res.* 

Kilani-Morakchi, S., Bezzar-Bendjazia, R., Ferdenache, M., & Aribi, N. 2017. Preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects food selection and digestive enzymes in adults of *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae). *Pestic biochem physiol*. 140, 58-64.

Klepsatel, P., Girish, T.N., Gáliková, M. 2020. Acclimation temperature affects thermal reaction norms for energy reserves in Drosophila. *Sci Rep* 10: 21681.

Koodalingam, A., Deepalakshmi, R., Ammu, M., Rajalakshmi, A. 2014. Effects of NeemAzal on marker enzymes and hemocyte phagocytic activity of larvae and pupae of the vector mosquito *Aedes aegypti*. *J Asia-Pac Entomol*.17 : 175–181.

Koriem, K.M.2013. Review on pharmacological and toxicologyical effects of oleum azadirachti oil. *Asian Pac J Trop Biomed*. 3(10):834-40.

Koul, O., & Wahab, S. 2004. Neem biotechnology—A Synthesis. In Neem: Today and in the new Millennium (pp. 243-259). Springer, Dordrecht.

Koul, O., Isman, M. B. 1991. Effects of azadirachtin on the dietary utilization and development of the variegated cutworm Peridroma saucia. *J. Insect Physiol.* 37(8): 591-598.

Kozlova, T., Thummel, C.S. 2003. Essential Roles for Ecdysone Signaling During Drosophila Mid-Embryonic Development. *Science*. 26;301(5641):1911-4.

Kraiss, H., & Cullen, E. M. 2008. Insect growth regulator effects of azadirachtin and neem oil on survivorship, development and fecundity of *Aphis glycines* (Homoptera: Aphididae) and its predator, *Harmonia axyridis* (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae). *Crit Rev Plant Sci.* 64: 660–668.

**Kraus, W., Bokel, M., Klenk, A., Pöhn, H. 1985.** The structure of azadirachtin and 22,23-dihydro-23β-methoxyazadirachtin. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 26:6435 – 6438.

**Kumar, P., Poehling, H.M. 2007.** Effects of azadirachtin, abamectin, and spinosad on sweetpotato whitefly (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae) on tomato plants under laboratory and greenhouse conditions in the humid tropics. *J Econ Entomol.* 100(2):411-20.

Lafont, R., Dauphin-Villemant, C., Warren, J.T., Rees, H. 2005. Ecdysteroid chemistry and biochemistry. In: Gilbert LI, Iatrou K, Gill SK, editors. Vol. 3. Comprehensive molecular insect science. Oxford: Elsevier, p. 125–195

Lai, D., Jin, X., Wang, H., Yuan, M. & Xu, H. 2014. Gene expression profile change and growth inhibition in *Drosophila* larvae treated with azadirachtin. *J Biotechnol*. 185: 51–56.

Lee, T., Lee, A., Luo, L. 1999. Development of the *Drosophila* mushroom bodies: sequential generation of three distinct types of neurons from a neuroblast. *Development*. 126: 4065–4076.

Lee, Y. Kim, S. Montell, C. 2010. Avoiding DEET through insect gustatory receptors. *Neuron*. 67(4), 555-561.

Leng, P., Zhiming, Z., Guangtang, P., Maojun, Z. 2011. Applications and development trends in biopesticides. *Afr J Biotechnol*. 10(86): 19864-19873.

Ley, S., Abad-Somovilla, A., Anderson, J., Ayats, C., Bänteli, R., Beckmann, E., Boyer, A., Brasca, M., Brice, A., Broughton, H., Burke, B., Cleator, E., Craig, D., Denholm, A., Denton, R., *et al.* 2008. The Synthesis of Azadirachtin: A Potent Insect Antifeedant. *Chem. Eur. J.* 14: 10683-10704.

Liman, E.R., Zhang, Y.V., Montell, C. 2014. Peripheral coding of taste. *Neuron*. 81(5):984-1000.

Linford, N. J., Bilgir, C., Ro, J., & Pletcher, S. D. 2013. Measurement of lifespan in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *JoVE*. (71), e50068.

Little, C.M., Chapman, T. W., Hillier, N. K. 2019. Considerationsfor Insect Learning in Integrated Pest Management. *J Insect Sci.* 19(4): 1–14.

Liu, J., Wu, H., Yi, J., & Zhang, G. 2020. Two gustatory receptors are necessary for sensing sucrose in an egg parasitoid, *Trichogramma chilonis*. *Chemoecology*. 1-13.

Lu, Z., Dong, S., Li, C., Li, L., Yu, Y., Yin, S., Men, X. 2020. Sublethal and transgenerational effects of sulfoxaflor on the demography and feeding behaviour of the mirid bug *Apolygus lucorum*. *PLoS One*. 15, e0232812.

Lucantoni, L., Giusti, F., Cristofaro, M., Pasqualini, L., Esposito, F., Lupetti, P., Habluetzel, A. 2006. Effects of a neem extract on blood feeding, oviposition and oocyte ultrastructure in *Anopheles stephensi* Liston (Diptera: Culicidae). *Tissue Cell*. 38(6), 361-371.

Lynn, O. M., Kim, J. E., Lee, K. Y. 2012. Effects of azadirachtin on the development

and gene expression of fifth instar larvae of Indianmeal moth, *Plodia interpunctella*. *J Asia Pac Entomol.* 15:101–105.

Maity, P., Biswas, K., Chattopadhyay, I., Banerjee, R.K., Bandyopadhyay, U. 2009. The use of neem for controlling gastric hyperacidity and ulcer. *Phytother Res.* 23(6):747-55.

Majeed, Z. R., Abdeljaber, E., Soveland, R., Cornwell, K., Bankemper, A., Koch, F., Cooper, R. L. 2016. Modulatory action by the serotonergic system: behavior and neurophysiology in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Neural plasticity*. 2016:7291438.

Marchal, E., Vandersmissen, H.P., Badisco, L., Van de Velde, S., Verlinden, H., Iga, M., Van Wielendaele, P., Huybrechts, R., Simonet, G., Smagghe, G., Vanden Broeck, J. 2010. Control of ecdysteroidogenesis in prothoracic glands of insects: a review. *Peptides*. 31(3):506-19.

Marion-Poll, F. 1996. Display and analysis of electrophysiological data under Windows TM. In Proceedings of the 9th International Symposium on Insect-Plant Relationships (pp. 116-119). Springer, Dordrecht.

Marion-Poll, F., & van der Pers, J. 1996. Un-filtered recordings from insect taste sensilla. In Proceedings of the 9th International Symposium on Insect-Plant Relationships (pp. 113-115). Springer, Dordrecht.

MarketsandMarkets.2020.BiopesticideMarkets[www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/biopesticides].

Martin, J.R. 2003. Locomotor activity: a complex behavioural trait to unravel. *Behav Processes*. 64: 145-160.

Martinez, S. S., & van Emden, H. F. 1999. Sublethal concentrations of azadirachtin affect food intake, conversion efficiency and feeding behaviour of *Spodoptera littoralis* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *Bull. Entomol. Res.* 89: 65-71.

Masek, P., Worden , K., Aso, Y., Rubin, G. M., Keene, A.C. 2015. A dopaminemodulated neural circuit regulating aversive taste memory in Drosophila. *Curr Biol*. 25:1535-1541.

Masek, P., Keene, A.C. 2016. Gustatory processing and taste memory in *Drosophila*, *J Neurogenet*. 30:112-121.

Mehdi, S.H., Khan, M.A., Zafaryab, M., Nafees, S. 2018. Pesticide and its Environmental and Health Hazard. *Int. J Eng. Res.* 9(2): 1875-1885.

Mesterhazy, A., Gyorgy, A., Varga, M., Toth, B. 2020. Methodical Considerations and Resistance Evaluation against F. graminearum and F. culmorum Head Blight in Wheat. The Influence of Mixture of Isolates on Aggressiveness and Resistance Expression. *Microorganisms*, 8(7), 1036.

Miller, P.M., Saltz, J.B., Cochrane, V.A., Marcinkowski, C.M., Mobin, R., Turner, T.L. 2011. Natural variation in decision-making behavior in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *PLoS One*. 6(1):e16436.

Min-Li, Z., Shin-Foon, C. 1987. The effects of azadirachtin on the ecdysteroid titre in the larvae of *Ostrinia furnacalis* Guenée. *J Appl Entomol.* 103: 355-359.

Minkenberg, O. P. J. M., Tatar, M., Rosenheim, J. 1992. Egg Load as a Major Source of Variability in Insect Foraging and Oviposition *Behav Oikos*. 65(1), 134-142.

Minoli, S., Kauer, I., Colson, V., Party, V., Renou, M., Anderson, P., ... & Anton, S. 2012. Brief exposure to sensory cues elicits stimulus-nonspecific general sensitization in an insect. *PLoS ONE*. 7 (3), e34141.

Mitchell, B.K., Itagaki, H., Rivet, M.P. 1999. Peripheral and central structures involved in insect gustation. *Microsc Res Tech*. 47(6):401-15.

Miyamoto, T., Slone, J., Song, X., Amrein, H. 2012. A fructose receptor functions as a nutrient sensor in the Drosophila brain. *Cell*. 151(5):1113-25.

Mokany, A., Shine, R. 2003. Oviposition site selection by mosquitoes is affected by cues from conspecific larvae and anuran tadpoles. *Austral Ecol.* 28: 33-37.

Montell C. 2009. A taste of the Drosophila gustatory receptors. *Curr Opin Neurol*. 19:345–353.

Mordue (Luntz), A. J., Blackwell, A. 1993. Azadirachtin: an update. *J Insect Physiol.* 39, 903–924.

Mordue (Luntz), A.J., Morgan, E.D., Nisbet, A.J. 2010. Azadirachtin, a natural product in insect control. In: Gilbert LI, Gill SS (ed). Insect Control. London Academic Press.185-203

Mordue, A. J., Nisbet, A. J., Jennens, L., Ley, S. V., & Mordue, W. 1999. Tritiated dihydroazadirachtin binding to *Schistocerca gregaria* testes and Spodoptera Sf9 cells suggests a similar cellular mechanism of action for azadirachtin. *Azadirachta indica A. Juss.* 247-256.

Mordue, L.A.J., Morgan, E.D., Nisbet, A.J. 2005. Azadirachtin, a natural product ininsect control. In: Gilbert, L.I., Iatrou, K. & Gill, S.S. (Eds). *Comp Molr Insect Sci.* Elsevier, *Oxford, UK.* 6: 117–135.

Mordue, L.A.J., Morgan, E.D., Nisbet, A.J. 2010. Addendum: Azadirachtin, a natural product in insect control: An update. In: Gilbert, L.I. & Gill, S.S. (Eds). *Insect Contro.l Elsevier, Oxford, UK*. 204-206

Mordue(Luntz), A. J., Nisbet, A. J. 2000. Azadirachtin from the neem tree *Azadirachta indica*: its action against insects. *An Soc Entomol Bras.* 29 : 615–632.

Morgan, E.D. 2009. Azadirachtin, a scientific gold mine. *Bioorg Med Chem.* 17(12): 4096-4105.

Moulin, T. C., Ferro, F., Berkins, S., Hoyer, A., Williams, M. J., & Schiöth, H. B.
2020. Transient Administration of Dopaminergic Precursor Causes Inheritable Overfeeding Behavior in Young *Drosophila melanogaster* Adults. *Brain sciences*, 10(8), 487.

Müller, C. 2018. Impacts of sublethal insecticide exposure on insects — Facts and knowledge gaps. *Basic Appl Ecol.* 30:1439-1791.

Müller, T., Prosche, A., Müller, C. 2017. Sublethal insecticide exposure affects reproduction, chemical phenotype as well as offspring development and antennae symmetry of a leaf beetle. *Environ Pollut*. 230: 709–717.

Nasirian, H. 2010. An overview of German cockroach, *Blattella germanica*, studies conducted in Iran. *Pak J Biol Sci. 13*(22), 1077.

Nauen, R., Elbert, A., McCaffery, A., Slater, R., & Sparks, T. C. 2012. IRAC: insecticide resistance, and mode of action classification of insecticides. *Modern Crop Protection Compounds*. 1(3), 935-955.

Navarro-Roldán, M. A., Gemeno, C. 2017. Sublethal Effects of Neonicotinoid Insecticide on Calling Behavior and Pheromone Production of Tortricid Moths. *J Chem Ecol.* 43: 881–890.

Olazcuaga, L., Rode, N.O., Foucaud, J., Facon, B., Ravigné, V., Ausset, A., Leménager, N., Loiseau, A., Gautier, M., Estoup, A., Hufbauer, R.A. 2019. Oviposition Preference and Larval Performance of *Drosophila suzukii* (Diptera: Drosophilidae), Spotted-Wing Drosophila: Effects of Fruit Identity and Composition. *Enviro Entom.* 48(4): 867–881.

**Olson, S. 2015.** An analysis of the biopesiticide market now where it is going. *Outlooks Pest Manag.* 26: 203–206.

**OMS, 2009.** Organisation mondiale de la santé. Base de données européenne de la Santé pour tous. Copenhague, Bureau régional de l'OMS pour l'Europe. [www.euro.who.int]

Oulhaci, M.C., Denis, B., Kilani-Morakchi, S., Sandoz, J.C., Kaiser, L., Joly, D., Aribi, N. 2018. Azadirachtin effects on mating success, gametic abnormalities and progeny survival in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera). *Pest Manag Sci.* 74:174-180

Paes J.B., Souza A.D., Lima, C.R., Medeiros Neto, P.N. 2011. Efficiency of neem (*Azadirachta indica*) and castor (*Ricinus communis*) oils on protection of *Ceiba pentandra* wood against xylophogous termites under feed preference assay. *Rev Árvore*. 35: 3-1.

Pandey, R.K., Tiwari, J.P. 2011. Neem based insecticides interactionwith development and fecundity of red cotton bug, *Dysdercus cingulatus* fab. *Int J Agric Biol Res.* 6: 335–346.

Papaj, D.R., Prokopy, R.J. 1989. Ecological and Evolutionary Aspects of Learning in Phytophagous Insects. *Annual Review of Entomology*.34:315-350

Pasquoto-Stigliani, T., Campos, E., Oliveira, J.L., Silva, C.M.G., Bilesky-José, N., Guilger, M., Troost, J., Oliveira, H.C., Stolf-Moreira, R., Fraceto, L.F., Lima, R.d. 2017. Nanocapsules Containing Neem (*Azadirachta Indica*) Oil: Development, Characterization, And Toxicity Evaluation. *Sci Rep.* 7: 5929.

Patel, S.M., Nagulapalli Venkata, K.C, Bhattacharyya, P., Sethi, G., Bishayee, A. 2016. Potential of neem (*Azadirachta indica* L.) for prevention and treatment of oncologic diseases. *Semin Cancer Biol.* 40-41:100-115.

Paul, R., Prasad, M., Sah, N.K. 2011. Anticancer biology of *Azadirachta indica* L (neem): a mini review. *Cancer Biol Ther*. 12(6):467-76.

**Pavlowsky, A., Schor, J., Plaçais, P.Y., Preat, T. 2018.** A GABAergic feedback shapes dopaminergic input on the *Drosophila* mushroom body to promote appetitive long-term memory. *Curr Biol.* 28: 1783-1793.

Pener, M.P., Dhadialla, T.S. 2012. An overview of insect growth disruptors; applied aspects. *Adv Insect Physiol.* 43:1-162.

**Periquet, A. 1986.** Toxicologies des residus de pesticides. In R deracge(Ed), toxicologigie et securité des aliments. 1 er edition, technichnique, Documentation Paris.

Pham, C. K., Ray. A. 2015. Conservation of olfactory avoidance in *Drosophila* species and identification of repellents for *Drosophila suzukii*. *Sci Rep.* 5:11527.

**Pimentel, D. 1997.** Plant protection: Trade and the environment.world trade climate. Proc 50th N.Z. *Plant Protection Conf.* 20-27.

Pineda, S., Martínez, A.M., Figueroa, J.I., Schneider, M.I., Estal, P.D., Viñuela, E., Gómez, B., Smagghe, G., Budia, F. 2009. Influence of azadirachtin and methoxyfenozide on life parameters of *Spodoptera littoralis* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *J Econ Entom* 102: 1490-1496

**Pobanz, M. 2019.** The Role of Process Chemistry in Providing Healthy Food for a Healthy and Growing Planet.*Org Process Re.* 10: 2107–2108

Popp. J., Peto, K., Nagy, J. 2013. Pesticide productivity and food security. *Agron Sustainable Dev.* 33: 243-255.

**Possidente, B., Mustafa, M., & Collins, L. (1999).** Quantitative genetic variation for oviposition preference with respect to phenylthiocarbamide in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Behav genet*. 29(3), 193-198.

**Prakash, G., Bhojwani, S.S., Srivastava, A.K. 2002**. Production of azadirachtin from plant tissue culture: state of the art and future prospects. *Biotech Bioprocess Eng* 7: 185-93.

#### Qiao, J., Zou, X., Lai, D., Yan, Y., Wang, Q., Li, W., Deng, S., Xu, H., Gu, H. 2014.

Azadirachtin blocks the calcium channel and modulates the cholinergic miniature synaptic current in the central nervous system of Drosophila. *Pest. Manag. Sci.* 70(7): 1041-1047

Quinn, L., Lin, J., Cranna N., Lee, J., Mitchell, N., Hannan, R. 2012. Steroid Hormones in Drosophila: How Ecdysone Coordinates Developmental Signalling with Cell Growth and Division. *Steroids-Basic Science*. InTech, Rijeka, 141-168.

Radwanski, S. A., & Wickens, G. E. 1981. Vegetative fallows and potential value of the neem tree (*Azadirachta indica*) in the tropics. Economic Botany, 35(4), 398-414.

Raguraman, S., & Kannan, M. 2014. Non-target effects of botanicals on beneficial arthropods with special reference to *Azadirachta indica*. *Advances in plant biopesticides*, 173-205.

Raikhel, A., Brown, M., Belles, X. 2005. Hormonal control of reproductive processes. In Gilbert, L.I. (Eds). *Comprehens Mol Insect Sci*. Vol.3., Elsevier, Oxford, UK. 433-491.

Raizada, R.B., Srivastava, M.K., Kaushal, R.A., Singh, R.P. 2001. Azadirachtin, a neem biopesticide: subchronic toxicity assessment in rats. *Food Chem Toxicol*. 39(5): 477-483.

Ramírez, G., Fagundez, C., Grosso, J.P., Argibay, P., Arenas, A., Farina, W.M. 2016. Odor experiences during preimaginal stages cause behavioral and neural plasticity in adult honeybees. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 10: 105.

Rauschenbach, I.Y., Khlebodarova, T.M., Chentsova, N.A., Gruntenko, N.E., Grenback, L.G., Yantsen, E.I., Filipenko, M.L. 1995. Metabolism of the juvenile hormone in Drosophila adults under normal conditions and heat stress: Genetical and biochemical aspects. *J. Insect Physiol*.41(2):179-189.

Rauschenbach, I.Yu., Karpova, E.K., Burdina, E.V., Adonyeva, N.V., Bykov, R.A., Ilinsky, Y.Y., Menshanov, P.N., Gruntenko, N.E. 2017. Insulin-like peptide DILP6 regulates juvenile hormone and dopamine metabolism in Drosophila females. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 243: 1-9.

Rewitz, K. F., Yamanaka, N., & O'Connor, M. B. 2013. Developmental checkpoints and feedback circuits time insect maturation. *Curr top dev biol*, 103, 1-33.

**Rharrabe, K., Amri,H., Bouayad, N., Sayah,F. 2008.** Effects of azadirachtin on postembryonic development, energy reserves and α-amylase activity of *Plodia interpunctella* Hübner (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae). *J Stored Prod Res.* 44(32): 290-294.

Robertson, H.M., Warr, C.G., Carlson, J.R. 2003. Molecular evolution of the insect chemoreceptor gene superfamily in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 100:14537-42.

**Rose, R. I. (2001).** Integrated Mosquito Management--Reply to Dr. Rupp. Emerging Infectious Diseases, 7(4), 761-761.

Ryan, M.J., Anita, V. D., Ian, F. G. K., Ulrike, H. 2009. Oviposition preference for and positional avoidance of acetic acid provide a model for competing behavioral drives in *Drosophila*. *PNAS*.106 (27) 11352-11357.

Sarin, S., Dukas, R. 2009. Social learning about egg-laying substrates in fruit flies. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 276: 4323-4328.

Savary, S., Willocquet, L., Pethybridge, S.J. *et al.* 2019. The global burden of pathogens and pests on major food crops. *Nat Ecol Evol.* 3: 430–439.

Schmetterer, G. R. 1990. Sequence conservation among the glucose transporter from the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 and mammalian glucose transporters. *J Plant Mol Biol Biotechnol.* 14: 697–706.

Schmutterer H. 2002. *Azadirachta indica* A. Juss and other meliaceous plants: sources of unique natural products for integrated pest management, medicine, industry and other purposes. *2nd edn. Neem Foundation. Mumbai, India.* 760-779.

Schmutterer, H., Singh, R. P. 1995. List of insect pests susceptible to neem products. In: The neem tree *Azadirachta indica* A. Juss. and other meliaceous plants In Schmutterer H (ed) - Source of unique products for pest management and other purposes. Weinheim, VCH. 326-365.

Schneider, M., Smagghe, C. & Viñuela, E. 2004. Comparative effects of several insect growth regulators and spinosad on the different developmental stages of the endoparasitoid *Hyposoter didymator* (Thunberg). *Pest Benef Org.* 27, 13–19.

Scott, K., 2018. Gustatory Processing in Drosophila melanogaster, Annu Rev Entomol.63: 15-30.

Scott, K., Brady, R., Cravchik, A., Morozov, P., Rzhetsky, A., Zuker, C., and Axel, R. 2001. A chemosensory gene family encoding candidate gustatory and olfactory receptors in Drosophila. *Cell. 104*: 661-673.

Senthil-Nathan, S., Choi, M.Y., Paik, C.H., Seo, H.Y., Kim, J.D., Kang, S.M. 2006. The toxic effects of neem extract and azadirachtin on the brown planthopper, Nilaparvata lugens (Stål) (BPH) (Homoptera: Delphacidae). *Chemosphere*. 67(1):80-8.

Shanbhag, S.R., Park, S.K., Pikielny, C.W., and Steinbrecht, R.A. 2001. Gustatory organs of *Drosophila melanogaster*: fine structure and expression of the putative odorant-binding protein PBPRP2. *Cell Tissue Res. 304*, 423-437.

Shannag, HK., Capinera, JL., Freihat, NM. 2015. Effects of neem-based insecticides on consumption and utilization of food in larvae of *Spodoptera eridania* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *J Insect Sci*. 15: 152.

Shao, X., Lai, D., Zhang, L., Xu, H. 2016. Induction of Autophagy and Apoptosis via PI3K/AKT/TOR Pathways by Azadirachtin A in *Spodoptera litura* Cells. *Sci Rep.* 18;6:35482.

Shu, B., Zhang, J., Cui, G., Sun, R., Yi, X., & Zhong, G. 2018. Azadirachtin affects the growth of *Spodoptera litura* Fabricius by inducing apoptosis in larval midgut. *Front Physiol.* 9, 137.

Silva, B., Hidalgo, S., Campusano, J. M. 2020. Dop1R1, a type 1 dopaminergic receptor expressed in Mushroom Bodies, modulates Drosophila larval locomotion. *PLoS One*. 15, e0229671.

Silva, M.A., Bezerra-Silva, G.C.D., Vendramim J.D., Mastrangelo, T. 2012. Inhibition of oviposition by neem extract: A behavioral perspective for the control of the mediterranean fruit fly (Diptera: Terphritidae). *Fla Entomol*. 95(2): 333–337.

Simmonds, M.S.J., Blaney, W.M. 1996. Azadirachtin: advances in understanding its activity as an antifeedant. *Entomol Exp Appl.* 80: 23-26.

Simonnet, M. M., Berthelot-Grosjean, M., & Grosjean, Y. (2014). Testing Drosophila olfaction with a Y-maze assay. *JoVE*. (88).

Smagghe, G., Gomez, L.E., Dhadialla, T.S. 2012. Chapter Two - Bisacylhydrazine Insecticides for Selective Pest Control. *Adv In Insect Phys.* 43 : 163-249.

Stalin, S. I., Kiruba, S. 2008. A Comparative Study on the Toxicity of a Synthetic Pyrethroid, Deltamethrin and a Neem Based Pesticide, Azadirachtin to *Poecilia reticulata* Peters 1859 (Cyprinodontiformes: Poeciliidae). *Turkish J Fish Aquat Sci. 8: 01-05*.

Stocker, R. F. 1994. The organization of the chemosensory system in *Drosophila* melanogaster: a rewiew. Cell tissue res, 275(1), 3-26.

Sun, J., Xu, A.Q. Giraud, J., Poppinga, H., Riemensperger, T., Fiala, A., Birman, S. 2018. Neural control of ctartle-induced locomotion by the mushroom bodies and associated neurons in *Drosophila*. *Front Syst Neurosci.* 12, 6.

Tanaka, N. K., Tanimoto, H., Ito, K. 2008. Neuronal assemblies of the *Drosophila* mushroom body. *J Comp Neurol*. 508: 711-755.

Kozlova, T., Thummel, C. S. 2000. Steroid Regulation of Postembryonic Development and Reproduction in Drosophila. *Trends Endrocrinol Metab.* 11(7): 276-280.

**Terriere, L. 1984.** Induction of Detoxication Enzymes in Insects. *Annu Rev Entomol.* 29: 71–88.

Therese M. Poland, T.M., Ciaramitaro, T.M., McCullough, D.G. 2016. Laboratory Evaluation of the Toxicity of Systemic Insecticides to Emerald Ash Borer Larvae. *J Econ Entomol*. 109:2, 705–716.

Timmins, W.A., Reynolds, S.E. 1992. Azadirachtin inhibits secretion of trypsin in midgut of *Manduca sexta* caterpillars: reduced growth due to impaired protein digestion. *Entomol Exp Appl.* 63: 47-54.

Tine, S., Aribi, N., Soltani, N. 2012. Laboratory evaluation of azadirachtin against the oriental cockroach, *Blatta orientalis* L. (Dictyoptera, Blattellidae): Insecticidal activity and reproductive effects. *African J Biotechnol.* 10: 19816–19824

Toivonen, J. M., Partridge, L. 2009. Endocrine regulation of aging and reproduction in Drosophila. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 299: 39–50.

Tomé, H.V.V., Martins, J.C., Correea, S., Galdino, T.V.S., Picançon, M.C., Guedes, R.N.C. 2013. Azadirachtin avoidance by larvae and adult females of the tomato leafminer *Tuta absoluta. Crop Prot.* 46: 63–69.

Tricoire-Leignel, H., Thany, S.H., Gadenne, C., Anton, S., 2012. Pest insect olfaction in an insecticide-contaminated environment: info-disruption or hormesis effect. *Front Physiol.* 3, 58.

**Truman, J.W., Riddiford, L. M. 2007.** The morphostatic actions of juvenile hormone. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol.* 37(8):761-770.

**Trumm, P., & Dorn, A. 2000.** Effects of azadirachtin on the regulation of midgut peristalsis by the stomatogastric nervous system in *Locusta migratoria*. *Phytoparasitica*, 28(1), 7-26.

Tully, T., Cambiazo, V., Kruse, L. 1994. Memory through metamorphosis in normal and mutant *Drosophila*. *J Neurosci*. 14: 68-74.

Valencia-Botin, A.J., Bautista-Martinez, N., Lopez-Buenfil, J.A. 2004. Uso de extractos de Nim, *Azadirachta indica* A. Juss, en la oviposicion de la mosca Mexicana de la fruta *Anastrepha ludens* Loew (Diptera: Tephritidae) en naranja Valencia. *Fitosanidad*. 8: 57 – 59.

Vandegehuchte, M. B., Janssen, C. R. 2011. Epigenetics and its implications for ecotoxicology. *Ecotoxicology*. 20: 607–624.

Veitch, G., Beckmann, E., Burke, B., Boyer, A., Maslen, S., Ley, S. 2007. Synthesis of Azadirachtin: A Long but Successful Journey. *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl.* 46: 7629-7632.

Ventrella, E., Adamski, Z., Chudzińska, E., Miądowicz-Kobielska, M., Marciniak, P., Büyükgüzel, E., ... & Bufo, S. A. 2016. *Solanum tuberosum* and *Lycopersicon esculentum* 

leaf extracts and single metabolites affect development and reproduction of *Drosophila* melanogaster. PloS one. 11(5), e0155958.

Vosshall, L.B., Stocker, R.F. 2007. Molecular architecture of smell and taste in Drosophila. Annu Rev Neurosci. 30: 505-533.

**Waddell, S. 2013.** Reinforcement signalling in Drosophila; dopamine does it all after all. *Curr Opin Neurol.* 23(3): 324-329.

Walters, E. T., Illich, P. A., Weeks, J. C., Lewin, M. R. 2001. Defensive responses of larval *Manduca sexta* and their sensitization by noxious stimuli in the laboratory and field. *J Exp Biol.* 204: 457–69.

Wang, Y., Chen, X., Wang, J., Xun, H., Sun, J., Tang, F. 2016. Comparative analysis of the terpenoid biosynthesis pathway in *Azadirachta indica* and *Melia azedarach* by RNA-seq. *SpringerPlus.* 5, 819.

Weiss, L.A., Dahanukar, A., Kwon, J.Y., Banerjee, D., Carlson, J.R. 2011. The Molecular and Cellular Basis of Bitter Taste in Drosophila. Neuron. 69: 258-272.

Wicher, D., & Marion-Poll, F. 2018. Function and Regulation of Chemoreceptors. Frontiers in cellular neuroscience, 12, 496.

Wieczorek, H., & Wolff, G. 1989. The labellar sugar receptor of Drosophila. *J Comp Physiol A*. 164(6), 825-834.

Winkaler, E. U., Santos, T. R., Machado-Neto, J. G., & Martinez, C. B. 2007. Acute lethal and sublethal effects of neem leaf extract on the neotropical freshwater fish *Prochilodus lineatus*. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C Toxicol.* 145(2), 236-244.

Wolf, R., Wittig, T., Liu, L., Wustmann, G., Eyding, D., Heisenberg, M. 1998. Drosophila mushroom bodies are dispensable for visual, tactile, and motor learning. Learn Mem. 5:166-178.

Xavier, V. M., Picanço, M. C., Chediak, M., Júnior, P. A. S., Ramos, R. S., & Martins, J. C. 2015. Acute toxicity and sublethal effects of botanical insecticides to honey bees. *J Insect Sci.* 15(1).

Xu, J.W., Zhu, X.Y., Chao, Q.J., Zhang, Y.J., Yang, Y.X., Wang, R.R., Zhang, Y., Xie, M.Z., Ge, Y.T., Wu, X.L., Zhang, F., Zhang, Y.N., Ji, L., Xu, L. 2019. Chemosensory gene families in the oligophagous pear pest *Cacopsylla chinensis* (Hemiptera: Psyllidae). Insects. 10, 175.

Xu, W., Zhang, H.J., Anderson, A. 2012. A sugar gustatory receptor identified from the foregut of cotton bollworm *Helicoverpa armigera*. *J Chem Ecol.* 38(12):1513-20.

Yan, Y., Gu, H., Xu, H., Zhang, Z. 2017. Induction of aversive taste memory by azadirachtin and its effects on dopaminergic neurons of *Drosophila*. *J South China Agri Univ*. 38:12-18.

Yang, C.H., Belawet, P., Hfen, E., Jan, L.Y., Jan, Y.N. 2008. Drosophila egg-laying site selection as a system to study simple decision-making processes. *Science*. 319:1679-1683.

Zhang, J., Sun, T., Sun, Z., Li, H., Qi, X., Zhong, G., Yi, X. 2018. Azadirachtin acting as a hazardous compound to induce multiple detrimental effects in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *J Hazard Mater*. 359:338-347.

Zhu, Y., Lazopulo, S., Syed, S., Zhai. R.G. 2020. Behavioral studies in *Drosophila* models of human diseases. Reference Module in Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Psychology.



#### 8 Annexes

#### 8.1 Annexe 1. Production scientifique

#### Publications Internationales (4) :

Maroua Ferdenache, Radia Bezzar-Bendjazia, Frédéric Marion-poll, Kilani-Morakchi Samira. 2019. Transgenerational effects from single larval exposure to azadirachtin on life history and behavior traits of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Sci Rep.* 9(1):17015.

Bilel Boulahbel, Maroua Ferdenache, Karima Sifi, Kilani-Morakchi Samira. 2021. Larval exposure to azadirachtin induced locomotor deficits, and impairs olfactory and gustatory preference in adults of *D. melanogaster* (Diptera : Drosophilidae). Submitted to : *J* asia-pac entomol.

Kilani-Morakchi Samira, Radia Bezzar-Bendjazia, Maroua Ferdenache, Nadia Aribi. 2017. Preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects food selection and digestive enzymes in adults of *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera : Drosophilidae). *Pestic Biochem Physiol.* 140, 58–64.

Radia Bezzar-Bendjazia, Kilani-Morakchi Samira, Maroua Ferdenache, Nadia Aribi. 2017. Azadirachtin induced larval avoidance and antifeeding by disruption of food intake and digestive enzymes in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera : Drosophilidae). *Pestic Biochem Physiol.* 143, 135–140.

#### Communications Internationales (7) :

Maroua Ferdenache, Frédéric Marion-poll, Kilani-Morakchi Samira. 2019. Sensitization of adult gustatory responses to azadirachtin following larval exposure in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera : Drosophilidae). Eighth International Symposium on Molecular Insect Science 7-10 July 2019, Sitges, Spain. Communication Poster.

Maroua Ferdenache, Kilani-Morakchi Samira. Frédéric Marion-poll. 2019. Preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affect feeding in *Drosophila melanogaster*. 26th European Drosophila Research Conference 5-8 September 2019 Lausanne, Switzerland. Communication Poster.

Maroua Ferdenache, Kilani-Morakchi Samira, Radia Bezzar-Bendjazia, Frédéric Marion-poll. 2019. Single larval exposure of azadirachtin affects development and

#### Annexes

survivorship of Drosophila melanogaster (Diptera : Drosophilidae). 19ème Colloque Biologie de l'Insecte du 26 au 28 Juin 2019, Albi, France. **Communication orale**.

Maroua Ferdenache, Radia Bezzar-Bendjazia, Frédéric Marion-poll, Kilani-Morakchi Samira. 2018. Impact de l'exposition pré-imaginale à l'azadirachtine sur la fécondité et la survie de deux générations successives d'adultes de *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera : Drosophilidae). 6ème Congrès Franco-Tunisien de Zoologie, au 6ème Congrès Franco-Maghrébin de Zoologie et aux 119èmes Journées Annuelles de la SZF - Paris 2018. 21 au 23 Novembre 2018. Communication orale.

Maroua Ferdenache, Kilani-Morakchi Samira, Radia Bezzar-Bendjazia, Frédéric Marion-poll. 2018. Preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects digestive enzymes in adults of *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera : Drosophilidae). European Food Chemistry Congress" on July 26-27, 2018 at Amsterdam, Netherlands. Communication orale.

Maroua Ferdenache, Radia Bezzar-Bendjazia, Frédéric Marion-poll, Kilani-Morakchi Samira. 2018. Impact de l'expérience larvaire sur la perception olfactive et gustative d'un biopesticide, l'azadirachtine chez *Drosophila melanogaster*. Conférence Internationale Francophone d'Entomologie (CIFE), SupAgro à Montpellier du 2 au 6 Juillet 2018. Communication poster

Kilani-Morakchi Samira, Radia Bezzar-Bendjazia, Maroua Ferdenache. 2018. Preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects digestive enzymes in adults of *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera : Drosophilidae). World Congress on Enzymology and Molecular Biology ", August 13-14, 2018 at Paris, France. Communication orale.

#### 8.2 Annexe 2. Les molécules testées

Molécule	Source	Pureté	Formule brute	
NeemAzal <sup>®</sup> -T/S	Trifolio	1% azadirachtine A	C35H44O16	
D-Saccharose	Sigma	≥99.5%	$C_{12}H_{22}O_{11}$	
Caféine	Sigma	-	C <sub>8</sub> H <sub>10</sub> N <sub>4</sub> O <sub>2</sub>	
Tricholine citrate	Sigma-Aldrich	≥65 % dans H <sub>2</sub> O	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> O <sub>7</sub>	
Brilliant Blue R	Sigma-Aldrich	Pure	$C_{45}H_{44}N_3NaO_7S_2$	

#### **Tableau 4 :** Liste des molécules utilisées

#### 8.3 Annexe 3. Composition du milieu axénique utilisé pour l'élevage de Drosophila melanogaster.

Pour préparer 10 litres de milieu nutritif

120g d'Agar-Agar

830g de levure

830g de gaude

96g de nipagine

500mL d'alcool

## Articles publiés

#### SCIENTIFIC REPORTS natureresearch

**OPEN** 

### Transgenerational effects from single larval exposure to azadirachtin on life history and behavior traits of *Drosophila melanogaster*

M. Ferdenache<sup>1,2,4</sup>, R. Bezzar-Bendjazia<sup>1</sup>, F. Marion-Poll<sup>2,3</sup> & S. Kilani-Morakchi<sup>1,4\*</sup>

Azadirachtin is one of the successful botanical pesticides in agricultural use with a broad-spectrum insecticide activity, but its possible transgenerational effects have not been under much scrutiny. The effects of sublethal doses of azadirachtin on life-table traits and oviposition behaviour of a model organism in toxicological studies, *D. melanogaster*, were evaluated. The fecundity and oviposition preference of flies surviving to single azadirachtin-treated larvae of parental generation was adversely affected and resulted in the reduction of the number of eggs laid and increased aversion to this compound over two successive generations. In parental generation, early exposure to azadirachtin affects adult's development by reducing the number of organisms, delay larval and pupal development; male biased sex ratio and induced morphological alterations. Moreover, adult's survival of the two generations was significantly decreased as compared to the control. Therefore, Single preimaginal azadirachtin treatment can affect flies population dynamics *via* transgenerational reductions in survival and reproduction capacity as well as reinforcement of oviposition avoidance which can contribute as repellent strategies in integrated pest management programs. The transgenerational effects observed suggest a possible reduction both in application frequency and total amount of pesticide used, would help in reducing both control costs and possible ecotoxicological risks.

The effect of insecticides and other toxicants on insects have been traditionally assessed using measures of the acute mortality as a single endpoint and have relied on the determination of the acute lethal dose/concentration<sup>1</sup>. However, in addition to the direct effect on lethality these compounds may also impair various key biological traits of the individuals that survive exposure through physiological and behavioral effects<sup>1,2</sup>. Among physiological effects, developmental success, morphological deformities, adult longevity, sex ratio, fertility and fecundity are commonly estimated<sup>3,4</sup>. Behavioral effects may be manifested as impairment in insect mobility, learning ability, host finding, sexual communication as well as feeding and oviposition behavior<sup>5-10</sup>. An accurate assessment of these effects is crucial to acquire knowledge on the overall insecticide efficacy for long-term management of pest insect populations, as well as on their selectivity toward non-target species<sup>11</sup>. Indeed, when studying susceptibility of organisms towards insecticides, and beside the short term influences on the directly exposed individuals, it is important to take into account the entire life-history as a comprehensive method for evaluating the total effect on insect population, including the impacts on the next generation which have important implications for the success of an Integrated Pest Management (IPM) program<sup>2,4</sup>.

Among nowadays the insecticides used in sublethal effect studies, the botanical insecticides have been the subject of an increasing number of academic research as a potential option for an environment friendly pest management tools<sup>12,13</sup> due to their rapid degradation in the environment, low mammalian toxicity, low risk of resistance development in target pest populations and good selectivity to non-target arthropods<sup>14-18</sup>. Azadirachtin (AZA), a

<sup>1</sup>Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology, Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Badji Mokhtar University of Annaba, 23000, Annaba, Algeria. <sup>2</sup>Evolution, Génomes, Comportement, Ecologie. CNRS, IRD, Univ Paris-Sud. Université Paris-Saclay, F-91198, Gif-sur-Yvette, France. <sup>3</sup>AgroParisTech, Paris, France. <sup>4</sup>These authors contributed equally: M. Ferdenache and S. Kilani-Morakchi. \*email: samira.morakchi@univ-annaba.dz natural tetranortriterpenoid compound extracted from the neem tree, *Azadirachta indica*<sup>19</sup>, is considered as one of the most promising plant compounds for pest control in organic agriculture<sup>14,20</sup>. AZA shows variable effects on insects including the model insect *Drosophila melanogaster*<sup>21,22</sup>. This triterpenoid acts as sterilant, insect growth regulators by disruption of the endocrine system, repellent, oviposition and feeding deterrent by activating bitter sensitive gustatory cells<sup>23,24</sup>. Larval exposure of *D. melanogaster* to sublethal doses of azadirachtin was found to affects various aspects of their physiology including digestive enzymes<sup>25</sup> and this effect is also further observed in the adults<sup>10</sup>. This pre-imaginal exposure affects not only the physiology and the fitness of flies but also adults oviposition and feeding preference<sup>7,10</sup>.

Most studies on sublethal effects of insecticides are related to continuously or repeated exposure. This exposure provokes a generalized stress and activating a detoxification response such as up-regulated of cytochrome P450 genes which might lead to the detoxification of insecticide and even the development of resistance<sup>26</sup>. Moreover, the up-regulation is thought to provide versatility in environmental adaptation<sup>27</sup>. In botanical insecticide the potential fast desensitization to a feeding deterrent was reported<sup>28,29</sup>. Individual insects initially deterred by feeding inhibitor become increasingly tolerant due to repeated or continuous exposure<sup>29</sup>. Bomford and Isman<sup>15</sup> reported an habitation to pure azadirachtin in the tobacco cutworms which become less sensitive to the antifeedant properties of azadirachtin, but not to a neem containing a same absolute amount of azadirachtin. This might have an important implication to avoid desensitization to commercial neem-based insecticides which contains additional non AZA-compounds<sup>15</sup>. Larval exposure to Neem Azal, a commercial Azadirachtin-rich based formulation, was found to enhance avoidances of this compound in adults of D. melanogaster surviving from previously treated larvae<sup>10,25</sup>. This long-lasting avoidance is related to conditioned aversion and may be related to another mechanism such as sensitization<sup>30,31</sup> which also generally occurs after long term or repeated exposure and may increase avoidance to noxious stimulus<sup>32</sup>. Moreover, increasing evidence has highlighted the critical role of early life experience in adult physiology and behavior in insect<sup>33</sup>. Recent studies have revealed that insect can modulate their behavior on the basis of previous experiences early life and that various insecticide-mediated changes in the directly exposed generation can persist into the subsequent non-exposed generations<sup>34,35</sup>. Previously, we have focused on the impact of larval exposure to azadirachtin on adult's fitness (fecundity, survival) and oviposition site preference of the parental generation of *D. melanogaster* as a model organism for testing insecticide activity<sup>7</sup>. Current study aimed to evaluate, the possible adverse effects of this prior single exposure to azadirachtin experienced by the preceding generations on life table and oviposition site preference of the filial generations. We monitored the oviposition site preference, fecundity, development, sex ratio, survival and morphological abnormalities of exposed and non-exposed generations. All these parameters were investigated over generations until their restoration to predict the outcome of azadirachtin use on pest management practices.

#### Results

**Fecundity and oviposition site preference.** Azadirachtin, topically applied on the 3<sup>rd</sup> instar larvae (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub> of immature stages) affect fecundity of females by a significant reduction of the number of eggs laid as compared to controls (KW = 24.73; p < 0.001). This reduction was observed over two successive generations (parental and F1), however, the total eggs laid was higher in the unexposed generation (F1) than in parental (P) ones (KW = 50.89; p < 0.001) (Fig. 1). Full restoration of affected fecundity was noted in the second generations (F2).

Results of oviposition preference in the no choice experiments (Fig. 1) revealed a clear preference for oviposition on untreated medium than in azadirachtin-treated ones.

For parental generation, Kruskal-Wallis test revealed significant effects in medium  $0.1 \mu g/ml$  (KW = 29.42; p < 0.001) and medium  $0.25 \mu g/ml$  (KW = 24.73; p < 0.001). In the first generation, a significant effect was also noted for medium  $0.1 \mu g/ml$  (KW = 22.95; p < 0.001) and medium  $0.25 \mu g/ml$  (KW = 27, 93; p < 0.001).

The results concerning the dual choice experiments (Fig. 2) revealed an oviposition preference in control medium than in treated medium for all tested generations (P, F1 and F2). Furthermore, flies previously exposed to azadirachtin (early  $3^{rd}$  instar larvae) showed a highest aversion to this substance compared to naïve flies and led fewer eggs for the two first generations (P and F1) with a more marked effects for parental generation (P < 0.001).

The oviposition preference index (OPI) of adult females of *D. melanogaster* exposed, or not, to azadirachtin at larval stage of parental generation were always negative in all generations (Fig. 3).

In the generation P, statistical analysis showed significant differences between OPI of previously treated flies and controls flies with a dose-dependent response (Fig. 3). In addition, for medium  $0.1 \mu g/ml$ , Mann-Whitney revealed significant effects between  $LD_{25}$  of the parental generation and the first generation (Mann-Whitney test U=8; P<0.001),  $LD_{25}$  of parental and second generation (Mann-Whitney test U=20; P=0.0018) but there was no difference between the first and the second generations (Mann-Whitney test U=42; P=0.0887). Similar results were observed for the  $LD_{50}$ , with significant effects observed between the parental generation and the F1 (Mann-Whitney test U=19; P=0.0014), also between P and F2 (Mann-Whitney test U=34; P=0.0284) but no difference between F1 and F2 (Mann-Whitney test U=58; P=0.4428). For control, there was no difference between all tested generations.

Similar results were obtained for medium  $0.25 \,\mu$ g/ml, Mann-Whitney test revealed significant effects between  $LD_{25}$  of the parental generation and the first generation (Mann-Whitney test U = 25; P = 0.0045),  $LD_{25}$  of parental and second generation (Mann-Whitney test U = 24; P = 0.0045) but there was no difference between the first and the second generations (Mann-Whitney test U = 66; P = 0.5512). For the  $LD_{50}$ , significant effects were observed between the parental generation and the F2 (Mann-Whitney test U = 25.50; P = 0.0025), also between F1 and F2 (Mann-Whitney test U = 34; P = 0.0028) but no difference was observed between F1 and P (Mann-Whitney test U = 49; P = 0.1974). There was no difference between controls for all generations.

**Analyses of development.** Results from development analysis of *D. melanogaster* are given in Tables 1 and 2, respectively for parental (exposed) and F1 (non-exposed) generation. Treatment of early third instar larvae at two tested doses ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) decreased the number of larvae, pupae and the final number of organisms





of parental generation with a dose-dependent relationship as expressed by the FNO which is always negative for the treated series. The development of  $F_1 D$ . melanogaster doesn't seem to be affecting by the early treatment of the parental generation. However, the FNO of tested flies ( $LD_{25}$ ,  $LD_{50}$  and control) in treated medium was significantly lower than in the control medium for both generations. There is no difference between the number of organisms reached the pupae stage and the final number of organism in both generations. In addition, treatment of early third instar larvae increased significantly (p < 0.001) the duration of larval and pupal development as expressed by  $T_{50}$ , with dose-dependent manner only for the Parental generation (exposed) as compared to controls. There is no difference between the  $T_{50}$  of the tested flies in both treated and untreated medium.

Larvae, pupae and imagoes of the parental generation showed several types of malformations and anomalies followed by death at each stage of development of *D. melanogaster*. The most prominent malformations detected are incomplete and malformed imagoes (malformed abdomen and wings), curved and smaller body shape, burned larvae, dead adults inside pupae (Fig. 4).

Pre-imaginal exposure of azadirachtin induced a male-biased sex ratio only for the parental generation with a dose-dependent relationship (Fig. 5). Kruskal-Wallis test revealed significant effects between the different tested insect (Control,  $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) in untreated medium (KW = 9.30; p = 0.0095), medium 0.1 µg/ml (KW = 8.02; p < 0.0181) and medium 0.25 µg/ml (KW = 18.85; p < 0.0001) for the parental generation.

**Survival analysis of adults.** A survival analyses during the 15 first days of adults previously treated with azadirachtin as  $3^{rd}$  instars larvae (Fig. 6) revealed a rapid reduction of adult surviving of the generation P (Male: Kaplan-Meier test,  $\chi 2 = 184$ , df = 2, P < 0.001; Female: Kaplan-Meier test,  $\chi 2 = 214$ , df = 2, P < 0.001). Lower mortality was noted for the generation F1 compared to parental. (Male: Kaplan-Meier test,  $\chi 2 = 39.1$ , df = 2, P < 0.001; Female: Kaplan-Meier test,  $\chi 2 = 63.1$ , df = 2, P < 0.001). Flies mortality was dose-dependent and the females were more affected by the treatment.

For the control series no mortality was recorded for both tested generations. For the treated series, the lowest dose  $(LD_{25})$  decline the adult's survival to 49% for males and 36% for females of the P generation versus 94% for males and 84% for females of the F1 generation. The highest dose  $(LD_{50})$  induced more marked effects on adult's survival with 27% for males and 16% for females of the P generation and 81% for males and 64% in females for the F1 generation. Survival of 100% was noted for males and females of the F2 generation.

#### Discussion

Azadirachtin's impact on reproduction have been reported on different insect species<sup>21,41-45</sup>. Our study has demonstrated that a single azadirachtin treatment ( $LD_{25}/LD_{50}$ ) of *D. melanogaster* larvae reduced eggs number affecting negatively the fecundity of surviving females, not only through direct sublethal effects in exposed individuals, but also through transgenerational effects on F1individuals that were never directly exposed to the insecticide.

Oviposition is a complex and critical activity in the life cycle of an insect with a variety of factors that influence both physiology and subsequent behavior, that lead to egg deposition by an insect which tries to ensure



**Figure 2.** Egg-laying preference ( $m \pm SE$ ; n = 12 replicates) of female adults of *D. melanogaster* subjected to a free-choice test on food treated with azadirachtin at two doses ( $0.1 \mu g/ml$  and  $0, 25 \mu g/ml$ ). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated individuals of medium untreated and treated (P < 0.05). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between individuals of the same dose in the different medium (P < 0.05).

safety to their progeny. Reduced fecundity and fertility after azadirachtin treatment has been reported in many insects including *Spodoptera littoralis, D. melanogaster, Galleria mellonella, Dysdercus cingulatus, Tuta absoluta* and *Helicoverpa armigera*<sup>17,41,43-46</sup> and could be correlated to the negative action of azadirachtin on yolk protein synthesis and/or its uptake into oocytes<sup>21</sup>.

Ecdysteroids, JH and insulin/insulin-like growth factor signalling (IIS) regulation are crucial for reproduction of *D. melanogaster*<sup>47</sup>. Vitellogenesis in females was stimulated under JH action and has led to oocytes development, JH synergic action with 20E and IIS controls the nutrient-sensitive checkpoint necessary for oocytes formation<sup>47</sup>. Consequently, reduced fecundity may be related to the antagonist action of azadirachtin on major hormones controlling the reproductive process (JH/ecdysteroids)<sup>7</sup>.

In Anopheles stephensi, azadirachtin treatment has led to abnormal ovaries structure with a complete arrest of oogenesis, vitellogenesis and vitelline envelope formation impairment, as well as follicle cells degeneration<sup>48</sup>. Ovaries of azadirachtin-treated females of *Heteracris littoralis* also showed complete shrinkage with suppressed oocyte growth<sup>49</sup>, in addition to mitochondria disintegration and follicular cells destruction<sup>49</sup>. Moreover, Azadirachtin reduced mating success in *D. melanogaster* flies and negatively affected cyst and oocyte number and size<sup>45</sup>. Its treatment also affected food intake and digestive enzyme activity in the midgut, in these species<sup>10</sup>.



**Figure 3.** Oviposition preference index (m  $\pm$  SE; n = 12 replicates) of female adults of *D. melanogaster* subjected to a free-choice test on food treated with azadirachtin at two doses (**A**: 0, 1 µg/ml; **B**: 0, 25 µg/ml). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between the same dose of different generations (P < 0.05). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between difference tested doses of the same generation (P < 0.05).

This may disturb oogenesis and vitellogenesis since ecdysone and JH rates are affected by nutrient availability, which acts as positive regulator on insulin pathway conferring ovaries the necessary signalling for a normal oogenesis<sup>50,51</sup>.

In addition, tested flies of all generations preferred the control medium for oviposition avoiding the azadirachtin ones for the two tested doses and conditions (no-choice and free choice). A low oviposition rate of non-exposed (naïve) flies in azadirachtin-treated areas could be due to the known repellent, deterrent, and locomotor stimulation effects of azadirachtin and other neem-based insecticides, which were reported by Silva *et al.*<sup>52</sup> for medflies *Ceratitis capitata*. Valencia-Botín *et al.*<sup>53</sup> also suggest that the repellent property of neem extracts is the major factor responsible for the reduction of eggs number in *Anastrepha ludens* (Loew)<sup>53</sup>. The ovipository behavior inhibition may have a valuable impact in pest control.

In addition, flies who have already been treated (third instar larvae of P generation) showed an increased aversion to azadirachtin in comparison to the naïf flies. This continued for two successive generations (P and F1). When oviposition sites were treated with azadirachtin or other neem-based compounds, oviposition repellency, deterrency, or inhibition occurred in several insect species that are able to detect the bioinsecticide on the treated surface<sup>7,14,43,54,55</sup>. The capacity of insects to retain memory from early life exposure affecting the adult response was reported<sup>38,56-58</sup>. In *D. melanogaster*, females avoided oviposition on sites containing azadirachtin after larval exposure to the bio-insecticide<sup>7</sup>.

Here, we have reported for the first time that the negative effects of a single larval exposure to azadirachtin can also be passed on to the F1 generation (transgenerational effects). Environmental toxicants such as insecticide are able to provoke epigenetic alterations, which can be inherited in the next generations<sup>59</sup>. This may explain the reduced fecundity and oviposition avoidance in the non-exposed generation (F1).

Our study has also demonstrated that azadirachtin applied during the third larval instar of parental generation ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) negatively affected various life traits of *D. melanogaster*, in a dose-dependent manner, as it significantly reduced larval, pupation, and emergence rate of the exposed generation. The biopesticide also significantly prolonged the larval and pupation period of development inducing important delays in immature stages development and affect sex ratios (with fewer females in the offspring) of the same generation. Additionally, the treatment induced morphological alterations of larvae, pupae and adults only in the exposed generation (P generation). The most prominent abnormalities were burned larvae, larva-pupa intermediate, pupa-adult intermediate, deformed wings, smaller body size and deformed abdomen. The recorded malformations finally resulted in insect dead. Similar results were noted in *D. melanogaster*<sup>37</sup>, *Hyalomma anatolicum excavatum*<sup>60</sup> and *Spodoptera litura*<sup>22</sup>. Finally, a decline in adult's survival was noted for the two successive generations with more marked effects among the P generation.

Azadirachtin is known to reduce pupation and eclosion rates of many insects like *Aphis glycines*<sup>61</sup>, *Plodia interpunctella*<sup>62</sup>, *Aedes aegypti*<sup>63</sup> and *D. melanogaster*<sup>21</sup>. A negative impact of azadirachtin on the immature stages was expected due to its insect's growth disruptor (IGD) action by suppressing haemolymph ecdysteroid and JH peaks<sup>25,64</sup>. Furthermore, azadirachtin is known to cause nucleus degeneration in the different endocrine glands (prothoracic gland, *corpus allatum* and *corpus cardiacum*) controlling insects moulting and ecdysis, which could act as generalised disruptor of neuroendocrine system<sup>24</sup>. Azadirachtin alters the growth and molting process of several insects by compromising their survival<sup>7,20,43,65,66</sup>. Lai *et al.*<sup>67</sup> reported that azadirachtin down regulated the expression of different genes that are linked to hormonal regulation. This could explain the developmental aberrations observed in our results. Azadirachtin is also known to affect *Drosophila* nutrient intake and metabolism compromising the nutritional signals, which result in a decrease in insect weights and growth rates, and thus

	Larvae			Pupae			Imagoes		
Concentration	N° of individuals	T <sub>50</sub> (h)	Malformations (%)	N° of individuals	T <sub>50</sub> (h)	Malformations (%)	N° of individuals	Malformations (%)	FNO
Control Medium									
Control	93.73±1.31 A a	41.93 ± 0.25 A a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	92.66 $\pm$ 1.41 A a	$150.86 \pm 1.43$ A a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	$90.8 \pm 1.48$ A a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	0
DL25	$85.86 \pm 1.22  \text{A b}$	$49.8 \pm 0.63  \text{A b}$	$2.53 \pm 0.96  \text{A b}$	79.4±1.37 A b	$159.4 \pm 0.35 \mathrm{A}\mathrm{b}$	$1.53 \pm 0.70  \text{A b}$	$78.4 \pm 1.52 \text{ A b}$	17.86±2.65 A b	-13.41
DL <sub>50</sub>	$80.20 \pm 2.24  \text{A b}$	$60.93 \pm 0.61\mathrm{A~c}$	$3.6 \pm 1.03 \text{ A b}$	$75.06 \pm 2.50 \text{ A b}$	$166.2 \pm 0.53 \mathrm{A}\mathrm{c}$	4.4±2.53 A c	73.2±2.53 A c	$20.33 \pm 2.65 \text{ A b}$	-19,25
Medium treated with azadirachtin 0.1 µg/ml									
Control	$89.93 \pm 0.64$ A a	$42.06 \pm 0.61\mathrm{A}\mathrm{a}$	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	$86.26 \pm 1 \mathrm{Aa}$	$151.46 \pm 0.89  A$ a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	$81.60 \pm 1.15$ B a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	0
DL <sub>25</sub>	79.93 ± 1.27 A b	49.6±1.64 A b	4.06±0.93 B b	69.4±0.98 B b	$160.13 \pm 0.50 \mathrm{A}$ b	$4.20 \pm 0.92$ B b	67.4±1.1 B b	$15.86 \pm 2.06 \mathrm{A}\mathrm{b}$	-17.08
DL <sub>50</sub>	$77.46 \pm 1.52  \mathrm{A}  \mathrm{b}$	$62.53 \pm 1.68\mathrm{AAc}$	$7.6 \pm 1.21 \text{ B c}$	$66.93 \pm 0.81$ B b	$167.06 \pm 0.91 \mathrm{Ac}$	$3.73 \pm 0.72 \text{ A b}$	$65.66 \pm 1.37 \mathrm{Ac}$	$16.13 \pm 1.85 \text{ A b}$	-19.34
Medium treated with azadirachtin 0.25 µg/ml									
Control	$80.13 \pm 1.74~{\rm B}$ a	$43.86 \pm 0.90  \text{A a}$	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	74.8±1.67 B a	$150.8 \pm 0.75$ A a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	73.53 ± 1.93 C a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	0
DL <sub>25</sub>	72.53 ± 1.56 B b	54.13 ± 1.10 B b	7.06±1.10Cb	63±1.48 B b	$\begin{array}{c} 159.06\pm0.89\mathrm{A}\\ \mathrm{b}\end{array}$	9.06±0.97 C b	$60.64 \pm 1.77$ B b	19.4±2.15 A b	-17.31
DL <sub>50</sub>	$66.2 \pm 2.18 \text{ B b}$	$61.6 \pm 0.98{\rm A~c}$	$10.86 \pm 0.91 \ B \ c$	$54.13 \pm 1.85$ C c	$171.06 \pm 0.69 \mathrm{Ac}$	$11.86 \pm 1.07 \text{ B c}$	$53.13 \pm 1.82$ B b	$24.13 \pm 1.76$ B b	-26.94

**Table 1.** Effect of larval exposure to azadirachtin on development of parental generation (exposed) of *D. melanogaster.* Letters indicate a significant difference between the different tested doses of the same medium for each stage of development (P < 0.05). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference same doses tested of different medium (P < 0.05). ( $m \pm SE$ ; n = 15 replicates).

	Larvae			Pupae			Imagoes		
Concentration	N° of individuals	T50 (h)	Malformations (%)	N° of individuals	T50 (h)	Malformations (%)	N° final organisms	Malformations (%)	FNO
Control Medium									
Control	97.53±0.80 A a	$42.93 \pm 0.46$ A a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	$97.2 \pm 0.80$ A a	$150.4 \pm 1.22$ A a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	$96.8 \pm 0.76 \mathrm{A}$ a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	0
DL <sub>25</sub>	97.2±0.82 A a	$43.73 \pm 0.85$ A a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	$96.26 \pm 0.94 \mathrm{Aa}$	$152.6 \pm 1.05$ A a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	$94.00 \pm 0.95 \mathrm{A}$ a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	-2.85
DL <sub>50</sub>	97.73±0.85 A a	$42.93 \pm 0.69$ A a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	$96.13 \pm 0.97 \mathrm{A}$ a	$152 \pm 0.80$ A a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	$93.93 \pm 1.17$ A a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	-2.90
Medium treated with azadirachtin 0.1 µg/ml									
Control	89.62 ± 1.80 A a	$43.06 \pm 0.50$ A a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	$87.86 \pm 1.84$ B a	$150.86 \pm 0.57\mathrm{A}\mathrm{a}$	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	$85.60 \pm 1.59$ B a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	0
DL <sub>25</sub>	84.2 ± 1.3 B a	$42.6 \pm 0.77 \mathrm{A}$ a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	$82.4 \pm 1.37$ B a	$152.73 \pm 1.12\mathrm{A}$ a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	$82.51 \pm 1.36$ B a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	-4.44
DL <sub>50</sub>	$84.60 \pm 1.32$ B a	$42.86 \pm 0.79$ A a	$0.0\pm0.0\mathrm{A}~\mathrm{a}$	$81.26 \pm 1.48$ B a	$151.86 \pm 1.19\mathrm{A}\mathrm{a}$	$0.0\pm0.0\mathrm{A}~\mathrm{a}$	$80.86 \pm 1.57~{\rm B}$ a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	-5.30
Medium treated with azadirachtin 0.25 µg/ml									
Control	$86.53 \pm 1.97 \mathrm{Aa}$	$42.64 \pm 0.83$ A a	$0.0\pm0.0\mathrm{A}~\mathrm{a}$	$78.73 \pm 2.17~{\rm B}~{\rm a}$	$149.46\pm 0.94{\rm A}{\rm a}$	$0.0\pm0.0\mathrm{A}~\mathrm{a}$	$78.73 \pm 2.17~{\rm B}~{\rm a}$	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	0
DL <sub>25</sub>	$83.66 \pm 1.73$ B a	$41.8 \pm 0.82$ A a	$0.0\pm0.0\mathrm{A}~\mathrm{a}$	76.40 $\pm1.23$ B a	$150.33 \pm 0.71\mathrm{A}\mathrm{a}$	$0.0\pm0.0\mathrm{A}~\mathrm{a}$	73.2 ± 1.48 C a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	-6.41
DL <sub>50'</sub>	78.8±1.52 B b	$42 \pm 0.81 \mathrm{A}$ a	$0.0\pm0.0\mathrm{A}~\mathrm{a}$	76.86 $\pm1.38$ B a	$151.4\pm 0.60{\rm A~a}$	$0.0\pm0.0\mathrm{A}~\mathrm{a}$	$73.73 \pm 1.55$ B a	$0.0 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{A}$ a	-5.37

**Table 2.** Effect of larval exposure to azadirachtin on development of first generation (non-exposed) of *D. melanogaster.* Letters indicate a significant difference between the different tested doses of the same medium for each stage of development (P < 0.05). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference same doses tested of different medium (P < 0.05). ( $m \pm SE$ ; n = 15 replicates).

resulting in smaller body size impacting survival<sup>10,25,37,66</sup>. The male biased sex ratio under azadirachtin treatment was reported in literature<sup>67,68</sup>.

In conclusion, the present study indicated that pre-imaginal exposure to sublethal doses of azadirachtin affects the fecundity, oviposition preference, and the survival of *D. melanogaster* of parent generation as well as the non exposed F1 generation. The treatment triggered life history traits variation in the P generation.

Results demonstrated that a single azadirachtin application significantly reduced the survival of flies over two successive generations (P: exposed and F1: unexposed) while insects showed clear recovery in the survival rates in the second generation (F2). These findings reflect a long term effects through developmental stage and generations. This effect is consistent in the two first generations could be considered as advantage for pest control by compensating the well-known fast degradation by sunlight and low persistence of azadirachtin in environment (half-life DT<sub>50</sub>: 1.7–25d)<sup>23,69</sup> and suggest a possible reduction both in application frequency and total amount of pesticide used.

Furthermore, the decreased fecundity and survival in P and F1 generations indicated an absence of resurgence induction in offspring, even after full restoration in F2, when parental flies were treated. This translated an absence of hermetic effect, which is considered as a serious problem of exposure to sublethal doses in agriculture.


**Figure 4.** Examples of the most frequent malformations of *D. melanogaster* (n = 50). (**A**) Malformed abdomen and wings curved and smaller body shape; (**B**) dead adults inside pupae; (**C**) malformed adult; (**D**) burned larvae.

In addition, the treatment extended the aversive effect induced by azadirachtin to over two successive generations. This could contribute as push-pull strategies that increase its insecticidal effects in integrated pest management programs.

# **Material and Methods**

**Flies.** Wild-type Canton-S strain of *D. melanogaster* flies were reared on artificial fly food (cornmeal/agar/ yeast) at 25 °C, 70% humidity and 12D-12 L cycle<sup>10</sup>.

**Treatment.** Neem Azal-TS (1% azadirachtin A, Trifolio-M GmbH, Lahnau, Germany) was solubilised in acetone for topical application (1  $\mu$ l/larvae according to Bensebaa *et al.*<sup>36</sup>). The bioinsecticide was applied on *D. melanogaster* early third-instar larvae using two lethal doses of immature stages, 0.28  $\mu$ g (LD<sub>25</sub>) and 0.67  $\mu$ g (LD<sub>50</sub>)<sup>37</sup>. Controls received 1  $\mu$ l acetone (solvent) and all flies were kept under the same conditions as cited above. All experiments were performed over two consecutive generations, the exposed (parental generation: P) and non-exposed (first generation: F1) generation.

**Fecundity and oviposition site preference.** We assessed the egg-laying performances of the females of *D. melanogaster* using a no-choice test. Three mated females (3 days old) that were pre-exposed to azadirachtin at the larval stage ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) were tested for 24 h in a petri dish ( $\emptyset = 65$  mm) filled with 3 ml medium containing azadirachtin at two concentrations 0.1 and 0.25 µg/ml according to Bezzar-Bendjazia *et al.*<sup>37</sup> in addition to acetone as control medium. These concentrations were not lethal with the short exposure time (24 h) used. At the end of the test, flies were removed, and the number of eggs laid on each medium was counted. The control medium was used to test the possible effect of azadirachtin on female fecundity. The experiment was repeated 12



**Figure 5.** Effect of azadirachtin (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>), topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on sex ratio of adults emerged. Different small letters indicate a significant difference between generations of the same medium (P < 0.05). Capital letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated individuals of the same medium (P < 0.05). (m ± SE; n = 15 replicates).

Parental Generation

times for each medium and each generation. Oviposition site preference was measured by means of dual choice experiments. Three fertilized females (3 days old) from controls and treated series  $(LD_{25} \text{ and } LD_{50})$  were allowed to oviposit for 24 h in a free choice egg-laying device. This device consisted of a two petri dishes either filled with control medium (acetone) or treated medium (azadirachtin: 0.1, 0.25 µg/ml). After 24 h, the egg-laying preference was assessed by counting the number of eggs laid in each medium. The test was performed for two successive generations with 12 replicates for each medium and generation.

Oviposition preference index (OPI) defined as (number of eggs on azadirachtin medium – number of eggs on control medium)/total number of eggs was calculated<sup>38</sup>.

**Development assays.** Ten controls or pre-exposed ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) mated females (3 days old), named parental generation, were released into an oviposition box containing petri dishes filled with control (acetone) or treated medium (azadirachtin: 0.1 or  $0.25 \mu g/ml$ ) and left to lay eggs for 8 hours. At the end of the test, the flies were removed and a pool of 100 eggs for each experiment was transferred to a new petri dish containing the same medium. For all groups, we monitored the time course of larval development from egg to adult emergence by counting the number of third instar larvae, pupae, imagoes and their sex ratio, expressed as the number of males divided by the total number of emerged insects.

Next, ten parental flies from each condition (controls or treated) were crossed and the experiments were repeated for the non-exposed first generation (F1) as cited above with the same parameters recorded.

Furthermore, the developmental duration of each stage was recorded for the two tested generations expressed by  $T_{50}$  (time in hours, when 50% of population reached larval, pupal and imaginal developmental stage in vials). All insects were observed under stereo zoom microscope to find any morphological distortions and photographs were taken with Leica Z16 APO.

A factor describing the final number of organisms in comparison to control (FNO) according to Ventrella *et al.*<sup>39</sup> was determined to compare the results:

$$FNO = \frac{T - C}{C} \times 100$$

T = final number of organisms counted in treated medium.

C = final number of organisms counted in control medium.

Positive values of FNO show that number of organisms was higher in tested groups than within control, negative values mean that the number of individuals was higher in control than in exposed groups.

**Survival analysis of adults.** Survival analysis was performed according to Linford *et al.*<sup>40</sup>. For each generation (P: exposed ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ), F1: non-exposed) newly emerged adults were sexed and housed separately into a plastic vials (15 flies per vial) containing fresh food. Insects were transferred to new vial every 2 days. The flies were kept under observation for 15 days during which mortality was assessed every 24 h. Ten replicates were done for each dose and generation.

**Statistical analyses.** Data analysis was performed by R studio version 3.5.0 for Mac OS. The results were expressed as the means  $\pm$  SE for each series of experiments. The homogeneity of variances was checked using Bartlett's test. The Shapiro-Wilk statistic test was used for testing the normality.



Survival analysis of females

**Figure 6.** Effect of azadirachtin ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ), topically applied on early third-instar larvae of *D. melanogaster* on the adult's survival (male and female) of two generations tested (p < 0.05).

Data from egg-laying preference and oviposition index preference was subjected to Kruskal–Wallis test and pairwise multiple comparisons using Dunn's method. Development test were analysed with ANOVA followed by a post-hoc HSD Tukey test. Sex ratio was analysed using Kruskal–Wallis test and the FNO was calculated and shown. The results of the survival analysis were subjected to Kaplan–Meier survival test.

Received: 5 July 2019; Accepted: 1 November 2019; Published online: 19 November 2019

### References

- 1. Desneux, N., Decourtye, A. & Delpuech, J.-M. The Sublethal Effects of Pesticides on Beneficial Arthropods. Annu Rev Entomol. 52, 81–106 (2007).
- 2. Müller, C. Impacts of sublethal insecticide exposure on insects Facts and knowledge gaps. Basic Appl Ecol. 30, 1439–1791 (2018).
- Rodríguez Enríquez, C.-L., Pineda, S., Figueroa, J. I., Schneider, M.-I. & Martínez, A.-M. Toxicity and Sublethal Effects of Methoxyfenozide on Spodoptera exigua (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). Annu Rev Entomol. 103, 662–667 (2010).
- Ali, E. et al. Sublethal effects of buprofezin on development and reproduction in the white-backed planthopper, Sogatella furcifera (Hemiptera: Delphacidae). Sci Rep. 7, 16913, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-17190-8 (2017).
- El Hassani, A. K. et al. Effects of sublethal doses of acetamiprid and thiamethoxam on the behavior of the honeybee (Apis mellifera). Arch Environ Contam Toxicol. 54, 653–661 (2008).
- 6. Xavier, V. M. et al. Acute toxicity and sublethal effects of botanical insecticides to honey bees. J Insect Sci. 15, 137 (2015).
- Bezzar-Bendjazia, R., Kilani-Morakchi, S. & Aribi, N. Larval exposure to azadirachtin affects fitness and oviposition site preference of Drosophila melanogaster. Pestic Biochem Physiol. 133, 85–90 (2016).
- Navarro-Roldán, M. A. & Gemeno, C. Sublethal Effects of Neonicotinoid Insecticide on Calling Behavior and Pheromone Production of Tortricid Moths. J Chem Ecol. 43, 881–890 (2017).
- Tappert, L., Pokorny, T., Hofferberth, J. & Ruther, J. Sublethal doses of imidacloprid disrupt sexual communication and host finding in a parasitoid wasp. Sci Rep. 7, 42756, https://doi.org/10.1038/srep42756 (2017).
- Kilani-Morakchi, S., Bezzar-Bendjazia, R., Ferdenache, M. & Aribi, N. Preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects food selection and digestive enzymes in adults of Drosophila melanogaster (Diptera: Drosophilidae). Pestic Biochem Physiol. 140, 58–64 (2017).
- De França, S. M., Breda, M. O., Barbosa, D. R. S., Araujo, A. M. N. & Guede, C. A. The Sublethal Effects of Insecticides in Insects. Biological Control of Pest and Vector (ed Shields, V. D. C.) 23–40 (InTech, 2017).
- 12. Isman, M. B. Botanical Insecticides, Deterrents, and Repellents in Modern Agriculture and an Increasingly Regulated World. Annu Rev Entomol. 51, 45–66 (2006).
- Hikal, W. M., Baeshen, R. S. & Said-Al Ahl, H. A. H. Botanical insecticide as simple extractives for pest control. Cogent Biol. 3, 1–16 (2017).
- 14. Schmetterer, G. R. Sequence conservation among the glucose transporter from the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 and mammalian glucose transporters. *J Plant Mol Biol Biotechnol.* 14, 697–706 (1990).
- Bomford, M. K. & Isman, M. B. Desensitization of fifth instar Spodoptera litura to azadirachtin and neem. Entomol Exp Appl. 81, 307–313 (1996).
- Greenberg, S. M., Showler, A. T. & Liu, T. X. Effects of neem-based insecticides on beet armyworm (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). Insect Sci. 12, 17–23 (2005).
- Ahmad, S., Ansari, M. S. & Moraiet, M. A. Demographic changes in *Helicoverpa armigera* after exposure to neemazal (1% EC azadirachtin). Crop Prot. 50, 30–36 (2013).
- Khan, N. et al. Determination of minor and trace elements in aromatic spices by micro-wave assisted digestion and inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry. Food Chem. 158, 200–206 (2014).
- Mordue (Luntz), A. J. & Nisbet, A. J. Azadirachtin from the neem tree Azadirachta indica: its action against insects. Anais da Sociedade Entomológica do Brasil. 29, 615–632 (2000).
- 20. Hasan, F & Shafiq Ansari, M. Toxic effects of neem-based insecticides on Pieris brassicae (Linn.). Crop Prot. 30, 502-507 (2011).
- 21. Boulahbel, B., Aribi, N., Kilani-Morakchi, S. & Soltani, N. Insecticidal activity of azadirachtin on *Drosophila melanogaster* and recovery of normal status by exogenous 20-Hydroxyecdysone. *Afr Entomol.* 23, 224–233 (2015).
- Shu, B. et al. Azadirachtin affects the growth of Spodoptera litura Fabricius by inducing apoptosis in larval midgut. Front Physiol. 9, 137, https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00137 (2018).
- Mordue (Luntz), A. J., Morgan, E. D. & Nisbet, A. J. Azadirachtin, a Natural Product in Insect Control. Comprehensive Molecular Insect Science 117–135 (2005).
- 24. Weiss, L. A., Dahanukar, A., Kwon, J. Y., Banerjee, D. & Carlson, J. R. The molecular and cellular basis of bitter taste in *Drosophila*. *Neuron* **69**, 258–272 (2011).
- Bezzar-Bendjazia, R., Kilani-Morakchi, S., Maroua, F. & Aribi, N. Azadirachtin induced larval avoidance and antifeeding by disruption of food intake and digestive enzymes in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae). *Pestic Biochem Physiol.* 143, 135–140 (2017).
- 26. Liang, X. *et al.* Insecticide-mediated up-regulation of cytochrome P450 genes in the red flour beetle (*Tribolium castaneum*). *Int J Mol Sci.* **16**, 2078–2098 (2015).
- 27. Terriere, L. Induction of Detoxication Enzymes in Insects. Annu Rev Entomol. 29, 71-88 (1984).
- Akhtar, Y., Rankin, C. H. & Isman, M. B. Decreased response to feeding deterrents following prolonged exposure in the larvae of a generalist herbivore, *Trichoplusia ni* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *J Insect Behav.* 16, 811–831 (2003).
  Koul, O. & Walia, S. Comparing impacts of plant extracts and pure allelochemicals and implications for pest control. *CAB Rev.*
- Koul, O. & Walia, S. Comparing impacts of plant extracts and pure allelochemicals and implications for pest control. CAB Rev Perspect Agric Vet Sci Nutr. Nat Resour. 4, 049 (2009).
- 30. Minoli, S. *et al.* Brief exposure to sensory cues elicits stimulus-nonspecific general sensitization in an insect. *PLoS One.* 7(3), e34141 (2012).
- Crook, R. J., Dickson, K., Hanlon, R. T. & Walters, E. T. Nociceptive sensitization reduces predation risk. Curr Biol. 24, 1121–1125 (2014).
- Walters, E. T., Illich, P. A., Weeks, J. C. & Lewin, M. R. Defensive responses of larval Manduca sexta and their sensitization by noxious stimuli in the laboratory and field. J Exp Biol. 204, 457–69 (2001).
- 33. Caubet, Y., Jaisson, P. & Lenoir, A. Preimaginal Induction of Adult Behaviour in Insects. Q J Exp Psychol Sect. 44, 165–178 (1992).
- da Costa, J. T. et al. Effects of different formulations of neem oil-based products on control Zabrotes subfasciatus (Boheman, 1833) (Coleoptera: Bruchidae) on beans. J Stored Prod Res. 56, 49–53 (2014).
- Müller, T., Prosche, A. & Müller, C. Sublethal insecticide exposure affects reproduction, chemical phenotype as well as offspring development and antennae symmetry of a leaf beetle. *Environ Pollut.* 230, 709–717 (2017).
- Bensebaa, F., Kilani-Morakchi, S., Aribi, N. & Soltani, N. Evaluation of pyriproxyfen, a juvenile hormone analog, on *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae): Insecticidal activity, ecdysteroid contents and cuticle formation. *Eur J Entomol.* 112, 625–631 (2015).
- Bezzar-bendjazia, R., Kilani-morakchi, S. & Aribi, N. Growth and molting disruption effects of azadirachtin against Drosophila melanogaster (Diptera: Drosophilidae). Pestic Biochem Physiol. 4, 363–368 (2016).
- 38. Flaven-Pouchon, J. et al. Transient and permanent experience with fatty acids changes Drosophila melanogaster preference and fitness. PLoS ONE. 9, e92352 (2014).
- Ventrella, E. et al. Solanum tuberosum and Lycopersicon esculentum Leaf Extracts and Single Metabolites Affect Development and Reproduction of Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS One. 11, e0155958 (2016).
- 40. Linford, N. J., Bilgir, C., Ro, J. & Pletcher, S. D. Measurement of lifespan in Drosophila melanogaster. J Vis Exp. 7, 50068 (2013).
- Pineda, S. et al. Influence of Azadirachtin and Methoxyfenozide on Life Parameters of Spodoptera littoralis (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). J Econ Entomol. 102, 1490–1496 (2009).
- 42. Tine, S., Aribi, N. & Soltani, N. Laboratory evaluation of azadirachtin against the oriental cockroach, *Blatta orientalis* L. (Dictyoptera, Blattellidae): Insecticidal activity and reproductive effects. *African J Biotechnol.* **10**, 19816–19824 (2012).

- 43. Tomé, H. V. V. et al. Azadirachtin avoidance by larvae and adult females of the tomato leafminer Tuta absoluta. Crop Prot. 46, 63–69 (2013).
- 44. Er, A., Taşkıran, D. & Sak, O. Azadirachtin-induced effects on various life history traits and cellular immune reactions of *Galleria mellonella* (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae). Arch Biol Sci. 69, 335–344 (2017).
- Oulhaci, C. M., Denis, B. & Kilani-morakchi, S. Azadirachtin effects on mating success, gametic abnormalities and progeny survival in Drosophila melanogaster (Diptera). Pest Manag Sci. 74, 174–180 (2018).
- Pandey, R. K. & Tiwari., J. P. Neem based insecticides interaction with development and fecundity of red cotton bug, Dysdercus cingulatus fab. Int J Agric Biol Res. 6, 335–346 (2011).
- 47. Toivonen, J. M. & Partridge, L. Endocrine regulation of aging and reproduction in Drosophila. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 299, 39–50 (2009).
- Lucantoni, L. et al. Effects of a neem extract on blood feeding, oviposition and oocyte ultrastructure in Anopheles stephensi Liston (Diptera: Culicidae). Tissue and Cell. 38, 361–371 (2006).
- Ghazawi, N. A., El-Shranoubi, E. D., El-Shazly, M. M. & Abdel Rahman, K. M. Effects of azadirachtin on mortality rate and reproductive system of the grasshopper *Heteracris littoralis* Ramb. (Orthoptera: Acrididae). J Orthoptera Res. 16, 57–65 (2007).
- Badisco, L., Van Wielendaele, P. V. & Broeck, J. Vanden. Eat to reproduce: A key role for the insulin signaling pathway in adult insects. Front Physiol. 4, 202, https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2013.00202 (2013).
- 51. Jeong, E. B., Jeong, S. S., Cho, E. & Kim, E. Y. Makorin 1 is required for *Drosophila* oogenesis by regulating insulin/Tor signaling. *PLoS ONE.* 14, e0215688 (2019).
- 52. Silva, M. A., Bezerra-Silva, G. C. D., Vendramim, J. D. & Mastrangelo, T. Inhibition of oviposition by neem extract: A behavioral perspective for the control of the mediterranean fruit fly (Diptera: Terphritidae). *Fla Entomol.* **95**(2), 333–337 (2012).
- Valencia-Botin, A. J., Bautista-Martinez, N. & Lopez-Buenfil, J. A. Uso de extractos de Nim, Azadirachta indica A. Juss, en la oviposicion de la mosca Mexicana de la fruta Anastrepha ludens Loew (Diptera: Tephritidae) en naranja Valencia. *Fitosanidad.* 8, 57–59 (2004).
- Dhar, R., Dawar, H., Garg, S., Basir, S. F. & Talwar, G. P. Effect of volatiles from neem and other natural products on gonotrophic cycle and oviposition of *Anopheles stephensi* and *Anopheles culicifacies* (Diptera: Culicidae). J Med Entomol. 33, 195–201 (1996).
- Cordeiro, E. M. G., Corrêa, A. S., Venzon, M. & Guedes, R. N. C. Insecticide survival and behavioral avoidance in the lacewings Chrysoperla externa and Ceraeochrysa cubana. Chemosphere. 81, 1352–1357 (2010).
- 56. Dukas, R. Evolutionary biology of insect learning. Annu Rev Entomol. 53, 145-60 (2008).
- Blackiston, D. J., Casey, E. S. & Weiss, M. R. Retention of memory through metamorphosis: Can a moth remember what it learned as a caterpillar? *PLoS ONE*. 3, e1736 (2008).
- Gerber, B., Stocker, R. F., Tanimura, T. & Thum, A. S. Smelling, Tasting, Learning: Drosophila as a Study Case. Results Probl Cell Differ. 47, 139–85 (2009).
- Vandegehuchte, M. B. & Janssen, C. R. Epigenetics and its implications for ecotoxicology. *Ecotoxicology*. 20, 607–624 (2011).
  Abdel-Shafy, S. & Zayed, A. A. *In vitro* acaricidal effect of plant extract of neem seed oil (*Azadirachta indica*) on egg, immature, and
- adult stages of Hyalomma anatolicum excavatum (Ixodoidea: Ixodidae). Vet Parasitol. 106, 89–96 (2002).
- Kraiss, H. & Cullen, E. M. Insect growth regulator effects of azadirachtin and neem oil on survivorship, development and fecundity of *Aphis glycines* (Homoptera: Aphididae) and its predator, *Harmonia axyridis* (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae). CRC Crit Rev Plant Sci. 64, 660–668 (2008).
- Lynn, O. M., Kim, J. E. & Lee, K. Y. Effects of azadirachtin on the development and gene expression of fifth instar larvae of Indianmeal moth, *Plodia interpunctella. J Asia Pac Entomol.* 15, 101–105 (2012).
- Koodalingam, A., Deepalakshmi, R., Ammu, M. & Rajalakshmi, A. Effects of NeemAzal on marker enzymes and hemocyte phagocytic activity of larvae and pupae of the vector mosquito *Aedes aegypti. J Asia Pac Entomol.* 17, 175–181 (2014).
- 64. Mordue (Luntz), A. J. & Blackwell, A. Azadirachtin: an update. J Insect Physiol. 39, 903-924 (1993).
- Alouani, A., Rehimi, N. & Soltani, N. Larvicidal Activity of a Neem Tree Extract (Azadirachtin) Against Mosquito Larvae in the Republic of Algeria. Jordan J Biol Sci. 2, 15–22 (2009).
- Lai, D., Jin, X., Wang, H., Yuan, M. & Xu, H. Gene expression profile change and growth inhibition in *Drosophila* larvae treated with azadirachtin. J Biotechnol. 185, 51–56 (2014).
- 67. Arnason, J. T. *et al.* Antifeedant and insecticidal properties of azadirachtin to the European corn borer, *Ostrinia nubilalis. Entomol Exp Appl.* **38**, 29–34 (1985).
- Schneider, M., Smagghe, C. & Viñuela, E. Comparative effects of several insect growth regulators and spinosad on the different developmental stages of the endoparasitoid Hyposoter didymator (Thunberg). Pesticides and Beneficial Organisms. 27, 13–19 (2004).
- 69. European Food Safety Authority. Conclusion on the peer review of the pesticide risk assessment of the active substance azadirachtin. EFSA Journal. 9(3), 1858 (2011).

# Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the National Fund for Scientific Research of Algeria (Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology to Prof. N. Soltani) and by the Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research of Algeria (CNEPRU project D01N01UN23012014106 to Prof. S. Kilani-Morakchi). M.F was supported by a grant from the French government in association with Campus France (Algerian-French Bilateral cooperation PROFAS B+scholarship) and the doctoral school ABIES.

# **Author contributions**

S.K.M. designed the experiment; M.F. and R.B.B. performed the experiments; M.F. and S.K.M. analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; S.K.M. and F.M.P. reviewed and approved the manuscript.

# **Competing interests**

The authors declare no competing interests.

# Additional information

Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to S.K.-M.

Reprints and permissions information is available at www.nature.com/reprints.

**Publisher's note** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

**Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

© The Author(s) 2019

# Terms and Conditions

Springer Nature journal content, brought to you courtesy of Springer Nature Customer Service Center GmbH ("Springer Nature").

Springer Nature supports a reasonable amount of sharing of research papers by authors, subscribers and authorised users ("Users"), for smallscale personal, non-commercial use provided that all copyright, trade and service marks and other proprietary notices are maintained. By accessing, sharing, receiving or otherwise using the Springer Nature journal content you agree to these terms of use ("Terms"). For these purposes, Springer Nature considers academic use (by researchers and students) to be non-commercial.

These Terms are supplementary and will apply in addition to any applicable website terms and conditions, a relevant site licence or a personal subscription. These Terms will prevail over any conflict or ambiguity with regards to the relevant terms, a site licence or a personal subscription (to the extent of the conflict or ambiguity only). For Creative Commons-licensed articles, the terms of the Creative Commons license used will apply.

We collect and use personal data to provide access to the Springer Nature journal content. We may also use these personal data internally within ResearchGate and Springer Nature and as agreed share it, in an anonymised way, for purposes of tracking, analysis and reporting. We will not otherwise disclose your personal data outside the ResearchGate or the Springer Nature group of companies unless we have your permission as detailed in the Privacy Policy.

While Users may use the Springer Nature journal content for small scale, personal non-commercial use, it is important to note that Users may not:

- 1. use such content for the purpose of providing other users with access on a regular or large scale basis or as a means to circumvent access control;
- 2. use such content where to do so would be considered a criminal or statutory offence in any jurisdiction, or gives rise to civil liability, or is otherwise unlawful;
- 3. falsely or misleadingly imply or suggest endorsement, approval, sponsorship, or association unless explicitly agreed to by Springer Nature in writing;
- 4. use bots or other automated methods to access the content or redirect messages
- 5. override any security feature or exclusionary protocol; or
- 6. share the content in order to create substitute for Springer Nature products or services or a systematic database of Springer Nature journal content.

In line with the restriction against commercial use, Springer Nature does not permit the creation of a product or service that creates revenue, royalties, rent or income from our content or its inclusion as part of a paid for service or for other commercial gain. Springer Nature journal content cannot be used for inter-library loans and librarians may not upload Springer Nature journal content on a large scale into their, or any other, institutional repository.

These terms of use are reviewed regularly and may be amended at any time. Springer Nature is not obligated to publish any information or content on this website and may remove it or features or functionality at our sole discretion, at any time with or without notice. Springer Nature may revoke this licence to you at any time and remove access to any copies of the Springer Nature journal content which have been saved.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, Springer Nature makes no warranties, representations or guarantees to Users, either express or implied with respect to the Springer nature journal content and all parties disclaim and waive any implied warranties or warranties imposed by law, including merchantability or fitness for any particular purpose.

Please note that these rights do not automatically extend to content, data or other material published by Springer Nature that may be licensed from third parties.

If you would like to use or distribute our Springer Nature journal content to a wider audience or on a regular basis or in any other manner not expressly permitted by these Terms, please contact Springer Nature at

onlineservice@springernature.com

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pest

# Azadirachtin induced larval avoidance and antifeeding by disruption of food intake and digestive enzymes in Drosophila melanogaster (Diptera: Drosophilidae)



Radia Bezzar-Bendjazia<sup>1</sup>, Samira Kilani-Morakchi<sup>\*,1</sup>, Ferdenache Maroua, Nadia Aribi

Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology, Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Badji Mokhtar University of Annaba, 23000 Annaba, Algeria

# ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Azadirachtin Drosophila melanogaster Larval avoidance Food intake Digestive enzymes

# ABSTRACT

Botanical insecticides are a promising alternative to reduce the harmful effects of synthetic chemicals. Among the botanical biopesticides, azadirachtin obtained from the Indian neem tree Azadirachta indica A. Juss. (Meliaceae) is probably the biorational insecticide with greatest agriculture use nowadays due to its broad insecticide activity. The current study, evaluated the lethal and sublethal effects of azadirachtin on larval avoidance, food intake and digestive enzymes of Drosophila melanogaster larvae as biological model. Azadirachtin was applied topically at two doses  $LD_{25}$  (0.28 µg) and  $LD_{50}$  (0.67 µg) on early third instars larvae.

Results evaluated 24 h after treatment showed that larvae exhibited significant repellence to azadirachtin and prefer keeping in untreated arenas rather than moving to treated one. In addition, azadirachtin avoidance was more marked in larvae previously treated with this compound as compared with naïf larvae (controls). Moreover, azadirachtin treatment decreased significantly the amount of larval food intake. Finally, azadirachtin reduced significantly the activity of larval  $\alpha$ -amylase, chitinase and protease and increased the activity of lipase. This finding showed that azadirachtin induced behavioral and physiological disruption affecting the ability of the insect to digest food. This rapid installation of avoidance and long term antifeedancy might reinforce the action of azadirachtin and provide a new behavioral strategy for integrated pest management programs.

# 1. Introduction

Pesticides have played a crucial role in increasing agricultural productivity [1]. However, increasing awareness regarding environmental and human health impacts of conventional pesticides reduced their availability and promoted the search for alternative control strategies and reduced risk pesticides [2]. Consequently, a drastic re-emergence of interest in the use of natural pesticides, or biopesticides, especially plantderived compounds was noted [3,4,5,6]. The prominent botanical pesticides that have received the best of attention are those issued from the neem tree, Azadirachta indica A. Juss. (Meliaceae) [3,7,8]. Azadirachtin, produced as secondary metabolite, is the principal active constituent in neem extracts [3]. Due to its chemical complexity, azadirachtin has many anti-insect properties but no resistance problem [3]. In addition, this compound has also been reported as safer for non-target organisms; however, this earlier perception has been recently challenged specially in relation with natural enemies and pollinators [9,10,11,12]. Despite these problems, azadirachtin still a recognizable alternative to conventional insecticides in integrates pest management programs.

Azadirachtin has multiple modes of action including antifeedancy, fecundity suppression and sterilization, oviposition repellence, growth inhibition, detrimental effects on morphology and changes in biological fitness [13,14,3,15,16,17]. However, at the moment, if the broad areas of its mode of action were established, the details were still not fully understood.

The major action of azadirachtin was its ability to modify or suppress hemolymph ecdysteroid and juvenile hormone titers by inhibiting the release of morphogenetic peptide hormone (PTTH) and allatotropins from the brain-corpus cardiacum complex leading to its well documented IGR effects [18,19,20]. The behavioral effects of azadirachtin are more controversial and seem to vary between insect orders and even species [21,22,23,24].

The ability to discriminate between edible and toxic food is crucial to survive and reproduce, and all animals must locate and selects the diet that maximises fitness [25]. Feeding behavior is both mediated by the detection through contact chemoreceptor on the insect's chemosensillas and sensory code integration by the central nervous system [26]. This primary antifeedancy effects of azadirachtin were reported in

\* Corresponding author.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2017.08.006

Received 29 June 2017; Received in revised form 4 August 2017; Accepted 4 August 2017 Available online 05 August 2017

0048-3575/ © 2017 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

E-mail address: samira.morakchi@univ-annaba.dz (S. Kilani-Morakchi).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Both authors contributed equally to this work and considered first authors.

various orders of insect's including Lepidoptera, Coleoptera, Hemiptera, Isoptera, Diptera and Orthoptera [3]. An internal feedback mechanisms called secondary antifeedancy are initiated following the onset of physiological toxic effects arising from azadirachtin uptake or ingestion, but the reports are not consistent [27,28]. Moreover, decrease in food intake after azadirachtin treatment has been reported to dependent upon the insect species and concentration used [3,28]. Recently, we have reported that the preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects food selection and digestive enzymes in adults of Drosophila melanogaster suggesting a memorability of a learned avoidance and a long term antifeedancy of this compound [29]. In order to estimate the precocity of installation of these effects and their evolution through the insect development: the present study, investigated the acute lethal and sublethal effects of azadirachtin on larval avoidance, food intake and digestive enzymes 24 h after azadirachtin application on third instar larvae of Drosophila melanogaster, one of the most promising animal models used for research on mechanisms of nutrient selection and regulation.

#### 2. Material and methods

# 2.1. Flies

Experimental stocks of *D. melanogaster* (wild-type Canton-S) were reared in glass vials containing a yeast/cornmeal/agar laboratory medium containing an anti-fungal agent and kept at  $25 \pm 2$  °C, 70% relative humidity under a 12 h light/dark photoperiod. Flies were transferred every three days to avoid larval competition and regularly provide abundant progeny for testing.

# 2.2. Insecticide and treatment

A Commercial formulation of azadirachtin, the Neem Azal-TS (1% EC; Trifolio-M GmbH, Lahnau, Germany) was dissolved in acetone and topically applied (1  $\mu$ l per insect) on early third-instar larvae of *D. melanogaster* at two doses, 0.67  $\mu$ g and 0.28  $\mu$ g corresponding respectively to LD<sub>50</sub> and LD<sub>25</sub> (doses that caused respectively a mortality of 25% and 50% of immature stages) [16]. Controls were exposed only to the solvent (1  $\mu$ l acetone) and all flies were kept under the same conditions as cited above. All experiments were done 24 h after treatment.

# 2.3. Larval preference assay

Groups of 20 larvae from controls and treated series ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) were collected and transferred to a petri dishes (Nunc; diameter = 66 mm, height = 15 mm) containing filter paper (Whatman, Cat 42; diameter = 55 mm) divided into two concentric circles (28 mm for the inner circle). The outer circle was soaked with 10 ml of azadirachtin (0.25 µg/ml) whereas the inner circle with 10 ml of acetone. After five minutes for solvents evaporation, the filter paper was humidified with 1 ml of distilled water in order to facilitate the displacement of the larvae. The larvae were placed in the inner circle, after five minutes the number of larvae present on each zone was determined and the larval preference index (LPI) was calculated as follows: (number of larvae on azadirachtin zone – number of larvae on control zone) / (number of larvae on azadirachtin preference index can vary between – 1 (strong aversion against azadirachtin) and + 1 (strong attraction to azadirachtin).

# 2.4. Food intake estimation

The quantification of food intake was performed as previously described by Wong et al. [30]. For each experiment five larvae (Controls,  $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) were provided fresh food medium containing 2.5% (w/v) blue food dye (FD & C Blue no 1). After 30 min of feeding, only the blue larvae were selected.

Larvae were homogenized in  $200 \,\mu$ l of distilled water. A further  $800 \,\mu$ l of distilled water was added and the suspension cleared by centrifugation at 13,000g for 15 min. The absorbance of the supernatant was read at 629 nm. Age-matched larvae exposed to non-dyed food were used as the baseline during spectrophotometry. The absolute amount of food intake was calculated from a standard curve made by serial dilution in water of a sample of blue food.

# 2.5. Digestive enzymes assay

# 2.5.1. Sample preparation

For enzyme extracts individual's midgut of larvae from controls and treated series ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) were dissected out under a stereomicroscope and rinsed in ice cold saline buffer (0.15 M NaCl). A pool of ten midguts were homogenized in 1 ml of universal buffer (pH 7) and centrifuged at 13,000g for 15 min. The supernatant was used as the enzyme source. Six replicates were used for each dose. The protein concentrations in each sample were determined in parallel according to Bradford [31] and used to calculate the specific activity.

#### 2.5.2. Enzyme assay

 $\alpha$ -Amylase activity was assayed using the dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) as the reagent and 1% soluble starch as substrate [32]. Twenty microliters of the enzyme were incubated for 30 min at 35 °C with 100 µl universal buffer (pH 7) and 40 µl soluble starch. The reaction was stopped by adding 100 µl DNS and heating in boiling water for 10 min prior to reading the absorbance at 540 nm. One unit of  $\alpha$ -amylase activity was defined as the amount of enzyme required to produce 1 mg maltose in 30 min at 35 °C.

Chitinase activity was determined using colloidal chitin [33] as the substrate according to Miller [34]. Chitinase activity was assayed, based on dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) method [34]. 250  $\mu$ l of enzyme solution was added to 250  $\mu$ l of 1% colloidal chitin in citrate phosphate buffer (0.05 M, pH 6.6), after incubation for 30 min at 50 °C with continuous shaking (120 rpm), the mixture was heated in a boiling-water bath for 5 min, cooled at room temperature and then centrifuged at 5000g for 5 min. 150  $\mu$ l of the supernatant were mixed with 300  $\mu$ l of universal buffer and 200  $\mu$ l of DNS; the mixture was incubated for 10 min in boiling water bath and then cooled at 4 °C. The absorbance was measured at 540 nm. The activity was calculated from a standard curve of known concentration of *N*-acetylglucosamine. One enzyme unit was defined as the amount of enzyme that produces 1  $\mu$ mol of reducing sugar per hour under reaction conditions.

The lipase assays were carried out as described by Tsujita et al. [35]. Ten microliters of the enzyme and 18  $\mu$ l of *p*-nitrophenyl butyrate (50 mM) as a substrate were added to 172  $\mu$ l of universal buffer (pH 7) and incubated at 37 °C for 30 min. The absorbance was read at 405 nm and one unit of lipase activity was defined as the amount of enzyme necessary to liberate 1  $\mu$ mol of *p*-nitrophenyl per minute under assay conditions.

General protease activity was assayed using casein (1%) as substrate [36]. 200 µl of 1% casein solution was added to 100 µl enzyme and 100 µl universal buffer (pH 7), the mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 60 min. Proteolysis was stopped by the addition of 800 µl of 5% trichloroacetic acid (TCA). The mixture was centrifuged at 8000g for 15 min and the absorbance was recorded at 280 nm. The activity was calculated from a standard curve using tyrosine with a known concentration.

# 2.6. Statistical analysis

Results are given as means  $\pm$  standard errors (SE).The homogeneity of variances was checked using Bartlett's and Brown-Forsythe tests. Data of larval preference was subjected to Kruskal-Wallis test and pairwise multiple comparison using Dunn's method. Index preference was assessed using Mann-Whitney test. Data of quantification of food



**Fig. 1.** Effect of azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. mela-nogaster* on larval preference subjected to two-choice test on azadirachtin-treated surface  $(0.25 \ \mu g/\mu l)$ . Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated individuals in the same surface. The asterisks indicate a significant difference between individuals of the same dose in the different surface (untreated and treated).

intake and activity of digestive enzymes were subjected to one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a post hoc HSD Tukey test. All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad prism version 6.01 for Windows (GraphPad software, La Jolla California, U.S.A., www.Graphpad.com).

# 3. Results

# 3.1. Effect of azadirachtin on larval preference

Azadirachtin treatment (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) significantly affect larval preference for untreated and azadirachtin-treated filter paper arenas (P < 0.001) (Fig. 1). Larvae previously exposed to azadirachtin showed a highest aversion to this substance compared to naïve larvae (P < 0.01). Larvae exhibited significant repellence to azadirachtin and prefers keeping in untreated arenas and avoid moving to the treated one (P < 0.01) (Fig. 1).

The larval preference index (LPI) of *D. melanogaster* (Controls,  $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) is shown in Fig. 2. The means values of LPI recorded in azadirachtin-treated zone (0.25 µg/µl) were -0.18, -0.42 and -0.44 respectively for controls,  $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ . Indeed, Mann-Whitney test showed significant differences between the control and  $LD_{25}$  (Mann-Whitney test U = 1.00; P = 0.023), control and  $LD_{50}$  (Mann-Whitney test U = 1.00; P = 0.023) and no significant effects between the two tested doses (Mann-Whitney test U = 11.50; P  $^{>}$  0.05) (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Larval preference index (LPI) of third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* for azadirachtin-treated surface (0.25  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated individuals.



**Fig. 3.** Effect of azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. mela-nogaster* on food intake (µg/larva), (m  $\pm$  SE; n = 5 replicates of 5 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P < 0.05).

# 3.2. Effect of azadirachtin on food intake

Measurements of food intake and potential antifeedant effects caused by azadirachtin treatment were evaluated using spectrophotometry and shown in Fig. 3. Azadirachtin treatment of early third instars larvae caused a significant reduction of food intake, 24 h after treatment, with a dose dependent relationship ( $F_{2, 14} = 25.80$ ; P < 0.001). The means values recorded were 2.40  $\pm$  0.03 µg/larva for the controls, 1.96  $\pm$  0.13 µg/larva for the LD<sub>25</sub> and 1.36  $\pm$  0.11 for the LD<sub>50</sub> (Fig. 4). The food ingested rate in azadirachtin-treated larvae decreased by about 30% at 45% respectively for LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub> compared with controls larvae (Fig. 3).

#### 3.3. Effect of azadirachtin on digestive enzyme activities

Midguts from azadirachtin-treated (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) larvae showed significantly (F<sub>2, 15</sub> = 45.01; P < 0.001) lower  $\alpha$ -amylase activity in comparison to midguts from controls larvae (Fig. 4). The mean values recorded were 4.86  $\pm$  0.15  $\mu$ mol/min/mg protein for controls, 3.43  $\pm$  0.13  $\mu$ mol/min/mg protein for the LD<sub>25</sub> and 3.14  $\pm$  0.11  $\mu$ mol/min/mg protein for the LD<sub>50</sub>. Statistic analysis revealed no significant difference between the two tested doses (P  $^{>}$  0.05) (Fig. 4).

As a consequence of treatment, chitinase activity decreased in treated larvae when compared with control larvae (F<sub>2, 15</sub> = 202.4; P < 0.001) (Fig. 5). The means values recorded were 0.64  $\pm$  0.009 mmol/min/mg proteins for controls, 0.51  $\pm$  0.005 mmol/min/mg protein for the LD<sub>25</sub> and 0.44  $\pm$  0.006 mmol/min/mg protein for the LD<sub>50</sub>. Statistic analysis revealed significant difference between the two tested doses (P < 0.05) (Fig. 5).

Lipase activity increased in treated larvae as compared with control



Fig. 4. Effect of azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. mela-nogaster* on activity of  $\alpha$ -amylase, (m  $\pm$  SE; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P < 0.05).



**Fig. 5.** Effect of azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. mela-nogaster* on activity of chitinase, (m  $\pm$  SE; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P < 0.05).

larvae (F<sub>2, 15</sub> = 80.90; P < 0.001) and the highest activity was observed in larvae treated by LD<sub>50</sub> (Fig. 6). The means values recorded were 0.18  $\pm$  0.002 µmol/min/mg protein for controls, 0.25  $\pm$  0.007 µmol/min/mg protein for the LD<sub>25</sub> and 0.27  $\pm$  0.004 µmol/min/mg protein for the LD<sub>50</sub>. Statistic analysis revealed no significant difference between the two tested doses (P  $^{>}$  0.05) (Fig. 6).

General protease activity was lower in azadirachtin-treated-larvae (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) as compared with the controls larvae (F<sub>2, 15</sub> = 10.08; P = 0.0017) (Fig. 7). In control series the mean values recorded were 0.80  $\pm$  0.034 mmol/min/mg protein. In treated series the mean values recorded were 0.59  $\pm$  0.044 µmol/min/mg protein for the lowest dose LD<sub>25</sub> and 0.57  $\pm$  0.038 µmol/min/mg protein for the highest dose LD<sub>50</sub>. Statistic analysis revealed no significant difference between the two tested doses (P  $^{>}$  0.05) (Fig. 7).

# 4. Discussion

In this study, we investigated the effects of azadirachtin on larval avoidance, food intake and digestive enzymes in larvae of *D. melanogaster*. Results show that larvae preferentially staying in untreated filter paper arenas rather than moving in azadirachtin-treated one. In addition, azadirachtin avoidance was more marked in larvae previously treated (24 h before experiments) with this compound as compared with naïf larvae (Controls).

Azadirachtin avoidance has also been reported in other insect species, which are apparently able to detect the insecticide on the treated surface [37,38,23,24]. In addition, the impact of previous exposure on insect behavior was reported in different insect's species [39,40,41]. Recently, Kilani-Morakchi et al. [29] demonstrated that larval experience with azadirachtin can alter the physiological and behavioral responses of adults flies and that the aversion (primary and secondary antifeedancy) to this compound can be conserved through the



**Fig. 6.** Effect of azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. mela-nogaster* on activity of lipase, (m  $\pm$  SE; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P < 0.05).



**Fig. 7.** Effect of azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on activity of protease, (m  $\pm$  SE; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (P < 0.05).

metamorphosis suggesting a memorability and avoidance learning memory. In the current experiments, the behavioral effects sparked by azadirachtin seem to appear very early after treatment (24 h) and the first experience (topical application) reinforce the avoidance effect of this compound. Results demonstrate the precocity of this learning memory which may contribute to reinforce the insecticidal activity of this biopesticide and provide a new behavioral strategy for controlling agricultural pests.

In *Drosophila*, a complex olfactory system allows animals to avoid noxious substances [42]. Moreover, the response of larvae to toxic or bitter compounds is mediated by gustatory receptors and can lead to aversive behavior resulting in food intake cessation [43,44]. This primary antifeedancy is mediated by the projection of neurons to the protocerebrum which acts as gustatory interneuron's relaying avoidance information to higher brain centres in *Drosophila* larvae [26,44].

A secondary antifeedant effect including a long-term reduction in food intake, and direct detrimental effects on different insect tissues such as muscles, fat body and gut epithelial cells is also reported [3].

In the current experiments, azadirachtin-treatment of early third instar larvae reduced significantly larval food-intake at the two tested doses ( $LD_{25}$ ,  $LD_{50}$ ) as compared to the controls. Previously, azadirachtin is reported to reduce food consumption in different insect's species [20,45,28]. The antifeedant activity of azadirachtin varied significantly based on the concentration used and the insect species [3,28].

Inhibition of feeding behavior results from stimulation of deterrent receptors by azadirachtin often coupled with an inhibition of sugar receptors [46], these effects results to bad nutrition, starvation, or restriction of food intake [3]. Moreover, neuronal circuits that control feeding must integrate information on both the palatability of food source ant its nutritional content [47]; indeed, *D. melanogaster* seems to be able to discriminate food texture and integrate the chemical and physical qualities of food [48] which may contribute to avoiding azadirachtin-treated food.

In addition, a reduction of insect weight under azadirachtin treatment was reported in *Periplaneta americana* [49], *Helicoverpa armigera* [50] *Spodoptera eridania* [28] and *D. melanogaster* [51,17].

Growth and nutrient intake are function-ally linked processes in development and growth and body mass are directly affected by nutrient uptake. Indeed, nutrient sensing systems play an important role in the physiological adjustment process which is governed by an evolutionary conserved systemic nutrient sensor, the insulin/insulin-like growth factor signalling (IIS) pathway during insect growth [52]. In fact, Lai et al. [51] reported that the inhibition of growth and development caused by azadirachtin in *D. melangaster*, was consistent with those caused by disruption of the insulin/insulin-like growth factor signalling IIS pathway. Moreover, Qiao et al. [53] reported the neurotoxic effect of azadirachtin which might interfere with different endocrinological and physiological actions in insects.

Recent studies indicate that regulation of feeding is not only

governed by gustatory information but also by internal sensors [54,55]. Indeed, cells located in internal organs, including the gut, fat body and the brain, express receptors that detect nutrients or their metabolically processed derivates to regulate energy homeostasis and feeding behaviors [56].

Azadirachtin was reported to cause disruption in insect physiology and its ability to digest food [28]. The results obtained in the present study showed a clear disruption of digestive enzymes activities in *D. melanogaster* larvae after azadirachtin treatment as compared to controls. In intestine, the complex mix of dietary components ingested by flies is broken down by digestive enzymes before it is absorbed by the intestinal epithelium [57]. Azadirachtin was reported to affect digestive enzymes in several insect species [58,27,59]. In the current study, azadirachtin treatment of early third instar larvae of *D. melanogaster* reduced significantly gut  $\alpha$ -amylase, chitinase and protease activities and increased lipasic activity.

 $\alpha$ -Amylase is an enzyme that degrades starch by hydrolyzing  $\alpha$ -1,4glucan bonds [60]. The reduction of  $\alpha$ -amylase activity under azadirachtin treatment was reported in *Periplaneta Americana* [49], *Plodia interpunctella* [61] and *Glyphodes pyloalis* [27]. Lai et al. [51] demonstrate that azadirachtin reduced the activity of  $\alpha$ -amylase in midgut of *D. melanogaster* by repressing expression of  $\alpha$ -amylase gene.

Insect chitinases which belong to family of 18 glycosylhydrolases, detected in moulting fluid and gut tissues, are predicted to mediate the digestion of chitin present in exoskeleton and peritrophic membrane (PM) in the gut to chitooligosaccharides [62].

Azadirachtin reduced significantly the chitinase activity in *D. melanogaster* larvae which is in accordance with the results obtained in adults of the same species [29]. The peritrophic membrane protects the midgut from mechanical damage and toxic compounds; azadirachtin was reported to affect this PM leading to damage of cellular surfaces of the midgut [59]. In addition, in insects the expression of chitinase gene was regulated by 20E (20-hydroxyecdysone) [63], which may explain the effect observed in our results, since azadirachtin act as an antagonist of the 20E.

Lipases play a major role in storage and lipid mobilization. These enzymes are also the basic components in many of physiological process like, reproduction, growth, and defence against pathogens [64]. Our results showed that azadirachtin increased significantly the activity of lipase in the larvae midgut of *D. melanogaster*. Reduction in lipasic activity is mostly reported in literature after azadirachtin treatment [27,64], but this effect differ with azadirachtin formulation and concentration. However, the increase in lipase activity observed in our study may be a result of an increasing of esterase activity needed for detoxification [64,29]. In addition, according to the physiological and developmental needs of the insect, the acquired nutrients can be differentially allocated to different organs, processes and/or metabolic pathways which may explain the increase in lipase activity noted in third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* to meet the demand for energy needed for metamorphosis.

Proteases are groups of enzymes that hydrolyze proteins to amino acids based on their catalytic mechanism [65]. In the present study, compared with the controls, protease activity was significantly reduced in larvae of *D. melanogaster* after azadirachtin treatment. The reduction of protease activity under azadirachtin treatment was reported in several insects' species [49,27]. Azadirachtin prevents the secretion of Proteolytic enzymes and thus significantly impair ability of insects to digest and absorb nitrogenous food. Timmins and Reynolds [66] showed that azadirachtin significantly influenced the trypsine activity in the midgut of Spodoptera litura. Recently, several studies reported that azadirachtin interfere with activities of different enzymes such as  $\alpha$ -amylase, lipase,  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -glucosidases, proteases, lactate dehydrogenase and glutathione S-transferase [27,59,15]. These results may reflect interference of azadirachtin with regulation of feeding and metabolism which clearly supports the secondary antifeedancy action of azadirachtin included reduction in food consumption and digestive efficiency reducing access of nutrients for biological requirements [67,68]. Furthermore, this reduction in efficiency of conversion of ingested and digested food may be a result of an energy conversion from biomass production into induction enzymes involved in detoxification of azadirachtin [28].

In conclusion, it is evident that this study has shown that azadirachtin affects larval avoidance, food consumption and digestion in *D. melanogaster*. This rapid installation of avoidance and antifeedancy reinforce the action of azadirachtin and is useful element for integrated pest management programs that involve behavioral manipulation of insect pests, including the harmful *D. suzukii*, like push-pull strategies for protected plant resource as safer alternative to conventional synthetic insecticides.

# Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the National Fund for Scientific Research of Algeria (Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology to Prof. N. Soltani) and by the Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research of Algeria (CNEPRU project D01N01UN23012014106 to Prof. S. Kilani-Morakchi).

# References

- J. Popp, K. Petö, J. Nagy, Pesticide productivity and food security, a review, Agron. Sustain. Dev. 33 (2013) 243–255.
- [2] H.F. Khater, Prospects of botanical biopesticides in insect pest management, Pharmacologia 3 (2012) 641–656.
- [3] L.A.J. Mordue, E.D. Morgan, A.J. Nisbet, Azadirachtin, a natural product in insect control, in: L.I. Gilbert, K. Iatrou, S.S. Gill (Eds.), Comprehensive Molecular Insect Science, 6 Elsevier, Oxford, UK, 2005, pp. 117–135.
- [4] S.O. Duke, C.L. Cantrell, K.M. Meepagala, D.E. Wedge, N. Tabanca, K.K. Schrader, Natural toxins for use in pest management, Toxins. 2 (2010) 1943–1962.
- [5] D. Chandler, A.S. Bailey, G.M. Tatchell, G. Davidson, J. Greaves, W.P. Grant, The development, regulation and use of biopesticides for integrated pest management, Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London Ser. B. 366 (2011) 1987–1998.
- [6] C.L. Cantrell, F.E. Dayan, S.O. Duke, Natural products as sources for new pesticides, J. Nat. Prod. 75 (2012) 1231–1242.
- [7] M.B. Isman, M.L. Grieneisen, Botanical insecticide research: many publications, limited useful data, Trends Plant Sci. 19 (2014) 140–145.
- [8] S. Chaudhary, R.K. Kanwar, A. Sehgal, D.M. Cahill, C.J. Barrow, R. Sehgal, J.R. Kanwar, Progress on azadirachta indica based biopesticides in replacing synthetic toxic pesticides, Front. Plant Sci. 8 (2017) 610, http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2017.00610.
- [9] W.F. Barbosa, L. De Meyer, R.N. Guedes, G. Smagghe, Lethal and sublethal effects of azadirachtin on the bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* (Hymenoptera: Apidae), Ecotoxicology 24 (2014) 130–142.
- [10] D.B. Lima, J.W.S. Melo, N.M.P. Guedes, L.M. Gontijo, R.N.C. Guedes, M.G.C. Gondim Jr., Bioinsecticide-predator interactions: azadirachtin behavioral and reproductive impairment of the coconut mite predator *Neoseiulus baraki*, PLoS ONE 10 (2015) e0118343(doi:10.1371).
- [11] V.M. Xavier, D. Message, M.C. Picanço, M. Chediak, P.A. Santana Júnior, R.S. Ramos, J.C. Martins, Acute toxicity and sublethal effects of botanical insecticides to Honey Bees, J. Insect Sci. 15 (2015) 137.
- [12] R.C. Bernardes, H.V.V. Tomé, W.F. Barbosa, R.N.C. Guedes, M.A.P. Lima, Azadirachtin-induced antifeeding in Neotropical stingless bees, Apidologie 48 (2017) 275–285.
- [13] L. Lucantoni, F. Giusti, M. Cristofaro, L. Pasqualini, F. Esposito, P. Lupetti, A. Habluetzel, Effects of neem extract on blood feeding, oviposition and oocyte ultrastructure in *Anopheles stephensi* Liston (Diptera:Culicidae), Tissue Cell 38 (2006) 361–371.
- [14] E.D. Morgan, Azadirachtin, a scientific goldmine, Bioorg. Med. Chem. 17 (2009) 4096–4105.
- [15] B. Boulahbel, N. Aribi, S. Kilani-Morakchi, N. Soltani, Insecticidal activity of azadirachtin on *Drosophila melanogaster* and recovery of normal status by exogenous 20-hydroxyecdysone, Afr. Entomol. 23 (2015) 224–233.
- [16] R. Bezzar-Bendjazia, S. Kilani-Morakchi, N. Aribi, Larval exposure to azadirachtin affects fitness and oviposition site preference of *Drosophila melanogaster*, Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 133 (2016) 85–90.
- [17] R. Bezzar-Bendjazia, S. Kilani-Morakchi, N. Aribi, Growth and molting disruption effects of azadirachtin against *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae), J. Entomol. Zool. Stud. 4 (2016) 363–368.
- [18] Z. Min-Li, C. Shin-Foon, The effects of azadirachtin on the ecydusteroid titre in the larvae of Ostrinia furnicalis Guenee, Appl. Entomol. 103 (1987) 355–359.
- [19] D. Feder, D. Valle, H. Rembold, S.E. García, Azadirachtin-induced sterilization in mature females of *Rhodnius prolixus*, Z. Naturforschung. 43 (1988) 903–908.
- [20] L.A.J. Mordue, A. Blackwell, Azadirachtin: an update, J. Insect Physiol. 39 (1993) 903–924.

- [21] Y.A. Bruce, S. Gounou, A. Chabi-Olaye, H. Smith, F. Schulthess, The effect of neem (Azadirachta indica A. Juss) oil on oviposition, development and reproductive potentials of Sesamia calamistis (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) and Eldana saccharina Walker (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), Agric. For. Entomol. 6 (2004) 223–232.
- [22] D.S. Charleston, R. Kafir, M. Dicke, L.E.M. Vet, Impact of botanical extracts derived from *Melia azedarach* and *Azadirachta indica* on populations of *Plutella xylostella* and its natural enemies: a field test of laboratory findings, Biol. Control 39 (2006) 105–114.
- [23] F. Hasan, M.S. Ansari, Toxic effects of neem-based insecticides on *Pieris brassicae* (Linn.), Crop. Prot. 30 (2011) 502–507.
- [24] H.V.V. Tomé, J.C. Martins, S. Correea, T.V.S. Galdino, M.C. Picançon, R.N.C. Guedes, Azadirachtin avoidance by larvae and adult females of the tomato leafminer *Tuta absoluta*, Crop. Prot. 46 (2013) 63–69.
- [25] S.J. Simpson, D. Raubenheimer, The Nature of Nutrition: A Unifying Framework From Animal Adaptation to Human Obesity, Princeton University Press, Princeton, 2012.
- [26] Y. Lee, S. Kim, C. Montell, Avoiding DEET through insect gustatory receptors, Neuron 67 (2010) 555–561.
- [27] R. Khosravi, J.J. Sendi, Effect of neem pesticide (Achook) on midgut enzymatic activities and selected biological compounds in the hemolymph of lesser mulberry pyralid, *Glyphodes pyloalis* Walker (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), J. Plant Prot. Res. 5 (2013) 238–247.
- [28] H.K. Shannag, J.L. Capinera, N.M. Freihat, Effects of neem-based insecticides on consumption and utilization of food in larvae of *Spodoptera eridania* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), J. Insect Sci. 15 (2015) 152.
- [29] S. Kilani-Morakchi, R. Bezzar-Bendjazia, M. Ferdenache, N. Aribi, Preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects food selection and digestive enzymes in adults of *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae), Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. (2017), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2017.06.004.
- [30] R. Wong, M.D.W. Piper, B. Wertheim, L. Partridge, Quantification of food intake in Drosophila, PLoS One 4 (2009) e6063, http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/.
- [31] M.M. Bradford, A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities on protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding, Anal. Biochem. 72 (1976) 248–254.
- [32] P. Bernfeld, Amylase  $\alpha$  and  $\beta,$  Methods Enzymol. 1 (1955) 149–151.
- [33] C.R. Shen, Y.S. Chen, C.J. Yang, J.K. Chen, C.L. Liu, Colloid chitin azure is a dispersible, low-cost substrate for chitinase measurements in a sensitive, fast, reproducible assay, Biomol. Screen. 15 (2010) 213–217.
- [34] G.L. Miller, Use of dinitrosalicylic acid reagent for determination of reducing sugar, Anal. Chem. 31 (1959) 426–428.
- [35] T. Tsujita, H. Ninomiya, H. Okuda, p-Nitrophenyl 865 butyrate hydrolyzing activity of hormone-sensitive lipase 866 from bovine adipose tissue, Lipid Res. 30 (1989) 9971004.
- [36] F.L. García-Carreño, N. Haard, Characterization of protease classes in Langostilla (*Pleuroncodes planipes*) and crayfish (*Pacifastacus astacus*) extracts, Food. Biochem. 17 (1993) 97–113.
- [37] D.L. Ma, G. Gordh, M.P. Zalucki, Biological effects of azadirachtin on *Helicoverpa armigera* (Hübner) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) fed on cotton and artificial diet, Aust. J. Entomol. 39 (2000) 301–304.
- [38] E.M.G. Cordeiro, A.S. Corrêa, M. Venzon, R.N.C. Guedes, Insecticide survival and behavioral avoidance in the lacewings *Chrysoperla externa* and *Ceraeochrysa cubana*, Chemosphere 81 (2010) 1352–1357.
- [39] R. Dukas, Evolutionary biology of insect learning, Annu. Rev. Entomol. 53 (2008) 145–160.
- [40] D.J. Blackiston, E. Silva Casey, M.R. Weiss, Retention of memory through metamorphosis: can a moth remember what it learned as a caterpillar, PLoS One 3 (2008) e1736, http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001736.
- [41] J. Flaven-Pouchon, T. Garcia, D. Abed-Vieillard, J.P. Farine, J.F. Ferveur, Transient and permanent experience with fatty acids changes *Drosophila melanogaster* preference and fitness, PLoS ONE 9 (2014) e92352, http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0092352.
- [42] M.C. Stensmyr, H.K.M. Dweck, A. Farhan, I. Ibba, A. Strutz, L. Mukunda, J. Linz, V. Grabe, K. Steck, S. Lavista-Lianos, D. Wicher, S. Sachse, M. Knaden, P.G. Becher, Y. Seki, B. Hansson, A conserved dedicated olfactory circuit for detecting harmful microbes in *Drosophila*, Cell 151 (2012) 1345–1357.
- [43] S. Marella, W. Fischler, P. Kong, S. Asgarian, E. Rueckert, K. Scott, Imaging taste responses in the fly brain reveals a functional map of taste category and behavior, Neuron 49 (2006) 285–295.

- [44] S. Hückesfeld, M. Peters, M.J. Pankratz, Central relay of bitter taste to the protocerebrum by peptidergic interneurons in the *Drosophila* brain, Nat. Commun. 7 (2016) 12796, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12796.
- [45] V.H. Guerrini, Effect of azadirachtin on Damalinia ovis in sheep, J. Vet. Res. 4 (2000) 133–138.
- [46] M. Simmonds, W. Blaney, Azadirachtin: advances in understanding its activity as an antifeedant, Entomol. Exp. Appl. 80 (1996) 23–26.
- [47] J.W. Stafford, K.M. Lynd, A.Y. Jung, M.D. Gordon, Integration of taste and calorie sensing in drosophila, J. Neurosci. 32 (2012) 14767–14774.
- [48] J.A. Sánchez-Alcañiz, G. Zappia, F. Marion-Poll, R. Benton, A mechanosensory receptor required for food texture detection in *Drosophila*, Nat. Commun. 8 (2017) 14192.
- [49] P.A. Paranagama, K.A.B.C.H. Kodikara, H.M.I. Nishantha, A.M. Mubarak, Effect of azadirachtin on growth and the activity of midgut enzymes of the cockroach *Periplaneta Americana*, J. Natl. Sci. Found. 29 (2001) 69–79.
- [50] S. Ahmad, M.S. Ansari, M. Muslim, Toxic effects of neem based insecticides on the fitness of *Helicoverpa armigera* (Hübner), Crop. Prot. 68 (2015) 72–78.
- [51] D. Lai, X. Jin, H. Wang, M. Yuan, H. Xu, Gene expression profile change and growth inhibition in *Drosophila* larvae treated with azadirachtin, Biotechnology 185 (2014) 51–56.
- [52] J.M. Tennessen, C.S. Thummel, Coordinating growth and maturation insights from Drosophila, Curr. Biol. 21 (2011) R750–R757.
- [53] J. Qiao, X. Zou, D. Lai, Y. Yan, Q. Wang, W. Li, S. Deng, H. Xu, H. Gu, Azadirachtin blocks the calcium channel and modulates the cholinergic miniature synaptic current in the central nervous system of *Drosophila*, Pest Manag. Sci. 70 (2014) 1041–1047.
- [54] M. Fujita, T. Tanimura, Drosophila evaluates and learns the nutritional value of sugars, Curr. Biol. 21 (2011) 751–755.
- [55] N. Toshima, T. Tanimura, Taste preference for amino acids is dependent on internal nutritional state in *Drosophila melanogaster*, J. Exp. Biol. 215 (2012) 2827–2832.
- [56] T. Miyamoto, J. Slone, X. Song, H. Amrein, A fructose receptor functions as a nutrient sensor in the *Drosophila* brain, Cell 151 (2012) 1113–1125.
- [57] B. Lemaitre, I. Miguel-Aliaga, The digestive tract of Drosophila melanogaster, Annu. Rev. Genet. 47 (2013) 377–404.
- [58] A. Anuradha, R.S. Annadurai, Biochemical and molecular evidence of azadirachtin binding to insect actins, Curr. Sci. 95 (2008) 1588–1593.
- [59] S. Senthil-Nathan, Physiological and biochemical effect of neem and other plant secondary metabolites against Lepidoptera insects, Front. Physiol. 4 (2013) 1–17.
- [60] W.R. Terra, C. Ferreira, Biochemistry of digestion, in: L.I. Gilbert, K. Iatrou, S.S. Gill (Eds.), Comprehensive Molecular Insect Science, Biochem. Mol. Biol. 4 Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2005, pp. 171–224.
- [61] K. Rharrabe, H. Amri, N. Bouayad, F. Sayah, Effects of azadirachtin on postembryonic development, energy reserves and α-amylase activity of *Plodia interpunctella* Hubner (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), Stored. Prod. Res 44 (2008) 290–294.
- [62] H. Merzendorfer, L. Zimoch, Chitin metabolism in insects: structure, function and regulation of chitin synthases and chitinases, J. Exp. Biol. 206 (2003) 4393–4412.
- [63] W.J. Yang, K.K. Xu, P.Y. Zhang, W. Dou, J.J. Wang, Transcriptional regulation of a chitinase gene by 20-hydroxyecdysone and starvation in the oriental fruit fly, *Bactrocera dorsalis*, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 14 (2013) 20048–20063.
- [64] M. Nasr, J.J. Sendi, S. Moharramipour, A. Zibaee, Evaluation of Origanum vulgare L. essential oil as a source of toxicant and an inhibitor of physiological parameters in diamondback moth, *Plutella xylustella* L. (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), J. Saudi Soc. Agric. Sci. (2015), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jssas.2015.06.002.
- [65] S. Pascual-ruiz, L. Carrillo, F. Alvarez-alfagemeyy, M. Ruiz, P. Castanera, F. Ortego, The effects of different prey regimes on the proteolytic digestion of nymphs of the spined soldier bug, *Podisus maculiventris* (Hemiptera: Pentatomidae), Bull. Entomol. Res. 99 (2009) 487–491.
- [66] W.A. Timmins, S.E. Reynolds, Azadirachtin inhibit secretion of trypsin in midgut of Manduca sexta caterpillars: reduced growth due to impaired protein digestion, Entomol. Exp. Appl. 63 (1992) 47–54.
- [67] R. Jbilou, H. Amri, A. Bouayad, A. Ghailani, A. Ennabili, F. Sayah, Insecticidal effects of extracts of seven plant species on larval development, a-amylase activity and off spring production of *Tribolium castaneum* (Herbst) (Insecta: Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae), Bioresour. Technol. 99 (2008) 959–964.
- [68] G.D. Almeida, J.C. Zanuncio, S. Senthil-Nathan, D. Pratissoli, R.A. Polanczyk, D.O. Azevedo, J.E. Serrão, Cytotoxicity in the midgut and fat body of *Anticarsia* gemmatalis (Lepidoptera: Geometridae) larvae exerted by neem seeds extract, Invertebr. Surv. 11 (2014) 79–86.



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pest

# Preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects food selection and digestive enzymes in adults of *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae)



# Samira Kilani-Morakchi<sup>\*,1</sup>, Radia Bezzar-Bendjazia<sup>1</sup>, Maroua Ferdenache, Nadia Aribi

Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology, Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Badji Mokhtar University of Annaba, 23000 Annaba, Algeria

# ARTICLE INFO

# ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 19 March 2017 Received in revised form 29 May 2017 Accepted 2 June 2017 Available online 3 June 2017

Keywords: Azadirachtin Drosophila melanogaster Feeding behavior Olfactory response Food intake Digestion Among the plant derived product, azadirachtin, a neem-based insecticide, is exceptional in having a broad range of bioactivity including toxicity, growth, development and reproduction effects, repellency and antifeedancy. If considerable progress on the physiological and biological activities and agricultural application of azadirachtin has been achieved, its exact mechanism of action remains uncertain. In this study, we aimed at assessing the lethal and sublethal behavioral and physiological effects of azadirachtin on *Drosophila melanogaster* Meigen, 1830 (Diptera: Drosophilidae) as biological model. Azadirachtin was applied topically at two doses LD<sub>25</sub> (0.28  $\mu$ g) and LD<sub>50</sub> (0.67  $\mu$ g) on early third instar larvae. Results showed that flies preferentially ingested control medium rather than azadirachtin-treated medium. Pre-imaginal exposure (L3) to azadirachtin increased aversion to this substance suggesting a memorability of the learned avoidance. In addition, all tested flies revealed a clear preference for solvent odour rather than azadirachtin dour. Moreover, azadirachtin was found to affect digestive enzyme activities in the midgut of flies. Indeed, an inhibition of  $\alpha$ -amylase, chitinase, and protease activities and an increase of lipasic activity were noted. These results may reflect interference of azadirachtin with regulation of feeding and metabolism, and provide some evidence of a long term antifeedancy and delayed effects through developmental stage which may reinforce the insecticidal activity of this bioinsecticide.

© 2017 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

# 1. Introduction

Plants with pesticidal properties have been investigated for decades as alternatives to synthetics for developing sustainable agricultural practices and promote human and environmental safety [1,2]. The prominent botanical pesticides that have received the best of attention are those issued from the neem tree, *Azadirachta indica* A. Juss. (Meliaceae) [3]. Azadirachtin, a tetranortriterpenoid, is the most effective compound produced as a secondary metabolite of the neem tree [1]. This compound acts as repellent, oviposition and feeding deterrence, sterilant and as insect growth regulator (IGR) by interfering with both juvenile hormone and ecdysone titers, the two major hormones responsible for insect growth, development and reproduction [1,4,5].

Due to its short persistence and low mammalian toxicity, azadirachtin has been tested for various pests and is currently exploited in agriculture for crop protection against different phytophagous insects [6,4,7]. The compound has also been reported as safer for non-target organisms; however, this earlier perception has been recently challenged specially

<sup>1</sup> Both authors contributed equally to this work and considered first authors.

in relation with natural enemies and pollinators [8,9,10,11]. Despite these problems neem derived insecticides still valuable components in integrated pest management and its use is recommended for insecticide resistance control and organic production pest control [12,13].

The impairment of insect development, defined as reduced pupation, malformation and failure of adult emergence remain the most frequently reported effects of azadirachtin [14,15,16,17]. However, its behavioral effects still more controversial being somewhat dependent upon the insect species, time and/or method of application, and concentration used [14,18,7,17].

Insect use olfaction system to search and locate potential food [19] and thereafter contacting chemoreception, called primary antifeedancy, could confirm its quality and provide a basis for food selection and discrimination [20,21].

The antifeedant effect of azadirachtin was reported on large number of pest insects, including hemipterans [22], lepidopterans [23,24], orthopterans [25] and coleopterans [26]. A secondary antifeedant of azadirachtin consisting on a disruption in the physiology of the insect and its ability to digest food was also reported [27,28,24].

In insects such as the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster*, the ability to discriminate chemicals by taste and avoid toxins in food is critical to the survival and reproduction. Indeed, gustatory information were used to assess the suitability of potential food sources and calorie sensing to make

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author.

*E-mail addresses*: samira.morakchi@univ-annaba.dz, kilanimorakchi@yahoo.com (S. Kilani-Morakchi).

critical decisions of feeding choices that maximizes fitness [29,30]. If the aversive and/or antifeedancy effects of azadirachtin was largely reported in literature [1,28], the possible conservation of this effects through metamorphosis was not investigation. Recently, we have demonstrated that azadirachtin, applied topically to third instars larvae, can affect fitness and eggs laying preference in adults of *D. melanogaster* suggesting an avoidance learning memory which may reinforce its insecticidal activity [17]. Here, we investigated the influence of azadirachtin previous experience (larval exposure) on predigestive and postdigestive effects on adults of *D. melanogaster* as indicated by behavioral responses of adults, food consumption and digestive enzymes.

# 2. Material and methods

# 2.1. Flies

The wild-type *D. melanogaster* Meigen flies (Diptera: Drosophilidae) were raised on standard fly medium made of cornmeal, yeast and agar at 25 °C and 70% relative humidity under a 12-h light:12-h dark cycle.

# 2.2. Insecticide and treatment

A commercial azadirachtin-bases insecticide formulation was used for the experiments (Neem Azal-TS, 1% EC; Trifolio-M GmbH, Lahnau, Germany) and dissolved in acetone for topical application (1  $\mu$ l per insect) [17]. Azadirachtin was applied on early third-instar larvae of *D. melanogaster* at two doses, 0.28  $\mu$ g and 0.67  $\mu$ g corresponding respectively to LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub> (doses that caused respectively a mortality of 25% and 50% of immature stages) [17]. Controls were exposed only to the solvent (1  $\mu$ l acetone) and all flies were kept under the same conditions as cited above.

# 2.3. Two-choice food preference test

The food preference of adult males and females three-day-old were tested in binary choice using a 2-dye marker method blue-red [31] in 96-well microplates (Fig. 1A). The blue food-dye was FD&C Blue Dye

no.1, used at a concentration of 0.5 mg/ml. The red food-dye was acid red, used at a concentration of 2 mg/ml. These food-dyes, at the above concentrations, were ascertained to be neither toxic nor were they metabolized [31]. The wells in the micro test plate were alternately filled with 10  $\mu$ l azadirachtin treated food (0.25  $\mu$ g/ml) marked with blue or red food-dye or control food containing the alternate food dye.

In each experiment, flies of both sexes (10 males and 10 females, tested in single sex groups) emerged from previously treated early 3rd instar larvae ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) were starved for 24 h and placed in plate. After being left to feed for 1 h at 25C° in the dark, the flies were conserved in  $-10C^{\circ}$  during 24 h. A control series was done in parallel. Flies were classified into four groups according to abdominal coloring, i.e. blue (b), red (r), mixed (m) and uncoloured (Fig. 1). The fraction of the uncoloured flies was usually below 5%. Five replicates were used for each test. A preference index (PI) was calculated, according to the formula, where N represents de number of flies:

$$PI = \left[ \left( N^{b} + N^{m}/2 \right) / \left( N^{b} + N^{m} + N^{r} \right) \right] * 100$$

Paired control plates were prepared similarly, using standard food containing the alternate food dye, and used to test the possible effect of dyes on flies preference.

# 2.4. Olfactory response

Groups of adults three day-old of both sexes surviving from previously treated larvae ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) were tested in Y-maze assay according to Simonnet et al. [32] with slight modifications. The flies were starved for 17 h at 25 °C in glass tubes containing wet paper towel before testing. An Y-shape connector was used to join to two glass vials and a third vial (loading vial). A micro-pipette tips was passed through the foam stoppers to link the connector to the three vials to obtain a tightly sealed Y-maze. The narrow end of two pipette tips were cuts, to avoid any return of the fly once it has made its decision, and also a large end of the pipette tip forming the loading tube. Before connecting the "trap" vials, a filter paper (~ 5 mm) was placed in each



Fig. 1. Feeding preference test: (A) 96-well test plate filled with food marked with blue or red food-dye. (B) Abdomen colored in blue. (C) Abdomen colored in red.

vial. 50  $\mu$ l of azadirachtin (0.25  $\mu$ g/ml) were deposited on one filter paper, and 50  $\mu$ l of acetone on the second filter paper. After a brief cooling on ice, flies were tested individually, to avoid group effects, and placed into the third vial. Forty replicates were used for each sex and each dose. Percentage of attraction was calculated of each group.

# 2.5. Quantification of food intake

Quantification of food intake was performed as previously described by Wong et al. [33]. For each experiment five 3-day-old adults males or females surviving from previously treated larvae ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) were provided fresh food medium containing 2.5% (w/v) blue food dye (FD &C Blue no 1) as food intake coloring marker. This Dye is not affected by gut pH and digestive enzymes [31]. After 30 min of feeding, flies were decapitated, to prevent eye pigment from interfering with the absorbance spectrum of the dye. Only the flies with blue abdomen were selected.

Flies were homogenised in 200  $\mu$ l of distilled water inside an eppendorf tube, with the aid of a pestle for eppendorf (eppi-pistill). A further 800  $\mu$ l of distilled water was added and the suspension cleared by centrifugation at 13,000g for 15 min. The absorbance of the supernatant was measured at 629 nm at room temperature. Age-matched flies exposed to non-dyed food were used as the baseline during spectrophotometry. The absolute amount of food intake was calculated from a standard curve (y = 0.06x - 0.02) made by serial dilution (0-15  $\mu$ g/ml) in water of a sample of blue food.

# 2.6. Enzymatic determination

# 2.6.1. Preparation of enzyme extract

3-days old adult males or females surviving from previously treated larvae ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ) were used to quantify the activity of digestive enzyme. Individual's midgut were dissected out under a stereomicroscope and rinsed in ice cold saline buffer (0.15 M NaCl). A pool of ten midguts were homogenised in 1 ml of universal buffer (pH 7) and centrifuged at 13,000g for 15 min. The supernatant was used as the enzyme source. Six replicates were used for each dose. The protein concentrations in each sample were determined, according to Bradford [34], and used to calculate the specific activity.

# 2.6.2. Assay of $\alpha$ - amylase activity

 $\alpha$ -amylase activity was assayed by the dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) procedure [35], using 1% soluble starch as substrate. 20 µl of the enzyme were incubated for 30 min at 35 °C with 100 µl universal buffer (pH 7) and 40 µl soluble starch. The reaction was stopped by adding 100 µl DNS and heating in boiling water for 10 min. After cooling at room temperature, 100 µl of distilled water were added prior to reading the absorbance at 540 nm against a blank prepared in the same manner but with 20 µl of distilled water in place of the enzyme source. Maltose was used as standard solution in the concentration as (180 mg/ml). A calibration curve (y = 0.86x - 0.048) established with maltose (0–1 µM/ml) is used to convert the colorimetric readings into µM of maltose. One unit of  $\alpha$ -amylase activity was defined as the amount of enzyme required to produce 1 mg maltose in 30 min at 35 °C.

# 2.6.3. Assay of lipase activity

The activity of lipase was determined by the method of Tsujita et al. [36]. Ten  $\mu$ l of the enzyme was mixed with 18  $\mu$  *p*-nitrophenyl butyrate (50 mM) as a substrate, and 172  $\mu$ l of universal buffer solution (pH 7). After incubation at 37 °C for 30 min, the absorbance was read at 405 nm against a blank prepared in the same manner but with 18  $\mu$ l of distilled water in place of the *p*-nitrophenyl butyrate. One unit of lipase activity was defined as the amount of enzyme necessary to liberate 1  $\mu$ mol of *p*-nitrophenyl per minute under assay conditions. A standard curve (y = 57x + 0.10) of *p*-Nitrophenol (0–0,025  $\mu$ M/ml) was made from a solution of 0.05  $\mu$ M/ml of *p*-Nitrophenol.

# 2.6.4. Assay of protease activity

Protease activity was measured determined using casein as the substrate [37]. The reaction mixture consisting of 200 µl of casein (casein dissolved in PBS to obtain a solution at 1%), 100 µl enzymes and 100 µl universal buffer (pH 7) was incubated at 37 °C for 60 min. Proteolysis was stopped by the addition of 800 µl of 5% trichloroacetic acid (TCA). The mixture was centrifuged at 8000g for 15 min and the absorbance was recorded at 280 nm against a blank prepared in the same condition but without enzyme source. The activity was calculated from a standard curve ( $y = 0.51 \times -0.06$ ) using tyrosine with a known concentration (0–25 mM/ml) prepared from a solution of 10 mM of tyrosine.

# 2.6.5. Assay of chitinase

2.6.5.1. Preparation of colloidal chitin. Colloidal chitin was prepared according to Shen et al. [38]. Fore grams of chitin powder (Crab shells, Sigma) was added slowly to 40 ml of concentrated HCl and kept at 4 °C for 1 h under vigorous stirring. The mixture was added to 1 l of icecold distilled water with rapid stirring and kept overnight at 35 °C. After filtration, the substrate was washed several times with sterile distilled water until the colloidal chitin became neutral (pH 7). One gram of the colloidal chitin (1% w/v) was dissolved in citrate phosphate buffer (0.05 M, pH 6.6).

2.6.5.2. Enzyme assay. Chitinase activity was determined with colloidal chitin as the substrate according to Miller [39]. 250 µl of enzyme solution was added to 250 µl of 1% colloidal chitin, after incubation for 30 min at 50 °C with continuous shaking (120 rpm), the mixture was heated in a boiling-water bath for 5 min, cooled at room temperature and then centrifuged at 5000g for 5 min. 150 µl of the supernatant were mixed with 300 µl of universal buffer and 200 µl of DNS; the mixture was incubated for 10 min in boiling water bath and the cooled at 4 °C. The reducing sugar released was measured by the DNS method at 540 nm using N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (GlcNAc) as standard. A blank was prepared in the same condition with 250 µl of distilled water in place of enzyme source. Enzymatic activity was estimated using a standard curve (y = 4.88x - 0.13) of *N*-acetylglucosamine (0-0,144 mg/ml) prepared from a solution of 0.5 mg/ml of Nacetylglucosamine. One unit of chitinase activity was defined as the amount of enzymes that produces 1 µmol of reducing sugar per hour under reaction conditions.

# 2.7. Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using Prism v 6.01 for Windows (GraphPad Software Inc., www.graphpad.com). Results are given as means  $\pm$  standard errors (SE). The homogeneity of variances was checked using Bartlett's and Brown-Forsythe tests. Data on food preference index was assessed using Mann-Whitney test. Olfactory response was analyzed using the Chi-square ( $\chi^2$ ) test. Data of Quantification of food intake and activity of digestive enzymes were subjected to one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a post-hoc HSD Tukey test.

# 3. Results

# 3.1. Two-choice food preference test

The sensitivity of adults of *D. melanogaster*, surviving from previously treated larvae ( $LD_{25}$  and  $LD_{50}$ ), to azadirachtin was tested using 2-dye marker to discriminate the preferential ingestion of flies. Results show that flies preferentially ingested control medium rather than azadirachtin treated medium (p < 0.01). The marked food dyes also affected the choice of flies. Indeed, flies preferentially ingested the medium marked with the blue food-dye (53.76%) than the medium marked with the red food-dye (39%).

The preference index (PI) of adult males and females of *D. melanogaster* (Controls, LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) are shown in Fig. 2. For males, the means values of PI recorded in azadirachtin-treated medium (0.25 µg/µl) marked with the blue food-dye were 33.21%, 15.00% and 13.00% respectively for controls, LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>. For females, the PI was 34.83%, 22.91% and 22.31% respectively for controls, LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>. Furthermore, the values of PI recorded in azadirachtin-treated medium (0.25 µg/µl) marked with the red food-dye were always null for both sexes from controls and treated (LD<sub>25</sub> and LD<sub>50</sub>) series. Mann-Whitney test showed significant differences (Mann-Whitney test U = 0.00; p < 0.01) between PI of previously treated flies and controls flies and no significant effects between the two tested doses (Mann-Whitney test U = 10.00; p  $^{\circ}$  0.05).

# 3.2. Effect on olfactory responses

Effects of azadirachtin on fly olfactory response were evaluated using Y-maze. The behavioral test showed a clear preference of fly to enter trap vial containing the solvent rather than azadirachtin. There was no difference between sexes and so data were pooled. Proportion of flies choosing the solvent was 90% for controls, 83.75% for LD<sub>25</sub> and 77.75% for LD<sub>50</sub>. Statistic analysis revealed no significant difference between the tested groups ( $\chi^2 = 4.59$ , p > 0.05).

# 3.3. Effect of azadirachtin on food intake

Amounts of ingested food in controls and treated series (DL<sub>25</sub> and DL<sub>50</sub>) were quantified using spectrophotometry and shown in Fig. 3. In control series the amount of ingested food was 1.910  $\pm$  0.100 µg/fly for males and 3.100  $\pm$  0.095 µg/fly for females. Azadirachtin treatments of early third instars larvae caused a significant reduction of food intake with a dose dependent relationship (Fig. 3). Indeed, the mean values recorded in treated series were 1.320  $\pm$  0.029 µg/fly for males and 2.360  $\pm$  1.150 µg/fly for females at the lowest dose (LD<sub>25</sub>) and 1.080  $\pm$  0.083 µg/fly for males and 2.360  $\pm$  0.017 µg/fly for females at the highest dose (LD<sub>50</sub>). ANOVA indicated significant effects of doses (F<sub>2, 24</sub> = 23.99; p < 0.001), sex (F<sub>1, 24</sub> = 175.5; p < 0.001) but no significant (F<sub>2, 0.15</sub> = 23.99; p > 0.05) in doses-sex interaction.

# 3.4. Effect of azadirachtin on digestive enzyme

# 3.4.1. Effect on $\alpha$ - amylase activity

Results showed that azadirachtin treatment of early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* affected  $\alpha$ -amylase activity of adult of both sex as compared to controls (Fig. 4). In males the mean values recorded were 5.470  $\pm$  0.160 µmol/min/mg proteins for the controls, 3.430  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>25</sub> and 2.260  $\pm$  0.020 µmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>50</sub>. Similar results was observed for female with mean values of 4.47  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins for the CO<sub>25</sub> and 2.440  $\pm$  0.080 µmol/min/mg proteins



**Fig. 3.** Effect of azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on feeding rates ( $\mu$ g/fly) of adults male and female, ( $m \pm$  SE; n = 5 replicates of 5 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (p < 0.05).

 $\mu$ mol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>50</sub>. ANOVA indicated significant effects of doses (F<sub>2, 30</sub> = 396.2; p < 0.001), and doses-sex interaction (F<sub>2, 30</sub> = 12.69; p < 0.001) but no significant of sex (F<sub>1, 30</sub> = 3.77; p > 0.05).

# 3.4.2. Effect on lipase activity

The activity of lipase increased in adult's flies surviving from previously treated early third instars larvae. The highest activities were observed in females treated with LD<sub>50</sub> (Fig. 5). The mean values recorded in the males were 0.054  $\pm$  0.001 µmol/min/mg proteins for the control, 0.060  $\pm$  0.003 µmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>25</sub> and 0.071  $\pm$  0.003 µmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>50</sub>. In the female the mean values were 0.063  $\pm$  0.002 µmol/min/mg proteins for the control, 0.077  $\pm$  0.004 µmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>25</sub> and up to 0.101  $\pm$  0.005 µmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>50</sub> (Fig. 6). ANOVA indicated significant effects of doses (F<sub>2, 30</sub> = 34.09; p < 0.001), sex (F1<sub>,30</sub> = 44.27; p < 0.001) and doses-sex interaction (F<sub>2, 30</sub> = 4.72; p < 0.05).

# 3.4.3. Effect on protease activity

Results showed that azadirachtin treatment of early 3rd instar larva (DL<sub>25</sub> and DL<sub>50</sub>) affected protease activity of adults of both sexes by a significant reduction compared to controls (p < 0.001) (Fig. 6). In control series the mean values recorded were 0.780  $\pm$  0.014 mmol/min/mg proteins for males and 0.750  $\pm$  0.012 mmol/min/mg proteins for females. The activity of protease for the lowest dose (LD<sub>25</sub>) was 0.560  $\pm$  0.022 mmol/min/mg proteins for males. At the highest dose (LD<sub>50</sub>) the value recorded dropped to 0.410  $\pm$  0.021 mmol/min/mg proteins for males and 0.450  $\pm$  0.017 mmol/min/mg proteins for females (Fig. 7). ANOVA indicated significant effects of doses (F<sub>2, 30</sub> = 212.7; p < 0.001), but no significant effects of sex (F<sub>1, 30</sub> = 0.0016; p > 0.05) and doses-sex interaction (F<sub>2, 30</sub> = 2.34; p > 0.05).



Fig. 2. Preference index (PI) of adults of *D. melanogaster* subjected to two-choice test on azadirachtin-treated food (0.25 µg/µl) marked with the blue food-dye and control medium marked with red food-dye. A: Male, B: female. Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated individuals.



**Fig. 4.** Effect of azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on activity of  $\alpha$ -amylase of adults male and female, (m  $\pm$  SE; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (p < 0.05).

# 3.4.4. Effect on chitinase activity

As a consequence of larval treatment, the chitinolytic activity of adult of both sex of *D. melanogaster* decreased significantly as compared to controls (p < 0.001) (Fig. 7). ANOVA revealed significant effects of dose ( $F_{2, 30} = 48.81$ ; p < 0.001) (p < 0.001), sex ( $F_{1, 30} = 44.94$ ; p < 0.001) and dose-sex interaction ( $F_{2, 30} = 8.67$ ; p < 0.001). The mean values for controls series were 0.440  $\pm$  0.010 mmol/min/mg proteins and 0.540  $\pm$  0.012 mmol/min/mg proteins respectively for males and females. In treated series the mean values recorded were 0.420  $\pm$  0.009 mmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>25</sub> and 0.370  $\pm$  0.005 mmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>25</sub> and 0.430  $\pm$  0.012 mmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>50</sub> for males and 0.430  $\pm$  0.012 mmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>50</sub> for males and 0.430  $\pm$  0.012 mmol/min/mg proteins for the LD<sub>50</sub> for females (Fig. 7).

# 4. Discussion

In this study, we evaluated the effects of azadirachtin treatment of early third instar larvae on feeding behavior and digestive enzymes of adults of *D. melanogaster*. In our results, flies preferentially ingested dyed control food rather than azadirachtin-treated food. Dyes appear to affect the choice of flies, with a clear preference for blue food-dye than the red food-dye. This preference for blue food-dye was reported by Fougeron [40]. Recently, Bantel & Tessier, [41] reported the impact of these dyes concentration on food preference in *D. melanogaster*. In addition, our results revealed that the antifeeding effect of azadirachtin was more marked in previously treated flies (third instar larvae) as compared with naïf flies suggesting that previous experience plays a major role in the feeding preference of adults of *D. melanogaster*.

The effects of azadirachtin on olfactory response were also evaluated on adults of *D. melanogaster*. All flies tested in dual choice revealed a



**Fig. 5.** Effect of azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on activity of lipase of adults male and female, (m  $\pm$  SE; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (p < 0.05).



**Fig. 6.** Effect of azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on activity of protease of adults male and female, ( $m \pm SE$ ; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (p < 0.05).

clear preference for solvent odour rather than azadirachtin odour. Preimaginal exposure of flies to the bioinsecticide had no significant effects on insect olfactory orientation.

In insect, feeding preingestive inhibitors affect insect orientation, searching, and food selection by interfering with olfactory or gustatory chemosensillas [42]. A signal to the Central Nervous System (CNS) causes avoidance from further approach or feeding [42]. In *Drosophila* species attractive odourants have been studied extensively, but little is known about avoidance pathways [43]. However, the conservation of olfactory avoidance was reported in *Drosophila* species [43] which may be exploited as new behavioral strategies for controlling pest's species.

Previous studies have demonstrated that azadirachtin caused a strong antifeeding effects in several insects species [44,24,45]. This primary antifeeding effect of azadirachtin seems to be mediated by contact chemoreceptors and linked to an inhibitory effect on the rate of firing of sugar sensitive cells of the gustatory chemoreceptors [46]. Indeed, several species have been reported to be extremely sensitive to primary antifeedancy of azadirachtin, which prefer to starving to death rather than ingesting the biopesticide [47]. In addition, *D. melanogaster* seems to be able to discriminate food texture and integrate the chemical and physical qualities of food [48] which may contribute to avoiding azadirachtin-treated food.

Different recent studies support the hypothesis that a pre-imaginal experience can change the adult response and generate learning memory through developmental stages [49,50,51,17]. This learning avoidance of azadirachtin was reported in *D. melanogaster* oviposition sites selection after larval exposure (third instar larvae) to the bioinsecticide [17].

The primary antifeedancy is mediated by gustation and involved in discriminating between edible and toxic substance. However, a secondary antifeedant effect including a long-term reduction in food intake,



**Fig. 7.** Effect of azadirachtin, topically applied on early third instars larvae of *D. melanogaster* on activity of chitinase of adults male and female, ( $m \pm SE$ ; n = 6 replicates of 10 insects). Different small letters indicate a significant difference between control and treated series (p < 0.05).

and direct detrimental effects on different insect tissues such as muscles, fat body and gut epithelial cells [47].

In the current experiments, azadirachtin reduced significantly food intake of flies surviving to azadirachtin-treated third instar larvae (LD<sub>25</sub>, LD<sub>50</sub>) as compared to the controls. This long-term feeding reduction was reported in several insects' species and the level of food consumption differs upon species and was correlated to the concentration used [28,24]. In addition, azadirachtin was reported to affect negatively weight gain in *Spodoptera eridania* [24], *Plodia interpunctella* [52] and adults surviving from larval exposure of *D. melanogaster* [53]. Indeed, growth and nutrient intake are function-ally linked processes in development and growth and body mass are directly affected by nutrient uptake, which are governed by the insulin/insulin-like growth factor signalling (IIS) pathway during insect growth [54]. Lai et al. [55] reported that the inhibition of growth and development caused by azadirachtin in *D. melanogaster*, was consistent with those caused by disruption of the IIS pathway.

Azadirachtin was reported to cause disruption in insect physiology and its ability to digest food [24]. Our results showed a clear disruption of digestive enzymes activities responsible of the broken down of dietary components before its absorption by the intestinal epithelium. Similar results were reported in several insects species [56,28,57]. In the current study, azadirachtin reduced significantly the activity of  $\alpha$ -amylase and chitinase of adults of *D. melanogaster* surviving to azadirachtintreated third instar larvae (LD<sub>25</sub>, LD<sub>50</sub>).

Midgut  $\alpha$ -amylases are involved in starch and other carbohydrate metabolism and its activities depends on feeding diet [58]. Insects Chitinases hydrolyze the  $\beta$ -(1–4) bonds of the residues of *N*-acetyl- $\beta$ -D-glucosamine and are essential for moulting process as well as digestive enzymes compartmentalization because they are involved in the turn-over of the peritrophic matrices lining the gut epithelium [59]. The reduction of  $\alpha$ -amylase activity under azadirachtin treatment was reported in *Periplaneta Americana* [44], *Glyphodes pyloalis* [28]. Moreover, Lai et al. [55], reported that azadirachtin reduced the activity of  $\alpha$ -amylase in midgut of *D. melanogaster* by repressing expression of  $\alpha$ -amylase gene. Azadirachtin was also reported to affect the peritrophic membrane, leading to damage of cellular surfaces of the midgut [28]. In addition, in insects the expression of chitinase gene was regulated by 20E [60], which may explain the effect observed in our results, since azadirachtin act as an antagonist of the 20E.

Lipases are responsible for hydrolysis the outer links of fat molecules. These enzymes play an important role in different physiological process such as storage and lipid mobilization, reproduction, growth and defence against pathogens [61]. In this study, lipase activity was significantly increased in azadirachtin-treated insects as compared to controls and the females showed the highest activity. This result is different from other reports where reduction in lipase is mostly reported after azadirachtin treatment; however, the observed effect was dependent on the chemical formulation and concentration of azadirachtin [28]. The increase in lipase activity noted in our experiments could be attributed to its esterase activity needed for detoxification [61]. However, the highest activities observed in female may be a result of a increasing of energy demand for reproduction [62].

Proteases have crucial role in food digestion by broken down proteins into amino acids [61]. Our results showed that azadirachtin caused a significant reduction of the protease activity in *D. melanogaster*. Low protease activity in the midgut of insects treated with azadirachtin was reported in *Periplaneta americana* [44] and *Glyphodes pyloalis* [28]. Moreover, Timmins & Reynolds [63] reported that azadirachtin reduces trypsin activity in the midgut of *Spodoptera litura*.

Our result supports the secondary antifeedancy action of azadirachtin which included a long-term reduction in food consumption and digestive efficiency. The precise effects of azadirachtin on food metabolism are not well known. However, different recent studies reported that azadirachtin interfere with activities of different enzymes such as  $\alpha$ - amylase, lipase,  $\alpha$  - and  $\beta$  -glucosidases, proteases, lactate dehydrogenase and glutathione S-transferase [58,28,57,16]. Jbilou et al.

[64] and Almeida et al. [65] found that azadirachtin affect the midgut epithelial cells, resulting in inhibition of digestive enzymes, efficiency of digestion and nutrient absorption which reduce access of nutrients for biological requirements. Furthermore, this reduction in efficiency of conversion of ingested and digested food may be a result of an energy conversion from biomass production into induction enzymes involved in detoxification of azadirachtin [24].

In conclusion, preimaginal exposure to azadirachtin affects the behavioral and physiological processes that underlie food selection and digestion in *D. melanogaster*. This finding suggest a long term antifeedancy action which may reinforce behavioral avoidance of azadirachtin and contribute as push-pull strategies in integrated pest management programs using antifeedants as a safer alternative crop protectants.

# Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the National Fund for Scientific Research of Algeria (Laboratory of Applied Animal Biology to Prof. N. Soltani) and by the Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research of Algeria (CNEPRU project D01N01UN23012014106 to Prof. S. Kilani-Morakchi).

# References

- LAJ. Mordue, E.D. Morgan, A.J. Nisbet, Azadirachtin, a natural product in insect control, in: L.I. Gilbert, K. Iatrou, S.S. Gill (Eds.), Comprehensive Molecular Insect Science, 6, Elsevier, Oxford, UK 2005, pp. 117–135.
- [2] C.L. Cantrell, F.E. Dayan, S.O. Duke, Natural products as sources for new pesticides, J. Nat. Prod. 75 (2012) 1231–1242.
- [3] M.B. Isman, M.L. Grieneisen, Botanical insecticide research: many publications, limited useful data, Trends Plant Sci. 19 (2014) 140–145.
- [4] J.F. Garcia, E. Grisoto, J.D. Vendramim, P.S.M. Botelho, Bioactivity of neem, Azadirachta indica, against spittlebug Mahanarva fimbriolata (Hemiptera: Cercopidae) on sugarcane, J. Econ. Entomol. 99 (2006) 2010–2014.
- [5] E.D. Morgan, Azadirachtin, a scientific goldmine, Bioorg. Med. Chem. 17 (2009) 4096–4105.
- [6] K. Naumann, M.B. Isman, Evaluation of neem Azadirachta indica seed extracts and oils as oviposition deterrents to noctuid moths, Entomol. Exp. Appl. 76 (1995) 115–120.
- [7] H.V.V. Tomé, J.C. Martins, S. Correea, T.V.S. Galdino, M.C. Picançon, R.N.C. Guedes, Azadirachtin avoidance by larvae and adult females of the tomato leafminer *Tuta absoluta*, Crop. Prot. 46 (2013) 63–69.
- [8] W.F. Barbosa, L. De Meyer, R.N. Guedes, G. Smagghe, Lethal and sublethal effects of azadirachtin on the bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* (Hymenoptera: Apidae), Ecotoxicology 24 (2014) 130–142.
- [9] D.B. Lima, J.W.S. Melo, N.M.P. Guedes, L.M. Gontijo, R.N.C. Guedes, M.G.C. Gondim Jr., Bioinsecticide-predator interactions: Azadirachtin behavioral and reproductive impairment of the coconut mite predator *Neoseiulus baraki*, PLoS ONE 10 (2015), e0118343. (doi:10.1371).
- [10] V.M. Xavier, D. Message, M.C. Picanço, M. Chediak, P.A. Santana Júnior, R.S. Ramos, J.C. Martins, Acute toxicity and sublethal effects of botanical insecticides to honey bees, J. Insect Sci. 15 (2015) 137.
- [11] R.C. Bernardes, H.V.V. Tomé, W.F. Barbosa, R.N.C. Guedes, M.A.P. Lima, Azadirachtininduced antifeeding in neotropical stingless bees, Apidologie (2016)http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/s13592-016-0473-3.
- [12] M.B. Isman, Botanical insecticides, deterrents, and repellents in modern agriculture and an increasingly regulated world, Annu. Rev. Entomol. 51 (2006) 45–66.
- [13] S.O. Duke, C.L. Cantrell, K.M. Meepagala, D.E. Wedge, N. Tabanca, K.K. Schrader, Natural toxins for use in pest management, Toxins 2 (2010) 1943–1962.
- [14] Y.A. Bruce, S. Gounou, A. Chabi-Olaye, H. Smith, F. Schulthess, The effect of neem (Azadirachta indica A. Juss) oil on oviposition, development and reproductive potentials of Sesamia calamistis (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) and Eldana saccharina Walker (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), Agric. For. Entomol. 6 (2004) 223–232.
- [15] S. Pineda, A.M. Martínez, J.I. Figueroa, M.I. Schneider, P.D. Estal, E. Viñuela, B. Gómez, G. Smagghe, F. Budia, Influence of azadirachtin and methoxyfenozide on life parameters of *Spodoptera littoralis* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), J. Econ. Entomol. 102 (2009) 1490–1496.
- [16] B. Boulahbel, N. Aribi, S. Kilani-Morakchi, N. Soltani, Insecticidal activity of azadirachtin on *Drosophila melanogaster* and recovery of normal status by exogenous 20-hydroxyecdysone, Afr. Entomol. 23 (2015) 224–233.
- [17] R. Bezzar-Bendjazia, S. Kilani-Morakchi, N. Aribi, Larval exposure to azadirachtin affects fitness and oviposition site preference of *Drosophila melanogaster*, Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 133 (2016) 85–90.
- [18] F. Hasan, M.S. Ansari, Toxic effects of neem-based insecticides on *Pieris brassicae* (Linn.), Crop. Prot. 30 (2011) 502–507.
- [19] J. Cande, B. Prud'homme, N. Gompel, Smells like evolution: the role of chemoreceptor evolution in behavioral change, Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 23 (2013) 152–158.
- [20] E.A. Bernays, R.F. Chapman, Host-Plant Selection by Phytophagous Insects, Chapman and Hall, New York, 1994.

- [21] O. Koul, Phytochemicals and insect control: an antifeedant approach, Plant Sci. 27 (2008) 1–24.
- [22] P. Kumar, H.M. Poehling, Effects of azadirachtin, abamectin, and spinosad on sweetpotato whitefly (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae) on tomato plants under laboratory and greenhouse conditions in the humid tropics, J. Econ. Entomol. 100 (2007) 411–420.
- [23] D.S. Charleston, R. Kafir, M. Dicke, L.E.M. Vet, Impact of botanical extracts derived from *Melia azedarach* and *Azadirachta indica* on populations of *Plutella xylostella* and its natural enemies: a field test of laboratory findings, Biol. Control 39 (2006) 105–114.
- [24] H.K. Shannag, J.L. Capinera, N.M. Freihat, Effects of neem-based insecticides on consumption and utilization of food in larvae of *Spodoptera eridania* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), J. Insect Sci. 15 (2015) 152.
- [25] J.L. Capinera, J.G. Froeba, Behavioral responses of *Schistocerca americana* (Orthoptera: Acrididae) to azadirex (neem)-treated host plants, J. Econ. Entomol. 100 (2007) 117–122.
- [26] R.E. Baumler, D.A. Potter, Knockdown, residual, and antifeedant activity of pyrethroids and home landscape bioinsecticides against Japanese beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) on linden foliage, J. Econ. Entomol. 100 (2007) 451–458.
- [27] R. Khosravi, J.J. Sendi, M. Ghadamyari, Effect of Artemisia annua L. On deterrence and nutritional efficiency of lesser mulberry pyralid *Glyphodes pyloalis* (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), J. Plant Protect. Res. 50 (2010) 423–428.
- [28] R. Khosravi, J.J. Sendi, Effect of neem pesticide (Achook) on midgut enzymatic activities and selected biological compounds in the hemolymph of lesser mulberry pyralid, *Glyphodes pyloalis* Walker (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), J. Plant Protect. Res. 5 (2013) 238–247.
- [29] J.W. Stafford, K.M. Lynd, A.Y. Jung, M.D. Gordon, Integration of taste and calorie sensing in *Drosophila*, J. Neurosci. 32 (2012) 14767–14774.
- [30] S.J. Simpson, D. Raubenheimer, The Nature of Nutrition: A Unifying Framework From Animal Adaptation to Human Obesity, Princeton University Press, Princeton, 2012.
- [31] T. Tanimura, K. Isono, T. Takamura, I. Shimada, Genetic dimorphism in the taste sensitivity to trehalose in *Drosophila melanogaster*, J. Comp. Physiol. 147 (1982) 433–437.
- [32] M.M. Simonnet, M. Berthelot-Grosjean, Y. Grosjean, Testing Drosophila olfaction with a Y-maze assay, J. Vis. Exp. 88 (2014), e51241. http://dx.doi.org/10.3791/ 51241.
- [33] R. Wong, M.D.W. Piper, B. Wertheim, L. Partridge, Quantification of food intake in Drosophila, PLoS One 4 (2009), e6063. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/.
- [34] M.M. Bradford, A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities on protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding, Anal. Biochem. 72 (1976) 248–254.
- [35] P. Bernfeld, α-Amylases, Methods Enzymol. 1 (1955) 149–151.
- [36] T. Tsujita, H. Ninomiya, H. Okuda, p-Nitrophenyl 865. Butyrate hydrolyzing activity of hormone-sensitive lipase 866 from bovine adipose tissue, Lipid Res. 30 (1989) 9971004.
- [37] F.L. García-Carreño, N. Haard, Characterization of protease classes in Langostilla (*Pleuroncodes planipes*) and crayfish (*Pacifastacus astacus*) extracts, Food Biochem. 17 (1993) 97–113.
- [38] C.R. Shen, Y.S. Chen, C.J. Yang, J.K. Chen, C.L. Liu, Colloid chitin azure is a dispersible, low-cost substrate for chitinase measurements in a sensitive, fast, reproducible assay, Biomol. Screen. 15 (2010) 213–217.
- [39] G.L. Miller, Use of dinitrosalicylic acid reagent for determination of reducing sugar, Anal. Chem. 31 (1959) 426–428.
- [40] A.S. Fougeron, J.P. Farine, J. Flaven-Pouchon, C. Everaerts, J.F. Ferveur, Fatty-acid preference changes during development in *Drosophila melanogaster*, PLoS One 6 (2011), e26899.
- [41] A.P. Bantel, C.R. Tessier, Taste preference assay for adult Drosophila, J. Vis. Exp. 115 (2016), e54403. http://dx.doi.org/10.3791/54403.
- [42] Y. Lee, S. Kim, C. Montell, Avoiding DEET through insect gustatory receptors, Neuron 67 (2010) 555–561.
- [43] C. Krause Pham, A. Ray, Conservation of olfactory avoidance in *Drosophila* species and identification of repellents for *Drosophila suzukii*, Sci. Rep. 5 (2015) 11527.
- [44] P.A. Paranagama, K.A.B.C.H. Kodikara, H.M.I. Nishantha, A.M. Mubarak, Effect of azadirachtin on growth and the activity of midgut enzymes of the cockroach *Periplaneta Americana*, J. Natl. Sci. Found. 29 (2001) 69–79.

- [45] S.R. Vattikonda, S.R. Sangam, Assessment of antifeedant potential of azadirachtin, a plant product of Azadirachta indica against Papilio demoleus L. (Lepidoptera: Papilionidae) larvae, J. Entomol. Zool. Stud. 4 (2016) 956–959.
- [46] M. Simmonds, W. Blaney, Azadirachtin: advances in understanding its activity as an antifeedant, Entomol. Exp. Appl. 80 (1996) 23–26.
- [47] A.J. Mordue, E.D. Morgan, A.J. Nisbet, Azadirachtin, a natural product in insect control, in: L.I. Gilbert, S.S. Gill (Eds.), Insect Control: Biological and Synthetic Agents, Elsevier/Academic 2010, pp. 185–203.
- [48] J.A. Sánchez-Alcañiz, G. Zappia, F. Marion-Poll, R. Benton, A mechanosensory receptor required for food texture detection in *Drosophila*, Nat. Commun. 8 (2017) 14192.
- [49] B. Gerber, R.F. Stocker, T. Tanimura, A.S. Thum, Smelling, tasting, learning: *Drosophila* as a study case, in: S. Korsching, W. Meyerhof (Eds.), Chemosensory Systems in Mammals, Fishes and Insects (Results and Problems in Cell Differentiation), Springer-Verlag, Berlin; Heidelberg 2009, pp. 1–47.
- [50] J. Flaven-Pouchon, T. Garcia, D. Abed-Vieillard, J.P. Farine, J.F. Ferveur, Transient and permanent experience with fatty acids changes *Drosophila melanogaster* preference and fitness, PLoS ONE 9 (2014), e92352. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0092352.
- [51] D. Abed-Vieillard, J. Cortot, When choice makes sense: menthol influence on mating, oviposition and fecundity in *Drosophila melanogaster*, Front. Integr. Neurosci. 10 (2016)http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2016.00005.
- [52] G. Nouri-Ganbalani, E. Borzouei, A. Abdolmaleki, S.G. Kamita, Individual and combined effects of *bacillus thuringiensis* and azadirachtin on *Plodia Interpunctella* Hübner (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), J. Insect Sci. 16 (2016) 1–8.
- [53] R. Bezzar-Bendjazia, S. Kilani-Morakchi, N. Aribi, Growth and molting disruption effects of azadirachtin against *Drosophila melanogaster* (Diptera: Drosophilidae), J. Entomol. Zool. Stud. 4 (2016) 363–368.
- [54] J.M. Tennessen, C.S. Thummel, Coordinating growth and maturation insights from Drosophila, Curr. Biol. 21 (2011) R750–R757.
- [55] D. Lai, X. Jin, H. Wang, M. Yuan, H. Xu, Gene expression profile change and growth inhibition in *Drosophila* larvae treated with azadirachtin, Biotechnology 185 (2014) 51–56.
- [56] A. Anuradha, R.S. Annadurai, Biochemical and molecular evidence of azadirachtin binding to insect actins, Curr. Sci. 95 (2008) 1588–1593.
- [57] S. Senthil-Nathan, Physiological and biochemical effect of neem and other plant secondary metabolites against Lepidoptera insects, Front. Physiol. 4 (2013) 1–17.
- [58] M. Shekari, J. Jalali Sendi, K. Etebari, A. Zibaee, A. Shadparvar, Effects of Artemisia annua L. (Asteracea) on nutritional physiology and enzyme activities of elm leaf beetle, Xanthogaleruca luteola Mull. (Coleoptera: Chrysomellidae), Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 91 (2008) 66–74.
- [59] H. Merzendorfer, L. Zimoch, Chitin metabolism in insects: structure, function and regulation of chitin synthases and chitinases, J. Exp. Biol. 206 (2003) 4393–4412.
- [60] W.J. Yang, K.K. Xu, R.Y. Zhang, W. Dou, J.J. Wang, Transcriptional regulation of a chitinase gene by 20-hydroxyecdysone and starvation in the oriental fruit fly, *Bactrocera dorsalis*, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 14 (2013) 20048–20063.
- [61] M. Nasr, J.J. Sendi, S. Moharramipour, A. Zibaee, Evaluation of Origanum vulgare L. essential oil as a source of toxicant and an inhibitor of physiological parameters in diamondback moth, *Plutella xylustella* L. (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), J. Saudi Soc. Agric. Sci. (2015) http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jssas.2015.06.002.
- [62] N.N. Moghadam, M. Holmstrup, T. Manenti, M.B. Mouridsen, C. Pertoldi, V. Loeschcke, The role of storage lipids in the relation between fecundity, locomotor activity, and lifespan of *Drosophila melanogaster* longevity-selected and control lines, PLoS One 10 (2015), e0130334.
- [63] W.A. Timmins, S.E. Reynolds, Azadirachtin inhibit secretion of trypsin in midgut of Manduca sexta caterpillars: reduced growth due to impaired protein digestion, Entomol. Exp. Appl. 63 (1992) 47–54.
- [64] R. Jbilou, H. Amri, A. Bouayad, A. Ghailani, A. Ennabili, F. Sayah, Insecticidal effects of extracts of seven plant species on larval development, a-amylase activity and off spring production of *Tribolium castaneum* (Herbst) (Insecta: Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae), Bioresour. Technol. 99 (2008) 959–964.
- [65] G.D. Almeida, J.C. Zanuncio, S. Senthil-Nathan, D. Pratissoli, R.A. Polanczyk, D.O. Azevedo, J.E. Serrão, Cytotoxicity in the midgut and fat body of *Anticarsia gemmatalis* (Lepidoptera: Geometridae) larvae exerted by neem seeds extract, Invertebr. Surv. 11 (2014) 79–86.

# ÉCOLE DOCTORALE



Agriculture, alimentation, biologie, environnement, santé (ABIES)

**Titre :** Impacts d'un biopesticide, l'azadirachtine, sur la physiologie et le comportement de *Drosophila melanogaster*: Reproduction, nutrition et propriétés aversives.

Mots clés : Azadirachtine, D. melanogaster, fécondité, développement, gustation, olfaction, locomotion.

**Résumé :** Si les effets de toxicité aigüe des pesticides sont assez bien connus, les effets à court et long terme d'une exposition non létale à un stade juvénile sont beaucoup moins étudiés. Dans ce travail, nous avons examiné les effets à long terme du Neem-Azal, qui contient 1% d'azadirachtine A, sur un insecte modèle, *Drosophila melanogaster*. Deux doses (DL<sub>25</sub> : 0,28 µg, DL<sub>50</sub> : 0,67 µg correspondant respectivement à 25% et 50% de mortalité cumulée des stades immatures) ont été utilisées par application topique sur des larves du début du stade larvaire (L3). Les effets de cette unique exposition à l'azadirachtine ont été testés sur plusieurs générations successives jusqu'à restauration des paramètres étudiés.

L'exposition unique, en période pré-imaginale, à l'azadirachtine affecte la fécondité des femelles en réduisant significativement le nombre d'œufs pondus chez deux générations successives (P : exposée, F1 : non exposée). Une restauration complète de la fécondité est notée chezla génération F2. Le traitement larvaire affecte également le choix de ponte des femelles qui ont survécu au trainement avec une claire préférence de ponte sur un milieu témoins par rapport au milieu traité à l'azadirachtine et ce pour toutes les générations testées. Les mouches traitées à l'azadirachtine (début de stade L3) montrent une aversion plus marquée au biopesticide comparativement aux mouches "naïves".

Chez la génération parentale, l'exposition précoce à l'azadirachtine affecte le développement des adultes en réduisant le nombre de descendants, en induisant un retard du développement larvaire et pupal ; en biaisant le sex-ratio en faveur des mâles et en provoquant plusieurs anomalies morphologiques. L'azadirachtine réduit de manière significative la survie des adultes chez deux générations successives et ce comparativement aux témoins. De plus, l'azadirachtine affecte la réactivité locomotrice des adultes en réduisant significativement les scores géotaxiques obtenus chez les adultes des deux sexes en comparaison aux témoins. L'azadirachtine affecte également la quantité de nourriture consommée par les mouches et perturbe le système chimiosensoriel des adultes en affectant leurs choix olfactifs et gustatifs. Les mouches préalablement traitées (début de stade L3) à l'azadirachtine ont une aversion plus marqué à cette molécule et évitent son odeur. Le biopesticide induit également une inhibition de l'extension du proboscis des adultes des deux sexes avec un effet plus marqué chez les adultes préalablement traités au stade larvaire. Les réponses électrophysiologiques des sensilles gustatives montrent une augmentation de la sensibilité des sensilles gustatives à l'azadirachtine chez les mouches traitées au stade larvaire confirmant l'aversion plus marquée à cette molécule.

**Title :** Impacts of a biopesticide, azadirachtin, on physiology and behavior of *Drosophila melanogaster* : Reproduction, nutrition and aversive properties.

Keywords : Azadirachtin, D. melanogaster, fecundity, development, tasting, olfaction, locomotion.

**Abstract** : While the acute toxicity of xenobiotics on organisms is well known, long term effects of intermittent exposures are less studied. Here we examined the effects of a single larval exposure to a commercial antifeedant and insecticide Neem-Azal (containing 1% azadirachtin A), on *Drosophila melanogaster*. Two doses (LD<sub>25</sub> : 0.28  $\mu$ g, LD<sub>50</sub> : 0.67  $\mu$ g corresponding respectively to 25% and 50% cumulative mortality of immature stages) were used by topical application on early third instar larvae (L3). The possible adverse effects of this prior single exposure to azadirachtin experienced by the preceding generations were evaluated over three successive generations until full restoration of the studied parameters.

The single pre-imaginal exposure of azadirachtin affects female fecundity by significantly reducing the number of eggs laid over two successive generations (P and F1). Full restoration of affected fecundity was noted in the second generation (F2). Larval treatment also affects oviposition choices, the surviving flies avoiding treated substrates more than control flies for all tested generations.

Early exposure to azadirachtin also affects adult's development by reducing the number of organisms, delay larval and pupal development ; male biased sex ratio and induced morphological alterations. This exposure significantly reduces adult's survival during wo successive generations. Moreover, azadirachtin was found to affect Drosophila adult's locomotor reactivity by significantly decreased the geotactic positioning scores of adults of both sexes as compared to controls.

Azadirachtin affects the amount of food intake by the flies and disrupts the chemosensory system of the adults by affecting their olfactory and gustatory choices. Results showed that previously treated flies (3rd instar larvae) showed an aversion to the biopesticide avoiding azadirachtin odor. The biopesticide also inhibited the proboscis extension response in the adults of both sexes with more marked effects in treated flies. The electrophysiological studies of gustatory response showed an increase of sensibility of gustatory sensilla to azadirachtin previously exposed flies confirming the more marked avoidance to this molecule.

Maison du doctorat de l'Université Paris-Saclay 2<sup>ème</sup> étage aile ouest, Ecole normale supérieure Paris-Saclay 4 avenue des Sciences, 91190 Gif sur Yvette, France